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44 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
NORFOLK SOUTHERN CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 

Years ended Pcccii oer 31, 
1996 1995 199'. 

(S n millions) 

Cash flows from operating activities: 
Net income $ 770,4 i 712,7 $ 66:'.8 

Reconciliation of net income to 
net cash provided by operating activities: 

Special charge payments (18.0) (29,3) (41-9) 
Depieciation 429.2 413,5 403.8 

Deferred income taxes 97.1 66,7 112,7 

h'onoperating gains and losses on properties and 
investments (56,8) (71,8) (17.0) 

Changes in assets and liat lities affeaing operations: 
Accounts receivable (0.8) 28,1 (12.9) 

Materials ar •' supplies (1.3) 0,2 84 

Other current assets (9.1) 14 (17.8) 
Current liabilities otliei tnan debt (5,5) 842 555 

Other — net (0.5) 31 7 (14.3) 
Net cash provided by operating aaivities 1,204.7 1,237,4 1,144.3 

Cash flows from investing activities: 
Property additions (688.2) (658,9) (712.9) 

Property sales and other transaaions 131,1 129.5 86 1 

Investments (82.0) (67.1) (58.7) 

Investment sales and other transaaions 37,8 36.9 272.C 

Short-term invftments — net 65.6 (8.3) (74.4) 

Net cash used for investing aaivities (535.7) (567.9) (487.9) 

Casii flows from financing activities: 
Dividends (283.7) (273,5) (262.7) 

Common stock issued — net 28.6 191 9.8 

Purchase and re',rement of common stock (389,4) (338,2) (344.8) 

Proceeds frori long-term borrowings 209,6 7.6 41.4 

Debt repayments (92.6) (73.8) (123,6) 

Net cash used for finanang aaivities (527.5) (658.8; (679.9) 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivjients 141.5 10.7 (23.5) 

Cash and cash eauivalents: 
At bfqnninq of yea; 67.7 57.0 80,5 

At end of yea- $ 209.2 S 67.7 $ 57.0 

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information 
Cash paid during the year fo'. 

Interest (net rf amounts capitalized) 
Income t^^zs 

$ 127.S : 
S 324.1 $ 

1194 

282 9 

114.3 
226.4 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 
NORFOLK SOUTHERU CORPORATION AND SUBSIDURIES 

Common Other Retained Treasury 
Stock Capital Income Stock Total 

(S in millions) 

Balance Decefflb' 31,1993 $ 145.7 $ 417,1 $4,078.5 $ (20.6) $4,620.7 
Net income— 1994 667,8 667,8 
Dividends on common stock 
$1,92 per share (262,7) (262,7) 

Purchase and retirement of 
common stock (5,5) (16,3) (327,8) (349,6) 

Other g j 9J6 [UJ 8,6 

Balance December 31,1994 140.4 410.4 4,154.6 (20.6) 4,684 8 
Net income— 1995 712.7 712.7 
Dividends on common stock 
$2.08 per share (273.5) (273.5) 

Purchase and retirement of 
common stock (4.8) (14.3) (314.8) (333.9) 

Other 07 34J 3,4 38.9 

Balance Oecember 31,1995 136,3 430.9 4,282.4 (20.6) 4,829.0 
Net income—19% 770,4 770.4 
Dividends on commor stock 
$2 24 per share (283,7) (283,7) 

Purchase and retirement of 
common stak (4,6) (14,8) (365,7) (385,1) 

Other 07 46,0 03 47.0 

Balance December 31,1996 $ 132.4 $ 462.1 $4.403.7 $ (20.6) $4,977.6 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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46 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The following notes are an integral part of 
the consolidated financial statements. 

1 SuMM«.̂  Of SKMIFICANT ACCOUNTING POUQES 

DESdt m o H Of BUSINESS 

Norfolk Southern Corporatio i is a Virginia-
based holding company engaced pnncipally in 
the transportatr .1 of freight by rail, pnmarily m 
the Southeast and Midwest, and the operation 
of a moior carner providing household moving 
and specialized freight handling sennces in the 
United States and Canada. The consolidated 
financial statements include Norfolk Southern 
Corporation (Norfolk Southern) and its majority-
owned and controlled sutjsidianes (collertively 
NS) The major subsidianes are Norfolk Southern 
Railway Company and North American Van 
Lmes, Inc. (NAVL). All significant intercompany 
balances and transartions fiave been eliminated 
in consolidation 

Rail freight consi.ts cf faw materials, inter­
mediate produrti and finished goods classified 
rn the followino market groups: coal, paperAor-
est, chemicals, automotive, agriculture, 
metals/construrtion and intermodal. All groups 
are approximately ec,- lal in z\ze based on rev­
enues except for coal, which accounts for 
almost one third of total railway operating rev­
enues Ultimate destinations for some of the 
freight and a portion of the coal shipped are 
outside the United States. 

Ust Of ESTIMATES 
The preparation of financial statements in 

conformity with generally accrpted accounting 
pnnciples requires Management to make esti­
mates and assumptions that affert the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure 
of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of 
the financial statements and the reported 
amounts ot revenues and expenses during the 
reporting penod Artual results could differ from 
those estimates. 

CASH EouiVAtiWTS 

"Cash equivalents" are highly liquid invest­
ments purchased three months or less vrom 
maturity 

INVESTIKENTS 
Marketable equity and debt securities are 

reported at amortized cost or fair value depend­
ing upon their classification as held-to-matunty. 

tradint, or available-for-sale secunties At 
December 31, 1996 and 1995, all "Short-term 
investments," consisting jnmanly of United 
States government and ftderal agency seci in-
ties were designated as available for sale. 
Accordingly, unrealized gams and losses, net of 
taxes, are recognized in "Stockholders' equity." 

MATtWAtS AND SumJES 

"Matenals and supplies," consist-,ig mainly of 
fuel CMI and items for maintenance oi property 
and equipment, are stated at average cost The 
cost of matenals and supplies experted to be 
used in capital additions or improvements is 
included in "Properties," 

fsaaxnii 
"Properties" are stated pnnapally at cost and 

are depreciated using group depreciation Rail is 
pniTiarily depreciated on the basis of use mea­
sured by gross ton miles. The effert of this 
method is to depreciate these assets over 42 
yê rs on ave rage Other properties are depreciat­
ed generally using tfie straig^u 'ine method over 
estimated sennce lives at annual rates that range 
from 1 % to 25%. In 19%, the overall deprecia­
tion rate averaged 2 .8% for roadway and 4.1% 
for equipment. NS capitalizes interest on major 
capital projects dunng the pencxi of their con­
strurtion Maintenance expense is recognized 
wfien repairs are perfomried. When properties, 
other than land and non-rail assets, are sold or 
retired In the ordinary course of business, the 
cost of the assets, net of sale proceeds or sal­
vage, IS charged to accumulated depreciation 
rathor than recognized through income. Gams 
and losses on disposal of land and non-rail assets 
are included in other income (see Note 2) 

REVENUE RECOGNITION 

Revenue is recognized proportionally as a 
shipment moves fram ongin to destination 

Iwmii PEB SHAKE 
The number reported as "Earnings per share" 

in any period is computed by dividing net 
income by the weighted average number of 
common shares outstanding during that period 
Decreases in the number of shares outstanding 
are the result of stock purchase programs as 
cescnbed in Note 13 
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47 
REQUIRED ACCOUNTING CHANGES 

?996 - Effertive January 1. 1996, NS adopt­
ed Statement o f ' nancial Accounting Standards 
No 121, "Accounting for the impairment of 
Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to 
be Disposed Of" (SFAS 121) SFAS 121 establish­
es the acccL'r'ting and reporting requirements for 
recognizing and measuring impairment of lono-
lived assets either tc he held and used or to 
held for disposal SFAS 121 did not have a m;';er-
lal effert on NS' fmanoa' statements 

In Ortober 1995, the FASB issued Statement 
No 123, "Accou nmg for Stock-Based 
Compensation" (SFAS 123) This standard, fffec­
tive for fiscal years tieginnmg after Decemher 
15, 1995, defines a fair-value-based method of 
accounting for stock-based compensation plans 
However the standard also allows measurement 
of compensation cost usmg the mtrinsic-value-
based method of accounting prescntied in 
Accountmg Principles Board Opinion No 25 
(APB 25) Companies that choose to retam APB 
25 for measurement purposes are required to 
prcvide certain additional footnote disclosur*-. 
NS has elerted to continue recording stock-
based compensation costs based on APB 25 and 
to provide additional disclosures. 

2 OTHER INCOME — NET 

3 INCOME TAXES 

(} IT, millicrs: 1996 i99S 1994 
Inttfes: income S 22 S $ 27,9 i 25 5 
Rovaiti*s trom coal S8.8 586 61,0 
Cans horr ul« of (xapelies 
anc irvKtments 56.8 ^1,3 170 

Qa r tiorr, parrial rei<?nptKni of 
partnerihcp mte'esi — 3'J,5 — 

Rentaliico-ne 20.1 20,8 196 
Cofporaie-wvned l.'e 

insurance — nei 5 6 7 1 7 7 
Ottier interes! expense (31.1) (23,5) i19.7) 
Non-rail oepieiwr anc oeoreoatic- (11.0) (10,2! (11.6! 
ta«?s or nonooerating fKoperty («.«) (6,91 ,'8.2j 
Ot^er — net 2.3 (3.8) (6 1! 

rota $115.6 S14' 8 J 85 2 

PKOVISIOM KW iNCOMt Tuus 
iS in .TI/'/XXB; 1996 1995 1994 
Cutren; 

Federal S 287.8 S282.6 J226 4 
State 41 6 52 7 42 1 

Total curreni taxes 329,4 335 3 268 5 

Dete'rec 
federa 79,2 57 8 WO 
State 17,9 89 137 

Tots: oe'ene<l taxes 97.1 66 7 1127 
Proi'Sior fo" iricome taxes $426 S t402 0 J381.2 

RtCONOUATION Of STATtn-QRY RATE 

TO EFFECTIVI RATE 

Total income taxes as reflerted m the 
Consolidated Statementj cf Income differ from 
the amounts computed by applying the statuto­
ry federal corporate tax rate as follows 

1996 1995 1994 
ff ir mliionsj Amount % ijDourt <%, Amount % 
Federa ixometax 
a; statutory rate S41S.9 35.0 S39C ' 35 C J367,2 35 0 

State income taiei ne* 
of federal lax benefit 38.6 3.2 40 C 3 6 36 1 3 4 

Corporate-ownec 
Me insurarce ('5.4) (1.31 (17,0) (1,5) (10 5) (1.0) 

Ottv. — r,et (1S.6) (1 1 " 1) (1,0) (116) (1.1) 
Provsicr fck' 
income taxe. S426 5 356 >402 ,' 36 • S381 2 36 3 

INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE (IRS) REVIEWS 

Consolidated federa! mcome tax returns 
"lavL- been examined anq Revenue Agent 
Reports have been received for alt years up to 
and including 1992 Tne consolidated federal 
income tax returns for 1993 and 1994 are 
bemg audited h> tiie IRS Management believ.?s 
that adequate provision has been made for any 
additional taxes and interest thereon that 
might arise as a result of these examinations. 

TAX BENEFTT LIASES 

In January 1995, the Unrted States Tax Court 
issued a preliminary decision that would disal­
low some of the tax benefits a subsidiary of NS 
purchased from a third parT/ pursuant to a safe 
harbor lease agreement m 1981. Management 
contmues to believe that NS ultimately should 
incur nc loss from this decision, because the 
lease agreement provides for full indemnifica­
tion if any such disallowance is sustained 
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48 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

3 I OME TAXES (CONTINUED) 

I '^SBBISJA SSCTS AND UAWUTIES 
Certain it' is are reported in different peri­

ods for financial reporting and income tax pur­
poses Deferred tax assets and liabilities were 
recorded m recognition of tfiese differences. 

The tax effects of temporary differences that 
give rise to significant portions of the deferred 
tax assets and deferred tax liabilities weie as 
follows 

5 PROfCRTIES 

(i in miSionsI 
Deamber 31, 

199* 1995 
Deferred Ux assets: 

Resenes, indudmg casualty and 
other dams $ 172X t 1893 

Emplayce benefits 1t7.S 1961 
Rebree healtti and deatti benefit 
obligation 147.4 1483 

Taxes, mduding state and property 179,7 170,3 
Other 79J 591 

Total gross deterred 
tn assets 7S6.4 763 1 

less viluabon allowance (2,1) (1.5) 
Net d(<encd tax assets 7M,3 761,6 

Deferred tax liabilities 
Property a902.9) (2,821,5) 
Other (114.1) (94 4) 

Total gross deferred 
^habilioei a017.0) (2,915.9) 

Net deferred tax iMbikty (1252.7) (2,154 3) 
Net current deferred 
lax assets 1M.9 1447 

Nef tong-term deferred 
tax liability $a4ii.«) J (2.299 0) 

Except for amounts for which a valuatkjn 
alkjwance is provided, Managenr>ent t)elieves 
the deferred tax assets will be realized. The .ne'. 
change in the total valuation allowance was a 
$0,6 million increase for 1996, a $0,1 million 
increase for 1995 and a $9 5 million decrease 
for 1994, 

4 INVESTMENT! 

() m millions) 
Oco((nbcr31. 

t996 1995 
Corporate-ow. c\, iHe msurance 

at net cash surrender value $ 2115 % 175.2 
Martcetabie edurty secunties M 5.2 
Other $C.I 51.3 

Toul t 274.7 J 2317 

DecBubei 31, 
(S in millions) 1996 1995 
Transrortation property: 

Road S 8,488,7 I 8,235 7 
Equipment 4,S48,0 4,7757 

Other property S9U 573 7 
13,927,9 13,585 1 

Less Accumulated depreoatiori 4,398.8 4,326 3 
Net properties S 9,S29,1 t 9.258 8 

Total interest cost incurred on oebt in 1996, 
1995 and 1994 was $127.6 million, $127.4 mil­
lion and $119.4 million, respertively, of which 
$1V9 million. $14.0 million and $17.8 million 
was capitalized. 

COMMERCIAL PAKR PKOGRAM 
NS' commercial paper debt totaled $516 1 

mill on and $518.0 million as of December 31, 
1996 ano 1995, respertively 

Commercial paper debt is due within one 
year, but $500 million has been classified as 
long-term because NS has the ability through a 
revolving credit back-up facility to convert this 
obligation into longer term debt NS intends to 
refinance the commercial paper either by issuing 
additional comnrieraal paper or by replacing 
comrrKrcial paper notes with long-term debt. 

The credit facility provides for interest on bor­
rowings at prevai'mg rates and contains custom­
ary finanaal covenants, indudmg an initial mini­
mum net worch requirement of $4.0 billion 

In connertion wrth the tender offer to pur­
chase up to 8.2 millicxi shares of Conrai: stock, 
Ni has arranged for additional commeraal 
papc>r debt (see Note 15). 

SHOWT-TERM DEW 

December 31, 
(S m millions} 1996 1995 
Commercial paper notes S 16,1 S 18 0 
Other notes 27J 27 2 
Subsidunes aedit Imes 0,7 — 

Toul $ 44.0 t 45 2 
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In 1991, NS filed with the Secunties and 
Exchange Commission a shelf reqistration state­
ment on Form S-3 covering the issuanc of up 
to $750 million principal amount of unsecured 
debt secunties Through the end of 1996. $700 
million pnnc.pal amount of debt has been 
issued and sold under this shelf registration 
These notes are not redeemable prior to matu­
rity and are not entitled to any sinking fund 

December 31, 

ERM DEBT 

ii m millions) 1996 1995 
S'' » notes issued March 1991, due 

Maij^ 1, 2021 5250 J 250 
7 875% notes issued February 1992. 
due February 15 2004 250 250 

7 4% notes issued September 1996, 
due September 15, 2006 100 

7 22K> njtes issued September 19% 
dueSiptember 15,2006 100 

To'jl S700 5 500 

CAPITAI. LEASE OBtJGATTON̂  

Dunng 1996 and 1995, an NS rail i^usidiary 
entered into c.3pital leases covenng new loco­
motives The related Cnpital lease obligations 
totaling $107,8 million in 1996 and $104.5 mil­
lion in 1995 were reflerted m the Consolidated 
Balance Sheets as debt and. tiecause they were 
non-cash transartions. were excluded from the 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows The 
lease obligations carry an average stated inter­
est rate of 6 5% for those entered into ir, 1996 
and 8.4% for those entered mto m 1995. All 
were converted to variable rate obligations 
usmg interest rate swap agreements The inter­
est rates on these obligations are oased on the 
six-month London Interbank Offered Rate and 
are reset every six months with changes in 
interest rates accounted for as an adjustment of 
interest expen'-e over the terms cf the leases 
As a result, NS is exposed to the market risk 
associated with flurtuations in interest rates. To 
date, whiile such rate flurtuations have tieen 
nominal, their effects have been favorable 
Counterparties to the interest rate swap agree­
ments are major fmancial institutions believed 
by Management to be credit-worthy NS' use of 
interest rate swaps has been limited to those 
discussed above 

December 31, 
i\ in millionii 1996 1995 
Railroad equipment obligations at ar 

iverage rale of 7 9% maturing to 2009 S 396,4 ) 444 6 
Noll's at an average rate of 8 1 \ 

maturi,-.; <o 2021 700,0 500.0 
Commercia' rai^r classified as long-term 

debt at »r ?v<,'ra5e r re of 5 4% 500,0 500,0 
Capiulized le jses at an average rate of 

5 9% matunng to 2015 197,0 100 9 
Othe, debt at an average rate of 8 7% 

,rutunnq tc 2015 629 935 
Toul tonqterrr debt «,«56,3 1,639 0 
less Cun-ent matunties 56,0 85 7 
Long-temi debt le<s current 

matunties 51,800.3 } 1,553 3 
Long-term debt matures as follows 

1998 5 114,6 
1999 1272 
2000 57,7 
2001 51,8 
2002 and subsequent years 1,449,0 

Toul 51,800,3 

A substantial portion of NS' properties and 
certain investments in affiliated companies are 
pledged as collateral for much of the secured debt. 

7 CURRENT UABIUTIES 

.ember 31. 
IJ in mllionsi 1996 1995 
Accounts pavable 

Accounts and wages payable 5 349.6 i 385 2 
Casualty and other daims 199,6 1974 
Vacation liabiliN 76.8 74,4 
fguiprnent rents payable — net 60,9 62.0 
Other 22,0 138 

Toui $ 708,9 $ 732.8 

Other cunent liabilities. 
(Repaid amounts on fonn-arded traffic 5 62,7 J 69 7 
Accrued acqusrtion costs (Note 15) 60,7 — 
Interest payable 38,9 42 8 
Retiree health ard death benefit 
oMigatcn (Note 11) 23,7 2S3 

Other 16,7 13.5 
TOUI 5 202.7 $ 151.3 
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Lr. ^ i NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

8 LEASE CoMMrtMENTs 

NS IS rommitted under long-term lease 
agreements, which expire on various dates 
through 2067, for equipment, lines of road and 
other property Future minimum lease payments 
are as follows: 

PENSION COST (BENEFIT) COMIKWENTS 

(} m millions) Operatinq Leases Capital Leases 
1997 $ 64 4 J 28 6 

1998 563 28 6 
1999 42 1 28 6 
2000 35 9 28 5 
2001 337 28,C 
2002 and subsequent years 643,2 143 1 

Toul S 875 6 285,4 

Less imputed interest 
on capiul leases at an 
averaqe rate of 7 4% 884 

F^eseni value of minimum 
lease payments induded 
indebt $ 197 0 

OPERATING LEASE EXPENSE 

ts -n millions] 1996 1995 1994 

Minimum rents 5 77.4 S 67 8 J 56 1 
Contmqent rents 38.3 36,C 45 4 

Toul 5115,7 $1038 SIOI 5 

9 OTHER UABIUTIES 

December 31, 
CJ in millions) 1996 1995 

Casuahy and other daims 5 274.2 J 286.5 
Net pension obligation (Note 10) 19.2 102,2 
Retiree health and death benefit 
obligation (Note i t ) 306,6 307 4 

Other 317,1 269 4 

total 5 987,1 J 96 5 5 

10 PENSION PLANS 

Norfolk Southern and certain subsidianes 
h?vp defmed benefit pension plans that princi­
pally cover salaned employees Pension i^eiefits 
are based primarily on years of creditable ser­
vice wrth NS anu compensation rate' r.ear 
retirement. Contnbutions to the plans are made 
on the basis of not less than the mmimum 
funding standards set forth in the Employee 
Retirement Income Security Art of 1974, as 
amended Assets m the plans consist mainly of 
ccmmon stocks. 

f$ in millions) 1996 1995 1994 

Service cost-benefits earned 
during the year i 14,5 J 11,5 $ 12,5 

interest cost on protected 
benef i obligation 69,6 680 62 6 

Acual return on assets in p ans (174,9) (263 41 (170) 
Net amortization and defer-a' 85.4 177 0 (62 8) 

Net pension benefi; (5.4) (69) (4 7) 
Cost of early retirement tyenefits — 23 4 — 

Total 5 (5.4) J 16 5 J (4 7) 

Pension cost is determined based on an artu-
arial valuation that reflects appropriate assump­
tions as of the begmmr g of each year The 
funded status of the plans is determined using 
appropriate assumptions as of each year end A 
summary of the major assumptions follows; 

1996 1995 1994 

Discount rate for detemin.ng 
funded sutus 7.75% 7,25* 8 5C% 

Future sa.ary inaeases 5J5% 6% 6% 
Betum or: assy's m plans 9% 9% 9% 

The funded status of the plans and the 
amounts reflerted in the accompanying balance 
sheets were as foliows 

December 31, 
1996 1995 

Funded Unfunded Funded 1 infunded 
tf in millions) nans Plans Flans Plans 
Anuarial present value of 

benefit obligations 
Vested benefits 5 784J 5 58.9 $8125 $ 51 7 
Non-vested benefits 8,1 — 66 03 

Accumulated bene'r 
obligation 792,4 58,9 8191 52,0 

Effect of expected future 
salary inaeases 68,>. 5.6 115,3 11,5 

F>ro)eaed benefit 
obligatior, 861,3 64.5 9344 63 5 

Fair value of assets m plans 1.191,0 — t,08£8 — 
Funded sutus 329,7 (64,5) 1544 (63 5; 

Unrecognized mitial 
net asset (29,4) — (35,9) — 

Unrecognized (gam) loss (336,9) 21.0 (169,2) 21,5 
unrecognized prior 

servKecost (11,8) 2,7 (12,8) 33 
Net per sion liability 

•w jed in the 
balance slieets 

» '<«•<' 
JJ63 5i. 

EARLY RETIREMENT PROGRAM IN 1995 
Dunng 1995, NS completed a voluntary early 

retirement program for certam salaned e.nploy-
ees The principal benefit for those who partici-
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Dl 
pated m this program was enhanced pension 
benefits, wfiich are reflerted in the accumulated 
benefit obligation The charge for the 272 
employees whc accepted the offer is included in 
"Compensation and benefits" expense and 
totaled $33 6 million (including $8 3 million 
I elated to postretirement benefits other than 
pensions). 

401(K) PLANS 

NorfolK Southern and certain subsidiaries 
provide 401(k) savings plans for employees 
Under the plans, NS matches a portion of 
employee contributions, subjert to applicable 
limitations NS expenses under these plans were 
$6,1 million, $7 0 million and $5 1 million in 
1996, 1995 and 1994, respertively 

I I POSTHETWEMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSIONS 

Norfolk Southern and certain subsidianes 
provide soecified health care and death benefits 
to eligible retired employees and their depen­
dents Under the present pians, which may be 
amendea or terminated at NS' option, a defmed 
percentage of health care expenses is covered, 
reduced by any dedurtibies, co-payments. 
Medicare payments and, in some cases, cover­
age providea by other group insurance policies 
The cost of such health care coverage to a 
retiree may be determined, m part, by the 
retiree's years of creditable ser '̂ice with NS prior 
to retirement Death benefit- are determined 
based on various fartors, including m some 
cases, saiai7 at time cf retirement 

NS contmues to fund benefit costs pnnapally 
on a pay-as-you-go basis However, m 1991, NS 
established a Voluntary b,mployee Beneficiary 
Association Cv'EBA) account to fund a portion of 
the cost of future hea'th c f e benefits for 
retirees NS last marie a corporate contribution 
of $ 10 million in '! 994 to the VEBA, 

Efferti"° i;.iuary 1, 1994. NS amended ',lie 
attribution period for postretiioment health 
care benefits The amendment generally pro­
vides for benefits to be detemined rata.hly over 
a 10-vea' penod based on creditable servce 
commencing at age 45, or from date of hire if 
employment began after age 45 The amend­
ment reduced the accumulated postretirement 
health care benefi ob,igatiOh by $90 million, 
which wiil be amortized as a redurtion in annual 
cost on a pro rata basis ove' a six-year pericxj. 

A summary of the postretiremen* benefit 
cost follows 

If ir millions: 1996 1995 1994 
Service cost tselefits 

annbutaSie tc service 
during tie vea; $ H I $ 

Inte'est cost or accumulated 
oosf etirement benefit 
obligatior 251 

Actua returr on piar as>*ts (13.7) 
Net amcnizjtior: in i deferra (5.2) 

28 6 
1176: 

09 

$ 145 

25 0 

__iii6L 
Ne' postretiremen! 
benefit cci 

Cost of eai\ retirement 
benefits 

5 17.3 $ S 24 9 

83 — 
Tcta 5 17,3 3C4 $ 24 9 

The following taoie s(ts forth these plans' 
total accumulated postre'irement benefit 
obligation, reconciled witr the accrued postre­
tiremen' benefit obligation 

Decembe'.' 
1996 1995 

Health Health 

Care Death Care Death 

If in millions) Benefits Benefits Benefits Benefit 

ACCUHL ated postretirt 
ment oenefn ooi'gaiior 

Retirees $170,2 5 83 1 $ 225 6 $ 83 8 

FulN e l i g ^ active 
plan partKipants 230 7.2 239 80 

Othe' ac.irt piar 
particmantj 46,4 12.1 52 7 12.8 

ToU 239 6 102.4 302 2 104,6 

Ciar" assets at fair value 85,8 — 72 1 — 
'undCv status (153.8) (102.4) (230 1) (104 6) 

Unrecognized ess i g a " (23.7) (2.6) 59 4 4 1 

Unrecocnzed pnor 
sennce cost (benefit. (47,7) (01) ':6' 5.1 — 

AcoTjed postretire 
ment benefi; 
obligatior 5(225.2) 5(105.1) $;232 2i $i'00 5) 

For measurement purposes, a 10 4% in­
crease m the per capita cost of covered health 
care benefits was assumed for 1997 The rate 
was assumed to decrease gradually to an ulti­
mate rate of 5 5% and remain at that level for 
2005 and thereafter The health care cost trend 
rate has a significant effert on the amounts 
reporteo in the financial st?tements To illustrate, 
increasing the assumec trend rates by one per­
centage point in each yea' would increase the 
accumulated postretirement ijenefit obligation as 
of December 31, 1996, by about $27 million and 
the aggregate of the service and interest cost 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

1 1 ''OSTRFnREMENT BfNfFTTS OTHER THAN PENSIONS 

(COhmNUED) 

components of net postretirement benefit cost 
for the year 1995 Dy about $4 million 

The weighted-average discount rate used m 
determining the accumulated postretirement 
benefrt obligation, the salary increase assump­
tion and the long-term rate of return on plan 
assets are the same as those used for the pen­
sion plans (see table cf rate assumptions in 
Note 10) 

The VEBA trust holding the plan assets is lOt 
experted to be subjert tc federal income taxes, 
as the assets are invested entirely in trust-owned 
i'*e insurance 

Under rcllertive bargaining agreem?nts. NS 
and c tain subsidiaries participate m a multi­
employer benefit plan, which provides certain 
postretirement health care and life insurance 
benefits to eligible union employees Premiums 
under this plan are expensed as incurred and 
amounted to $3,6 millior, $3 7 million and $4 8 
million in 1996, 1995 and 1994. respertively 

1 2 LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PLAN 

Unĉ er the stockholder-approved Long-Temri 
Incentive Plan, a committee of non-employee 
dirertors of the Board may grant stock options, 
stock appreciation nghts (SARs) and perfoimiance 
share units (PSUs). up tc a maximum 17,67 '-),000 
shares of Norfolk Southern c jmmon stock. 
Options may be granted for a term not to excf>ed 
10 years but may not be exe.'cised pncr to the 
first annn eisary of the date cf grant Optics are 
exerasaoie at the fair market value of Noriolk 
Southern Common Stock on the date cf grant 

The plan alsc permits the payment—on a 
current or a deferred basis and in cash or m 
stock—of dividend equivalents on shares of 
commoii StCKk covered by options or PSUs 
granted after December 31, 1989, m an amount 
commensurate with dividends pa'd on common 
stock "lax absorption payments, m an amount 
estimiatec to equal the federa' and state mcome 
taxes aoolicable tc shares of commion stock 
issL-.d sjbjert to a share retention agreement, 
also are authonzed 

Plan panicipants surrendered, without cash 
or other ccr,sideration. all outstanding SARs 
granted after '988 because of regulations 
issued Dy the Securities and Exchange 
Commission in 1991 Future grants cf SARs are 

not anticipated at this time SARs outstanding ar 
of each year end were 32,648 in 1995, 46,562 
in 1995, and 74.519 m 1994, 

ACCOUNTING METHOD 

NS applies APB Opinion 25 and related inter­
pretations in accounting for awards made under 
the plan Accordingly, SARs, PSUs, tax .absorp­
tion and dividend equivalents result in charges 
to earnings, while stock options have no effert 
on earnmgs Compensation costs were $35,4 
million. $42 9 million and $14.3 rnillion for 
1996, 1995 and 1994, respertively Had com­
pensation cost been determined based on SFAS 
123 using the Black-Scholes option-pncmg 
model, net income would have been reduced 
no more than $10 million in each year 

Basec cn current and anticipated use of 
stock-based compensation, it is not envis oned 
that the effert Oi SFAS 123's accounting provi­
sions would be material in any future- period. 

STOCK O I ^ O N Acnvmr 

VJeigrteo A/erage 
Option Sna'es Exercise ("nee 

Balance 12/31/93 2,895,407 $ 47 44 
Cjranted 703,750 72 94 
Exercised (93,383) 35 37 
Sunendered for SAR (7,472) 26 63 
Cancelled — — 
Balance 12/31'94 3,498,302 :2.94 
Granted 718,250 62,50 
Exercised (656,743) 43,82 
y.inendered io' SAR (13,440) 2? 94 
Car.'-elled (3,750) 69 46 
Balani* 12.'31'95 3,542.619 56.66 
Granted 685.000 78 06 
Eiercisec (549.5P1) 53.87 
Surrende-ed lor SAR (5.0001 22.25 
Cancellec (46,8591 58 85 
Balance •2'31'96 3,626,175 $ 61 15 

Except for those granted during the year, ali 
outstandmg options were exercisable at 
Decemiber ? 1 The difference between the 
weighted average exercise prices for all out­
standing options ar d those exercisable at 
December 31 war- not significant. 

STOCK Of PONS OUTSTANOING 

Exercise Pnce 

Range 
$22 25 

33 06 tc 
56 44 tc 
78 06 

$22 25 tc 

Weighted 
Average 

Numoe Weichtec A/e ' ;^ 
jtsunding Renwrung 

at 12,3196 Coniractua Life 

42 75 
72 94 

$76 06 

$22 25 
38 84 
64 63 
78 06 

$6- IS 

56 620 
747,359 

2 149 200 
673,000 

3 6?£ 179 

0 3 years 
3 3 years 
6 8 years 
9 1 yea'S 
6 4 years 
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PERfcmMANa SHARE UNITS 

PSUs were added tc the Long-Term Incentive 
Plan as approved m 1989 and amended in 1995 
PSUs entitle paaicipants to earn shares of com­
mon stock at the end of a three-year perfor­
mance cycle based upon achievement of certain 
predetermined corporate performance goals 
PSU grants and granndate fair values were 
200.400 and $78.06 in 1996. 252,500 and 
$62 50 in 1995. and 163,000 and $7? 94 m 
19?4. respertively Sfiares earned and issued may 
be subjert to share retention agreements and 
held by NS for up to five years 

SHARES AVAILABU AND ISSUED 

Shares of stock available for future grants or 
issued in connertion with all matures of the 
Long-Term Incentive Plan v.ere as follows 

1996 1995 1994 
Available for future 

grants I2'3i 6.325,SS4 7,143 126 2.060,796 

Shares of common 
stocJ; issued 690,872 807,76C 190,060 

1 3 STOCK PURCHASE PROGRAMS 

Since 1987, the Board of Dirertors has autho­
rized the purchase ano retirement of up to 95 
million shar?5 of common stock Purchases l.^der 
tfie programs have been made with inter.-,ai.y 
generated cash, and with proceeds from the sale 
of commercial paper notes and f om th^ 
issuance of iong-term debt 

Since the first purchases m December 1987 
and through CWober 22, 1996. NS had pur­
chased and retired 68,545,000 shares of its com­
mon stock under these programs at a cost of 
$3,2 bii';on. 

Oh Ortober 23, 1996, NS announced that the 
stock purchase program had been suspended 
(see also Ncte 15). Future purcfiase decisions are 
dependent on the outcome of the proposed 
Conrail acquisition, the economy cash needs and 
alternative investment opportunities 

1 4 F*iR VALUES OF riiiANOAL INSTRUMENTS 

The fair values cf "Cash and cash equiva­
lents," "Short-terni investments," "Accounts 
receivable, "Shot-term debt" and Accounts 
payable' approximate carrying values oecause of 
the short maturity of these financial instrurnents 

The fair value of long-term "Investments" 
approximated $353 million arid $297 mill,on at 
December 31, 19^6 and 1995, respertively (se€ 
Note 4 for carryirî ^ values of "Investments") The 
fair value of corporate-owned life insurance 
approximates carrying va'ue Quoted market 
pnces were used to determine the fair value of 
marketable equity secuntip - whirn are recorded 
at fair value Marketeble s Kunties refiert $3 4 
million and $3,5 million of unrealized holding 
gains at December 31, 19^5 ano 1995. respec­
tively Underlying net ass'̂  ts were usee to esti­
mate the fair value- of cher investments, howev­
er, if any such • .vr-'-.. nent was sold after the end 
of the year, its sale price determined its fair value 
for these purposes 

The fair value of "Long-term debt," includmg 
current maturities, aporoximated $1 95 billion at 
December 31, 1996, and $i 77 billion at 
December 31,1995 The fair values of debt were 
ertimated based on quoted maricet onces or dis­
counted cash flows using current interest rates 
for debt w t h similar terms, company ratmg and 
remainmg matuiity (see Note 6 for carrying val­
ues of "Long-term debt") The fair value of inter­
est rate swaps is immaterial 

1 5 COMMm«ENTS AND CONTINGENOtS 

PHQPQttP AtWI^TION QF CQNUAIL 
On Ortober 23, 1996, NS announced its 

intention to commence an aii-cash tender offer 
for all shares of Conrail Inc (Conrail), a 
Pennsylvania ccrporation On Ortober 24. 199o, 
Atlantic Acquisition Corporation, a Pennsylvania 
corporation and a wholly owned subsidiary of 
NS. offered to purchase all outstanding shares of 
Conrail's co nmon stock and Series A ESOP 
Convertiblf Jumor Preferred Stock (collertively 
the Share?,, includmg, in each case, the associat­
ed Ccmn,on Stock Purchase Rights, at a price of 
$100 per Share—approximately $9 1 billion in 
the aggregate Shares tendered m the offer or 
acquired m any subsequent merger ,vouid be 
held in <s votmg trust pendmg regulatory 
approval by the STB The offer foii '>wed the 
Ortober 15 announcement that Conrail had 
entered into a merger agreement with CSX 
Corporation (CSX), whereby Conrai' stockhold­
ers would receive S92 50 m cash per Share for 
up to 40 percent cf their Shares and receive CSX 
common stock for the balance of their Shares 
On November 6. 1996, CSX anq Conrail 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

1 5 CoMMrrwENTs AND CoNnNGENOES (CONTINUED) 

announced that CSX had raised the cash portion 
of Its offer to $110 per Share and left unctianged 
the ratio pursuant to which certain Conrail stock­
holders would receive shares of CSX common 
stock On November 8, 1996, NS announced 
that It had mcreaseq its ali<ash offer to $110 per 
Share—approximatel, $10,0 billion in the aggre­
gate On December 19, 1996, CSX and Conrail 
announced that CSX was adding preferred stock 
(convertible into CSX common stock) to its 
offer—a feature said to be worth $16 per Share 
On December 20, NS mcreased its all-cash offer 
to $ 115 per Share—approximately $ 11 billion m 
the aggregate—and on January 13. 1997. NS 
announced that it would offer to purchase up to 
8 2 million Shares (approximately 9.9%), the 
appro.<imate maximum number of Shares N£ can 
buy W:ihout triggenng Conrail's current anti­
takeover deienses, for $115 per Share, if Conrail 
stockholders disapproved at a special meeting 
certain management recommendations designed 
to facilitate the merqer with CSX 

At that special meeting on January 17. 1997, 
Conrail stockholders did disapprove those recom­
mendations Accordingly on January 22, 1997. NS 
amended its pending all-cash tender offer by 
reduang the number of Shares sought to 8 2 mil­
lion, on February 11, 1997, it acquired 8.2 million 
Shares for a total of $943 million, pursuant to 
that amended offer These Shares fiave heen 
placed in a votmg trust and under certain circum­
stances might have to be sold at a kjss The 
Conrail board repeatedly has affirmed its commit­
ment to a merger with CSX 

On February 12, 1997. NS commenced a sec­
ond tender offer for the remaming Ccnrail 
Shares, NS' second tender cffer is conditioned 
upon, among other things, the valid tender of at 
least Shares sufficient, with those already owned 
by NS, to constitute at least a majonty of the 
Shares on a fully diluted basis. Subchapter 25F 
of Pennsylvania's Business Corporation Law not 
being applicable to the offer. Conrail's Rights 
Agreement (or poison pill) having been 
redeemed or otherwise made inapplicable to NS' 
tender offer, the merger agreement between 
CSX and Conrai! having been terminated in 
acccrdance with its terms cr otherwise, and 
othe, conditions NS has received a favorable 
opmn n from the STB regarding the use cf a vot­
mg trLSt and has obtamea sufficient financing 
comm.tments (see below. 

The STB hai proposed a schedule 'or han­
dling Conrail control applications which could 
result in an STB dec iion in late 1997 or early 
1998, If the STB does not approve NS' applica­
tion or if NS deems any conditions imposed by 
the STB too onerous, NS would have the nght 
and obligation to sei! all Conrail Shares held in 
the voting trust. Such a dispositi.m coulo result 
in a significant loss 

Through December 31. 1996, NS had incurred 
$76 million of costs associated with the proposed 
acquisition These ccsts, most of which are debt 
comr 'tment fees, are reflerted i • the Con­
solidated Balance Sheet m "Other assets" and, 
for the poaion accrued, m "Other current liabili­
ties" (see Note 7) 

DEBT CoMMnrMENTS 

In connertion with the propcsed acquisition 
of Conraii. NS has secured debt commitments 
sufficient for the tender offer and subsequent 
merger The commitments expire on August 1. 
1997. except for a portion of a revolving credit 
facility expiring on August 1. 1998 The total 
commitment fees will approximate $200 million 
if the entire facility is used At December 31. 
1995. $57 million of commitmer* fees had been 
incurred. 

In connertion with the purchase of the 8,2 
million Shares. NS arranged for additional com­
mercial paper debt m an aggregate amount not 
to exceed $1,0 billion All or part of this amount 
could be refinanced either by issuing additional 
commercial paper or through drawing on the 
debt commitment that has been arranged m 
connertion with the all<ash $115 per share ten­
der offer for all Shares 

UWSUfTS 

Norfolk Southern and certain subsidianes are 
defendants in numercii', lawsuits relating pnnci­
paliy to railroad operations While the final out­
come of these lawsuits cannot be predirted with 
certainty, it is the opmion of Management, after 
consulting with its legal counsel, that the amiount 
of NS' ultimate liability will not matenaUy affert 
NS' consolidated financial position 

ENVIRONMENTAI MATTERS 

NS IS subjert to various jurisdirtions' environ­
mental laws and regulations It is NS policy to 
record a liability where such liability or loss is 
probable and can be reasonab'y estimated 
Claims. It any agamst third parties for recovery 
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of clean-up costs incurred by NS are reflerted as 
receivables in the balance sheet and are not 
netted agamst the associated NS liability 
Environmental engineers po.ticipate m ongoing 
evaluations of all identified sites, ano—afte' 
consulting with counsel—any necessary adjust­
ments to initial liability estimates are made NS 
also has established an Environmental Policy 
Council, composed cf senior manager^, to over­
see anc interpret its environmental policy 

As o' December 31,1996, NS baioice shp«>t 
included a reserve 'or environmental exposures 
in the amount o' $53 million (of which $12 mil­
lion IS accounted for as a current liability), which 
IS NS' estimate of the probable costs at 111 
identified locations based cn available mfcrma-
t on. On tfiat date, nme sites accounted for $19 
million of the reserve and no individual site was 
considered be matenal NS anticipates that 
the majority of this liability wiH be paid out over 
five years, however, some costs wH be paid out 
over a longer period 

At many of the 111 locations, certam NS 
subsidiaries, usually m conjunrtion with a num-
ber of other parties, have been iden::*'«d as 
potentially responsible parties by the 
Environmental Protertion Agency (EPA; or simi­
lar state authorities under the Comprehensive 
Environmental Response, Compensation, and 
Liability Art of 1980, or comparable state 
statutes, which often impose jomt and several 
liability for clean-up costs 

With respert to known environmental site^ 
(whether identified by NS or by the EPA or com­
parable state authorities), estimates of NS' ufti-
mate potential financial exposure for a given site 
or in the aggregate tor all such sites are necessar­
ily imprecise because of the widely varying costs 
of Currently avanable clean-up techniques, the 
likely development of new clean-up technologies, 
the difficulty of determining in advance the 
nature and full extent of contamination and each 
potert.al participant's share of any estimated ioss 
(and that participant's ability 'o bear it) and evolv­
ing statutory and regulatory standards governing 
liability 

The risk of incurnng environmental liability— 
for acts and omissions, past, pr '^ent anc 
future—IS inherent in the railroad business Son ' 
of the commodities, particulars tnose classified 
as hazarqous matenals. in NS' traf'ic mix can 
pose special nsks that NS and rts s jbsidiaries 
worK diligently to minimize. In ad Jition, several 
NS subsidiaries own, o.' have owned m the past. 

land holdings used as operating property, or 
which are leased or may have been leased and 
operated by others, or held for sale Because cer­
tain cohQitiori: may exist on these properties 
related to ervircnmenta' proolems that are latent 
or undisclosed, there Câ  be no assurance that 
NS will not incur liabilities c costs with respert to 
one cr more of them., the amount and matenaiity 
cf which cannot be estimated reliably now 
Moreover, lawsuits and claims involving these 
and other now-unidentified environmental sites 
and matters are likely tc anse from, time to time 
The resulting liabilities could have a significant 
effert on financial condition, results of operations 
or liquidity m a particular year or quarter 

However, based on its assessments of the 
facts and circumstances now xnown and, after 
consultmg with its legal counsel, tvlanagement 
believes that it has recorded the probable costs 
based on available information for those environ­
mental matters of vvhich the Corporation is 
aware Futher, Management believes that it is 
unlikely that any identified matters, either ind'vid-
ually or in aggregate. wii' have a material adverse 
effert on NS financial position, results of opera­
tions Of liquidity 

CtfAWfti-lffCONTBPt AKî ANgtî twT? 
Norfolk Southern has comf)ensation agree­

ments with officers and certam key employees, 
which become operative only upon a change m 
control of the Corporation, as defined in those 
agreements The agreements provide generally 
for payments based on compensation at the 
time ot a covered individual's involuntary or 
other specified termination and for certam other 
benefits 

C A m A L EWENOnURE COMMrrWENT 

In connertion with a long-term transportation 
contrart entered mto during 1996, NS has com­
mitted to construrt and operate four motor 
vehicle distnbution centers These facilities are 
scheduled for completion m 1998 

DEBT GUARANTEES 

As of December 31. 1996, certain Norfolk 
Southern subsidiaries are contingently liable as 
guarantors with respert tc $50 7 million of 
indebtedness of related entities 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

^^IWpeat Marwick LLP 

THE STocKHaDERS AND BOARD of DiRtaoRS 
NofiFOLK SOUTHERN CoRfORATioN 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated bali.ico sheets 
of Norfolk Southern Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 
31, 1996 and 1995, and the related conrolidated statements of 
income, changes m stcKkholde's' equity and cash flows for each 
of the years m the three-year period ended December 31,1996 
These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of 
the Company's management Our responsibility is tc ex ress an 
opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our 
audits 

We condurted our audits m accordance with generally accepted 
auditing standards Those standa'ds require that we plan and per­
form the audit to obtam reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements are free of material I'uss.atement An audit 
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the 
amounts and disclosures m the financial statements. An audit also 
includes assessing the accounting pnnciples used and significant 
estimates nmr̂ e by niar,agement, as well as evaluating the overall 
financial statement presentation We believe that our audits pro­
vide a reasonable basis for our opinion 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred tc 
above present fairly m all matenai respects, the fmaricial position 
of Norfolk Southern Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 
31, 1996 and 1995 and the results of their operations and their 
cash flows for each of the years m the three-year period ended 
December 31, 1996, in conformity with generally accepted 
accounting principles 

Norfolk, Virginia 
Janua7 28, 1997. except as to the second and third paragraphs 
of Note 15. which are as of February 12, 1997 
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BOARD AND 
MANAGEMENT 
CHANGES 

At NS' annual meet­
ing in May 1996, three 
NS directors were re­
elected to three-year 
terms. They are Gerald 
L. Baliles, a partner m 
the law firrp of Hunton & 
Williams, Gene R. Carter, 
executive director of the 
Association for Supervision 
and Curriculum 
Development: and E. B. 
Leisenring, Jr.. chairman 
of the Philadelphia 
Contributlonship. 

Arnold B. McKinnon, 
retired 'JS chairman and 
chief executive officer, was 
re-eleaed to a one-year 
term Robert E. McNair, 
chairman of McNair Law 
Firm, P.A , retired from the 
board in line with NS' 
retirement policy for 
directors 

In July, the board elect­
ed Carroll A. Campbell, 
Jr., former gover nor of 
South Carolina, to fill a 
vacancy, Campbell is pres­
ident and chief executive 
officer of the Amencan 
Council of Life insurance 

In January, NS 
announced the election 
of James c. Bishop, Jr., 
then VIC-' president-Law, 
to succeed John S 
Shannon as executive vice 
presic:'nt-Law. Shannon 
retired effeaive March 1. 
1996 

In Ma-̂ ch William C. 
Wooldridge, then NS' 

QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA 

(U^.^l .j'.ifD) three Monttis Ended 
Marcf' 31 lune 30 sepi 30 Oe^ V 

lin miUion! ol doHarf etctp: per share amountsi 

1996 

trarisoortatior operdtnig reven jes 
income trom ooerations 
Net income 
Ea'nings per share 

$• 61 5 
261 0 
168 1 

$ 1 31 

$1,217 3 
3105 
199 5 

$ 1 57 

$1,211,3 $1,1799 
315 7 3098 
202 3 200.5 

$ 1.61 $ 160 

1995 

Transportation operating revenues 
Income *roi^ operations 
Net incor.e 
Earnings per share 

$1.1387 
249 1 
17:7 

$ 1 29 

$1.1902 
290 ' 
181 2 

$ 1 38 

$1 183 9 $1.1552 
2?2 1 255 0 
183 9 1769 

$ 1 4 0 $ 1,37 

STOCK PRICE AND DIVIDEND INFORMATION 

the common stock of Norfol« ScJtherr Corporation, owned by 50,748 stoclcholders ot recoro as 
0' Decembe- 31, 1996 is trsded on ttie New Vork Stock t)^c^ange with the symbol NSC The fol­
lowing table shows the high and low sales pr<es and drviOends per share, by quarter, fo-1996 

anc 1995 

Quumii 

1996 I r t 2n<i 3rd 4th 

Marke' P'lce 
High 

LOW 

D'vioenas per sha'e 

$ 88 
76 ' , 

$ 056 

$ 89 ' , 
80 

$ 056 

$ 91 ' 4 $ 96 » i 
78 ' , 84 \ 

$ 0 56 $ 056 

1995 U t 2iid 3rd 4th 

Mame' Pnce 
H g ' 
Low 

OrviaenCs per sha'e 

$ 68 1 
60 '-2 

$ 0 52 

$ 68 ' ; 

62 >i, 
$ 052 

$ 77 >i, $ 81 S 
67 ''k 72 '4 

$ 0 52 $ 0 52 

general counse -corpo-
rate. was eleaed vice 
president-Law, succeed­
ing Bishop. 

In November, Harold 
C. Mauney, Jr., then vice 
president-Quality 
Managem.ent, was elea­
ed to the new position 
of vice president-
Operations Planning and 
Budge: Rashe W. 
Stephens, Jr.. then 

assistant vice president-
Public Affairs, was elect­
ed vice president-Quail :y 
Management, succeediny 
Maundy Also, Robert C 
Fort was eleaed vice 
president-Public Relations, 
succeeding Magda A 
Ratajski, who resigned to 
run her own international 
consulting firm. 
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se BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

• - & \ » i * ' 

«. W .^,' 

Seated, left to right: E.B. Leisenring. Jr., Arnold B. 
McKinnon, Gene R. Carter, Gerald L. Baliles, 
Landon Hilliard and T. Marshall Hahn. Back row. 
left to right David R, Goode, Carroll A. Campbell 
Jr., Jane Margaret O'Brien, L.E. Colemar. and 
Harold W Pote. 

Gerald L talilas 5f. of Richmond, Va , is a 
partner in the law firm of Hunton & Williams, 
a business law firm with ofti'"es in several 
major U,S cities anci internat.ona' offices in 
Brussels, Warsaw, and Hong Kong His Board 
service began in 1990; his current term 
expires in 1999 

Carroll A, Campbell, Jr., 56. of Washington. 
D C . is president and chief executive officer 
of the American Council of Life Insurance 
His Board service began m July 1996. his cur­
rent terr expires in 1997 

Gene R. Carter. 57. of Alexandria, Va., is 
e.iecutive direaor of the Association for 
Supervision and Curriculum Development, 
among the world's largest international edu­
cation associations. His Board service began m 
1992; his current term expires in 1999 

LE. Coleman. 66, of Grantham. N H , is 
retired chairman and chief execut've officer of 
The Lubrizol Corporation, a diversifieT special­
ty chemical company A former direct A of 
Norfolk and Western Railway (1980-82 , his 
NS Board sen/ice began in 1982, his cu 'ent 
term expires in 1998, 

David R. Goode, 56, of Norfolk, Va . is chair­
man, president and chief executive officer of 
Norfolk S-'uthern He joined Norfolk and 
Western Railway in 1965 and was named 
CEO of Norfoik Southern in 1992 His Board 
service began in 1992, his current term 
expires in 1997, 

595 



OFFICERS 
(As Of FEBRUARY 1, 1997) 

T. Marshall Hahn, Jr., 70, of Atlanta. Ga . is 

honorary chairman of the boaro of Georgia-

Pacific Corporation, a manufacturer and dis­

tributor of building products, pulp and paper 

products, and chemicals His Board se.rvice 

began m 1985. his current term expires in 

1998 

Landon Hilliiard, 57, of New York N Y , s a 

partner m Brown Brothers Harriman & Co , a 

pnvate bank in New York City His Board ser­

vice began in 1992, his current term expires 

in 1998, 

E.B. Leisenring, Jr., 71, of Philadelphia, Pa,, 

IS chairman of the Philadelphia Contnbu-

tionship, the nation's oldest insura.ice com­

pany A former direaor of Southern Railway 

(1961-82), his NS Board sea-ice began in 

1982; his current term expires in 1999 

Arno ld B. McKinnon, 69, of Norfolk, Va,, 

retired as NS' chairman ana chief executive 

officer in 1992 He began his raiiroad service 

in 1951 with Southern Railway and was a 

director from 1979-82 His NS Board service 

began in 1986, his current term expires in 

1997 

Jane Margaret O'Brien 43. of St Mary s 

City, Md , IS president of St Mary's College 

of Maryland, Her Board service began in 

1994, her current term expires in 1998, 

Harold W, Pote 50, of New York, N Y., is 

a partner o* The Beac^^n Group, a private 

investment partnership His Board service 

began m 1988, his current term expires in 

1997 

Committees of the Board 
Audit' Coiema-- ztairmar Saiiiej, Cane'. Hilliard, Pote 

Compenvition and Nominating: Leisennng, chairman. 
Colerr\an, Hahn 

Executive: McKinnon, chairman. Good* Hahn. Leisennng 

PensKWi: riahn cTiairrrjn. Campbell. Leisennng O Bnen, 
"etc 

OAVIO R, GOOOC S6 

Chairman, President and Chief Executive OffKer 31 years' sennce 
JAMES C BISHOP, in.. 60 

Executive Vice President-Law, 29 years' service 
R. A I A N BKOGAN. S6 

Executive Vice President-Transportation Logistics, 32 years' service 
t-1. PmuAMAN. S3 
Executive Vice President-Manceting. 26 years' service 
SnfHtN C ToMAS 52 
Executive Vice President-Operations. 27 years' service 
H O M * C Woi / 54 

Executive Vice President-f mance. 24 year '̂ service 
WmiAM B. B*Lts. 61 
Senior VKe President-lnterrvationa:, 34 years' service 
PAW. N , A U S ™ , 53 

V<e President-Personnel, 29 years' service 
iOHN F. CORCOKAN, 56 
Vice President-Public Affairs, 3*. years' service 
DAVIO A COX, 60 

Vice President-Properties, 40 years' service 
THOMAS L FMMINER, 44 

Vice President-lntermodai, 9 years' rai'road serv<e 
Roacrr C Fo»r 52 
Vice President-PuWic Relations 19 years' service 
JOHN W , FOX. JK. 49 

VKe P-esider.t-Coal MarXeting, 27 years' service 
THOMAS J, OOUAN, 63 

Vice President, 46 years' service 
JAMES L GRANUM. 60 

Vice .""resident-Pubiic Affairs, 34 years' service 
JAMES A t-tnON 43 

Vice Presider.'-Taxation, 12 years servKe 
JoN L MANETTA, 5£ 

Vice President-Transoortatior and Mechanical, 41 years service 
HAROLD C MAUNEY, JR., S8 

Vice President-Operdtons Planning and Budget. 35 ye-'-s' servKe 
DONALD W , MAvtewr S3 

Vice President-Resesrd", and Tests, 32 years' service 
JAMES W . MCCUUAN 57 

Vice President-Strategic Pwnning, 22 years' service 
KATHRYN B, MCQUAOE 40 

Vice President-Interna Audit, 16 years' service 
CHARUS W , MOORIMAN 44 

Vice PreSKjent-infonrjtion Technology, 21 years' service 
PHHXir R. OcoEN, 56 
Vice Presioent-cngineenng, 33 years' service 
JOHN P, RATXIONE 44 

V<e President and Controller, 15 years' service 
W U M M J, ROMK;, 52 

Vice Presioent and Treasurer, 19 years servKC 
DONALD W , SCALE 44 

Vice P'esident-Mercnandise MarVeting, 20 year;' servKe 
Ro«RT S, Srorsa. 62 
V<e Pres'dent-LaDor Reiatons, 31 years' service 
RASHE W , SIWHENS, JR.. 55 

Vice President-Ouaiity Management. 27 years' service 
W K U A M C WOOUMODCE 53 

Vice PreSident-LaiA 23 yeaT sennce 
DEZOKA M , MARTm, 49 

Corpo'ate Secretary, 24 years ser>iKe 
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bll GLOSSARY OF TERMS 

Btrik transfer — the transfer of bulk products, such as plastk 
pellets or liquid sweeteners, from one inode of transportation 
to another Bulk transfer permrts cff-rail shippers and receivers 
of vaned commodities to combine rail's kxig-haul effoencies 
with truck's convenient door-to-door delivery 
Capftalizcd costs — expenditures that have h;ture benefi' 
and thus are recorded as assets 
Car utilizaL'on — \*ays to measure railcar produQivity 
Among the mea;' ires are how much freight a car hauled and 
how many tnps it male in a speafied penod of orne 
Carioad — a $hipm»nt of not less than five tons of one com-
inodRy, 

Oass I railroad — a railroad having operating revenues r i 
more than }2S5,9 million annually 
Conntting carrier — a railroad with a physical connectior 
with another. 
Container — a large, weatherproof bo>i designed for shipping 
freigm m buk by rail, trud, or stearrtsNp 
Cjfde time — the length of time consumed by a freight car 
from one toadmg to the rext, 
Dabt-t»-totai<af)>*«lization ratio — the percentage of 
total capital that is debt Total capital is the combination of 
long-term d * i short-temi debt, cunent matunties of kmg-
ttrm debt, and stodcholders' equity 
Distribution center — a centrally located warehouse nvhere 
goods shipped long distances by rail are kMded onto trucks for 
shon-haul delivery to recetvers, or vice versa Also called a 
itload center, it ixmbines the 'Konomies of rail with the flexi­
bility of truck pickup arxl delivery 
Doubie-ttack containers — cor uiineis that can be stacked 
one atop another or a flatcar 
Hatcar — an open car without sides or roof 
Grade crossing — that point at which a roadway inters?<T, a 
raillirte. 

Gross ton-mflc — the movement of the comoined weigm of 
cars and their contents a difU.ice of one mile 
Hopper — an open-top car with pockets, or hopper,, opening 
on the underside of the Cir for unloading buUi comrrxxjities 
Hump yard — a regio,iai gathenng pcxnt where freight ts 
Classified and fofward-ai to final destinations. The three compo­
nents are a receiving yard, a Uiisification yard, in which lail-
cars are pushed over a hump to vanous dassificatior tracks, 
and a fonwarding yard 
Intermodal sennce — freight moving via at least two differ­
ent modes of transpon. intermodal servKe generally involves 
the shipment of containers and trailrfs by rail, truck, barge, or 
ship 

Less-than-trucfcload (Ul) — the quantity of freight that's 
less than that required for applicauon of a trailerioad '3te, 
Line capacity — the maximum number ol trains ttiat car, 
operate safely and reliabty over a given segment of track during 
a giver penod of time. 
Line-haul service — the movement over the tracks of a 
carrier from one aty to another, not including the switching 
service 
Main line — pnmary rail line over which trains operate 
between tentiinals. It exdudes sidings, and yard and industry 
tracks 
Multilevel car — a iong flatcar designed with one or more 
deck levels in addrtior to the car's main deck; used to haul new 
automobiles and trucks 
Net ton-mile — the movement of a ton of freight one mile 
Operating ratio — the percentage of nverues tfiaT goes into 
operating the ra.l""'' It is calculated by dividing railway oper­
ating expenses by railway operating revenues. 
Retum on equity — net income divided by average stocic­
holders' equity. 
Revenue ton-mile — the movement of a ton of freight one 
mile for revenue, 
Rigtit-of-way — the property owned by a railroad over which 
tracks have been laid 
Subsidiary — a company owned by another company that 
controls a majonty of its stock. 
Switching — movemert of freight cars between two nearby 
kxations or trai s. Switching is a term typically associated wrth 
activities ttiat oc mr in a railcar dassrflcation yard or temnina' 
Herminal — a ailroad faality used for handling freight and 
the receiving, d ssifying. assembling, and dispatching of trams. 
Through frei^trt train — an express freight tram between 
major terminals. 
Totai return tc stodcholders — stock-pnce change plus 
reinvested dividends expressed as a percentage of the purchase 
pnce of the stock 
Trackage rights — ngnts obtainjd by one railroad to :^rate 
Its trains c»ver the tracks of another railroad 
Trailer — a cargo-carrying highway vehicle without automo­
tive power. 
Unrt train — a freight tram that moves cartoads of a single 
product Between two points. By unloading on arrival and 
returning promptly for another load, such trains cut costs 
because they eliminate intermediate stops m yards and reduce 
cycle times. 
Yard — a system of tracks branching from a commor track. 
Yards are used for switching, making up trains, and storing cars. 
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NORFOLK SOUTHERN 1996 ANNUAL REPORT READER SURVEY 

Dear Investor 

Thank you for leading the Norfolk Southern 1996 Annual Report. Your opinions are 
important to us and will /i:/,/ improve our ability to serve you. Please take a few 
minutes to telt us what you :hink about the annual report by answering the follow­
ing questions. When you have conpleted the survey, please drop it in the mail. The 
postage is prepaid. 

1 When reading the annual report, individuals have different information needs. Please 
rate the sectcns of the annual report that you found most helpful by circling t.he appro­
priate nuniber When making your assessments, consider the overall quality, communica­
tion effectivenBss, and readability of the section 

Financial Highlights 

Very Poor Poor 

1 2 

Fair 

3 

Good 

4 

Excellent 

5 

Chairman's Letter to Stockholders 1 2 3 4 5 

System Map 1 2 3 4 5 

Narratives on Employee Commitment, 
Customer Sea'ice, Innovation, and Efficiency 1 2 3 4 5 

1996 The Year in Reviev̂  1 2 3 4 5 

financial Overview 1 3 4 5 

Financial Statements 1 2 3 I 5 

Management's Discussion and Analysis 1 2 3 4 5 

Glossary of Tern"; I 2 3 4 5 

Stockholder I'iformation « -1 
1 i 3 4 5 

Please rjte the annual report on the following charaaenstics 

Appearance/design 

Very Poor Poor Fair Good 

4 

Excellent 
c 

Organization/ease of locating information 1 2 3 4 5 

Readability 1 2 3 4 5 

Use of chartigraphs 1 2 3 5 

Helping you understand Norfolk Southern 1 2 3 4 5 

Use of photographs 1 2 3 .1 5 

Showng how Norfolk Southern 
IS positioned for the future 1 2 3 4 5 

3 Taken as a whole, please rate the report by circling the numtier below that bert 
describes your overall impression of this report and how it compares to other 
annual reports you receive. 

Overall, I fee' the 1996 report is: 
Ver < Poor 

1 
Poor 

2 
Fair 
3 

Gaod 
4 

Excellent 
5 

4 What information would you like included m future reports^ 

5 What do you dislike about this report? 
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6 Please check the box rriar best describes you: 

Q I oersonally own the stock m my own nar̂ e and have the certificates 
r ] I personally own the stock through an employee stock plan 
[ n I personally own the stock, however my broker Keeps the certificates 
Q I am a financial security analyst following the company 
• I am an investment manager 
• I am a customer of Norfolk Southern 
D I am a potential stockholder 

7 Comments 

roc here 

tdpe ne'e tc sea! 

Thank you for reading the 1996 Annual Report and for answering our survey. 

I 

BUSINESS REPLY MAIL 
FIRST-CLASS MAi. PERf.V^NC -03C' ROANOKE VA 
POSTAGE WILL B t PAlO B ' ADCRESStE 

EDITOR, ANNUAL REPORT 
NORFOLK SOUTHERN CORPORATION 
PUBLIC RELATIONS DEPARTMENT 
THREE COMMERCIAL PLACE, BOX 217 
NORFOLK. VA 23510-2191 

NO POSTAGE 
NECESSARY 

IF MAILED 
I IN THE 
I uNrrED STATES 

| , , | , lMl lMl, l . , , . l l l i I,I, ..III.) II.II..I 
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STOCKHOLDER INFORMATION 

COMMON STOCK 
Ticker symbol NSC 
fJewspaoer listing NorflkSo 

Common stock of Norfolk Southern Corporation is 
listed and traded or the New York Stock Exchange 

Stockholders of record ai year-end 50,748 
Shares outstanding at year-end 125.097,374, (<clud-

ing treasury stock 

DIVIDENDS 
At Its January 1997 meeting, the Corporation's Board 

0* Direaors increased the March quarterly dividend to 60 
cents pe' share on its commor stock, 

Norfolk Southe'P Corporation pa,5 quarterly dividends 
on Its corrmon stock, usually on or about March 10, June 
10, Septemoer 10, and December 10 The Corporation 
has paid 58 consecutive quarterly dividends since its 
in.eptio.i in 1982, 

DIVIDEND REINVESTMENT PLAN 
Stockholders whose names appear on ther stock cer­

tificates (not a street or broker name i are eligible to par­
ticipate in the Dividend Reinvestment Pian, 

The Plan provides a conver ent economical, and sys­
tematic method of acquinng additional shares of the 
Corporation's commor stoc>.. The Plan permits eligible 
stockholders of record to reinvest dMdends fron Corpor­
ation stock m shares o' Norfolk Southem Corporation 

The Plan's administrator is The Bank of New York, For 
additional information dia (8001 524-4458 

ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS 

May 8, 1997, at ICa m EDT 
The Conference Center-Williamsburg Lodge 
Scutr- England Street 
VMIIiamsburg Virginia 

PUBLICATIONS 
Upon written request, tfie Corporation's annu­

al report to the Securities and Exchange Commis­
sion on Fortn '0-K for the fiscal year ended 
December 31,1?96, and its quarterly reports on 
Form 10-Q will be fumished to stockh "Iders free 
of charge; write to: Public Relations Department 
Norfolk Southern Corporation, 110 Franklin Road, 
S E,, Roanoke, Virginia 24042-0043 

A Votice anc P'oxy StatementAr]naa' Meeting c' 
Stockholders are furnished to stockholders ir advance of 
the annjal meeting 

A to l-free telephone number — (800! 531-6757 — 
provides access tc information previously DjWished m the 
quarter", stockholder fjewsletter 

CORPORATE OFFICES 
Executive Offices 

Norfolk Southern Corporation 
Three Commeraal Place, Box 227 
Norfolk, Virginia 2351 C-2191 
(757) 629-2600 

Regional Offices 
110 Franklin Road, S.E. 
Roanoke, Virginia 24042 
99 Spring Street, S.W. 
Atlanta, Georgia 30303 

North Amencan Van Lines^ Inc 
5001 U.S. Highway 30 West 
Post Office Box 988 
Fort Wayne, Indiana 46801 

STOCKHOLDER ACCOUNT ASSISTANCE 
For assistance with lost stock certificates, transfer 

recjuirements, and the Dividend Reinvestment Plan, 
coritaa 

Registra, and Transfer Agent 
The Bank of New York 
101 Barday Street-12W 
New York, New York 10286-1002 
(800) 524-4458 

For assistarKe with address changes, dividend 
checks, and direa deposit of dividends, contaa; 

Ass.stant Corporate Secretary-
Stockholder Records 

Norfolk So'jthern Corporation 
Three Commeraal "lace Box 219 
Norfolk, Virginia 23510-2191 
(800) 531-6757 

FINANCIAL INQUIRIES 
Secunties analysts, portfolio managers, and represen­

tatives 0' financial institutions seeking finanaal and 
operating nformation may contaa: 

Henry C, Wolf 
Executive Vice Piesident-Fmance 
Nnrfoln Southem Corporation 
Th'ee Commercial Place, Box 215 
Norfolk. Virginia 23510-2191 
(757) 629-2650 

ANNUAL REPORT REQUESTS 
(800; 531-6757 

WORLD WIDE WEB ADDRESSES 
hrtp./.'www.nscorp.com 
hrtp *,'www northamencanvanlines.com 

This 'eecr nas oeer .-jnntec 'tcf-KC Moer ir cora •'s iO\ 'KycKC 'ide- 10% r IS pos!<oo$i;nff waste Appffflurruietir J% & f^Cf' 
\ 0 W '.M ' was na'JiT.xtc '-V' *sst« ww collec«! r '6' cofrtxatt office n Arariu i S n D 

PtwtMrap". A,-3re5 A«rsc. Gary Bersc' Rober: Bcwr K' fat ' Carperte' !teve 'orrest Boe Ute, Chru Little, Mike Maiooe, N Y f e H 
ian« McCov Ton Mil*s,iko, Steve Mcrnsene, RKharc Muioe;, Rooê  A Ripc5 
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NORFOLK SOUTHERN CORPORATION 

THREE COMMERCIAL PLACE 

NORFOLK, VIRGINIA 23510-2191 

"AMERICA'S MOST ADMIRED RAILROAD " 

Norfolk Southern was named "America's Most 

Admired Railroad" in FORTUNE®'s 15th annual 

Corporate Reputations Survey, as reported in that 

magazine's March 3, 1997, issue. 

OveraU, the Thoroughbred placed 41st among 

431 FORTUNE^ 1000 companies in 49 industries. 

Companies were rated by 13,000 senior exec­

utives, outside direaors and financial security ana­

lysts on innovation; quality of managemf^nt; value 

as a long-term investment; community and environ­

mental responsibility; ability to attraa, develop, 

and keep talented people; quality of products or 

semces; financial soundness; and use of corporate 

assets. 

This is the third time in four years that NS has 

been first in the railroad category. 
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NORFOLK SOUTHERN 
RAILWAY COMPANY 

Annual Report 
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NORFOLK SOUTHERN RAILWAY COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES 
(A Majority-OwnecJ S ,bsidiary of Norfolk Southern Corporation) 

Serial Preferred Stock Information 

There are 10 000,000 shares of no par value serial preferred stock authorizecJ, This stock may be issued in series from 
ume to time at the discretion of the Board of Directors witn any 5erie> having such voting and other powers designa­
tions, dividends and other preferences as deemed appr jpnate at the time of issuance ' 
1 r . I l ' lny i ^ Cumulative Preferred Stock, Senes A r^eries A Stock), of which 1,197,027 shares were issued and 
• J ! . '̂"^ subsidiaries as of February 29, 1996, has no par value but has a JSO per share 

stated value. As indicated in the title, the stock pays a dividend of J2,60 per share annually, payable quarterly onMarch 
I S, lune 15, September 15 and December IS. Dividends on this stock are cumulative and in preference to dividends on 
all other classes of stock. Except for ,ny shares held by Norfolk Southerr Railway Company subsidianes and/or in a fidu­
ciary capacity, each share is entitled to c.e vote per share on all matters, votmg as a s, gle class with holders of other 
stock Should divideiids become delinquent for six quarters, th.s class of stock, voting as a class, may elect two directors 
so long as any default in dividend payments continues. The stock is redeemable at the option of Norfoik Southern Railway 
Conipany at JSO per share plus accrued dividends. On liquidation, the stock is entitled to JSO per share plus accrued divi­
dends before any amounts are paid on any other class of stock. 

In lune 1989, Norfolk Southern Corporation (NS) announced that it intended to purchase up to 250 000 shares of 
the outstanding Series A Stock during the subsequent two-year period. In f^ay 1991 NS extended the previously 
announced stock purchase program through 1993, In March 1994, NS announced that it would 
continue purchasing up to 250,000 shares of the Senes A Stock through 1996, As of February 29 1996 NS had pur­
chased 131,128 shares of Series A Stock at a total cost of J4,778,767; as of the same date, NS held a total of 131 223 
shares, ' 

Stocfc Transfer Agent and Rea'strar Fonn 10-K 

The Bank of New York 
101 Barclay street • 12W 
New York, NY 10286-1002 
(800) 524-4458 

Norfolk Southern Railway Company will mail a copy 
of the Annual Report to the Secuiities and Exchange 
Commission (Form 10-K) to interested persons upon 
written request to: 

Public Relations Department 
Norfolk Southem Corporation 
110 Franklin Road, SE 
Roanoke, VA 24042-0043 
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D e s c r i p t i o n of Bus iness 

On )jne I, 1982, Soutnern Rdiiwd> Company (^R, and Nortolk and Western Railway Company consummated a conso'iaj 
• under the control of Norfolk Southem Corporation (NS) Following the consolidation, a number of general management 

tions were combined thereby increasing coorr mation of sales, marketing and other customer sen -̂ice functions Effective 
• , ember 31, ^990, SR's name was changed to "Nortolk Southem Railway Comoany" and NS contnbuted aH the common 
, k of Norfolk and Westem Railway Company t( Norfolk Southem Railway Company All the common stock of Norfolk 

s ijthern Railwav Companv is owned bv NS 
Nortolk Southern Railwav Companv, together with its consolidated subsidiaries (collectively, NS Rail), is engaged pri­

marily in the transportation of freight bv rail The railroad system's lines extend over more than 14,500 miles of road in 
- states, pnmanlv in the Southeast and Midwest, and the Province of Canada As of December 31, 1995, NS fai l owned 

"ased 2,11 3 diesel locomotives, 96,928 freight cars and 4,168 rail-highway trailers 
NS Rail s lines carrv raw matenals, intermediate products and finished goods primarily in t^ie Southe.ist and Midwest 

and to and from the rest of the United States and parts of Canada These lines so transport overseas fre ght through 
several Atlanta and Culf Coast ports Atlantic ports sen/ed bv NS Rail include Charleston, S C., lacksonville, Fla., 
K^nrehead City, N.C, Nortolk, Va.; and Savannah and Brunswick, Ga. Gulf Coast ports served include Mot^.le, Ala , and 

• i-. Orleans, La 
NS Rail's lines rv- ,:h most of the larger industrial ano trading centers the Southeast and Midwest, with the excep­

tion of those in central and southern Florida Atlanta, Ga , Birmingham, Ala,, New Orleans, Memphis, Tenn,, St, Louis, 
Mo , Kansas City, Mo,, Chicago, III,, Detroit, Mich , Cincinnati, Ohio, Buffalo, N Y, Norfolk, Charleston, Savannah and 
1,1' ksonville are among the leading centers originating and terminating freight traffic on the system In addition, a 

,iage arrangement with Flonda East Coast Railway allows NS Rail to provide single-lme service to and from South 
I .irida, including the port cities of Miami, Wtst Palm Beach and Fort Lauderdale. The system s lines also reach many indi­
vidual industries, mines (in western Virginia, eastern Kentuckv and sou'fiern West Virginia) and businesses located in 
smaller communities in its service area The traffic coTidors carrying f , c heaviest volumes of treight include those from 
the Appalachian coal fields ot Virginia, West Virginia and Kentuckv to Nonclk and Sandus'^y, Ohio; Buffalo to Chicago and 
Kansas City; Chicago to lacksonville (via Cincinnati, Chattanooga, Tenn., and Atlanta); and Washington, 
D C . Hagerstown Md , to New Orleans (via Atlanta and Birmingham) 

Buffalo, Chicago, Hagerstown, lacksonville, Kansas City, Memphis, New Orleans and St. Louis are -na|or gateways for 
interterritorial system traffic 

Freight Revenues by Market C r o u p 
(S m i l l i ons ) 
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NORFOLK SOUTHERN RAILWAY COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES 
!A Maiornv Owned Subsidiary of Norfolk Southern Corporation) 

Five-Year Financial Review 

Financial Position: 
Total assets 
Total long-term debt, including 

current maturities 
Stockholders equity 

Other: 
Capital expenditures 
Number of stockholders at year-end 
Average number of employees ^ 

1995 1994 I993I 1992 19912 

Results of operations: 
(J in millions) 

Railway operating revenues 
Railway operating expienses 

J 3,918,1 
2,869.2 

$ 3,727.6 
2,805,9 

J 3,709.1 
2,781,7 

$ 3,598,0 
3,287.2 

Income from railway operations 1,048.9 921.7 927,4 310.8 

Other income - net 
Interest expense on debt 

46.6 
28.3 

57.6 
32.3 

49,5 
44,6 

70.2 
48.4 

Income before income taxes 1,067.2 947.0 932,3 332.6 

Provision for income taxes 385,2 412.8 325,8 102.0 

Income before accounting changes 
Cumulative effect of 

682.0 534.2 606,5 230.6 

accounting changes — 247.8 

Net income J 682.0 S 782.0 J 606,5 $ 230.6 

110,289.2 S 9,760.4 J 9,675.5 S 9,358.0 

J 539.8 
J 5,440.5 

639.6 
3,281 

24,710 

S 604.9 
$ 5,184.9 

S 629.2 
3,517 

25,531 

J 714.5 
J 4,784.3 

617,1 
3,725 

25,650 

$ 735.0 
S 4,449.5 

663.1 
3,952 

27,366 

income 
' 7 993 results include 0 160 8 million increc:- m the provision for income taxes refleamg a 1% increase in the federal 

tox rate (see Note 4). The cumulative efft :t ot accounting changes (see Note 1) increased 1993 earnings by S24 7.8 mVlion 

^1991 railway operating expenses include a $483 million special charge, primarily comprised of costs for labor force reduc­
tions. This charge reduced net income by i303 million. 

^ The employee count includes Norfolk Southern Corporation's employees whose primary duties relate to rail operations. 
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M a n a g e m e n ^ ^ i s c u s ^ 

DETAILED RESULTS OF OPERATIONS The following discussion and analysis should be read in 
coniunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements 
and Notes beginning on page 10 and the Five-Year 
financial Review on page 2 

SUMMARIZED RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

L995 Corvpared v^iti^ 1 994 
Net income in 1995 was a record J701,7 million , up 

3% over 1994 earnings of J682,0 mill ion. Excluding a 
J20 4 million after-tax charge tor an early ret'rement pro­
gram in 1995, net income would have been S722.1 mil­
lion, up 6% These results were oriven primarily by 
improved income from railway operations, up J48 0 mil­
lion, or 5% (excluding the early retirement charge) 
Railway operating revenues increased J93 7 million, or 
2%. while railway operating expenses, excluding the 
earlv retirement charge were up J4S,7 million, ot 2%. 
Nonoperating income of S4 3 ? million was about even 
with last year (see Note 3) Interest expense on debt was 
up J4.7 mill ion, largelv due to a lower levei of capitalized 
interest 

; 994 Compared with 1993 
Net income was J682 0 million in 1994, compared 

with J782 0 million in 1993 However, 1993 net income 
was increased by J247,8 million, related to the imple­
mentation of required accounting changes (see Note 1), 
and reduced by J51,6 million for the prior vears' effect o* 
a federal income tax rate 

Railway Opfrating 
Revenuei and txp*nse4 
: S n-' i i i , i . .n', 

• Lxprnses 

_ c 

increase (see Note 4) 
Excluding the effects of the 
1993 accounting changes 
and the tax rate increase, 
1993 net income was J58S.8 
million, and 1994 net income 
was up 16% 

Income from railwav 
operations produced most of 
the improvement, increasing 
J127.2 million, or 14% 
These results reflected a S°'c 
increase in railway operatinq 
revenues (largely due to 
higher traffic volume} com­
bined with only a 2°T; 
increase in railwav operating 
expenses Nonoperating 
income was J46 6 million, compared with J57 6 million 
in 1993, principally a result of reduced gams on sales of 
property 

RaiMQ', Operating Re-enuei 
Railway operating revenues were J4 01 billion in 

1995, compared with J3,92 billion in 1994 and J3,73 
billion in 1993 The S93 7 million improvement in 1995, 
compared with 1994, was largely attributable to increas­
es in the intermodal (S44 9 million), automotive {J22,0 
million) and metals construction (J18 1 million) market 
groups. The J190 5 million improvement in 1994, com-
pareci with 1993 was primarily attributable to increases 
in the mtermodal, coal and chemicals market groups 

The following table presents a three-year compari­
son of revenues ^y market group 

R A I I V V « > QPt l lATINC RtVENOfS B M A i l l i r T Ci lOUP 

(i m rriill-ons. 1995 1994 '993 

Coal S 1,2403 S 1,262 5 S 1 213 3 
Paper to rd : 519." SOS 4 502 7 
Cnerriicals $13,5 ' . J 2 472 9 
Automotive 4S4.1 432 1 429 5 
Agricultu'e S99.0 347 5 319 7 
Metals construction »9.S 321 4 296 1 
interrnoda 470.$ 425 6 37,.9 

freigtit revenues 3,896 7 3,806 7 3,606 1 
Other principally iwitching 

and demurrage 11$ 1 1114 121 5 

Tota S 4,0118 i 3 "Vlg 1 J 3,727 6 

Traffic volume changes m 199S were mixed, with 
improvements in automotive, agriculture, metals/con­
struction and intermodal partiallv offset by declines in the 
other three market groups Traffic volume increased or 
remained steadv for all market groups in 1994 These vol­
ume gams accounted for most cf the revenue improve­
ment in 1995 and all the i m p r ' v i m e n t in 1994 as illus­
trated by the following tati l t. 

R A I L » A > OcfRATINC R t V f N U t V » l l l * N C l ASAtvSlS 

iNCi>t»S£: ( D { C « t > s l S ; 

f J ir r^iliions, 1995 VI 1994 1994 vs 1993 

Trattic voijme $ 62,6 $ 195 i 
Revenue per unit 31 1 (4.6) 

Tota $ 93 7 J 190 5 

Average revenue per unit rose :' ly95 due to moder­
ate rate increases The revenue per unit variance i,"" 1994 
was principally attributable to gr-owth in shorter haul and 
doude-stack business, both of which generally have 
lower a^'^ra^.fe rates 

Coo/traffic volume declined 1 % , and revenues were 
down 2%, trom 1994 In 1995, coal revenues represent­
ed 3 1 % ot total railway operatmg revenues, and 9 1 % of 
coal shiprrents origmat<»d on NS Rail's lines. As shown in 
the following table, coal tonnage by type emained sta­
ble m 1995, compared with 1994 Howe.er, utility coal 
tonnage m 1994 increased significantly. 
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ToiA. COAI ToNNAct 
/I mliiori y :ons 1 1995 1904 1093 

UtiUtv 69 1 70 2 60 6 

Export 25 8 25 2 25 7 

Steel 1 8 9 18 8 20.5 

Other 8 2 8 9 8 8 

Tot.l 122 0 1 : 3 1 ' 1 6 

Utilitv coal traffic had been expected to grow in 
1995, but ins. .'ad decreased slightly due to moderate 
weather throughout much of the NS Rail ser\'ice region 
durma the first half of the year .ind to sustained periods 
ot maximum generation from several southeastern 
nuclear power plants. The mild yveathtr pattern actually 
began in third-quarter 1994, causing a number of NS 
Rail s utilit>' customers to start 1995 with high coal inven­
tories However inventories began to normalize, as sea­
sonal weather returned to the service region in midsum­
mer, and nuclear plants began to power down for refuel­
ing and repairs in th',d-quaner 1995. Compliance wi th 
phase I ef the Clean Air Act Amendments, which took 
enect on jonuan,' 1, 1995, increased shipments of both 
NS Rail- ana toraign-line-originated, low-sulfur coal. A 
significant proportion of the mines served bv NS Rail pro­
duce coal which sjtisfief ooth Phase I and the more strin­
gent Phase II requ rements, which take effect )anuary 1, 
2000 

In 1994, ur;;ity coul traffic was up early in the year as 
a result of bitter weather and the resulting depletion of 
coal stockpiles The pace at which 1994 outperformed 
1993 slowed as the weather nornialized New move­
ments of yvestern coal into Georgia also contributed to 
the 1994 increase 

The near-term outlook for utility coal is favorable, as 
most NS Rail-served utilities began 1996 with normal c. 
somewhat low inv>;n'-> y levels The long-term outlook is 
less certain due to the deregulation and ongoing restruc­
turing of tne utilitv ind'jstrs, although loyv-sulfur coal 
traffic snould increase, with the approach of the Phase li 
deadline ot the Clean Air Act. 

Export coal traffic in 1995 benefited frum the contin­
ued recovery o' the European steel-producing economy. 
Demand from other parts of the world also m p r c e d . 
Bra,:ii Belgium, France, Romania and japar took 
increased amounts of NS Rail coal In addition, NS Rail 
began handling metallurgical coal tor steel production in 
Mexico Congestion and high barge rates on the 
Mississippi River caused an mcrease in movements to NS 
Rail s coa! piers in Norfolk, Va, 

Export coal traffic at the beginning of 1994 reflected 
the poor demand also seen m 1993, Shipments remained 
someyvhat depressed as a result of the weak European 
economy and strong competition from other producing 
countries Economic recovery in Europe and japan 
,mproved demand for steei and electricity, and the coal 
supply-demand situation tightened during 199'' As a 

result, delivery times were longer and prices rose during 
1994 

A recent softening m world demand for steel could 
limit n t i r - te rm groy\'th in expo^ metallurgical coal ship­
ments. However, demand for export steam coal is 
increasing, and NS Rail is working to increase participa­
tion in this market 

Steel coal domestic traffic was up slightiv in 1995 due 
to completion ot extenoed coke oven work at one facility 
and continued strong demand for dorr.estic coke for 
making steel In 1994, traffic was reduced by the closing 
of one coke battery Advanced technologies that allow 
production of steel with little or no coke could cause this 
market to decline slowly over the long 'erm. However, 
NS Rail could participate m the movement of non-coking 
coal used by technologies such as pulverized coal injec-
tion 

Other coal consists of traffic for mdunUies which burn 
coal to generate energy used in manufacturing processes 
and ohen for the productioi. of electricity for m-plant use 
and outside sales. Lower demand for eiectricity due to 
mild weather, as discussed above, continued to affect this 
market in 1995 In addition, some industries switched to 
natural gas as a fuel source. This market is expected to 
remain stable in commg years, as growth through innov­
ative packaged delivery services offsets some additional 
loss to natural gas 

MERCHANDISE traffic volume rose 5%, and revenues 
increased by J l 1 2,2 million, or 4%, compared with 
1994 Merchandise traffic volume in 1994 increased 8%, 
and revenues increased by J l 51 4 million, or 6%, com­
pared with 1993 Ali SIX market g-oups comprising mer­
chandise traffic reported increased revenues m 1995 over 
1994 and in 1994 over 1993. 

Paper forest traffic declined 1 % ; however, revenues 
were up 3%, compared with 1994 Paper and pulpwood 
products traffic was even with 1994, while lumber traffic 
suffered from weak housing starts in 1995 For 1994, 
paper forest volume and revenues were about even with 
1993, reflecting weak paper production, severe winter 
weather and floods in south Georgia Some of the weak­
ness in pape' was offset by a gam m lumber traffic due, 
in part, to the opening of five new lumber distribution 
centers in 1994 Moderate growth is expected for 1996 
based or, the anticipated completion of several woodchip 
mills and ar: -inprovement in housing starts. 

Chemicals I'affic and revenues showed little change 
compared with 1994 Increases for general chemicals 
were overshadowed by weakness in the plastics and fertil­
izer markets However, 1994 showed a 9% traffic increase 
and an 8% revenue increase, compared with 1993. The 
demand for chemicals increased m 1994, and shipments 
of fertilizer and plastics were stronger than in prior years. 
A resumption of mode'ate groyvth is expected for 1996, 
if the fertilizer and plasties markets st-engthen and 
demand for liquefied petroleum ga, grows 
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Automotive trattic rose 3%, and revenues—their high­
est in NS Rail's history—increased 5% over' 1994 This 
growth occurred even though some plants served by NS 
Rai; were shut down or operating at reduced capacity 
These effects were mitigated by strong production at 
selected plants that produce popular cars and tri'cks In 
1994, automotive traffic had remained steady, and rev­
enues increased 1 % . compared with 1-993, duo to retool­
ing downt ime at four plants. Moderate growth is expect­
ed to continue in 1996, as plant retoolings are completed 
and new plants come on line. The GM plant at 
Wentzville, Mo., should resume production early in 1996 
atter remaining down for two years NS Rail also should 
see more traffic from the expanded Toyota plant at 
Georgetown, Ky,; from BMW's new facility at Greer, S C , 
and in 1997, f rom trie Mercedes plant under construction 
in Tuscaloosa, Ala 

Agriculture traffic rose 2%, and revenues increased 
3%, compared wi th a strong 1994. This g 'owth was dri­
ven by a 6% increase in gram and sovbean faf f ic, a result 
of higher shipments from the Midwest to the Southeast 
primarily for the poultry' industry. 

Agriculture traffic in 1994 rose 7%, and revenues 
increased 9% This performance reflected record corn 
and soybean hanyests and improved car utilization 
through greater use of SO- and 100-car unit trains This 
market group is expiected to continue to grow as poultry 
consumption increases, with a commensurate rise in 
demand for teed grain. Industrial development efforts 
mav bring several new feed mills on line. 

Metals construction traffic rose slightly, and revenues 
were up 6% Most of the revenue i icrease was m the 
steel and a luminum markets, driven by strong demand, 
improved pricing and traffic from a new steel mini-mill in 
Bul ?r Ind These results were partially oftset by reduced 
demand 'or construction products, reflecting postpone­
ment of some highway prefects ano general weakness m 
residential construction Metals construction traffic in 
1994 was strong, with both volume and revenues 
increasing 9%, compared with 1993 Most of the rev­
enue gain was m shipments of steel due to exceptionally 
strong indust/y demand Increased housing starts and 
new pro|ecLs, such as at the Chesapeake Bay Bridge 
Tunnel, may improve construction traffic in 1996, 
Moderate q rowth is expected for metals 

Intermodal volume rose 12%, and revenues increased 
l 1 % . Although intermodal traffic levels nationwide 
declined in 1995, NS Rail intermodal achieved record lev­
els of volume, revenue and profitability, led by container 
shipments in both domestic and international service. 
During 1995, a seven-year agreement with Hanjin 
Shipping Company was signed under which NS Rail will 
handle nearly all of Hanjin's international container busi-
n in NS Rail s territory east of the Mississippi River, 
EMP the container eouipment-sharing arrangement with 
Union Pacific and Conrail, contributed significantly to 

domestic groyvth Almost all the increase in internaticnai 
container business was attributable to new ser.ices, 
thereby increasing NS Rail's market share. Domestic bus -
ness was augmented by growth m the trucking segmerM, 
as both truckload and less-than-truckload companies 
increased their use of NS Rail mtermodal Additionally, 
intermodal marketing companies increased their business 
on NS Rail Service and facility improvements are expect­
ed to result in a further market share increase in 1996 

Intermodal traffic in 1994 rose 1 3%, and revenues 
increased 14%, compared with 1993, As was the case in 
1995, the 1994 groyvth in intermodal was led by an 
increase m container business. The export container seg­
ment unproved as the economies in Europe recovered 
and countries in the Asia Pacific region experienced rapid 
growth in production. Revenues from domestic contamer 
movements also nproved, as NS Rail increased its market 
share Much of this growth was related to aggressive 
f.'cility and tiansit-time improvements, mcluding expand­
ing or upgrading five terminal facilities, 

Raiiwa\ Operating Expenses 
Railway operatmg expenses in 1995 totaled J2.95 bil­

lion, an increase of S79.3 million. However, 1995 expens­
es included a S33 6 million charge for an early retirement 
program (see Note 12) Excluding the early retirement 
charge, 1995 railway operat- • ^ ^ T ^ ^ ^ ^ ' ^ T ' ^ ^ " 

, Railway Operating Ratio 
ing expenses were up only 
J45.7 million, or 2%, on a 
3% increase in traffic volume. 
Similarly, railway operating 
expenses in 1994 were J2 87 
billion, a 2% increase, com­
pared with 1993, despite a 
7% increase in traffic volume. 

As a result, the NS Rail 
railway operating ratio 
which measures the percent­
age ot revenues consumed by 
expenses, was a record 72 7 
in 1995 (excludmg the early 
retirement charge) and con-
t.nues to be the best among 
the maior railroads in the 
United States 

The forowing table shows the changes in railway 
operating expenses summarizeo by major classifications 

' Excludes special charge 

R A I I W V OftlUTlNC EXMNSIS KC«tAStS (DtC«t*S£SJ 
1995 vs,1994 1994 vs 1993 

Corrpensatior and benefiti S 108,9« »(17,7) 
Materia s services and rents (4$,4) 27.0 
Depreciatior 22 3 12.7 
Diesci fuel 15 9 0 
Casualties and othe' claims (13,7) 16.5 
Otner $ 7 15 8 

Total $ 79 3 $ 63 3 

'inciude, )ii 6 -r^nncn ean-, retirement charge 
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Compensation end benefits, which represenu about 
half of tctal railway operating expenses, increased 8% in 
1995 and declined 1 % m 1994 

The 1995 increase was pnncipally a result of: (1) the 
early retirement charge of J33,6 million; (2) higher 
wages, (3) increased performance-based compensation 
accruals, particularly those Iinked to the NS stock pnce, 
which rose nearly J19 per share m 1995, and (4) higher 
health care costs for agreement employees. 

The 1994 dec,me was principally due to (1) lower 
accruals for performance-based compensation plans as a 
result of a lower stock price; (2) reduced accruals for 
postretirement benefits resulting from a change in t r e 
benefit plan s creditable service period (see Note 1 3); 
(3) the expiration of the Railroad Retirement Repayment 
Tax in June 1993; (4) the effect of the early retirement 
program in 1993 (see Note 12); and (5) productivity 
improvements as a result of continuing reductions in train 
crew sizes 

fvlaterials. services and rents consisU of items used for 
the maintenance of the railroad's lines, structures and 
equipment; the cost of services purchased from outside 
contractors, including the net costs of operatmg joint (or 
leasecf) iacilities with other railroads; and the net cost of 
equipn.ent rentals This category decreased 7% in 1995 
but increased 4% in 1994, 

The 1995 decrease of J45,4 million reflected initia­
tives to improve asset utilization that resulted in (1) the 
re-engineering of rail-lme and freight-car maintenance 
practices that reduced repair and maintenance expenses 
and facilitated the closure of two repair facilities; (2) 
reduced locomotive repair costs due to older locomo­
tives' being replaced with new units; (3) disposition of 
excess freight cars (see 'Cash used for investing activi­
ties" on page 8), resulting in a reduction m the number 
of freight cars to be maintained; and (4) short-term leas­
ing of certain older locomotives to other railroads, which 
reduced net equipment rental expense Also contr ibuting 
to the improvement was a decline in equipment rental 
expenses, resulting from the partial deprescnption 
(deregulation by the ICC) of car-hire rates among rail­
roads, which began in 1994 These favorable results were 
somewhat offset by increased expenses related to the 
12% growth in intermodal traffic 

The 1994 increase of J27,0 million was principally 
due to higher |oint-facility and leased-road costs and to 
increased locomotive repair costs, resulting mostly from 
higher traffic volume. However, a decrease in other rail­
roads' use of NS Rail's facilities also contributed to the 
mcrease in joint-facilities expense Partially offsetting 
these increases was a decline in equipment rent expenses 
resulting fror.i the partial deprescnption of car-hire rates. 

Depreciation expense (see Note 1 "Properties" for NS 
Rails depreciation policy) was up 6% in 1995 and 4 % in 
1994 The increases in both periods were due to property 
additions, reflecting substantial levels of capital spending 

over the last several years. 
Diesel fuel costs rose 1 % in 1995 ?nd 5% in 1994. 

The 199S increase was primarily due to a small increase 
in the average price paid for diesel fuel. Because even 
fuel-efficient locomotives consume substantial quantities 
of diesel fuel, a slight price Increase translates into large 
cost increases. The increase in 1994 diesel fuel costs was 
entirely driven by higher consumption, a result of a 7% 
increase in carloadings. On average, fuel prices in 1994 
were slightly lower than in 1993. 

Casualties and other claims (including estimates of 
costs related to personal mjury, property damage and 
environmental matters) decreased 10% in 1995 but in­
creased 14% in 1994 over 1993 Both of these fluctua­
tions pnmarily were .ittributable to environmental clean­
up costs in 1994 associated with a tankcar leak 

The largest component of "Casualties and other 
claims" is personal injury expense Although there has 
been a favorable trend in the number of accidental 
injuries since 1990, much of the financial benefit from 
this decline unfortunately has been offset by higher costs 
related to non-accidental "occupational" claims and by 
an increase in the cost of third-party injury claims arising 
from accidents at grade crossings. NS Rail is actively 
involved in efforts to reduce the risk of all accidents and is 
placing particular emphasis on programs involving grade-
crossing safety. 

The rail industry remains uniquely susceptible to job-
related accidental injury and occupational claims because 
of an outmoded law, the Federal Employers' Liability Act 
(FELA), originally passed in 1908 and applicable only to 
railroads. This law, which covers employees' claims for 
on-the-job injuries, produces results that are unpre­
dictable and inconsistent, at a far greater cost to the rail 
industry than the no-fault workers' compensation system 
to which non-rail competitors are universally subject. The 
railroads have been unsuccessful so far in efforts to per­
suade Congress to replace the FELA with a no-fault work­
ers' compensation system 

Other expenses increased 4 % in 1995, and increased 
12% in 1994 The 1995 increase was due to higher sales, 
use and franchise taxes. The 1994 increase was due to 
favorable property tax settlements in 1993 and to higher 
relocation expenses m 1994 related to new job assign­
ments following the early retirement program in 1993. 

Income Taxes 
Income tax expense in 1995 was J371 9 million for 

an effective rate of 34 6%, compared with an effective 
rate of 36 .1% in 1994 and 43 6% in 1993. Absent the 
federal income tax rate increase m 1993 (see Note 4), 
income tax expense tnat year would have been J352.0 
million for an effective rate of 37.2%, 

•^he below statutory rate in 1995 results from invest­
ments in corporate-owned life insurance and adjustment 
of intercompany tax liabilities for affiliates no longer in 
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the NS consolidated group The oeiovv statutory rate in 
1994 was due to favorable adjustments resulting from 
settlement of federal income tax years 1988 and 1989 
and a favorable adjustment upon filing the 1993 tax 
returns Deferred tax expense was an unu ' lally high pro­
portion of total tax expense in 1994 A corresponding 
reduction is reflected in 1994 current tax expense for the 
effects of expenditures that affect book and tax accounts 
in different years, primarily in the areas of compensation 
and property. In 1993, curreni tax expense increased and 
deferred tax expense decreased because of tax payments 
made in anticipation of Revenue Agent Reports for the 
1988-1989 federa! tax audit (see Note 4 for the compo­
nents of income tax expense) 

Accounting Cnanges and New Accounting Pronouncements 
1994 - Eftective January 1, 1994, NS Rail adopted 

Statement of Finar,cial Accounting Standards No. 115, 
"Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity 
Securities" (SFAS 115). The principal result was a signifi­
cant write-up of NS Rail's investment in NS stock. This 
non-cash adjustment had no income statement effect 
and increased "Investments" and "Stockholders' equity" 
in the December 31, 1994, Consolidated Balance Sheet 
by S41 7.5 mill ion and S253 1 million, respectively (see 
Note 1). 

1993 - Effective january 1, 1993, NS Rail adopted 
required accounting for postretirement benefits other 
than pensions, postemployment benefits and income 
taxes (see Note 1 for a discussion ot these accounting 
changes). The net cumulative effect of these non-cash 
adjustments increased 1993 '^et income by J247,8 mil­
lion 

New Account ing Pronouncements - In March 
1995, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) 
issued Statement No 121. ' Accounting for the 
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived 
Assets to be Disposed Of" (SFAS 121) This standard 
establishes the accounting and reporting requ rements for 
recognizing and measuring impairment of long-lived 
assets to be either held and used or held for disposal. 
SFAS 121 IS eftective for years beginning atter December 
15, 1995 NS Rail does not expect SFAS 121 to have a 
material effect on its financial statements 

In October 1995, the FASB issued Statement No 
123, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation" (SFAS 
123), This standard defines a fair-value-based method of 
accounting for stock-based compensation plans. 
However, the standard also allows measurement of com­
pensation cost using the intrmsic-value-based method o* 
accounting prescribed m Accounting Principles Board 
Opinion Nc, 2 ' (APB 25), Companies that choose to 
retain APB 25 for measurement will be required to pro­
vide pro forma footnote disclosures effective for 1996 
financial statements NS Rail expects to continue record­
ing stock-based compensation costs attnbutable to the 

NS Long-Term Incentive Plan based on APB 25 and, 
beginning in 1996, to provide the pro forma disclosures 
required under SFAS 123 

FINANCIAL CONDITION, LIQUIDITY 
AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 

Financial Condit ion refers to the assets, liabilities and 
stockholders' equitv of an organi tation (see Consolidated 
Balance Sheets on p;ge . 1). Liqi idity refers to the ability 
of an organization to gene, ate 'dequate amounts of 
cash, principally from operating results or through bor­
rowing power, to meet its short-term and long-term cash 
requirements (see Cons jlidated Statements of Cash Flows 
on page 12) Capita . lurces refers to the ability of an 
organ,zation to rai.,' :nds through the sale of either debt 
or equity (stock) secunties. 

($ in millions • 1995 1994 1993 1992 1991 

Cash and short-term 
investme-- S2300 S180 9 S152 0 i 64 0 $137.3 

Current ; isets to 
current labilities 10 1.1 1 3 1.2 11 

Debt to it^' 
capitalisation 9 6 % 9.4% 10 9% 13 4% 14 6% 

Return or average 
stockholde's equ h 1 3,0%- 12.8% 12 0%* 1 3 1% 11 6%* 

' Excluding unusual Items ir 199S. the early retirement charge m 1993, 
the cumulative elects of required accounting changes and the prior 
years effeci of tne federal income tO' rote increase and in 1991. the 
spend' charge 

Cash provided by operat ing activities, which is NS 
Rail's principal source of liquidity, increased J96,4 million, 
or 8%, in 1995, compared with 1994 and J289 4 million, 
or 33%, in 1994, compared with 1993 Since the NS 
consolidation in 1982, cash provided by operating activi­
ties has been sufficient to fund dividend requirements, 
debt repayments and a significant portion of capital 
spending. The improvement in 1995 was primarily a 
result of increased income from operations (excluding the 
early retirement charge, a non-cash item,) and improved 
billing and collection of receivables The 1994 increase 
was largely attnbutable to increased income from opera­
tions and to lower income tax payments. 

Implementation of the labor portion of the 1991 spe­
cial charge also contributed to the fluctuations m cash 
provided by operations, in 1995, 1994 and 1993, J29,3 
million, J41,9 million and J36,1 million, respectively, 
were for such labor costs In 1993, failure to reach agree­
ment on terms for certain further savings led to a partial 
reversal of the 1991 special charge (see Note 1 5), 
Looking ahead, the labor portion of the special charge is 
expected to require approximately J30 million in 1996 to 
achieve productivity gains permitted by the agreements, 
NS Rail regards this cash outflow as an investment 
because, in view of the high cost of labor and fringe ben­
efits, these payments produce significant future savings. 
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In 1995 it IS estimated that NS Rails expenses were 
reduced by J160 million as a result of these programs 
and, upon full implementation, there should be additional 
savings of about 110 million per vear. 

Cash used for investing activities increased 1 3% in 
1995, compared with 1994, and was up 45% in 1994, 
compared with 1993, The higher uses in 1995 a ,d 1994 
were due to significant advances made to NS, The other 
significant use of cash was for property additions, largely 
for railway projects. The following tables show capital 
spending track and equipment statistics for the past five 
vears 

C*f>r1*t £><•^^DlTUIltS 
(S in millions) 1995 1994 1993 1992 1991 

Road $ 3 7 9 5 $382 3 $411 C $425 1 $392 8 
Equipment JJ2,6 235 0 218 1 187 8 193 1 
Other property 1.2 22 3 0 1 4 2 77,2 

Totai $713 3 $639 6 $629 2 $ 6 1 1 $663 1 

TRACX STKUCTUHI STATISTICS (CAPITAL AND M A I N T I N A N C O 

Track miles of 

ra i installed 403 480 574 660 679 
Miles of track surfaceo 4,668 4,760 5 048 5 690 5,646 
Neyv crossties 

installed 1 mill ions) 2.0 

• -
' t ) 9 1 9 

AvERACf ACES Of RAILWAY EOUIPMENT ( I N YEARS) 

f re igh t ca,'s 22.0 2 ' 9 2- 3 20.9 2 0 2 
Locomotives 15 7 ' 5 g 15 1 14 5 14 2 
Retired locomotives 22.6 t 24 - 24 0 27 1 

Since 1988, NS Rail has rebodie^ more than 20,500 
coal cars and plans to continue that program at the rate of 
about 3,200 cars per year for the next several years. This 
work, performed at NS Rail's Roanoke Car Shop, converts 
hopper cars into high-capacitv steel gondo'as or hoppers. 
As a result, the remaining service life of the freight car fleet 
IS greater than is inferable from the increasing average age 
shown in the table above. 

Efforts to hold down capital spending while increasing 
business are ongoing as NS ^mmmi^^^^^^mmm 
Rail seeks to maximize utiliza­
t ion of Its asseis. In this con­
nection, NS Rail began an 
orderly disposition of up to 
1 7,000 freight cars in 
October 1994 Through the 
end of 1995, 7,272 of these 
cars were sold, with proceeds 
of J42 million included in 
"Property sales and other 
transactions" in the 
Consolidated Statements of 
Cash Flows In 1993, this line 
Item reflected proceeds from 
large land sales (see Note 3) 

For 1996, NS Rail is plan­
ning J667 million of capital 
spending, NS Rail anticipates 

Capital txpenditures 
( $ m l t O l i ; 

• other Property 
Equipment 

• Road 

that a portion of its locomotive acquisitions will be 
financed using capitalized leases similar to the 1995 leases 
(see Note 8). In 1996, equipment financing needs are 
expected to be somewhat lower than in 199S, as pro­
ceeds from the sale of freight cars may be used for some 
locomotive acquisitions Barnng unforeseen events, total 
capital spending is expected to continue to be similar to 
the 1995 level 

In 1994, large borrowings on corporate-owned life 
insurance, reflected in "Investment saies and other trans­
actions" in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, 
offset much of the use of cash for intercompany advances 
and property additions that year 

Cash used for f inancing activities increased 2 % in 
1995, compared with 1994, and was 2% greater in 
1994, compared with 1993 The increase in 1995 was 
pnmarily attributable to a higher rate of dividends paid 
on common stock, 1994 had included the maturity of a 
large mortgage (see Note 8 for debt matunties). 

Hedging /Activities 
NS Rail has entered into hedging transactions relating 

ro diesel fuel purchases and interest rate swaps No 
agreements related to the diesel fuel hedges were settled 
trom 1993 through 1995, and outstanding agreements 
at December 31, 1995, were less than SS million. As dis­
cussed under "Capital Leases" m Note S, NS Rail has 
made limited use of interest rate swsps in connection 
with certain equipment financings. 

ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS 

NS Rail IS subject to various jurisdictions' environmen­
tal laws and regulations, it is NS Rail's policy to record a 
liability where such liability or loss is probable and can be 
.-easonably estimated. Claims, if any, against third parties 
for recovery of clean-up costs incurred by NS Rail are 
reflected as receivables in the balance sheet and are not 
netted against the associated NS Rail liability. Environ­
mental engineers pa t icpate m ongoing evaluations of all 
identified sites, and—afte' consulting with counsel—any 
necessary adjustments to initial liabi'i'y estimates are 
made. NS Rail also has esteblished an Environmental 
Policy Council, composed of senior managers, to oversee 
and interpret its environmental policy 

Operating expense* for environmental protection 
totaled approximately I I 3 million in 1995 and are antici­
pated to increase somewhat in 1996, Capital expendi­
tures for environmental projects amounted to approxi­
mately J8 million in 1995 and are expected to be at the 
same level in 1996 As of December 31, 1995, NS Rail's 
balance sheet incluoed a reserve for environmental expo­
sures in the amount of J44 million (of which J l 2 million 
IS accounted for as a current liability), which is NS Rail's 
present best estimate of ultimate liability at 96 identified 
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locations. On that date, eight sites accounted for J16 
mH'cn of the reserve, and no individual site was consid­
ered to be mateii:il. NS Rail anticipates that much of this 
liability will be paid oui over five years, however, some 
costs will be paid out over a longer period 

At many of the 96 locations, NS Rail and.'or certain of 
Its subsidiaries, usuafly in conjunction with a number of 
other parties, have been identified as potentially responsi­
ble parties by the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) 
or similar state authorities under the Comprehensive 
Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act 
of 1980, or comparable state statutes, which ohen 
impose joint and several liability for clean-up costs. 

At one such site, the EPA alleged in 1995 that The 
Alaoama Great Southern Railroad Company ("AGS"), a 
subsidiary of NS Rail, is responsible, along with several 
other entities believed to be financially solvent, for past 
and future clean-up and ,nonitoring costs at the Bayou 
Bonfouca NPL Superfund site located in Slidell, La, 
Liabilitv will be contested. Because the amount of any lia­
bility that the EPA may assert against NS Rail or AGS is 
not known, the materiality of such amount to NS Rail's 
financial position, results of operation or liquidity in a par­
ticular quarter or vear cannot be assessed at this time. 
The EPA has indicated that it has expended or expects to 
expend a total of approximately J l 32 million at the site. 

With respect to known environmental sites (whe'her 
identified bv NS Rail or by the EPA or comparable state 
authorities), estimates of NS Rail's ultimate potential 
financial exposure for a given site or m the aggregate for 
all such sites are necessarily imprecise because of the 
widely varving costs of currently available clean-up tech­
niques, the likely development of new clean-up technolo­
gies, the difficulty of deter-mir.mg in advan,'f the nature 
and full extent of contamination and each potential par­
ticipant's share of any estimated loss (and that partici­
pant's ability to bear it) and evolving statutory and regu­
latory standards governing liability 

The risk of incurring environmental liability—for acts 
and omissions, past, present and future—is inherent in 
the railroad business. Some of the commodities, particu­
larly those classified as hazardous materials, in NS Rail's 
traffic mix can pose special nsks that NS Rail wc ' " ; 
gently to minimize In addition, NS Rai! owns or has 
owned in the past land holdings used as operating prop­
erty, or which are leased or may have been leased and 
operated bv others, or held for sale. Because certain con­
ditions may exist on these properties related to environ­
mental problems that are latent or undisclosed, there can 
be no assurance that NS Rail will not incur liabilities or 
costs with respect to one or more of them, the amount 
and matenaiity of which cannot be estimated reliably 
now Moreover, lawsuits and claims involving these and 
other now-unidentified environmental sites and matters 
are likely to arise from time to time. The resulting liabili­
ties could have a significant effect on financial condition. 

results of operations or liquidity in a particular year or 
quarter 

However, based on its assessments of the facts and 
circumstances now known and, after consulting with its 
legal counsel. Management believes that il has recorded 
appropnate estimates of inability for those environmental 
matters of which NS Rail is aware Further, Management 
believes that it is unlikely that any identified matters, 
either individually or in aggregate, will have a material 
adverse effect on NS Rail's financial position, results of 
operations or liquidity. 

INFLATION 

Generally accepted accounting pnnciples require tfie 
use of historical cost in preparing financial statements. 
This approach disregards the effects of inflation on the 
replacement cost of property NS Rail, a capital-intensive 
company, has approximately J12.8 billion invested in 
such asseu. The replacement cost of these assets, as well 
as the related depreciation expense, would be substan 
tially greater than the amounts reported on the basis of 
historical cost. 

INDUSTRY TRENDS 

• A tentative settlement was reached with the United 
Transportation Union, which represents the largest num­
ber of employees in the railroad industry. The settlement 
requires ratification by the members before acceptance. 
The negotiation of this settlement demonstrated that 
national handling produces the quickest path to agree­
ment. Negotiations with the other unions are progressing. 

• NS Rail and other railroads are continuing to seek 
opportunities to share traffic routes and facilities, further­
ing the goals of providing seamless service to customers 
and maximizing efficiency of the respective railroads, 

• NS Rail IS closely monitonng recent merger and 
consolidation activities within the railroad industry in light 
of its own long-term strategic objectives to protect the 
interests of its stCKkholders, 

• NS Rail and the rail industry are continuing their 
efforts to replace the FELA with no-fault workers' com­
pensation laws comparable to those covering employees 
in other industries. 
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NORFOLK SOUTHERN RAILWAY COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES 
(A Maioritv-Owned Subsidiary of Norfolk Southern Corporation) 

Consolidated Statements of Income 

1995 
Years ended December 31, 

1994 1993 
(J in millions) 

Railway operating revenues J 3,918,1 S 3,727.6 

Railway operating expenses: 
Compensation and benefits (Notes 12, 13 and 15) 
Materials, services and rents 
Depreciation 
Diesel fuel 
Casualties and other claims 
Other 

1,371,1 
668,6 
360,6 
18e 3 
135,0 
145.6 

1,388.8 
641.6 
347.9 
179.3 
118.5 
129.8 

Railway operating expenses 2,869.2 2,805.9 

Income from railway operations 1,048,9 921.7 

Other income - net (Note 3) 
Interest expense on debt (Note 6) 

46,6 
28,3 

57.6 
32.3 

Income before income taxes ' ; . - 1,067.2 947.0 

Provision tor income ta^es (Note 4); 
income taxes 
Adjustment of net deferred tax liability for federal rate increase 

385,2 361.2 
51.6 

Total income taxes 385.2 412.8 

Income before accounting changes 682.0 534.2 

Cumulative effect on years prior to 1993 
of changes in accounting principles (Note 1) for: 

Income taxes 
Postretirement t)enefits other than pensions; 

and postemployment benefits—net of taxes 

— 470.4 

(222.6) 

Net income J 682,0 S 782.0 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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NORFOLK SOUTHERN RAILWAY COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES 
(A Majority-Owned Subsidiary of Norfolk Southern Corporation) 

Consolidated Balance Sheets 

n 

As of December 31, 
1995 1994 

Assets 
Current asseis: 

(J in millions) 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Short-term mvestmr-nts (Note 14) 
Accounts receivat e net of allowance for doubtful accounts 

of J2,8 million anri J5,4 million, respectively 
Materials and supplies 
Deferred income taxes (Note 4) 
Other current assets 

J 33.8 
147.1 

t 552,7 
58,5 
91 1 
89,8 

Total current asseb 973,0 

Due from NS - net (Note 2) 
Investments (Notes 5 and 14) 
Properties less accumulated depreciation (Note 6) 
Other assets 

201.7 
598 4 

8,493.4 
22,7 

Total assets J 10,289.2 

Liabilities and stockholders' equity 
'"urrent liabilities: 

Si'ort-term debt (Note 8) 
Accounts payable (Note 7) 
Income and other taxes 
Other current liabilities (Note 7) 
Current matunties of long-term debt (Note 8) 

J 27,2 
529,3 
119,1 
118,0 
65.8 

Total current liabilities 859,4 

Long-term debt (Note 8) 
Other liabilities (Note 10) 
Minority interests 

474,0 
868,2 

2.) 

Deferred income taxes (Note 4) 2,645,0 
Total liabilities 4,848,7 

Stockholders' equity: 
Senal preferred stock (Note 11) 
Common stock (NosC 11) 
Other capital 
Unrealized gain on marketable securities (Note 14) 
Retained income 

54.8 
166,7 
515.0 
253.1 

4,450,9 
Total stockholders' equity 5,440,5 

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity J 10,289,2 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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NORFOLK SOUTHERN RAILW.AY COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES 
(A Majority-Owned Subsidiary of Nortolk Southern Corporation) 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 

Years ended December 31, 
1995 1994 1993 

Cash flows from operating activities: 
Net income 
Reconciliation of net income to net cash provided by operating activities: 

Net cumulative effect of changes m accounting principles 
Special charge payments 
Depreciation 
Deterred income taxes 
Nonoperating gams on property sales 
Changes in assets and liabilities affecting operations: 

Accounts receivable 
Materials and supplies 
Other current assets 
Current liabilities other than debt 
Other - net 

Net cash provided by operating activities 

Cash flows f r o f Irveit 'nn activities: 
Property additions 
Property sales and other transactions 
Investment purchases 
mvestment sales and other transactions 
Due from NS - net (Note 2) 
Short-term investments - net 

Net cash used for investing activities 

Cash flows from financing activities: 
D'vioends (Note 2) 
Proceeds from long-term borrowings 
Long-term debt repayments 

(J in millions) 

Net cash used for financing activijes 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents: 
At beginning of year 

At end of vear 

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information 
Cash paid during the year tor-

Interest (net of amounts capitalized) 
Income taxes 

J 682.0 J 782,0 

(247.8) 
(41.9) (36.1) 
361.3 348.7 
114.2 92.9 

(7.8) (31.9) 

(29,8) (25.9) 
7,4 5.9 

(12,5) (8.0) 
6.7 (23.4) 

74,8 8.6 
1,154,4 865.0 

(639,6) (629.2) 
52,9 80.3 

(45,9) (86.3) 
249,2 8.0 

(394,2) 97.0 
1,0 (6.0) 

(776.6) (536J) 

(279.4) (276.6) 
41,4 383 

(108,3) (99.9) 

(346,3) (338.0) 

31.5 (9.2) 

2.3 11.5 

! J 33.8 S 2.3 

J 49,1 S 58.4 
J 252,2 $ 337.1 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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NORFOLK SOUTHERN RAILWAY COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES 
(A Majoritv-Owned Subsidiary of Nortolk Southern Corporation) 

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders' Equity 

13 

Unrealized 
Serial Cain on 

Preferred Common Other Marketable Retained 
Stock Stock Capital Securities Income 

Balance December 31, 1992 
Net income - 1993 
Cash dividends: 

Serial preferred stock, J2,60 per share 
Common stock, J16.42 per share 

Non-cash dividends on 
common stock (Note 2) 

Other 

CJ in millions) 

S 54.9 S 166.7 S 515.0 J 

(0,1) 

$ 4,047.7 
782.0 

(2.9) 
(273,7) 

(104.7) 

1993 Balance December 31, 
Net income - 1994 
Cash dividends 

Serial preferred stock, J2,60 per share 
Common stock, J 16,59 per share 

Non-cash dividends on 
common stock (Note 2) 

Unrealized gain on investments (Nc»e 14) 

54.8 166.7 515.0 

253,1 

4,448.4 
682.0 

(2.9) 
(276.5) 

(400.1) 

Balance December 31, 1994 
Net income - 1995 
Cash dividends: 

Serial preferred stock, J2,60 per share 
Common stock, J17,31 per share 

Non-cash dividends on 
common stock (Note 2) 

Contribution from NS (Note 2) 
Unrealized gam on investments (Note 14) 

54.8 166.7 515.0 253.1 

10.5 

4,450.9 
701.7 

(2.9) 
(288.6) 

(300.0) 

84,2 

Total 

5 4,784.3 
782,0 

(2.9) 
(273 7) 

(104 7) 

5,184.9 
682,0 

(2,9) 
(276,5) 

(400,1) 
253,1 

Balance December 31, 1995 

5,440.5 
701,7 

(2.9) 
(288,6) 

(300,0) 
10,5 
84,2 

$ 54.8 J 166,7 $ 525.5 5 337.3 $ 4,561.1 5 5,645.4 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statemenu. 
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NORFOLK SOUTHERN RAILWAY COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES 
(A Major.tv-Owned Suosidiary of Norfolk Southern Corporation) 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

The following notes are an integral part of the consolidated 
ImanciQl statements 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Descnption of Business 
Norfolk Southern Railway Company, together with its 

consolidated subsidiaries (collectively NS Rail), is engaged 
pnncipally m the transportation of freight by rail, pnmanly 
in the Southeast and Midwest. The consolidated financial 
statements include Norfolk Southern Railway Company, 
Norfolk and Western Railway Company and their majority-
owned and controlled subsidianes. All significant intercom­
pany balances and transactions have been eliminated in 
consolidation (see Note 16 for the Norfolk and Western 
Railway Company and Subsidiaries (t>4W) summanzed con­
solidated financial information). 

Rail treight consists of raw materials, intermediate prod­
ucts and finished goods classified in the following market 
groups: coal, paper/forest, chemicals, automotive, agricul­
ture, metals/construction and intermodal. All groups are 
approximately equal in size based on revenues except for 
coal, which accounts for about one third of railway rev­
enues Ultimate destinations for some of the freigfit and a 
portion of the coal shipped are outside the United States, 

Use of Estimates 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity 

with generally accepted accounting pnnciples requires 
Management to make estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, and dis­
closure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the 
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues 
and expenses during the reporting penod. Actual results 
could differ from those estimates. 

Cosh Equivalents 
"Cash equivalents" are highly liquid investments 

purchased three months or less from maturity, 

Investmenti 
"Investments" are reported at amortized cost or fair 

value depending upon their classification as held-to-maturity, 
trading or available-for-sale securities in accordance with 
SFAS No 115 (see "Required Accounting Changes" at nght). 

fvlateriali and Supplies 
"Materials and supplies," consisting mainly of fuel oil 

and items for maintenance of property and equipment, are 
stated at average cost. The cost of materials and supplies 
expected to be used in capital additions or improvements is 
included m "Properties," 

Properties 
"Properties" are stated pnncipally at cost and are 

depreciated using group depreciation. Rail is primarily 
depreciated on the basis of use measured by gross ton 

miles The effect of this method is to wr '.e off these assets 
over 42 years on average. Other properties are depreciated 
generally using the straight-line method over estimated 
service lives at annual rates that range from 1% to 20%. In 
1995, the overall depreciation rate averager* 2.7% for 
roadway and 4.0% for equipment, NS Rail capitalizes inter­
est on major capital projects during the period of their 
construction. Maintenance expense is recognized when 
repairs are performed. When properties, other than land 
and non-rail assets, are sold or retired m the ordinary 
course of business, the cost of the assets, net of sale pro­
ceeds or salvage, is charged to accumulated depreciation 
rather than recognized through income. Gains and losses 
on disposal of land and non-rail assets are included in 
othei iricome (see Note 3), 

Revenue Recognition 
Revenue is recognized proportionally as a shipment 

moves from ongin to destination. 

Required Accounting Changes 
1994 - Effective January 1, 1994, NS Rail adopted 

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No, 115, 
"Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity 
Securities" (SFAS 115), which addresses the accounting 
and reporting for investments in equity securities that have 
readily determinable fair values and for all investments in 
debt securities. The implementation of SFAS 115 increased 
"Investments," the deferred tax liability and "StCKkholders' 
equity" at December 31, 1994, and had no impact on 
earnings. The total unrealized holding gain on NS Rail's 
investments classified as "available for sale," net of the 
related deferred taxes, is reflected as a separate component 
of "Stockholders' equity" in the Consolidated Balance 
Sheets (see also Note 14). 

1993 - Effective January 1, 1993, NS Rail adopted 
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 106, 
"Employers' Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other 
Than Pensions" (SFAS 106), and Statement of Financial 
Accounting Standards No. 112, "Employers' Accounting 
for Postemployment Benefits" (SFAS 112). SFAS 106 
requires accrual of the cost of specified health care and 
death benefits over an employee's creditable service period 
rather than, as was the previously prevailing practice, 
accounting for such expenses on a pay-as-you-go basis, 
SFAS 112 requires recognition of the cost of benefits 
payable to former or inactive employees after employment 
but before retirement on an accrual basis. For NS Rail, such 
postemployment benefits consist principally of obligations 
under the long-term disability plan, NS Rail recognized the 
effects of these changes in accounting on the immediate 
recognition basis The cumulative effect on years pnor to 
1993 of adopting SFAS 106 and 112 increased pretax 
expenses J336,3 million (J208.4 million after-tax), and 
J22.8 million (J14.2 million after-tax), respectively (see 
also Note 13) 
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Also effective lanuan, 1, 199 3, NS Rail adopted 
Statement of financial Accounting Standards No 109, 
"Accounting for Income Taxes" (SFAS 109) SFAS 109 
requires a liability approach for measuring deferred tax 
assets and liabilities based on differences between the 
financial statement and tax bases of asseis and liabilities at 
each balance sheet date using eriacted tax rates in effect 
when those differences are expected to reverse The cumu­
lative effect on vears prior to 1993 of adopting SFAS 109 
increased net income J470 4 million (see also Note 4). 

2. RELATED PARTIES 

General 
NS IS the parent holding company of NS Rail. The 

costs of functions performed by NS are allocated to NS 
Rail Rail operations are coordinated at the holding compa­
ny level by the NS Executive Vice President-Operations. 

Non-cash Dividendi 
In December 1995 and 1994, NS Rail declared and 

issued to NS non-cash dividends of J300,0 million and 
J400 1 million, resoectively, which were settled by reduc­
tion of NS Rail s interest-bearing advances due from NS 

On Apnl 1, 1993, NS Rail declared and issued to NS a 
J104 7 million non-cash dividend representino the net 
assets of several non-railroad subsidiaries These sub­
sidiaries, principally involved in real estate, produce a small 
amount o* rental income which are no longer part ot NS 
Rail's results 

Non-cash dividends are excluded from the Consolidated 
Statements of Cash Flows 

lntexompan\, Accounts 

Cipcf-it)*-- i' 
I W b 

in millions} 

Average 
Interest 

Balance Rate Silanct-

Average 
Interest 

Rate 

Due t rom \ S 

Advances 

Due to NS 

Notes 

S 336 3 

134 6 

2 , 6 % 

5 7% 

0 . i f f rom \ s . n e * i 2C1 7 

During 1995 and 1993, N'A issued notes for J7S,5 
million and J l 12.6 million, respectively, to an NS sub­
sidiarv' for the purchase of a portfolio of short-term invest­
ments These non-cash transactions were excluded from 
the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows. 

Interest is applied to certain advances at the average 
NS yield on short-term investments and to the notes at 
specified rates Included in mter t j i income is J l 7 8 mill ion, 
J1S.6 million and J6 7 million ir 1995, 1994 and 1993, 
respectively related to amounts due from NS, 

Iranster ot Investment trom 
In December 1995, NS transferred 'ts J10.5 million 

equity interest in a nonoperating subsidiary to Nortolk 
Southern Railway Company This transfer was recorded at 
histoncai cost and was reflected as a contnbution to capital. 

Intercomprji y reOergl Income Tax Accounts 
In accordance with fhe NS Tax Allocation Agreement, 

intercompany federal income tax accounts are recorded 
between companies in the NS consolidated group At 
December 31, 1995 and 1994, NS Rail had intercompany 
federal income tax pavabies (whicti are included in 
"Deferred income taxes" in the Consolidated Balance 
Sheets) of J254 7 million and J261.0 million, respectively, 

Casn RecfUirea for NS Stock Purchase Prpgrgm gnd NS Deb> 
Since 1987, the NS Board of Directors has authorized 

the purchase and retirement of up to 65 million shares of 
NS common stock. Purchases under tne programs have 
been made with internally generated cash and with pio-
ceeds from the sale of NS commercial paper notes and 
from the issuance of NS iong-term debt 

Since the first purchases in Deceniber 1987 and 
through December 31, 1995, NS has pu'chased and 
retired 63,932,000 shares of its common stock under these 
programs at a cost of J2 9 billion On January 23, 1996, 
the NS Board authonzed a new program to acquire up to 
30 million additional shares of common stock Future pur­
chases are dependent on market conditions, the economy, 
cash needs and alternative investment opportunities 

Consistent witf the earlier purchases, a significant por­
tion of the funding for future NS stock purchases, either in 
the form of direct cash or cash used for debt service, will 
come from NS Rail through intercompany advances or divi­
dends to NS 

3. OTHER INCOME - NET 

;$ .r mil,,ons I M I 1 01(4 1993 

Interest income (Note 2; $ 34 4 J 15,7 
Rental income 18 0 18.6 
Dividends t rom NS 13 9 M.i 
Cams f rom sales ot properties 7 l i 31,9 
Corpora ie-ownea li'e insurance - ne- 7 9 1 * 8 
Other interest expense (24 9) (26,7) 
Ta«es on nonoperat ing property (3 

.•') 
(4.2) 

Other - net '6 8 i (2.0) 

Total J 46 6 J 5 7 6 
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NORf OLK SOUTHERN RAILWAY COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES 
I A M j i o r t v - O v v n e d S u b s i d i a r v of N o r t o l k S o u t h e r n C o r p o r a t i o n i 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

4 , INCOME T A X E S 

Provision to' incon'p Taxes 
[I ir. m:liior-s' 

Cu'rent 

federal 

State 

Total current taxes 

Deferreo 
ipderal 

•.ate 
Adiustment ot net deterred ta t 

liabii tv tor federal rate increase 

Total deferred taxes 

Provisicr' tor income taxes 

1994 1993 

' J 2360 S 279 6 
1 35.0 40 3 

271 0 319.9 

95 2 26.4 
19 0 14 9 

51,6 

114 2 92,9 

S 38S 2 J 412 8 

/99j federo Inconie Tux Rate Increaie 
In August 1993, Congress enacted the Revenue Recon­

ciliation Act of 1993. which increased the federal corporate 
income tax rate from 34% to 35% retroactive to 
lanuary 1, 199 3 The tax rate increase had two comp:i-
nents that, as required by SFAS 109, were recogni/T' in 
1993 earnings. 

The first component relates to the increased income 
tax rate s effect on 1993 earnings, which increased the pro­
vision for income taxes and reduced net income bv 
J9 2 million The second component increased the provi­
sion for the net deferred tax liability in the Consolidated 
Balance Sheet, which reduced that year's net income by 
J51 6 million. 

Reconciliation of Statutory Rate to Effective Rate 
Total income taxes as reflected in the Consolidated 

Statements of Income differ from the amounts computed 
by applying the statutory federal -orrorate tax rate as fol­
lows 

{S >n millions l 19'I5 1 994 1993 

Amount *o Amount Amount 

federal income tax 
a; statutory rate S 373 5 35 0 5 331 5 350 

State income taxes. 
net 0* federa 
tax benefit 35 1 3 3 35 8 3 8 

Corporate-owpp • 
lite insurance (10.6) (1 0; (8 7) (0.9) 

Dividend and 
equity ncorr ' i4 7! (0 4, (5.0) (0,5j 

Ott>er - net f8 1) (0 8, 76 0,7 

385 2 36 1 361J J«.1 
Adiustment of nei 

deterred tax l i j . 
b.lify fo' federa' 
rate ncrease — — 51.6 5.-5 

Provision to-
incrme r,?»p' S 385 2 36 ' J 4128 43 6 

Inclusion in Consolidated Return 
NS Rail is included in tne consolidated tederal income 

tax return of NS, The provision for current income taxes in 
the Consolidated Statements of Income reflects NS Rail's 
portion of NS' consolidated tax provision Tax expense or 
tax benefit is recorded on a separate companv basis 
whether or not such benefit would be currently available 
on a separate company basis 

Deferred Ta> Assets and Liabilities 
Cerain items are reported in different periods for 

financial reporting and income tax purposes Deferred tax 
asseis ana liabilities were recorded in recognmon of these 
differeiiLcb in accordance with SFAS 109 

•'he tax effects of temporary differences that give rise 
to significant portions of the deferred tax asseis and 
deferred tax liabilities were as follows 

(') n miHions 
[ . lecemb" ' i'l 

1995 1994 

Deterred tax assets 
Reserves, including '::>ualtv 

and other claims 
Employee Benefits 
Postretirement benet u other ttian 

pensior-^ and postemplovmenr bene' 
Taxes incud ing state and property 

Otner 
Total gross deterred tax assets 

Less valuation allowance 
Net deterred tax assets 

Deterred tax liabilities 
Prope t \ 
Unrealized hold ing gams 
Other 

Total gross deterred tax liabilities 
Intercompany tederal tax payable-net 

Net deterred tax liabilitv 
Net current deterred tax assets 

Net lono-term deferre'l 

Jt"'. 

->.i r.r^ik • 163 7 
144 7 

1 32 1 
154 5 

1.4 

596 4 

(0 .6 j 
595 8 

f2 ,679 8) 
(164 4) 

(44 5) 

(2 ,888 7) 

(261 0) 

(2 553 9) 

91 1 

! 2 645 0; 

Except for amounb for which a valuation allowance is 
provided. Management believes the deferred tax assets will 
be realized The valuation allowance for deferred tax assets 
as of lanuary 1, 1993, was J3.4 million. The net change in 
the total valuation allowance was a JC.1 million decrease 
for 1995, a J l 4 million decrease for 1994 and a J l 4 mil­
lion decrease for 1993, 
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Inter, lal Revenue Service I'.'AJ/ reviews 

Consolidated federal income tax returns have t)een 
examined and Revenue Agent Reports have been received 
for all years up to and including 1989 The consolidated 
federal income tax returns for 1990 through 1992 are 
being audited by the IRS fvlanagement believes that ade­
quate provision has been made for any additional taxes 
-jiid interest thereon thai might anse as a result of these 
examinations. 

Tex Benefit Leases 
In January 1995, the Umted States Tax Court issued a 

preliminary decision that wi juld disallow some of the tax 
benefits a subsidiary of NS Rail pur:hased from a third 
party pursuant to a safe harbor lease agreement m 1981, 
Maiiagement continues to believe that NS Rail ultimately 
should incur no loss from this decision, t,?'"ause the lease 
agreement provides for full indemnification if any such dis­
allowance IS susta ned. 

5 . ll^VESTMENTS 

7. CURRENT LIABILITIES 

if in millions) 

Marketable equity securities at 
far value 'Note 14! 

Corporate-ownti life insurance a; 
net cash surren.. er value 

Other 

December 31, 
1995 1994 

fora I 
i 439 7 

140 1 
18 6 

J 598 4 

6 . . "ROPERTI IS 

(S ir miT'ons 
Decemoer 3'i 

1995 1974 

Road $ 7 9 3 * 4 
Equipment 4,440 0 

Other prorjertv 84 5 

12 458 9 
Less •K-'-'j.i lated depreciation 3,965 5 

Net properties * 8 493 4 

Capitalized Interest 
Total interest cost incurred on debt in 199S, 1994 and 

1993 was J47,0 million, J46,l million and J53 V million, 
respectively, of which J14,0 million, J17.8 million and 
J21,6 million was capitalized. 

December 31, 
a in millions) 1995 1994 

Accounu payable 
Accounti and wages payable PSfp^ S 21 7 2 
Casualty and other claims K U M 164 I 
Vacation liability 710 
Equipment rents payable - net K C t i B 67 0 
Other E i B j 10 0 

"Total I ^ S ^ 5 529 :• 
Other current liabilities 

Prepaid amounts on fc, "warded traffic I g K S 72,8 
Interest payable n » 20 0 
Retiree health and death 

tsenefit obligation (Note 1 3) Snr Other 3 7 

Total I ^ ^ S 5 118 0 

8. DEBT 

Short-Term Debt 
Short-term debt consists of J27,2 million of notes 

assumed in connection with the 1990 acquisition of a coal 
terminal facility. 

Capital Leajes 
Dunng the first quarter of 1995, NS Rail entered into 

capital leases covenng new locomotives. The related capi­
tal lease obligations totaling J104,5 million were reflected 
in the Consolidated Balance S .̂eet as debt and, because 
they were non-cash transactions, were excluded ' rom the 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, The lea'e obliga­
tions carry an average stated interest rate r f 8 4 % but 
were converted to vanable rate obligations using interest 
rate swap agreements. The inierest rates on these obliga 
lions are based on the six-month London Interbank 
Offered Rate and are reset every six months with changes 
in interest rates accounted for as an adjustment of interest 
expense. As a result, NS Rail is exposed to the markei nsk 
associated with fluctuations in interest rates. To date, while 
such rate fluctuations have tieen nominal, their effects 
have been favorable. Counterparties to the interest rate 
swap agreements are major financial institutions believed 
by fvlanagement to be credit-wort, ly, NS Rail's use of inter­
est rate swaps iias been limited to those discussed above. 
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NORFOLK SOUTHERN RAILWAY COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES 
(A fvlaioritv-Owned Subsidiary of Norfolk Southern Corporation) 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

8. DEBT (CONTINUED) 

ona- Terr^ Deot 

(S in m.illions' 
December 31 

1995 1994 

Eouipment obligations at an 
average rate ol 7 9% maturing to 2009 

Capitalized leases at an average 
rat' ;! 6 5 ^ maturing to 201 5 

-.'ohgage txinds at an average 
rate o' 4 2W. maturing to 2003 

Other deb' i i an average rate 
ot 5 9"f matunng to 2015 

'''otal long-term de • • 

Less Current matunties 

Loi-'O-tern- debt less c jrrent matunties 

J 497 

2 0 

33 9 

6 ' 

539 8 

65 8 

J 474 0 

Long-term debt matures as follows: 
1997 
1998 
1999 
2000 
2001 and subsequent years 

Tota: 

47 4 
480 

119 4 
49 3 

2306 

$ 494,7 

A substantial portion of NS Rail's properties and certain 
investments in affiliated companies are pledged as collater­
al for much of the debt. 

9, LEASE COMMITMENTS 

NS Rail IS committed under long-term lease agree­
ments, which expire on various dates through 2067, for 
equipment, linps of road and other property Future mini­
mum lease payments are as follows: 

iS :n million:, Operat ing Leases Capita! Leases 

1996 
1997 
1998 
1999 
2000 

2001 i n d subsequent years 

i 48.2 

47.6 
42.5 
31.7 
30 6 

577 8 

S 15 0 

14 9 

14 9 

14 9 

14 8 

80 5 

"lota 5 778 4 155.0 

Less imputeo interest on 

capital leases at an average 

rate ot 8 4 % 54 1 

Present value of m i n i m u m 

lease paymen'.5 inc luded 

in debt S 100 9 

Operating Lease Expense 

(S :r miii or-i 994 1993 

M i n i m u m rents 

Cont ingent rents 
HB ^ 4b 7 

45 4 
J 33.5 

36,1 

Tota wBS 5 92 1 S 69 6 

10. OTHFR LIABILITIES 

Decem.oer 31, 
1995 1994 

Casualtv and otner claims $ 264 2 

Net pension obligation (Note 12) 84 8 

Retree health and death 

benefit obligation (Note 1 3) 277 9 

Other 241 3 

Total S ^ V M 5 868 2 

11. STOCK 

Preferred 
There are 10,000,000 shares of no par value senal pre­

ferred stock authorized This stock may be issued in series 
from time to time at the discretion of the Board of 
Directors w th any sene. having such voting and other 
powers, dividends and other preferences as deemed 
appropriate at the time of issuance At December 31, 1995 
and 1994, 1,197,027 shares of J2,60 Cumulative Preferred 
Stock, Series A (Series A Stock) were issued, and 1,096,907 
shares were held other than by subsidiaries The Series A 
Stock has a JSO per share stated value. The Senes A Stock 
IS callable at any time at JSO per share plus accrued divi­
dends and has one vote per share on all matters, voting as 
a singie class with holders of other stock. 

In june 1989, NS announced that it intended to pur­
chase up to 250,000 shares of the outstanding Series A 
Stock dunng the subsequent two-year period In May 1991, 
NS extended the previously announced stock purchase pro­
gram through 1993 In March 1994, NS announced that it 
would continue purchasing up to 250,000 shares of the 
Series A Stock through 1996 NS had purchased 122,828 
shares at a total cost of approximately J4 4 million as of 
December 31, 1995 NS purchased the shares in regular 
brokerage transactions on the open markei at prevailing 
pnces. At year end 1995 and 1994, NS held 122,923 shares 
and 94,022 shares, .spectively. 

Preference 
There are 10,000,000 shares of no par va''ie serial pref­

erence stock authorized. None of these shares nas been 
issued, 

Cornmon 
There are 50,000,000 shares of no par value ccmmon 

stock with a Slated value of J10 per share authonzed, NS 
owns all 16,668,997 shares issued and outstanding at 
December 31, 1995 and 1994 

12. PENSION PUNS 

NS Ra.i'' defined benefit pension plans, whicii ^ rinci-
pally cover salaried employees, are part of NS' retirement 
plans Pension benefits are based pnmanly on years of 
creditable service vilh NS amt s-:.n,icipating subsidiary 
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companies and compensat"^ i rales near retirement. 
Contributions to the plans are made on the basis of not 
less than the minimum funding standards set forth in the 
tmployee Retirement mcome Secuntv Act ot 1974, as 
amended Assets in the plans consist mainly of common 
stocks. The following data relate principally to NS Rail's 
portion of the combined NS plans, since no separate NS 
Rail data are available 

TSion Cosf I Benefit) Component. 
1$ ,n millions) • QU4 1993 

Service cost-benefits 
earned dot ng the vear $ 1C2 S 10 7 

Interest c o " on proiectec 
benefit obl igat ion .,Cj Q 58.6 

Artual return on assets in pian (105 6) 
'.- • . iT ior t i ia t ion and Oeterrai • 27.9 

Net pension benefit " 4) ( 8 4 ) 
Cost Ot early ret i rement benefits — 38,7 

•r $ -0 4 $ 30 3 

Pens.on co','. is determined Dasea on an actuarial valu­
ation that retlects appropriate assumptions as of the begin-
ninq of each year The fundea status of the plans is deter­
mined using appr-opriate assumptions as of each veai'-end 
A summarv of the maior assumptions follows. 

1 y 0 4 1993 

Discount rate t o ' determin ing 
tundeO status 8 50'*' 725% 

•uture salary increases to- 6 % 
Seturn on assets in plans OG- 9% 

Ine tuiided statu; ot trit.' pians and the amounts retiect-
f d in the accompanying balance sheets were as follows: 

) ir million-

•vctuanai present value ot 
benptit obiioations 

1955 

funded Unfunded 
Plans Plans 

funded 
Plans 

Untundec: 
Plans 

vested benefits 
Non vested tienef't 

S n.'c i 40 6 

Accumulated be ' • 
obl igat ion 

Effect of expected t u t u ' r 
sala'% increases 

: - ~ - - ' T - v 

. . y ^ S ' - I L 

r,26 5 40 6 

92 ' 9 0 
Proiecteo benet • 

obl igat ior 
• .1 .diue ot assets m plan'. 

•-
'*.'\ . ' - ' 

•"18 6 49 6 
871 4 — 

f u n d e d status 

. n recoon i jed mitia 
net asset 
nrecogni rea igam < î , 
n-etognized p n o ' 
service cost 

• 52 8 (49 6) 

43.7) -

•62.3) 10 1 

3 6 4 3 
Net pens.on liac ' ' 

includec in tne 
Dalance s^eets S 4 - ' 5 =5 2 . 

Eariy Retirement Programs 
Dunng i995 and 1993, NS completed voluntary early 

retirement programs for salaried employees The principal 
benefit for those who oarticipated m these programs was 
enhanced pensic n benefits, which arc reflected in the 
accumulated ber'efit otiligation Thv charge for these pro­
grams i'> mclude'i m "Compensation j n d benefits" expense 
and was J33 6 rnillion in 1995 (including J8.3 million 
,-elated to postretirement benefits otfier than pensions) and 
J42 4 million in 1 9 9 \ The 1995 program was accepted bv 
265 employees, the i993 program, by 378 employees 

40 Uk) Plan, 
NS Rjil provides 401 (k) savings plans for employees 

Under the plans, NS Rail matches a portion of the emplov­
ee contributions, subiect to applicable limitations NS Rail's 
expenses under these plans were J6 9 million, J5.0 million 
and J5 1 million m 1995, 1994 and 1993, respectively 

13, POSTRETIRtMENT BENEFITS OTHER T H A N PENSIONS 

NS Rail provides specified health care and death bene­
fits to eligible retired employees and their dependents. 
Under the present plans, which may be amended or termi­
nated at NS "bail's option, a defined percentage of health 
care expenses is covered, reduced by any deductibles, co-
payments. Medicare payments and, m sor e cases, cover­
age provided by other group insurance policies. The cost of 
such health care coverage to a retiree mav tie determined, 
in part, by the retiree's vears of creditable sen/ice with NS 
Rail prior to retirement. Death benefits are determined 
based on various factors, including, in some cases, salary at 
time of retirement 

NS Rai! continues to fund benefit costs pnncipally on a 
pas-as-you-go basis However, m 1991, NS Rail established 
a Voluntary Emplovee Beneficiary Association rVEBA) 
account to fund a portion of the cost of future health care 
benefits for retirees NS Rail last made a .orporate contri­
bution of I 'O million in 1994 to the VEBA 

Effective lanuary 1, 1994, NS Rail amended the attribu­
tion period for postretirement health care bpnefils The 
amendment generally provides for benefits to be deter-
minec: ratably over a 10-year period based on creditable 
ser/ice commencing at age 45, or from date of hire if 
employment oegan after age 45 The amendment reduced 
the accumulated postretirement health care benefit obliga­
tion bv JSO million, which will be amortized as a reduction 
in annual cost on a pro rata basis over a six-year period 
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NORFOLK SOUTHERN RAILWAY COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES 
(A ryid|ority-Owned Subsidiary of Nortolk Southern Corporation) 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

1 3 POSTKETIREMENT BEt.EFiTS O T H E R T H A N PENSIONS 

( C O N T I N U E D ) 

,A summany ot 'he postretirement benefit cost follows: 

,i r millions • 994 1993 

Service cost-benetits 
attnbutable 'o service 
dunng the vear 

Interest cost on accumu­
lated postretirement 
benefit obligation 

Actual return on plan assets 
Net amomzation and deferral 

$ 13 1 

23 8 

(139i 

i 6.4 

27.0 
(1-9) 
(0,7) 

Net postretirement 
benefit cost 

Cost ot early ret-'cment benetits 
2: i . ' J 10,8 

Total i 23 0 i 308 

The following lable sets forth these plans' total accu-
mula'ed postretirement benefit obligation, reconciled with 
fhe accrued postretirement bencfu obligation. 

Decemoer 31, 
1995 1994 

a in n' llions,' 
Health Care Death 

Benefits Benefits 

Health Care Death 
Benefits Benetits 

Accumulau->a postretirement 
benefit obligation 

Retirees J 159.8 J 76 6 
Fully eligible active 

plan participants 11.7 4 i 
Othe' active plan 

participants 32.0 11 0 

Total 203.5 92 1 
Plan asseu at fair value 54 5 — 

Funded status (149 0) (92.1; 

Unrecognized loss (gain'j 11.1 (4.1) 

Unreconnized pnor 
ser '̂ict- cost (benetit) (65 3.1 — 

Accrued oostret'eme^-.t ^ B H ^ ^ B I ^ H B H 
hene*it obliqarion B B M E S ^ I ^ M S I S;203 2; J '96 21 

For measurement purposes, an 11 % increase in the per 
capita cost of covered health ire benefits was assumed for 
1996 Thf- rate was assumed to decrease gradually to an 
ultimate rate of 5 5% and remain at that level for 2005 and 
thereafter The health care cost trend rate has a significant 
effect on the amounts reported in the financial statements. 
To illustrate, increasing the assumed health care cost trend 
rates by one percentage point in each year would increase 
the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation as of 
December 31, 1995, by about J33 million and the aggre­
gate of the service and interest cost components of net 
postretirement benefit cost for the year 1995 by about 
$4 mi lion. 

The weighted-average discount rate used in determin­
ing the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation, the 
salary increase assumption and the long-term rate of return 
on plan assets are the same as those used for the pension 
plans (see table of rate assumptions in Note 12) 

The VEBA trust holding the plan assets is not expected 
to be subject to federal income taxes, as the assets are 
invested entirely in trust-owned life insurance 

UndCi col'ective bargaining agreements, NS Rail and 
certain subsidianes participate in a multiemployer benefit 
plan, which provioes certain postretirement health care 
and life insurance benefits to eligible union employees 
Premiums under this plan are expensed as incurred and 
amounted to S3 7 million, J4.8 million and J5,3 million in 
1995, 1994 and 1993, respectively. 

14. FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUIVIENTS 

The fair values of "Cash and cash equivalents," "Short-
term investments," "Accounts receivable," "Short-term 
debt" and "Accounts payable" approximate carrying values 
because of the short maturity of these financial instru­
ments "Short-term investments," which are designated as 
"available for sale," are reported at fair value in accordance 
with SFAS 115 (see Note 1). 

The fair value of long-term " Investments" approximat­
ed J837 million and J658 million at December 31, 1995 
and 1994, respectively. Quoted markei prices were used to 
determine the fair value of marketable securities which, 
beginning in 1994 (see Note 1, "Req'. ed Accounting 
Changes"), were recorded at fair value Carrying value 
adiustments, which are non-cash transactions, are not 
included m the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, 
Underlying net assets were used to estimate the fair value 
of non-marketable investments For the rem.aining invest­
ments, consisting principally of orporate-owned life insur­
ance, the carrying value approximates fair value (see Note 
5 tor carrying values of "Investments"), 

Under SFAS 11 5, NS Rail increased the reported carry­
ing value of short-term and long-term investments classified 
as "available for sale" as follows: 

7^-1. - »• . .-• December 31 ''994 

(S ir millions) ."••••• 
/ 

Short-term Equity 
Tecunties Securities 

Cost 
Cross unrealized 

holding qain (loss; 

."••••• 
/ 

$ 201 7 J 20 6 

(1 i ) 419 1 

Cost 
Cross unrealized 

holding qain (loss; 

$ 201 7 J 20 6 

(1 i ) 419 1 
Fair value J 200 1 5 439 7 

The short-term securities are principally U.S. Treasury 
securities Equity securities consist almost entirely of 
7,252,634 shares of NS Common Stock. 
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The change in the unrealized holding gain (loss) was 
Jl 38 8 million for 1990 and J(77.0) million for 1994, 
These changes prin liiy reflect cnanges in the NS .lock 
price. As a result, stockholder's-equity increased J84,2 mil­
lion in 1995 and decreased J46,9 million in 1994, 

The fair value of "Long-tenn debt," including currei.' 
matunties. approximated J606 million at Decemt)er 31, 
1995, and J543 million at December 31, 1994. The fair val­
ues of debt were estimated based on quoted market prices 
or discounted cash flows using cun-ent inierest rates for debt 
with similar terms, company rating and remaining maturity 
(see Note 8 for carrying values of "Long-term debt"), 

15. PARTIAL REVERSAL OF SPECIAL CHARGE IN 1993 

Included in 1991 results was a J483 million special 
charge for laboi force reductions and asset write-downs. 
However, based on NS Rairs success in eliminating reserve 
board positions in 1992 and 1993, and on events occur­
ring in the third quarter of 1993, the accrual included in 
the 1991 special chargo related to labor was reduced by J46 
million, which was refleaed as a credit in "Compensation 
and benefits" expenses. The principal factor contributing to 
the reversal was the failure in 1993 to reach agreement on 
terms for certain further labor savings. Accordingly, it 
became apparent that a surplus existed in the labor portion 
of the provision estabi shed in the 1991 special charge. 

16. NW—SUMMARIZED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
INFORMATION 

NW IS operated as an integral part of NS Rail. Revenues 
are allocated to NW based on actual traffic movements as 
determined by revenue ton miles within market groups. 
Expenses are allocated to NW based on appropnate criteria 
for the tyoe of expense. The costs of functions performed 
by NS, the parent holding company of NS Rail, are also 
allocated to its rail operating subsidime^ 

Norfolk and Western Railway Company and Subsidiaries 
Summarized ConsoUdated Statements of Income 

(t in millions) 
Years ended Decemt)er 31 

1995 
Railway operating revenues 
Railway operating expenses 

Income from 
railway operations 

Other-net 

Income before income 
taxes 

Provision for income taxes 
Income taxes 
Adjustment of net deferred tax 

liability (or federal rate increase 

Total income taxes 

Income before 
accounting changes 

Cumulative effects on years 
pnor to 199 i of changes in 
acccunting pnnciples for: 

Inccme taxes 
Postrftirement benefits 

other than pensions, 
and postemployment 
benefits • net of taxes 

Net income 

1994 1993 

J 1,858 1 J 1,853.6 
1.382 7 1,414,5 

475.4 4391 
25 8 36,5 

501 2 475,6 

175 I 1811 

23,7 

175 1 2048 

326 1 2708 

207,3 

ms,7) 
i 326 1 J 362 4 

Norfolk and Western Railway Company and Subsidiaries 
Summarized Consolidated Balance Sheets 

a in millions) 
As of December 31 
1995 1994 

Assets 
Current assets S 330 0 
Noncurrent assets 4,439 6 

Total assets $4,769 6 

Liabilitr's and Stcxkholder's Equity 
Curren: liabilities 178 6 
Noncurrent liabilities 1.590 0 
Stockholder's equity 3,001.0 

Total liabilities and stockholder's equity $4,769 6 

Effective lanuary 1, 1994, NW adopted Statement of Financial 
Accounung Standards (SFAS) No 11 5, "Accounting for Certam Investments 
in Debt and Equity Secunties" (SFAS 11 5) See Note 1 for a discussion of 
this new accounting pronouncement The effect on NW, pnncipally due to 
tf>* cfianging market value of its invettnnent m N5 stock, was a cfwnqe in 
the unrealised holding gain (toss) of 118.9 million for 1995 and $(13 9) mil­
lion for 1994 As a result Jtockholdei^s equity irKreased $118 million in 
1995 and decreased $8.7 million in 1994 

Effective lanuary 1, 1993, NW adopted SFAS 106, "tmptoyer^' 
Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Otfier than Pensions"; SFAS 109, 
"Accounting fo' Income Taxes," and 5^A5 112, "Employers' Accounting for 
Pojtemploymen. Benefits " See Note ' for a discusSKjn of tfiese proncxince-
ments (see NW's Consoficfated Statement of Income for tfie cumulative 
effects of tfiese cfianges) 
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NORFOLK SOUTHERN RAILWAY COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES 
(A tv1a|orii\-Owned Subsidiary of Noriolk Southern Corporation) 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

17, COKTINCENCIES 

Lawsuits 
Norfolk Southern Railway Company and certain sub­

sidiaries are defendants in numerous lawsuits relating prin­
cipally to railroad operations. While the final outcome of 
these lawsuits cannot be predicted wi th certainty, it is the 
opinion of Management, after consultmg with ils legal 
counsel that the amount of NS Rail's ultimate liability will 
not matenaUy affect NS Rail's consolidated financial 
position 

Debt Guarantees 
As of December 3'', 1995, NS Rail and certain sub­

sidiaries are contingently liable as guarantors with respect 
to J66 million of indebtedness of related entities, 

Change-in-Control Arrangements 
Norfolk Southern has compensation agreements with 

officers and certain key employees, which become opera­
tive onlv upon a change in control of NS, as defiried in 
those agreements. The agreements provide generally for 
payments based on compensation at the time of a covered 
individual's involuntary or other specified termination and 
for certain other benefits. 

Environmental Matters 
NS Rail IS subject to various jurisdictions' environmental 

laws and regulations. It is NS Rail's oolicy to reccd a liabili­
ty where such liability or loss is probable and can be rea­
sonably estimated Claims, if any, against third parties for 
recovery of clean-up costs incurred bv NS Rail are reflected 
as receivables in the balance sheet and are not netted 
against the associated NS Rail liability. Environmental engi­
neers participate in ongoing evaluations r f all identified 
sites, and—atter consulting with counsel —any necessary 
ad|ustmenis to initial liability estimates are made. NS Rail 
also has established an Environmental Policy Council, corn-
posed ot senior managers, to oversee and interpret its envi­
ronmental policy 

As of December 31, 1995. NS Rail's balance sheet 
included a reserve for environmental exposures in the 
amount o* S44 million (of which J12 million is accounted 
for as a current liability), which is NS Rail's present best 
estimate of ultimate liability at 96 identified locations. On 
that date, eight sites accounted for J16 milnon of the 
reserve, and no individual site was considereo to be materi­
al. NS Rail anticipates that the majority of this liability will 
be paid out over five years; however, some costs will be 
paid out over a longer period. 

At many of the 96 locations, NS Rail and or certain of 
Its subsidiaries, usually in conjunction with a number of 
other parties, have been identified as potentially responsi­
ble parties by the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) 
or similar state authorities under the Comprehensive 
Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act 

ol 1980, or comparable state statutes, which often impose 
|oint and several liability for clean-up costs. 

With respect to known environmental sites (whether 
identified by NS Rail or by the EPA or comparable state 
authorities), estimates of NS Rail's ultimate potential finan­
cial exposure for a given site or in the aggregate for all 
such sites are necessanly imprecise because of the widely 
varying costs of currently available clean-up techniques, 
the likely developmoni of nev; clean-up tecfnologies, the 
difficulty of determining in advance the ni^lure and full 
extent of contamination and each potential participant's 
share of any estimated loss (and that participant's ability i r 
bear it) and evolving statutory and regulatory standard' 
govemmg liability. 

The Msk of incurring environmental liability—for acts 
and omissions, past, present and future—is inherent in the 
railroad business Some of the commodities, particularly 
those classified as hazardous materials, in NS Rail's traffic 
mix can pose special risks that NS Rail works diligently lo 
minimize. In addition, NS Rail owns, or has owned in the 
past, land holdings used as operating property, or which 
are leased or may have been leased and operated by oth­
ers, or held tor sale Because certain conditions may exist 
on fnese properties related to environmr-ntal problems that 
are latent or undisclosed, there can be nc assurance that 
NS Rail will not mcur liabilities or costs with respect to one 
or more of them, the amount and materiality of which 
cannot be estimated reliably now Moreover lawsuits and 
claims involving ihese and other now-unidentified environ­
mental sites and matters are likely to arise from time to 
time. The resulting liabilities could have a significant effect 
on financial condition, results of operations or liquidity in a 
'articular vear or quarter. 

However, based on its assessments of the facts and 
circumstances now known and, after consulting with its 
legal counsel, Management believes that it has recorded 
appropriate estimates of liabilitv tor those environmental 
matters of which NS Rail is aware. Further, Management 
believes that it is uniikeiv that any identified matters, either 
individually or in aggregate, will have a material adverse 
effect on NS Rail's financial position, results of operations 
or liquidity. 
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Independer t Auditors' Report 

KPMG Peat Marwick LLP 

The Stockholders and Board of Directors 
Nortolk Souihern Railway Company: 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets j t tJcrfolk Southern Railway Company 
and subsidiaries (a majonty-owned subsidiary of Norfolk Southern Corporation) as of December 31, 1995 
and 1994, and the related consolidated statements of income, changes in stockholders" equity, and cash 
flows for each of the years m the three-year penod ended December 31, 1995 These consolidated finan­
cial statements are the responsibility of the Company"s management. Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements are free of matenal misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence sup­
porting the amounts and disclosures m the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the 
accounting principles used and significant estimates m,-ide by management, as weli as evaluating the over­
all financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, m all matenal 
respects, the finantlai position of Norfolk Southern Railway Company and subsidianes as of December 31, 
1995 and 1994, and the resulu of their operations and their cash flows for each ot the years in the three-
year period ended December 31, 1995, in confonnity with generally accepted accounting principles. 

As discussed m Note 1, the Company changed its methods of accounting m 1994 by adopting the provi­
sions of the Financial Accounting Standards Board"s Statement 115, Accounting for Certain Investments 
in Debt and Equity Secunties, and in 1993 by adopting the provisions of the Financial Accounting 
Standards Board's Statement 109, Accounting for Income Taxes; Statement 106, Employers" Accounting 
for Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions, and Statement 112, Employers' Accounting for 
Postemployment Benefits. 

Norfolk, Virginia 
)anuar> 23, 1996 
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NORFOLK SOUTHERN RAILWAY COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES 
(A Majority-Owned Subsidiary of Nortolk Southern Corporation) 

Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited) 

Three Months Entlt'o 
March 31 June 30 Sept. 30 Dec. 31 

1995 
(J in millions, except per share amounts) 

Railway operating revenues 
Income from railway operations 
Net income 
Dividends per serial preferred share 

999.2 
:50,4 
1:3,3 
0,65 

J 1,0164 
284,3 
180,3 

J 0.65 

J 996,0 
277,9 
193,9 

i 0,65 

J 1,000,2 
250,7 
174.2 

J 0.65 

1994 

Railway operating revenues 
Income from railway operations 
Net income 
Dividends per serial preferred share 

942.3 
226.5 
152.2 
0.65 

997.8 
275,0 
177,4 
0.65 

975,8 
2662 
164,7 
0,65 

J 1,002.2 
281.2 
]fj.7 

S 0.65 

627 



Listing of Officers Board of Directors 

David R Goode 
President and Chief Executive Officer 
Norfolk, Virginia 

Paul N. Austin 
Vice President-Personnel 
Norfolk, Virginia 

William B Bales 
Vice President 
Roanoke, Virginia 

lames C Bishop, |r. 
Vice President-Law 
Noriolk, Virginia 

R Alan Brogan 
Vice President-Transportation Logistics 
Fort Wayne, Indiana 

David A Cox 
Vice President-Properties 
Noriolk, Virginia 

Thomas L, Finkbiner 
Vice President-Intermodal 
Norfolk, Virginia 

|, W. Fox, |r. 
Vice Presidenl-Coal f.4arketing 
Roanoke, Virginia 

Thomas J. Golian 
Vice President 
Noriolk, Virginia 

james A. Hixon 
Vice President-Taxation 
Nortolk, Virginia 

)on L. Manetta 
Vice President-Transportation & 

Mechanical 
Nortolk, Virginia 

Harold C Mauney, |r 
Vice President-Quality Management 
Norfolk, Virginia 

Donald W. Mayberry 
Vice President-Research and Tests 
Roanoke, Virginia 

lames W McClellan 
Vice President-Strategic Planning 
Noriolk, Virginia 

Kathryn B. McQuade 
Vice President-Internal Audit 
Roanoke, Virginia 

Charles W Moorman 
Vice President-Information Technology 
Noriolk, Virginia 

Phillip R. Ogden 
Vice President-Engineenng 
Atlanta, Georgia 

L. I, Prillaman 
Vice President and Chief Traffic Officer 
Norfolk, Virginia 

)ohn P Rathbone 
Vice President and Controller 
Norfolk, Virginia 

William I Romig 
Vice President 
Noriolk, Virginia 

Donald W, Seale 
Vice President-Merchandise Marketing 
Norfolk, Virginia 

Robert S Spenski 
Vice President-Labor Relations 
Noriolk, Virginia 

Stephen C Tobias 
Vice President-Operations 
Norioik, Virginia 

)ohn R. Turbyfill 
Vice President 
Noriolk, Virginia 

D, Henry Vi/atts 
Vice President 
Noriolk, Virginia 

Henry C Wolf 
Vice President-Finance 
Noriolk, Virginia 

Sandra T. Pierce 
Corporate Secretary 
Norfolk, Virginia 

Ronald E. Sink 
Treasurer 
Roanoke, Virginia 

David R. Goode 
Chairman, President and Chief 

Executive Officer 
Norfolk Southern Corporation 
Norfolk, Virginia 

D. Henry Watts 
Vice Chairman 
Norfolk Southern Corporation 
Noriolk, Virginia 

James C, Bishop, Jr, 
Executive Vice President-Law 
Noriolk Southern Corporation 
Noriolk, Virginia 

L, I, Pnllaman 
Executive Vice President-Marketing 
Noriolk Sc uthern Corporation 
Noriolk, V irginia 

Stephen C. Tobias 
Executive Vice President-Operations 
Noriolk Southern Corporation 
Noriolk, Virginia 

Henry C. Wolf 
Executive Vice President-Finance 
Nortolk Southern Corporation 
Noriolk, Virginia 
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Norfolk Southern Railway Company and Subsidiaries 
(A Maiority-Ownea Subsidiary ol Norfolk Southern Corporation) 

Serial Preferred Stock In format ion 

There are 10,000,000 shares of no par value serial preferred stock authonzed This stock rnay be 
issued in senes trom time to time at the discretion of the Board of Directors with any series having 
such voting and other powers, designations, dividends and other preferences as deemed appropriate 
at the time of issuance. 

The J2 60 Cumulative Preferred Stock, Senes A (Senes A Stock), of which 1,197,027 shares were 
issued and 1,096,907 shares were held other than by subsidianes as of December 31, 1996, has no 
par value but has a J50 per share stated value. As indicated in the title, the stock pays a dividend of 
J2,60 per share annually payable quarteriy on March 15, June 15, September 15 and December 15. 
Dividends on this stock are cumulative and in preference to dividends on all other classes of stock. 
Except for any shares held by Norfolk Southern Railway Company subsidiaries and/or in a fiduciary 
capacity, each share is entitled to one vote per share on all matters, voting as a single class with hold­
ers of other stock. Should dividends become delinquent for six quarters, this class of stock, voting as a 
class, may elect two directors so long as any default in dividend payments continues. The stock is 
redeemable at the option of Norfolk Southern Railway Company at JSO per share plus accrued divi­
dends. On liquidation, the stock is entitled to JSO per share plus accrued dividends before any 
amounts are paid on any other class of stock. 

In June 1989, Norfolk Southern Corporation (NS) announced its intention to purchase up to 
250,000 shares of the outstanding Series A Stock during the subsequent two-year period. Since then, 
NS extended the stock purchase program through 1996. As of December 31 1996, NS had pur­
chased 1 76,608 shares of Series A Stock at a total cost of J6.7 million; as of the same date, NS held a 
total of 176,703 shares. 

Stock Transfer Agent and Registrar Form 10-K 

The Bank of New York 
101 Barclay Street • 12W 
New York, NY 10286-1002 
(800) 524-4458 

Norfolk Southern Railway Compony will mail a copy 
of the Annual Report to the Securities and Exchange 
Commission (Form 10-K) to interested persons upon 
written request to: 

Public Relations Department 
Norfolk Southern Corporation 
110 Franklin Road, SE 
Roanoke, VA 24042 0043 
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Description of Business 1 
On June 1, 1982, Southern Railway Company (SR) and Norfolk and Westem Railway Company con­

summated a consolidation under the control of Norfolk Southern Corporation (NS) Following the con­
solidation, a number of general management functions were combined thereby increasing coordina­
tion of sales, marl<eting and other customer ser. e functions Effective December 31, 1990, SR's name 
was changed to "Norfolk Southern Railway Company, and NS contnbuted all the common stock of 
Norfolk and Western Railway Company to Norfolk Southern Railway Company. All the common stock 
of Norfolk Southern Railway Company is owned by NS 

Noriolk Southern Railway Company, together with lU consolidated subsidiaries (collectively NS 
Rail), IS engaged pnmanlv m the transportation of freight by rail The railroad system's lines extend 
ove; more than 14,300 miles of road in 20 states, pnmanly in the Southeast and Midwest, and thp 
Province ot Ontano, Canada As of December 31, 1996, NS Rail owned or leased 2,158 diesel locomo­
tives, 90,657 freight cars and 5,529 rail-highway trailers and containers 

NS Rail's lines carry raw materials, intermediate products and finished goods pnmanly in the 
Southeast and Midwest and to and from the rest of the United States and parts of Canada. These lines 
also transport overseas freight through several Atlantic and Gulf Coast ports. Atlantic ports served by 
NS Rail include: Charleston, S C ; Jacksonville, Fla , Morehead City, N C ; Norfolk, Va; and Savannah 
and Brunswick, Ca Gulf Coast ports served include Mobile, Ala , and New Orleans, La. 

NS Rail's lines reach most of the larger industrial and trading centers of the Southeast and Midwest, 
With the exception of those in central and southern Flonda Atlanta, Ga Birmingham,, Ala., New 
Orieans, Memphis, Tenn , .St Louis, Mo , Kansas City Mo , Chicago, 111 , Detroit, Mich,, Cincinnati, 
Ohio, Buffalo, N,Y,, Norfolk, Charleston, Savannah and Jacksonville are among the leading centers orig­
inating and terminating freight traffic on the system In addition, a haulage arrangement with Flonda 
East Coast Railway allows NS Rail to provide smgle-lme service to and from South Flonda, including the 
port cities of Miami, West Palm Beach and Fort Lauderdale The system's lines also reach many individ­
ual industries, mines (in western Virginia, eastern Kentucky and southern West Virginia) and businesses 
located m smaller communities in its sen-ice area The traffic corndors carrying the heaviest volumes of 
treight include those from the Appalachian coal fields of Virginia, West Virginia and Kentucky to 
Norfolk and Sandusky Ohio: Buffalo to Chicago and Kansas City, Chicago to Jacksonville (via 
Cincinnati, Chattanooga, Tenn , and Atlanta), and Washington, D C 'Hagerstown, Md , to New 
Orleans (via Atlanta and Birmingham) 

Buffalo, Chicago, Hagerstown, Jacksonville, Kansas City, Memphis, New Orleans and St, Louis are 
major gateways for interterritorial system traffic. 

Freight Revenues by Market Group 
(J millions) 
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2 Norfolk Southern Railwa / Company and Subsidiaries 
A M3|Orit>.-Owned Si,DSiaiar\ of Norfolk Souv-icr-i Corpora t ion j 

Five-Year Financial Review 

1995 1994 I 993 I 1992 

Res jIts of operations: 
Railv ay operating revenues 
Rail̂ •ray operatinq expenses 

Incomp trom 
railway operations 1,164.7 

Other income - net 39.1 
Interest expense on debt 33.9 

(J in millions) 

S 4,1( ' .0 J 4 ,0118 J 3,918 1 J 3,727 6 J 3,709,1 
2,93t .3 2,948,5 2,869,2 2,805,9 2,781,7 

1,063,3 

43,3 
33,0 

1,048,9 

46,6 
28.3 

921 7 

57,6 
32,3 

927,4 

49.5 
44.6 

Income before 

income taxes 1,169,9 1,073,6 1,067,2 947 0 932.3 

Provision for income taxes 401.4 371,9 385.2 412,8 325,8 

Income before 
accounting changes 

Cumulative effect of 
accounting changes 

768.5 701 7 682 0 534.2 

247,8 

606 5 

Net income 768.5 701,7 J 682,0 J 782,0 606,5 

Financial Position: 
Total assets 
Total long-term debt, 

mciudmg current 
r,.aturities 

Stockholders equity 

Other: 
Capital expenditures 
Numbtr or stockholders 

at year-end 
Average number 

of employees ^ 

S 11,053,3 J 10,752,3 J 10,289,2 J 9,760 4 J 9,675,5 

$ .S97.9 J 574,4 J 539,8 J 604 9 J 714,5 
J 5,771.8 J 5,645,4 J 5,440,5 J 5,184,9 J 4,784.3 

J 754.0 J 713,3 J 639,6 J 6 2 9 ^ J 617 1 

2,763 3,025 3,281 3,517 3,725 

23,361 24,488 24,710 25,531 25,650 

/ 993 results include a S60.8 million increase in the provision for income taxes reflecting a 1% increase in 
the federal income tax rate The -.umulative effect of accounting changos increased 1993 earnings by 
1247.8 million The cnange m accounting foi mccrie taxes increased net income by 1470 4 million, with 
a corresponding reduction in cefjrred taxes. The changes in accounting for postretirement and postem­
ployment benefits decreased nei mc e by $222 6 million. 

I 

The employee count I'lciud"' Norfolk Southern cc oorofion'5 employees whose primary juties uinte to 
rail operations. 
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Management 's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condi t ion and Results of Operations 3 
The following discussion and analysis should be 
read in conjunction with the Consolidated 
Financial Statemfnts and Notes beginning on 
page 12 and the Five-Year Financial Review on 
page 2. 

SUMMARIZED RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

1996 Compared with 1995 
Net mcome in 1996 was J768 5 million, an 

increase of 10%, However, results in 1995 were 
affected by a J33,6 million early retirement 
cfiarge, which reduced net income by J20,4 mil­
lion 

Absent the effects of thai charge, 1996 net in­
come was up 6%. The improvement was due to 
increased income f rom railway operations of 
J67.3 mil l ion, or 6%, reflecting higher operating 
revenues, up 2%, and generally flat operating 
expenses, up less than 1 % (excluding the eariy 
retirement charge). 

1995 Compared with 1994 
Net income in 1995 was J701.7 million, up 

3% E> eluding the 
1995 ejrfy retire­
ment charge, net 
income rose 6%. 
These results were 
driven pnmarily by 
improved income 
from railway opera­
tions, up J48,0 mil­
lion, or 5% (exclud­
ing the earl\ retire­
ment charg;) . 
Railway opf rating 
revenues increased 
2'*'I. while la i lw iy 
orjeratin'j expenses, 
excluding the eariy 
retirement cha.-ge, 
were up 2% Interest 

expense on oebt was up J4,7 million, largely 
due to a lower level of capitalized interest, 

DETAILED RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

Railway Operating Revenues 
Railway operating revenues were J4 1 billion 

in 1996, compared with 54.0 billion in 1995 and 
J3.9 billion in 1994. The J89,2 million improve­
ment m 1996, compared with 1995, was the 

Railway Opcrati 19 
Revenues and t. penses 
(J rnillions) 
r Revenues 
• Expenses 

result of impi-ovements in all market groups 
except paper/forest and agriculture. The J93.7 
million improvement in 1995, compared with 
1994, was pnmanly attnbutable to increases in 
the intermodal, automotive and metals/construc-
tion market groups 

The following table presents a three-year 
companson of revenues by market group. 

RAILWAV OPI I IATINC RfvfNuts t i M A K K I T CHOUP 

(S in millions; 1996 1995 1994 

Coal $1,104 7 J l , 2 6 7 8 $1,290 2 

Chemicals SSS9 536 5 534 7 

Paper.'foresi 5 1 3 0 537 3 521.8 

Automot ive 488 7 449 1 429 0 

Agriculture 393 J 393 7 379 5 

Metals/construct ion 3 5 8 0 353 1 334 2 

Intermodal 4 8 7 4 474 3 428 7 

Total S4,101 0 J4,011 8 $3,918 1 

Nore Revenues previously reported os "Other railway •<^enues" 
(principally switching ond demurrage) have been reclassi-
Ilea into each of the commodity groups 

In 1996, increases in coal, automotive, mter­
modal and chemicals traffic offset decreases in 
the remaining market groups For 1995 
improvements in automotive, agriculture, met­
als/construction and intermodal traffic offset 
declines in the other groups. The traffic volume 
gains in both years accounted for most of the 
revenue improvement as shown in the table 
below. Average revenue per unit rose in both 
1996 and 1995 due to moderate rate increases. 

RAILWAY OPCIUTINC RiviNUi VADIANCI ANALYSIS 

INCRSASES (DtCHLASES) 

(S in millions! 1996 vs 1995 1995 vs 1994 

Traffic volume $ 72 6 $ 62 6 

Revenue per unit 16.6 31 1 

Total $ 8 9 2 $ 93 7 

COAL traffic volume increased 4%, and rev­
enues increased 3% in 1996, piimr.i ly due to 
increased utility and export coa: tonnage. Coal 
revenues represented almost 32% of total rail­
way operating revenues in 1996, and 90% ot 
coal shipments originated on NS Rail's lines. Coal 
traffic volume declined 1 %, and revenues were 
down 2% in 1995, compared with 1994, as coal 
tonnage by type remained relatively stable. 

TOTAL COAL, Coxt AND I«ON One TONNACE 

(in millions of tons) 1996 1995 1994 

Util i ty 74,7 70 3 71 6 

Export 2 7 0 25,8 25 2 

Stee! 2 0 6 22 1 21 6 

Other 7.9 6 9 7 5 

Total 130,2 125 1 125.9 

Note Certdin prior year omounts iiove been reclassified to con­
form to the current year preientafior 
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4 Norfolk Southern Railway Company and Subsidiaries 
A Ma io r i t v -Ow iea Subsidiar. of N o ^ o k Soutriern Corpo-aticr, 

Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condi t ion and Results of Operations 

Util i ty coal traffic increased 6% m 1996, com­
pare I with 199S Several utility customers in the 
NS Rail service region shifted more generation to 
coal-fired plants, as many nuclear power plants 
experienced downtime In addition, NS Rail gained 
market share at several Southeastern utili>, .. 

In 1995, utility coal traffic decreased slightly 
due to moderate weather throughout much of 
the NS Rail service region during the first half of 
the year and to sustained penods of maximum 
generation from several Southeastem nuclear 
power plants Partially mitigating these declines 
were increased shipments of both NS Rail- and 
foreign-line-ongmated, low-sulfur coal rp'j ied to 
utilities' compliance with Phase I of the Clean Air 
Act Amendments, which took effect on January 1 
1995 

The near-term outlook for utility coal is posi­
tive, as a significant numtier of the mines served 
by NS Rail produce coals that satisfy both Phase I 
and the more stringent Phase II requirements, 
which take effect on January 1, 2000 However, 
adoption of tighter restrictions on nitrous oxide 
particulate emissions, as proposed by the 
Environmental Protection Agency, could impose 
added cost burdens on some coal-fired plants. 

Utilities in the Southeast, NS Rail's largest 
steam roal market, are expected to increase their 
demand for Central Appalachian coai Utility 
deregulation is likely to affect the structure and 
development of ttiat market Specifically, it is 
widely anticipated that U S utilities will have 
greater flexibility in selling electricity to, and buy­
ing II from, other regional markets. At present, 
however, transmission line capacity is somewhat 
straineo on the lines leading to and from the 
Southeastern U.S., and resistance by environ­
mentalists and the high cost of adding new ime 
capacity could deter its development. Less cer­
tain is the outiook tor demand for Central 
Appalachian ..oal from utilities in the Midwest, as 
the delivered cost of Western coal tends to be 
lower. However, NS Rail expects lo participate m 
the movement of anv Western coal that displaces 
NS Rail-originated deliveries 

Export coal traffic increased 5% in 1996, 
compared with 1995, as NS Rail benefited from 
increased steam coal exports to Italy and greater 
metallurgical shipments to Germany, a result of 
reduced subsidies to German coal producers that 
enhanced the competitiveness of U.S coal. 
Increased exports of U.S, coal to brazil also con­
tributed to the improvement. 

Export coal traffic increased 2% in 1995, ben­
efiting from the continued recovery of European 
steel production. Demand from other parts of 
the world also improved Brazil, Belgium. France, 
Romania and )apan toox increased amounts of 
NS Rail coal, in addition, NS Rail began handling 
metallurgical coal for steel production in Mexico 
Congestion and high barge rates on the 
Mississippi River caused an increase in move­
ments over NS Rail's coal piers in Norfolk, Va. 

Metallurgical coal exports are expected to 
expenence slight to modest growth through th, ' 
year 2000, as continued reductions in European 
go ernment subsidies to coal producers should 
benei't NS Rail-served exporters. A gradual 
declire IS projected m the long term, as new 
steel .making technologies replace those requir­
ing coking coal. Demand for export steam coal is 
expected to increase, and NS Rail is working to 
increase its participation in this market 

'^t*' I coal domestic traffic was down 7%, as 
aggressive producer pricmg of higher volatile 
metallurgical coals not located on NS Rail's lines 
resulted m a loss of traffic. In 1995, traffic was up 
2% due to completion of extended coke o/en 
work at one facility and continued strong 
demand for domestic coke for making steel. 
Advanced technologies that allow production cf 
steel with httie or no coke could cause this market 
to decline slowly over the long term. However, 
NS Rail could participate in the movement of 
non-coking coal used by technologies such as 
pulverized coal injection. 

Other coal traffic, primarily steam coal 
shipped to manufacturing plants, increased 14% 
in K-96, compared with 1995, reflecting gams 
from other modes of transportation and more 
seasonal weather conditions m 1996 Traffic vol­
ume declined 8% m 1995, compared with 1994, 
resulting from lower demand for in-plant use of 
electricity due to mild weather In addition, some 
ndustnes have switched to natural gas as a fuel 

source This market is expected to remain stable 
in coming years, as growth through innovative 
packaged delivery services offsets losses from nat­
ural gas conversions 

MERCHANDISE traffic volume m 1996 
decreased slightly, compared with 1995, as in­
creases in automotive, intermodal and chemicals 
traffic were more than offset by declines in the 
remaining commodity groups. However, increased 
average revenues for most commodity groups 
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5 
resulted in a 2% improvement in revenues. In 
1995, merchandise traffic volume increased 5°ci. 
driven by increases in intermodal, automotive and 
agriculture traffic. Merchandise revenues in 1995 
incrr?ased 4%, compared with 1994 

Chemicals traffic and revenues grew 3% and 
4"o, respectively, for 1996 Fertilizer and plastics 
markets strengthened dunng 1996, which result­
ed in increased traffic and revenues for these Kvo 
groups In addition, the harsh winter resulted in 
greater movements of liquid petroleum gas, and 
industnal chemicals remained strong throughout 
the vear These 1996 results compared favorably 
with relatively flat carloads and revenues in 1995, 
as increases for general chemicals were overshad­
owed by weakness m the plastics and fertilizer 
markeb The chemicals market group iS expected 
to continue to show moderate growth through 
1997, as NS Rail expands its Thoroughbred Bulk 
Distribution facilities and chemicals production 
nationwide is expected to increase 

Paper forest traffic and revenu--j> e?.ch 
declined 5% m 1996, due to the ovenl l down­
turn in the paper and forest products .ndu«try 
Early in 1995, the paper industry enjoyed record 
pnce levels and associated volumes, but growth 
:iowed ano inventories of paper nroducls swelled 
in la'e 1995 and into 1996 To correct the mven-
tciy problems, .Tiany large paper producers oper­
ated mills well beiow rapacity and shut down 
mills to balance capacity with demand. This com­
pares to a 1 % decrease m volume and a 3% 
increase m revenues for 1995 Paper and pulp­
wood products traffic m 1995 v^as about even 
with 1994, while lumber traffic suffered from 
weak housing starts These markets are expected 
to begin a slight turnaround bv mid-1997 

Automotive traffic rose 8%, and revenues 
increased 9%, both the highest in this group's 
history Auto parts provided fhe majority of the 
growth as volume increased 2 1 % , while vehicle 
traffic increased 3% NS Rail opened two just-ir-
time (}\T) rail centers at Hagerstown, Md , and 
near Buffalo, N Y., m 1996 foi distnbution of 
vehicle parts for GM Also, GM awarded NS Rail 
another jlT rail center to be constructed in 1997 
near Dayton, Ohio. These three centers are 
expected to handle ever 23,000 carioads annual­
ly by 1998 1996 also marked tne first time in 
several years that all MS Rail-ser ed assembly 
plants were on-line. GM s Wentzville, Mo., 
assembly plant returned to production eariy in 
the year after a tw..-year retooling and GM's 

Doraville, Ga., plant returned midyear from a 
ont -year retooling. In 1996, BMW's new plant at 
Greer, S,C,, reached full production. In 1995, 
jutc motive traffic increased 4%, and revenues 
were up 5%, Strong production at selectea 
plants that produce popular cars and trucks miti­
gated the effects of several plants' being shut 
down or operated at reduced capacity 

Good market growth is expected in 1997, 
supported by the new )IT rail centers, full pro­
duction levels at existing plants, the start of pro­
duction at the new Mercedes plant in Tuscaloosa, 
Ala , and the expansion of Toyota's plant in 
Georgetown, Ky Supporting long-term gro'Mh, 
Ford awarded NS Rail a 12-year contract in 1996 
to handle approximately 3 million new vehicles 
annually through four mixing centers to be built 
in 1997. When operational in 1998, NS Rail 
expects to increase its motor vehicle business 
with Ford by 60%. In addition, Toyota's new 
Princeton, Ind., truck plant may add to 1998-
1999 traffic For the automotive industry as a 
whole, annual production increases are forecast 
through 2002, as transplants bring production to 
North America, exports continue to rise and the 
Mexican and Canadian economies improve 

Agriculture traffic declined 4 % and revenues 
were flat m 1996 Despite strong demand for 
feed grains in the Southeast, grain traffic suf­
fered, as poor crops and strong export demand 
left NS Rai receivers competing for limited sup 
plies Slight average revenue growth occurred, 
resulting pnmanly from longer hauls, as receivers 
reached farther west for gram supplies. In 1995, 
agriculture traffic rose 2%, and revenues in­
creased 4 > , due to higher grain shipments from 
the Midwest to the Souiiieast poultry industry 

Moderate growth is expected in 1997, as 1996 
.rops should provide abundant supplies through­
out the year, and demand from the poultry mar-
kt* for feed gram continues to grow Also tor 
1997, a full year of new business is expected 
from tv'o feed mills which were ramping up pro­
duction in 1996, and from a new major gram 
elevator located on a line purchased dunng 1996 
from Conrail 

Metals construct ion traffic declined 2%, but 
revenues were up 1 % for 1996 Construction 
carioads fell belimd in early 1996 due to 
inckment weather and were flat the rest of the 
year however, higher overage revenues more 
than orj:»t the volume decline. In the metals 
market, NS Rail's shipments remained strong due 
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6 Norfolk Southern Ra'lvvay Corrspany and Subsidiaries 
(A Maioritv-Ownea Sucsidiary o' 'M'- lo < Southern Corporation) 

Management 's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condi t ion and Results of Operat ions 

to a healthy domestic steel market, which has 
added capacity through improved efficiency at 
integrated mills and new mini-mills. In 1995, 
metals/construction traffic was up slightly, and 
revenues increased 6%, as increases in tfie steel 
and aluminum markets were somewhat offset by 
reduced demand for construction products 

Moderate growth is expected for 1997 New 
steel production facilities in Decatur, Ala., and 
Memphis, Tenn , are expected to contribute to 
growth in late 1997. Although construction starts 
are expected to decrease in 1997 versus 1996, 
projects already tiegun, such as at the Chesapeake 
Bay Bridge Tunnel, the opening of new cement 
terminals and the expansion of vanous on-line 
plants, are expected to produce moderate 
growth for construction in 1997 and beyond. 

In termodal traffic volume increased 5% and 
revenues increased 3% both reaching record lev­
els in 1996, driven bv increased domestic con­
tainer and Triple Crown Services Company 
(TCSC) volume 

EMP, the container equipment-shanng 
arrangement with Union Pacific and Conrail, con­
tributed significantly to domestic growth. 
International container volume declined only 
slightly, despite an industry slowdown that 
began in the spring and lasted until the fall NS 
Rail's overall market share improved slightly due 
to new international business and the continued 
domestic containtr and TCSC growth. 

Intermodal volume rose 12%, and revenues 
increased 1 1 % in 1995. Although mtermodal 
traffic levels nationwide declined in 1995, NS Rail 
intermodal achieved record levels of volume, rev­
enues and profitability, led by container ship­
ments in both domestic and international service. 

During 1995, a seven-year agreement with 
Hanjin Shipping Company was signed undei 
which NS Rail will handle neariy all of Hanjir s 
international container business in f>IS Rail's terri­
tory east of the Mississippi River 

EMP contributed significantly to domestic 
growth Almost all the increase in international 
container business was attributable to new ser­
vices, thereby increasing NS Rail's market share 
Domestic business also was augmented by 
growth in the trucking segment, as both truck-
load and less-than-truckload companies increased 
their use of NS Rail intermodal. Additionally, 
mtermodal marketing companies increased their 
business on NS Rail. 

NS Rail's mtermodal volume is expected to 
remain strong, resu'ting from continued domes­

tic container and TCSC volume growth and the 
recovery in the international market Higher 
wages in the trucking industry may encourage 
shippers to use NS Rail's intermodal and TCSC 
networks. In addition, growth of steamship com­
panies' use of Suez Canal services mav havre a 
positive impac; on international container ship­
ments into and out of Southeast ports 

Railwav Operating Expenses 
Railway operating expenses in 1996 decreased 

slightly; however, 
Railway Operating Ratio 

£ # # # 

1995's expenses 
included a J33.6 mil­
lion charge for an 
early retirement pro­
gram (see Note 12). 
Excluding that early 
retirement charge, 
railway operating 
expenses increased 
1 %, despite a 2 % 
increase in traffic vol­
ume. Railway operat­
ing expenses m 1995 
were up 3% (up 2%, 
excluding the early 
retirement charge) 
on a 3% increase in 
traffic volume. 

As a result, the NS Rail railway operating 
ratio, which measures the percentage of railway 
revenues consumed by exp>enses, was a record 
71,6 in 1996, compared with 73.5 (72.7 exclud­
ing the early retirement charge) in 1995 and 
73 2 in 1994. NS Rail's railway operat ng ratio 
continues to be the best among the major rail­
roads in tiie United States. 

The following table shows the changes in rail­
way ofjerating expenses summanzed by major 
classifications. 

RAILWAV OptRATiNC ExPtNsts iNCRUStS (DfCHfASES) 
1996 vs,1995 1995 vs 1994 

Compensation and benefits $ (81,3)* $ 108 9 • 
Materials, services and rents 6 3 (45 4) 
Depreciation 20 1 22 3 
Diesel fuel 43,6 1.5 
Casualties and other claims 2,1 (13 7) 
Other (3,0) 5 7 

Total S (12,2) $ 79 3 
'Includes the S3S 6 million ea'iy ret rement charge ir- 1995. 

Compensat ion and benefits, whicn repre­
sents about half of total railway operating 
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expenses, decreased 5% in 1996 and increased 
8% in 1995 Excluding the 1995 early retirement 
charge, compensation and benetiU expenses 
were down 3% m 1996 and up 5% in 1995. 

The 1996 decrease (excludmg the effect of the 
1995 early retirement charge) was principally 
attribulat)le to t l ) reduceo employment result­
ing from the 1995 eariy retirement program and 
productivity improvements due to ongoing 
reductions in tram crew sizes and tram efficien­
cies and (2) lower costs for fnnge benefits, princi­
pally medical costs for salaried employees. These 
decreases were somewhat offset by increases 
attributable to higher volume and increased 
wage rates resulting from new labor agree.nents. 

The 1995 increase was pnmanly a result of: (1) 
higher wages; (2) increased pertormance-based 
compensation accruals, particularly those Iinked 
to the market pnce of NS stock, which rose near­
ly J l 9 per share in 1995; and (3) higher health 
care costs for agreement employees 

As of the end of 1996, NS Rail had negotiated 
labor agreements with all of its unions, except 
the Amencan Tram Dispatchers which represents 
about 200 employees The accords with the 12 
other union organizations, which include com­
pensation settlements m line with other major 
industries, will not be due for change until after 
lanuary 1. 2000. 

Materials, services and rents includes items 
used for the maintenance of the railroads lines, 
structures and equipment; the costs of services 
purchased from outside contractors, including the 
net costs of operating joint (or leased) facilities 
with other railroads; and the net cost of equip­
ment rentals This category of expenses increased 
1% in 1996 and decreased 7% in 1995 

The increase in 1996 resulted from higher 
mtermodal expenses due to increased volume, as 
well as higher equipment rent costs, lhat more 
than offset lower locomotive and car repair costs 

Equipment rents, which represent the cost to 
NS Rail of u'^mg equipment (mostly freight cars) 
owned bv other railroads or private owners, less 
the rent paid to NS Rail for the use of its equip­
ment, were up 10% m 1996, This increase was 
due to a variety of factors, including increased 
intermodal container traffic, lower receipts from 
short-term leases of locomotives to various rail-
roids and increased freight car leases to meet 
customer requirements. These increased costs 
were somewhat offset by lower net costs for mul­
tilevel equ.pment. 

Locomotive repair costs continued to be 
reduced as a result of the replacement of older 
units with newer ones NS Rail expects to acquire 
120 new locomotives m 1997. Freight car repair 
costs continued to benefit f rom the effects of ini­
tiatives launched m 1995 to improve asset utiliza­
tion that resulted in the re-engineering of main­
tenance practices, facilitating the closure of two 
repair facilities m 1995 and the disposition of 
1 7,000 excess freight cars, which was substantial­
ly completed m 1996 

The decrease in "Materials, services and rents" 
in 1995 reflected initial results ,om the initiatives 
to improve asset utilization, as well as reduced 
locomotive repair costs and lower net equipment 
rental expense. The reduction in equipment rents 
n 1995 was due to the short-term leasing of cer­
tain older locomotives to other railroads and the 
deregulation of ca -hire rates amon i railroads, 
which began in 1994 These favorable results 
were somewhat offset by increased expenses 
related to the 12% growth in intermodal traffic. 

Depreciation expense (see Note 1. 
"Properties," for NS Rail's depreciation policy) 
was up 5% in 1996 and 6% m 1995 Both 
increases were doe to property additions, reflect­
ing substantial levels of capital spending over the 
last several years, 

Diesel fuel cosU rose 23% m 1996, but were 
up less than i % m 1995 Ti-ie increase in 1996 
was due to a 20% increase in the average price 
per gallon, as prices reached levels unseen since 
1991 during and following the Persian Gulf 
Crisis. Consumption was up 3% on a similar 
increase m carloading: Thr i995 increase was 
primarily due to a smsll increase in the average 
price per gallon 

Casualties and other claims (including esti­
mates of costs related to personal injury, property 
damage and environmental mat'iers) increased 
2 % m 1996, but declined 10% m 1995 In 1996, 
higher accruals for environmental -^emediation 
cosu more lhan offset reduced accruals tor per­
sonal injun,' liabilities and the effects of a nonre­
curring liabilitv insurance premium refund The 
1995 decrease 'as primarily attributable to envi­
ronmental costs in 1994 associated with a 
tankcar leak 

The largest component of "Casualties and 
other claims" is personal injur)' expense NS Rail 
continued to benefit from a reduction in the 
number of reportable injuries m ', '996, however, 
as in prior vears, much of that benefit was offset 
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by an increase in the cost of third-partv injurv 
claims and by the continuing costs associated 
with the handling of non-accidental "occupa­
tional" claims NS Rail continues tc- /vork activelv 
to reduce the risk of all accidents 

The rail mdustry remains uniquely susceptible 
to litigation involving job-related accidental 
injury and occupational claims because of an 
outmoded law, the Federal Employers' Liability 
Act (FELA), originally passed in 1908 and applica­
ble only to railroads. This law which covers 
employees' claims for on-the-iob injuries, pro­
motes an adversarial claim settlemen; environ­
ment and produces results that are unpredicti Die 
and inconsistent, at far greater cost to the rail 
industry than the no-fault workers' compensation 
system to which non-rail competitors are univer­
sally subject. The railroads have been unsuccess­
ful so far in efforts to persuade Congress to 
replace FELA wi th a no-fault workers compensa­
tion system. 

Other expenses were down 2% in 1996, but 
were up 4 % in 1995 The 1995 increase was due 
to higher salf»s, use and franchise taxes, 

NS Rail expects to complete work to make its 
software year-2000 compliant by the end of 
1998, It IS anticipated that the total cost of con­
version will not be material to NS Rail's financial 
statements. 

Income Taxes 
Income tax expense in 1996 was S401 4 mil­

lion for an effective rate of 34 3%, compared 
with an effective rate ot 34.6% in 1995 and 
36 ,1% in 1994, 

The effective rates in 1996 and 1995 were 
below the statutory federal and statP rates as a 
result of investments in corporate-owned life 
insurance and coal-seam gas properties and 
from favorable adjustme.its upon filing the pnor 
year tax returns. In addi' ion, 1996 benefited 
from favorable adjustments resulting from settle­
ment ol federal income tax years 1990-1992 
The effective rate in 1994 also was below the 
statutory federal and state rates due to favorable 
adjustments resulting trom settlement of fede'al 
income tax years 1988 and 1989. an adjustment 
to the valuation allowance for deferred tax 
assets and a favorable adjustment upon filing 
the 1993 tax return Deterred tax expense was 
an unusually high portion ot total tax expense in 
1994, A corresponding reduction is reflected m 

1994's current tax expense for the effects of 
expenditures that affect book and tax accounts 
in different years, primarily in the areas of com­
pensation and property, 

^ccQunj±ng Changes and New Accounting 
Pronouncements 

As discussed m Note 1 under "Required 
Accounting Chanqes," effective lanuary 1, 1996, 
NS Rail adopted Statement of Financial 
Accounting Standards No 121, "Accounting for 
the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for 
Long-Lived Asseis to be Disposed Of" (SFAS 
121), which had no material cnoct on NS Rail's 
financial statements 

Effective lanuary 1, 1994, NS Rail adopted 
Statement ot Financial Accounting Standards No 
115, "Accounting for Certain Investments in 
Debt and Equity Securitie. " (SFAS 11 5) The pnn­
cipal result was a significant write-up of NS Rail's 
investment in NS stock This non-cash adjust­
ment had no income statement effect but 
increased "Investments" and "Stockholders' equi­
ty" in the Consolidated Balance Sheets (see also 
Note 14), 

On October 10, 1996, the AICPA issued State­
ment of Position 96-1, "Environmental Remedia­
tion Liabilities" (SOP 96-1), which is effective tor 
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 1996 
SOP 96-1 provides guidance with respect to 
recognition a rd measurement of environmental 
remediation liabilities and disclosure of such lia­
bilities in financial statements, SOP 96-1 is not 
expected to have a material effect on NS Rail's 
financial statements, 

FINANCIAL CONDITION, LIQUIDITY 
AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 

Financial condit ion refers to the assets, liabili­
ties and stockhoioers equity of an organization 
(see Consolidated Balance Sheets on page 1 3), 
Liquidity refers to the ability of an organization 
to generate adequate amounts of cash, principal­
ly from operating results or through borrows g 
power, to meet its short-term and long-term 
cash requirements (see Consolidated Statemems 
of Cash Flows on page 14) Capital resources 
refers to the ability of an organization to raise 
funds through the sale ot either debt or equity 
(stock) secuntiis. 
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( I inmtlliom) 1996 1995 j 994 1̂ 993 1992_ 
Cash and 

short-term 
investments $315,5 $230 0 $180 9 $152 0 $64 0 

Current assets 
to current 
liabilities 1.2 10 11 13 1,2 

Debt to total 
capitalization 9,8% 9 6% 9 4<>t; 10 9<v 13.4% 

Return on 
average 
stocV holders' 
equit\ 13.5% 13 0<-.' 12 8% 12 0%' 13 1% 

• including unusual items Ir 1 99S, the ecily retirement charge, 
and. in ) 993 the cumulatrve effects ol required accounting 
chanaes and the pnor years efiecx of the federal income tax 
rate increase 

Cash provided by operai ing activities, NS 
Rail's principal source ot liquidity, decreased 
J4S 9 million, or 4%, in 1996 and increased 
J96.4 million, or 8%, in 1995. Since the consoli­
dation in 1982, cash provided by operating 
activities has been sufficient to fund dividend 
requirements, debt repayments and a significant 
portion ot capital spending. The decrease in 
1996 was largely attributable to lump-sum wage 
payments associated witt i labor contract settle­
ments and higher income tax payments related 
lo the settlement ot federal income tax years 
1990-1992 The improvement in 1995 v/as pn­
manly a result ot increased income trom opera­
tions (excluding the eariy retirement charge, a 
non-cash item) and improved billing and collec­
tion of receivables. 

Cash used for investing activities decreased 
7% in 1996 and was up 56% in 1995 Property 
additions account for most of the spending m 
this category In 1994, large borrowings on cor 
porate-owned life insurance offset much of the 
use ot cash for property additions in that year 

The following tables show capital spending, 
track and equipment statistics tor the past five 
year-s. 

TRACK SmurruRE STATISTICS (CAPTTAL AND MAl̂ mNANCE) 
1996 1995 1994 1993 1992 

CAPOAi txpENorruRi; 
($ in rnilhons; 1996* 199.S' 1994 1993 1992 

Road 
Equipment 
Other property 

$428.4 $379 5 $382 3 $4110 $425 1 
J25.6 332 6 235.0 218 1 187 8 
— 1 2 22.3 0 1 4 2 

ToU! $754.0 $713 3 $639 6 $629 2 $617 1 

' Includes non-cash eouipment expena tures o' S> '8 million in 
1996 ahdiW4.$ m.illion in 199S (see Note 8 o page 1") 

Track miles of 
rail installed 401 403 480 574 660 

Miles of track 
surfaced 4686 4.668 4,760 5,048 5,690 

New crossties 
installed 
(millions) 1 9 2 0 1.7 16 1 9 

AVIRACE Ac t Of RAILWAt EOUIPMCNT 

(years) 1996 1995 1994 1993 1992 

Freight cars 22.3 22 0 21 9 21.3 209 
Locomotives 154 15.7 158 15 1 14.5 
Retired 

locomotives 24 4 22 6 23 6 24.7 24,0 

Since 1988, NS Rail has rebodied about 
23,000 coal cars and plans to continue that pro­
gram, although at a slower rate, in 1997, This 
work, performed at NS Rail's Roanoke Car Shop, 
converts hopper cars mto high-capacity steel 
gondolas or hoppers As a result, the remaining 
service life of the freight car fleet is greater than 
may be interred from the increasing average age 
shown in ttie lable above 

Efforts to hold down capital spending while 
increasing busmess 

Capital ExpendKures 
(J millions; 
- Other Propc, ly 

Equipment 
• Road 

are ongoing as NS 
Rail seeks to maxi­
mize utilization of Its 
asseis. In this connec­
tion, NS Rail began 
an ordert" disposition 
of approximately 
17,000 treight cars in 
October 1994 Th'S 
was substantially 
completed in 1996 
with tolal proceeds of 
J92 million included 
in "Property sales and 
other transactions" in 
the 1996 and 1995 
Consolidated State­
ments of Cash Flows 
In 1996, this line item also reflected proceeds 
from large land sales (see Note 3) 

For 1997, NS Rail is planning J781 million of 
capital sfjendTiy Barnng unforeseen events, total 
capital spending is expected to continue to be 
similar to 1995 and 1996 levels. 

Cash used for f inancing activities decreased 
18% in 1996 and 14% in 1995. The higher uses 
in 1995 and 1994 were due to significant 
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advances made to NS In addition, 1994 debt 
repayments were high due to the maturity of a 
large mortgage. 

Hedging Activities 
As discussed under "Capital Leases" in Note 8, 

NS Rail has made limited use ot interest rate 
swaps in connection with certain equipment 
financings. 

PROPOSED ACQUISITION OF CONRAIL BY NS 

As discussed in Note 16, NS commenced an 
all-cash tender offer tor all Shares of Conrail Inc 
(Conraii), on October 24, 1996, in response to 
the October 15, 1996, announcement that 
Conrail had entered into a merger agreemeni 
with CSX, The full terms and conditions of the 
tender offer and certain other disclosures are set 
torth in documen'ts filed by NS with the 
Secunties and Exchange Commission on October 
24, Novembe' 8 and December 20, 1996, and 
lanuary 22 and February 12, 1997 

On Februar)' 11, 1997, NS acquired 6.2 million 
Shares of Conrai' stcKk (approximately 9.9%), rep 
resenting the approximate maximum number of 
Shares NS can b jy without tnggenng Conrail's 
current anti-takeover defenses, at c cost of J l 15 
per Share, or J943 million in the aggregate The 
purchase was financed with commercial paper 
backed by a portion ot the debt commitments 
secured tor the transaction These Conrail Shares 
have been placed in a voting trust and under cer­
tain circumstances might have to be sold at a loss 

NS expects future cash flows of the merged 
entity would be sufficient to service and retire the 
acquisition and related debt However, as a result 
of the proposed transaction and the related debt 
commitments, NS has been placed on tne credit 
v^atch list of two major rating agen:ies. Further­
more, in connection with the acquisition of 8,2 
million Conrail Shares, some ot NS' and NS Rail's 
debt ratings have alreaoy been downgraded 

The Conrail board repeatedly has affirmed its 
commitment to a merger with CSX Absent signifi­
cant asset divestitures, the combined CSX-Conrail 
system would have almost 70% of the total NS 
Rail, Conrail and CSX ro ' revenues, putting NS Rail 
at a significant competitive disadvantage NS 
intends to pursue its tender offer and e,'.pects to 
file an application for control of Conrail with the 
Surface Transportation Board (STB), 

ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS 

NS Rail IS subject to vanous jurisdictions' envi­
ronmental laws and regulations It is NS Rail's 
policy to record a liability where such liability or 
loss IS probable and can be reasonably estimated. 
Claims, if any, against third parties for recovery 
ot clean-up costs incurred by NS Rail are reflect 
ed as receivables in the balance sheet and are 
not netted against the associated NS Rail liability. 
Environmental engineers participate in onrjoing 
evaluations of all identified sites, and—after con­
sulting with counsel—any necessary ad 'jsfments 
to initial liability estimates are made > Rail also 
has established an Environmental Policy Council, 
composed ot senior managers, to oversee and 
interpret its environmental policy. 

Operating expenses for environmental protec­
tion totaled approximately J25 million in 1996 
and are anticipated to increase somewhat in 
1997. Capital expenditures for environmental 
projects amounted to approximately J6 million 
in 1996 and are expected to be at the same level 
in 1997 As of December 31, 1996, NS Rail's bal­
ance sheet included a reserve for environmental 
exposures in the amount of J53 million (of 
which J12 million is accounted for as a current 
liability), which is NS Rail's estimate of the proba­
ble costs based on available information at 111 
identified locations On that date, nine sites 
accounted for J19 million of the reserve, and no 
individual site was considered to be matenal NS 
Rail anticipates that much ot this liability will ^e 
paid out over five years, however, some costs will 
be paid out over a longer penod. 

At many of the 111 locations, NS Rail and/or 
certain of its subsidiaries, usually m conjunction 
with a number of other parties, have been identi­
fied as potentially responsiole parties by the 
Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) or similar 
state authorities under th t Comprehensive 
Environmental Response, Compensation, and 
liability Act of 1980, or comparable state 
statutes, which often impose joint and several lia­
bility tor clean-up costs 

At one such site, the EPA alleged in 1995 that 
The Alabama Great Southern Railroad Company 
(AGS), a subsidiary ot NS Rail, is responsible, 
along with several other entities t)elieved to be 
financially solvent, for past and future clean-up 
and monitoring costs al the feayou Bonfouca NPL 
Superfund site located m Slideli, La The EPA 
bases its claim of NS Rail's responsibility pnmanly 
on the alleged activities in the 1880s of a cor l o a -
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n\ not at the time owned or controlled bv an NS 
Ra.l subsidiary but acquired ir 1916. Liabilit\ has 
been contestec Because the amount of liabilitv 
tr-,at the EPA mav assert against NS Rail or ACS is 
not known the mjteriaiit\ of such amount tc 
\ s Rail s financial posilon. results of operatic^ 
c !iquidit\ in a oarticjlar quarter or vear cannot 
oe asse.,jed at this time. The EPA has indicated 
•hiat't tias expenaed or expects to expend a 
total of approximatelv J l 30 million at the site 

W th respect tc x-^owp environmental sites 
ivshethe' oentitied b\ NS Rai. o' ov the EPA or 
comparable state authonties). estimates o* NS 
Rail 5 ultimate potentia' financial exposure for a 
given site or m tne aggregate for all sucf̂  sites 
are necessari'v imp'ecse because of tne vMoelv 
varM-^a costs of cu'rent^s avaiiaole ciean-up tech­
niques tne likelv aevelopment of new clean-up 
tecnnoiooies the difficult^ of oete'minira m 
j jvance tne nature and tuH extent of con­
tamination ana eacr̂  poter^tia participant s snare 
0* anv estimatefl ioss ,ana that part cicant s abili-

to C>ear it) and evolving statut'i". a^d '•eguia-
'..""N stanaards governing liabilitv 

The nsk 0* incumng environmental iiat>ilit.'— 
to' acts and om ssio^s past, present and 
fjt,jre—'S innere"t i" tne railroad business Some 
.•• the commodities particuiartv tnose ciassifiec 
i> naza-dous matena.s i- NS Rai! s traffic mix 
1)3- pose special nsks tnat NS Ran and lU $ut>-
s d aries wor\ diiigentK tc minimize i r addition 
NS Ra" owns or nas owned m tne past and 

dings used as ope'ati-'a orcoetv or v^ncn 
.••r l e a . ^ or mav -ave bee" 'easea ana operat-

pv other's or he d f c saie. Because certain 
. . -iditions mav ex st o " these p'operties 'elated 
•.- envircrrneita! pr'0P'e''^5 '.f.a' i 'e latent o ' 
undisclosed there can t * nc assurance 'hat NS 
Rar vMi! not mcu' lapi'iies c costs w-itn respect 

one or more o' tnem the arnownt ana r>-.ater -
3' r. of v^t!lc^ car-rvct De estimated --e'laDi. -OVN 
Moreover lawsu ts ano claims irvc>tvina tnese 
ana othe' -'ovN-uniae-tr' ed environ-nenta sites 
j - id —artery 3'e ixe:. t r anse t'o' '^ time to time 
' - e "esu'tmg iiaDil'ties could have a $iar"ifica'"t 
e"ec: o- f-narKia cor'^d'tfor resjf,s o' operatio-~s 
0' Kquioitt I- a pa t i c -a r vear o ' Quarter 

Howeve' based on ts assessr^e'̂ *..' o' the •'acts 
i - : : ; rcj~-st3"ces nov* A-O.%- anc a r e ' ccn-
sciting VV-.- lis iecai cownsei Manaceme' t 

f t-.at -as r-ecoroed the p'ODap-e costs 
•.- — avai.abie information to ' tfiose envirc--

- e - u —3tte-s 0' . r t -e CoTvcat* : - ' 
3w3'e 'w tne - S ' j -aaeme- : pe re.es t-.a*. t s 

unlikelv that arrv identified matters, either mdi-
viduallv or in aggregate, wili have a material 
adverse effect on NS Rail s financial position, 
results of operatio'^s or liquidity. 

INFLATION 

Generally accepted accounting principles 
require the use of historical cost m prepanng 
financial statements This appr'oach disregards 
tne effects of inflation on the reo:acement cost ot 
properu NS Rail, a capitai-intensivfc company, 
has approximately J l 3 biHion invested m such 
assets The replacement cost of these assets, as 
well as the related depreciation expense would 
be substantiallv g'eater tnan the amounts report­
ed on the basis of histor-icai cost. 

TRENDS 

• ut:iit\ Deregulation—The potential deregu­
lation of the eiectnca utility mdiistn^ is expectefl 
tc mcease compet tion among eiectnc power 
generators; aeregulation m time wouid permit 
wholesalers ano possibiv retaiiers of eiectric 
power to seli or purchase increasing quantities ot 
powe' to or from fa'-distart generates The 
effects o* aerecuiatic- o^ NS Ran and on its 
cat'or-s cannot t>e precictea w t h certamty, now-
eve', NS Ran Sr-.es a numpe' of efficient powe' 
produce's and is workmg diligently tc assure that 
•IS custome's re'^ai'" competitive m this evolving 
e - v i r c n m e n t 

• ftL-i—NS Rai and the rail noustn. are 
continuing the i ' e+torts tc replace the FELA w th 
-'0-*auit worxe's compensation laws compa'abie 
tc those covenng employees m other mdust'ies 

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

This Management s Discussion and Analysis o* 
Fma-cia Condition a-d Resuh-s o* Operations 
ana otner sections o' this Annua' Report cor-tair" 
forwaro-iookmg s ta teme—t-a : are casec or 
cur'e'-t expeciat.cns. est"~a:es and p'Oiections 
these state-ne-ts are not gua'ar-tecs o* future 
pe'^crmancfc ana mvoive nsw, uncertainties arvc 
assumptions that a'e difficult tc predict Tr>e'e-
fpre, actua outcon'^'es anc 'cs-'ts may orffer 
matca l ' v f 'o r - w a t 'S exp'essea i- sucn for-
v%a'0-iookinc s'.ate-^e-u 
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12 Norfolk Southern Railway Company and Subsidiaries 
(A Maionty-CXvned Subsidiary ol Norfolk Soutiiern Corporation) 

Consolidated Statements of Income 

Years ended December 31, 
1996 1995 1994 

($ in millions) 

Railway operating revenues $ 4,101.0 J 4,011.8 J 3,918,1 

Railway opei i t ing expenses: 
Compensation and benefits (Note 12) 1,398.7 1,480.0 1,371,1 
Materials, services and rents 629.5 623 2 668,6 
Depreciation 403.0 382.9 360.6 
Diesel fuel 233.4 189,8 188,3 
Casualties and other claims 123.4 121,3 135.0 
Other 14S.3 151,3 145.6 

Railway operating expenses 2,936.3 2,948,5 2,8692 

Income from railway operations 1,164.7 1,06:.,3 1,048.9 

Other income - net (Note 3) 39.1 43,3 46.6 
Interest expense on debt (Note 6) 33.9 33,0 28,3 

Income t)efore income taxes 1,169.9 1,073,6 1,067.2 

Provision for income taxe' (Note 4) 401.4 371,9 385.2 

Net income S 768.5 J 701 7 S 682.0 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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Norfolk Southern Railway Company and Subsidiaries 
|A Maiority-Owned SuDsidiarv o* iviorfolli Soutfiern Corporation) 

Consolidated Balance Sheets 13 
As of December 31, 
1996 1995 

Assets 
Current assets: 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Short-term invr;stmenb (Note 14) 
Accounts receivable net of allowance for doubtful accounts 

of J3 6 million and J2.8 million, respectively 
Materials and supplies 
Deferred income taxes (Note 4) 
Other current assets 

(S in millions) 

$ 172.1 J 49,3 
143.4 180,7 

545.7 542,1 
61.2 598 
95.3 988 

119.8 92.1 
Total current assets 1,137.5 1,022.8 

Due from NS - net (Note 2) 
Investments (Notes 5 and 14) 
Properties less accumulated depreciation (Note 6) 
Other ass?ts 

870.7 
9,014.9 

30.2 

186,8 
771,0 

8,750,4 
21.3 

Totai assets $ 11,053.3 J 10,752 3 

Liabilities and stockholders' equity 
Current liabilities: 

Short-term debt (Note 8) 
Accounts payable (Note 7) 
Income and other taxes 
Due to NS - net (Note 2) 
Other current liabilities (Note 7) 
Current maturities of long-term debt (Note 8) 

27.2 
S49.8 
158.3 
64.9 

109.0 
54.3 

27.2 
:>67,2 
1, 9.4 

124.3 
79.7 

Total current liabilities 963.5 977.8 

Long-term debt (Note 8) 543.6 494,7 
Other liabilities (Note 10) 886.0 870.8 
Minority interests 24 2.3 

Deferred income taxes (Note 4) 2,886.0 2,761.3 
Total iiauiiities 5,281.5 5,106.9 

Stockholders' equity: 
Serial preferred stock (Note ' 1) 54.8 54.8 
Common stock (Note 11) 166.7 166.7 
Other capital 525.5 525.5 
Unrealized gain on marketable securities (Note 14) 397.8 337.3 
Retained income 4.627.0 4,561,1 

Total stockholders' equity 5,771.8 5,645.4 

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $ 11,053.3 J 10,752.3 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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14 Norfolk Southern Railway Company and Subsidiaries 
IA Mdiority-Owned Subsidiary of Noriolk Southern Corporation; 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 

Years ended December 31, 
1996 1995 1994 

( I in millions) 
Cash flows from operating activities: 

Net income S 768.5 J 701.7 J 682,0 
Reconciliation of net income to net cash 

provided by operating activities: 
Special charge payments (18,0) (29,3) (41,9) 
Depreciation 404.2 383.8 361,3 
Deferred income taxes 89.4 43,2 114,2 
Nonoperating gams on property sales (25.5) (8,7) (7,8) 
Changes m assets and liabilities affecting operations: 

Accounts receivable (3.6) 10.6 (29,8) 
Materials and supplies (1,4) (1.3) 7.4 
Other current assets (13.5) (2,3) (12.5) 
Current liabilities other than debt (33.6) 104,5 6,7 
Other - net 34.4 48.6 74,8 

Net cash provided by operating activities 1,200,9 1,250.8 1,154,4 

Cash flows from investing activities: 
Property additions (646.2) (6088) (639,6) 
Property sales and c'her transactions 96.0 804 52,9 
Investment purchases (59.7) (65,6) (459) 
Investment sales and other transactions 22.0 294 249.2 
Short-term investments - net 36.1 (31,3) 1.0 

Net cash used for investing activities (551.8) (595.9) (382,4) 

Cash flows from financing activities: 
Dividends (Note 2) (288.6) (291,5) (279,4) 
Due to/from NS - net (Note 2) (162.3) (285,1) (394.2) 
Proceeds from long-term borrowings 9.6 7,6 41,4 
Long-term debt repayments CiS.O) (70,4) (108.3) 

Net cash used for financing activities (526.3) (639,4) (740.5) 

Net increase in cash and cash equivaler's 122.8 15,5 31.5 

Cash and cash equivalents: 
At beginning of year 49.3 33.8 2.3 

At end ot year S 172.1 J 49,3 J 33.8 

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information 
Cash paid during the year tor 

Interest (net ot amounts capitalized) 
Income Uxes 

66.7 
351.' 

48 9 
272,5 

J 49,1 
J 252,2 

See accompanying notes tc consolidated financial statements. 
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Norfolk Southern Railway Company and Subsidiaries 
A Md|Ofi tv-Owned Subsidiarv c' Nortol»< Southern Corporation^ 

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders' Equity 

Unrealized 
Serial Cain on 

-cferred Common Other Marketable Retained 
Stock Stock Capital Securities Income Total 

(J in millions) 

Balance December 31, 1993 S 54.8 5 166.7 J 515.0 S — $4,448.4 5 5,184,9 
Net income - 1994 682,0 682,0 
Cash dividend.. 

Serial preferred stock. 
J2,60 per share (2.9) (2.9) 

Common stock. 
J 16,59 per share (276.5) (276.5) 

Non-cash dividends on 
com.mon stock (Note 2) (400.1) (400.1) 

Unrealized gain on 
investments 253,1 2S3.1 

Balance December 31, 1994 54.8 166.7 515.0 253.1 4,450.9 5,440.5 
Net income - 1995 701.7 701,7 
Cash dividends: 

Serial preferred stock, 
J2,60 per snare (2.9) (2,9) 

Common stock, 
J l 7.31 per share (288,6) (288 6) 

Non-cash dividends on 
com.Tion stock (Note 2) (300.0) (300.0) 

Contribution from NS (Note 2) 10.5 1 0 ^ 
Unrealized gam on 

•nvestments (Note 14) 84.2 84.2 

Balance December 31, 1995 54.8 166.7 525.5 337.3 4,561.1 5,645.4 
Net income - 1996 768.5 768,5 
Cash dividends: 

Senal preferred stock. i 

J2,60 per share (2.9) (2.9) 
Common stock. 

51 7,14 per share (285,7) (285.7) 
Nori-cash dividends on 

common stock (Note 2) (414,0) (414,0) 
Unrealized cam on 

investmen,s (Note 14) 60,5 60.5 

Balance December 31, 1996 $ 54.8 S 166.7 $ 525.5 S 7 )7.8 54,627.0 $ 5,771.8 

Sec accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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16 Norfolk Southern Railway Company and Subsidiaries 
f A Mdiority-Owned Subs.diarv ot Nortolk Southern Corporation) 

Notes t o Consol idated Financial Statements 

The following notes are an integral part of the 
consolidated financial statements 

1, SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 

POLICIES 

Descnption of f isiness 
Nortolk soutnern Railway Company, together 

with Its consolidated subsidiaries (collectively, NS 
Rail), IS engaged principally in the transportation 
of freight by rail, pnmanly in the Southeast and 
Midwest, The consolidated financial statements 
include Norfolk Southern Railway Company, 
Norfolk and Western Railway Company and their 
ma|onty-owned and controlled subsidiaries All 
significant intercompany balances and transac­
tions have been eliminated in consolidation (see 
Note 15 for the Norfolk and West-'"n Railway 
Company and Subsidiaries (NW) summarized 
consolidated financial information) 

Rail freight consists of raw materials, interme­
diate products and fmishei joods classified in 
the fol lowing markei groups: coal, chemicals, 
paper/forest, automorive, agriculture, metals/ 
construction and intermodal. All groups are 
approximately equal in size based on revenues 
except tor coal, which accounts for almost one 
third ot total railway operating revenues. 
Ultimate destinations for some ot the freight and 
a portion of the coal shipped are outside the 
United States, 

Use of Estimates 
The preparation of financial statements in 

conformity with generally accepted accounting 
principles requires Management to make esti­
mates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of 
• ontingent assets and liabilities at the date of the 
rinani.!al statements and the reported amounts 
ni revenues and expenses durmg the reportmg 
p»:nod. Actual results could differ from those esti­
mates. 

Cosh liquivolents 
"Ca.sh equivalents" are highly liquid invest-

me lis p I chased three months or less from 
matu Ity. 

Inve. tfi-ients 
MarK^table equity and debt secunties are 

repo;ted at amoruzed cost or fair value depend­
mg upon their classification as held-to-maturity, 
trading or available-for-sale securities. At 

December 31, 1996 and 1^95, all "Short-term 
investments," consisting primiarily of United 
States government and federal agency secunties 
and all marketable equity securities consisting 
principally ot NS stock, were designated ^s avail­
able for sale Accordingly, unrealized gains and 
losses, net of taxes, are recognized in 
"Stockholders' equity" (see also Note 14) 

Materials and Supplies 
"Materials and supplies," consisting mainly ot 

fuel oil and items for maintenance of property 
and equipment, are stated at average cost The 
cost of materials and supplies expected to be 
used in capital additions or improvements is 
included in "Properties," 

Properties 
"Properties" are stated prmcipally at cost and 

are depreciated using group depreciation Rail is 
pnmanly depreciated on the basis of use mea­
sured by gross ton miles. The effect of this 
method is to depreciate these assets over 42 
years on average. Other properties are depicciat-
ed generally using the straight-line method over 
estimated service lives at annual rates that range 
from 1 % to 20% In 1996, the overall deprecia­
tion rate averaged 2 8% tor roadway arid 1 0 % 
tor equipment. NS Rail capitalizes interest on 
ma)or capital projects during the period of their 
construction Maintenance expense is recog­
nized when repairs are performed. When proper­
ties, other than land and non-rail assets, are sold 
01 retired in the ordinary course of business, the 
cost of the assets, net of saie proceeds or sal­
vage, is c larged to accumulated depreciation 
rather than recognized through income. Gains 
and losses on disposa' of land and non-rail assets 
are included in other income (see Note 3). 

Revenue Recognition 
Rever.'ie is recognized proportionally as a 

shipment moves from ongin to destination. 

Required Accountina Changes 
1996 - Effective January 1, 1996, NS Rail adopt­

ed Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 
No. 121, "Accounting tor the Impairment of Long-
Lived Asseis and tor Long-Lived Assets to be 
Disposed Of" (SFAS 121). SFAS 121 establishes the 
accounting and reporting requirements for recog­
nizing and measuring impairment of long-lived 
assets either to be held and used or to be held tor 
disoosai. SFAS 121 did not have a mate:ial effect 
on NS Rail's financial statements. 
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17 
1994 - Effective )anuar\ 1, 1994, NS Rail 

adopted Statement of Financial Accounting 
Standards No. 115, "Ac-ountmg toi Certain 
Investments m Debt and Equity Securities" (SFAS 
115), which addresses the accounting and 
reporting tor investments in equity secunties that 
have readily dorerminable fan values anc. for ali 
investments in cebt securities. The implementa­
tion of SFAS 11 5 mcreased "Investments," the 
deterred tax liability and "Stockholders' equity" 
at December 31, 1994, and had no impact on 
earnmgs Th'. total un.ealized holding gam on 
NS Rail's investments classified as "available for 
sale," net of the related deferred taxes, is reflect­
ed as a separate component oi "Stockholders' 
equity' in the Conso'idated Balance Sheets (see 
also Note 14), 

2, RELATED PARTIES 

General 
NS IS the parent holding company of NS Rail 

The costs of functions performed by NS are allo­
cated to NS Rail Rail operations are coordinated 
at the holding company level by the NS 
Executive Vice President-Operations 

Non-cash Dividends 
In 1996, 1995 and 1994, NS Rail declared 

and issued to NS non-cash dividends of J414,0 
million, S300,0 million and J400.1 million, 
respectively, which w d e settled bv reduction of 
NS Rail's interest-be.jring advances due from NS 

Non-cash dividends are excluded trom the 
Consolidaterf Statements of Cash Flows 

Intercompany Accounts 

,S in millions) 

Due f rom NS 

Advances 

Due to NS: 

Notes 

Due (to) f rom 

NS - net 

Decembe - 3: 
1996 199S 

Average Average 
Interest Interest 

Balance Rate Balance Rate 

$155,6 4.1% t407i i 4 \ 

220.5 6.1<M> 220 3 6 6 % 

S(64 9) J18f> 8 

During 1995, NW issued notes for J75,5 mil­
lion to an NS subsidiary for the purchase ot a 
portfolio ot short-term investments This non­
cash transaction was excluded trom the 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 

Inierest is applied to certain advances at the 
average NS yield on short-term investments and 
to the notes at specified rates Included in inter­
est income is J l 3,9 million, J l 7.8 million and 
J15.6 million in 1996, 1995 and 1994, respec­
tively, related to amounts d'le from NS 

Transfer ot investment from NS 
In Oecf.mber 1995, NS transferred its JIO.S 

million e'^uity inte'"est in a nonoperating sub­
sidiary to Noriolk Southern Railway Company. 
This transfer was recorded at historical cost and 
was reflected as a contnbution to capital. 

Intercompany Federa! Income Tax Accounts 
In accordance with the NS Tax Allocation 

Agreement, intercompany federal inccme tax 
accounts are recorded between companies m 
the NS consolidated group At December 31, 
1996 and 1995, NS Rail had long-term inter­
company tederal income tax payables (which are 
includerf in "Deferred income taxes" in the 
Co'isoliriatei-' oalance Sheets) of J292,5 million 
and J254 / million, respectively. 

Cash Required tor NS Stock Purchase Program and 
NS Debt 

SiriLC 1987, the NS Board of Directors has 
authonzed the purchase and retirement of up to 
95 million shares of NS common stock. Purchases 
under the programs have tieen made with inter­
nally generated cash, and with proceeds from the 
sale of NS commercial paper notes and from the 
issuance ">f NS loini-term debt 

Since n e first urchases in December 1987 
and lhrouc]h October 22, 1996, NS had pur­
chased and retired 68,545,000 shr^res ot its com­
mon stock under these programs at a cost of 
J3,2 bilhon 

On October 23, 1996, NS announced that the 
stock purchase program had t>een suspended 
(see also Note 16), Future purchase decisions are 
d'^ pendent on the outcome of the proposed 
Conrail acquisition, '.he economy, cash needs and 
alternative investment opportunities 

Consistent wi l t the eadier purchases, a signifi­
cant portion of the funding for future NS stock 
purchases, either in the form of direct cash or 
c.oh used tor debt servic will come from NS 
Rail through intercompany advances or divi­
dends to NS In addition, some cf the costs asso­
ciated with the proposed Conrail acquisition (see 
Note 16, "Proposed Acquisition of Conrail by 
NS" and "NS Debt Commitments") are likely to 
be funded bv NS R;il, 



18 Norfolk Southern Railway Company and Subsidiaries 
(A Maionty-Owned Subsidiary of Norfolk Soutfiern Corporation) 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

3 OTHER INCOME - NET 

in mllions) 1996 1995 1994 

Interest irKome (Note 2) S 29.9 J 36 3 $ 34.4 
Rental income 18.2 18 5 18.0 
Dividends from NS 16.2 15,1 13 9 
Cams from sales of properties 2S.S 8 7 78 
Corporate-owned life 

insurarwe - f>et 6.0 7* 7.9 
Other interest expense (44.1) (32,2) (24.9) 
Taxes on nonoperating 

protjerty (3.7) (2,4' (3.7) 
Otfier - net 

(«•») 
(81) (6.8) 

Total $ 39.1 S 43 3 $ 46,6 

4. INCOME TAXES 

Provision for Income Taxes 
(S in millions) 1996 1995 1994 

Cun-ent: 
Federal $277.7 S286 3 $236,0 
State 34.3 424 35,0 

Total current taxes 312.0 328 7 271,0 

Deferred 1 
Federal 72.7 35 1 95.2 
State 16.7 8 1 19.0 

Total deferred taxes 89.4 2 114,2 

ProvisKXi for IrKome taxes S401.4 $371.9 $385,2 

Reconciliation ui Statutory Rate to Effective Rate 
Total income taxes as reflected in the 

Consolidated Statements of Income differ frorn 
the amounts computed by applying the statuto­
ry federal corporate tax rate as follows: 

CJ in millions) 1996 1995 1994 
Amount % Amoont % Amount % 

Federal incofne 
tax at statutory 
rate $409.5 35.0 $375 8 35,0 $373,5 35,0 

State income 
taxes, net of 
federal tax 
twnefit 33.1 2.8 32,7 3,0 35,1 3,3 

Cofpofate-owneJ 
lite insurance (15.5) (1.3) (17,1) (16) (10,6 (1,0) 

Ottier - net (25.7) ( 2 J ) (19,5) (1.8) (12,8) (1.2) 
Provision for 

income 
taxes $401,4 34,3 $371,9 346 $385 2 36 1 

Inclusion in Consolidated Return 
NS Rail is included in the consolidated federal 

income tax retum of NS, The provision for cur­
rent income taxes in the Consolidated State­
ments of Income reflects NS Rail's portion of NS' 
consolidated tax provision. Tax expense or tax 
benefit is recorded on a separate company b^sis. 

Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities 
Certain items are reported in different perior*' 

for financial reporting and income tax purr-^>es. 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities were recorded 
in recognition of these differences. 

The tax effects of temporary differences that 
give rise to significant portions of the deterred tax 
assets and deferred tax liabilities were as follows: 

(I in millions) 
December 31, 

1996 199S 

Deferred tax assets; 
Reserves, including casualty 

and other claims $ i48.3 $ 1616 
Employee benefits 147,7 158 7 
Retiree fiealth and death 

benefit obligation 137,2 13b 1 
Taxes, including state 

>,nd property 163.1 157,1 
Crther 1.1 12 

Total ar^.i. defw™d tax assets 597.4 616,7 
Less valuation iilow mce (0.6) (0,5) 

Net defer-uii tax ..ssets S96.8 6162 

Oefmred tax iiaibiiitKis 
Property {2.939.0) (2,760.S; 
Unrealized hoMing gams (220.0) (219,0) 
Other (36.0) (44,7) 

Total gross deferred 
tax liabilities (3,095.0) (3,024.0) 

Intercompany federal 
tax payable - net (292.5) (254 7) 

Net deferred u x liability (2.790.7) (2,662.5) 
N< t current deferred 

t lx assets 95.3 988 

Net long-term deferred 
'.ax liability $(2,886,0) $(2,7£1 3) 

Except for amounts for which a valuation 
allowance is provided. Management t>elieves the 
deferred tax assets will be realized. The net 
change in the total valuation allowance was a 
SO I million increase for 1996, a S0.1 million 
decrease for 1995 and a Jl ,4 million decrease 
for 1994. 
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Internal Revenue Sen/ice (IRS) Reviews 

Consolidated tederal income tax returns have 
been exammed and Revenue Ayent Repor lave 
been received tor all years up to and inclui. ig 
1992 The consolidated federal income tax 
returns to' 1993 and 1994 are being audited by 
the IRS \ianagement believes that adequate 
provision has been made for any additional taxes 
and interest thereon that might arise as a result 
of these examinations. 

Tax Benefit Leases 
In lanuary 1995, the United States Tax Court 

issued a preliminary decision that would disallow 
some ot the tax benetits a subsidiary of NS Rail 
purchased from a third party pursuant to a sate 
harbor lease agreement m 1981 Management 
continues to oelieve that NS Rail ultimately 
should incur no loss from this decision, because 
the lease agreement provides for full indemnifi­
cation it any such disallowance is sustained. 

5, INVESTMENTS 

7, CURRENT LIABILITIES 

December 31, 
a in millions', 1996 1995 

Marketable equity secunties at 
fair value (Note 14) $ 6 3 9 , 0 : 576 2 

Corporate-owned life insurance at 
net cash surrender value 213 2 176 6 

Other 1 8 5 18,2 

Total $ 870 7 $ 771 0 

6, Pu PERTIES 

December 3 1 , 
a in millions) 1996 1995 

Transportatior oroperty 

Road J 8,405,0 $ 8 151 7 
Equipment 4 ,664,7 4,586.8 

Other property 79,3 84 2 

13,149,0 12,822 7 

Less Accumulated depreciation 4,134,1 4,07? 3 

Net properties $ 9 , 0 1 4 , 9 $ 8,750 4 

Capitalized Interest 
Total interest cost incurred on debt in 1996, 

1995 and 1994 was J45,8 million, J47.0 million 
and J46.1 million, respectively, of which J11.9 
mill ion, J14.0 million and J l 7.8 million was cap­
italized 

December 31 

(S in millions) 1996 1995 

Accounts ,)ayable; 

Accounts vnd wages payable $227.4 $255 3 
Casualtv and other claims 1 6 5 4 163,6 
yacation iiabilitv 75 0 72,5 
Equipment rents payable - net 6 0 9 6 2 0 
Other 21 1 13 8 

Total $549.8 J567 2 

Other current liabilities 

Prepaid , imounts on 

forwarded trattic $ 62 ,7 S 69 7 
Interest pavable 1 4 4 23 7 
Retiree health and death 

t)enefit obligation (Note 13) 23,2 24 5 
Other 8,7 6 4 

Total $109,0 $124 3 

8, DEBT 

Short-Term Debt 
Short-term debt consists o* J27,2 million of 

notes assumed in connection v«ith the 1990 
acquisition of a coal terminal facility. 

Capital Lease Obligations 
Dunng 1996 and 1995, NS Rail entered into 

capital leases covenng new locomotives. The 
related capital lease obligations totaling SI 07,8 
million in 1996 and J104,5 million in 1995 were 
reflected in ttie Consolidated Balance Sheets as 
debt and, because they were non-cash transac­
tions, were excluded from the Consolidated 
Statements of Cash Flows, The lease obligations 
carry an average stated interest rate of 6 5% for 
those entered into ir 1996 and 8.4% for those 
entered into in 1995. All were converted to van-
able rate obligations using intti"est rate swap 
agreements The interest rates on these obliga­
tions are based on the six-month London 
Interbank Offered Rate and are reset every six 
months with changes in interest rates accounted 
for as an adjustment of interest expense over the 
terms of the leases As a result, NS Rail is 
exposed to the market nsk associated with fluc­
tuations in interest rates. To date, while such rate 
fluctuations have been nominal, their effects 
have been favorable. Counterparties to the inter­
est rate sw::p agreements are major financial 
institutions believed by Management to be cred­
it-worthy NS Rail's use of interest rate swaps has 
been limited to those discussed above. 
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20 Norfolk Southern Railway Company and Subsidiaries 
lA Ma ion ty -Owned Subsidia-N of Nur to ' t Soutnern Corpc 'd t ion 

Notes to Consol idated Financial Statements 

i- D-:E-

Long-Term Debt 
December 31 

(S m millions) 1996 1995 

Equipment obligations at an 
average rate of 7 8'*'c 
matunng to 2009 $3929 $439 5 

Capitalized leases at an average 
rate of 5.9 o matunng to 2015 197,0 100 9 

Other debt at ar average rate 
of 5 4% matunng to 201 5 8,0 34.0 

Total long-term debt 5979 574 4 
Less Current maturities _ 54,3 79^7 
Long-term debt 

less current maturities $543,6 $494 7 

Long-term debt matures as foliows 

'998 i 55 5 
1999 127 2 

2000 57 7 

2001 51,8 
2002 and subsequentjrears 251 4 

Total $543 6 

A substantial portion of NS Rail s properties 
and certain investments m affilnted companies 
are pledged as collateral for mu of the debt 

CO'.t 

NS Rail is committed under long-term lease 
agree Tients, which expire on various dates 
through 2067, for equipment, Imes c* road and 
othei property. Future minimum lease payments 
are as follows: 

Operat ing Leases Capital Leases 

1997 $ S3 6 % 286 

1998 49 3 286 

1999 3/ 4 28 6 

2000 31 9 28 5 

2001 30 3 28 0 
2002 and subsequent years 637 0 143 1 

Total $ 839 i 285 4 

Less imputed interest on 
capital leases at an average 

88 4 rate of 7.4% 88 4 

Present value of minimum 
iease payments included 
in debt J 197 0 

Operating Lease Expense 
(S in millions 1995 1994 

Minimum rents $ 64,7 $ 58,9 $ 46 7 

Contiri^ent rents 38.3 36.0 454 

Total $1030 5 94 9 I 92 1 

Dec err oer 3:, 
, J ir millions) 1996 1995 
Casualtv and other claims $247 3 $25:" 3 
Net pension oongation (Note 12) 81 9 93 9 
Reti'ee nea:th and death 

benefit obligation (Note 1 3) .̂ 83 2 283 5 
Other 273 6 23o 1 

Tota, $886 0 $870 £ 

Preferred 
There are 10,000,000 shares of no par value 

serial preterred stock authorized. This stock may 
be issued in series from time ,o time at the dis­
cretion of the Board of Directors with any series 
having such voting and other powers, dividends 
and other preferences as deemed appropriate at 
the time of issuance Al December 31 1996 and 
1995, 1,197,027 shares of J2.60 Cumulative 
Preterred Stock, Series A (Series A Stock) were 
issued, and 1,096,907 share-; were held other 
than by subsidiaries. The Series A StocK has a 
JSO per share stated value The Senes A Stock is 
callable at any time at ISO per share plus 
accrued dividends and has one vote per sha.-e on 
all matters, voting a< a single class with holders 
of other stock, 

Ir, June 198", NS an., junced its intention to 
purcnase up to 250,000 shares of the outstand­
ing Series A Stock during the subsequent two-
year period Since then, NS extended the stock 
purchase program through 1996. NS had pur­
chased 1 76,608 shares at a total cost of approxi­
mately J6.7 million as of December 31, 1996 NS 
purchased the shares in regular brokerage trans­
actions on the open market at prevailing prices. 
At year end 1996 and 1995. NS heic 176,703 
shares and 122,923 shares, respectively 

Preference 
There are 10,000,000 shares of no par value 

serial preference slock authorized. None of these 
shares has been issued. 

Commor! 
There are 50,000,000 shares of no par value 

common stock w th a stated value of JIG per 
share authorized NS owns all 16,668,997 shares 
issued and outstanding at December 31, 1996 
and 1995, 
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12 PENSION PLANS 

NS Rail's defined benefit pension plans, which 
pnncipally cover salaried employees, are part of 
WS' retirement plans Pension benefits are based 
pnmarily on years ot creditable service with NS 
and its participating subsidiary companies and 
compensation rates near retirement, Contn 
butions to the plans are made on the basis ot 
not less than the minimum funding standards 
set forth in the Employee Retirement Income 
Secunty Act of 1974, as amended Assets in the 
plans consist mainly of common stocks. The fol­
lowing data relate principally to NS Rail's portion 
of the combined NS plans. 

Pension Cost (Benefit) Component:, 
1996 in millions) 1 W 

Service cost-benefits 
earned dunng the year J 

Interest cost on protected 
fwnefit obligation 

Actual return on 
assets in plan 

Net amortization 
and deferral 

1994 

12.3 $ 9 6 

67,1 65 1 

(170,3) (257 0) 

83.4 1 72 1 

102 

599 

(166) 

(629) 
Net pension benefit 

Cost of early 
retirerr)ent benefits 

{7S) (10 2) 

234 

(94) 

Total $ (7.5) $ 13 2 $ (9 4) 

Pension cost is determined based on an actu­
anal valuation that reflects appropriate assump­
tions as of the beginning of each year The fund­
ed status of the plans is determined using appro­
pnate assumptions as of each year end, A sum­
mary of the mcjor assumptions follows: 

1996 1995 1994 

Discount rate for determ ning 
funded status 7 75% 7,25% 8 50% 

future salary increase 5,25% 6% 6% 
Return on assets in pians 9% 9% 9% 

The funded status ot the plans and the 
amounts reflected in the accompanying bala.nce 
sheets were as follows: 

December 31, 
1l»6 1995 

Funded Unfunded Funded Unfunded 
(f Ih millions) Plans PUns ••lans Plans 
Actuanal present 

value of benefit 
obligations 
Vested benefits $ 758.6 $ 58.8 $ 788 2 $ 50 8 
Non-vested 
benefits I J 0.1 
Accumulated 

benefit 
obligation 759.8 58.8 788 3 508 

Effect of expeaed 
future salary 
increases 68,1 5.6 115 3 11.5 
Protected 

benefit 
obligation 827,9 64.4 903 6 62.3 

Fair value of 
assets in plans 1,157,7 1,060.6 

funded status 3298 (64.4) 157.0 (62.3) 

Unrecognized initial 
net asset (30.2) — 116.9) 

Unrecognized 
(gain) loss (343.3) 20 9 (179 2) 209 

Unrecognized pnor 
service cost 2.1 3.2 2,8 3,8 

Net pension lia­
bility included 
in the balance 
sheets $ (41.6)$ (40.31 $ (56 3) $ (37 6) 

Early Retirement Program in 1995 
Dunng 1995, NS completed a voluntary early 

retirement program for certain salaried employ­
ees. The principal benefit for those who partici­
pated in this program was enhanced pension 
benefits, which are reflected in the accumulated 
benefit obligation. The charge for the 272 
employees wlio accepted the offer is included in 
"Compensatic n and benefits" expense and 
totaled J33,6 million (including $8.3 million 
related to posf etirement benefits other than 
pensions), 

40?i'ilc) Plans 
NS Rail provides 401 (k) savirg: r'.ans for 

employees. Under the plans, NS Rail matches a 
portion of employee contributions, subject to 
applicable limitations, NS Rail's expenses under 
these plans were J8,0 million, J6,9 million and 
$5,0 million in 1996, 1995 and 1994, respec­
tively 
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

13, POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN 

PENSIONS 

NS Rail provides specified health care and 
death benefits to eligible retired employees and 
their dependents by participating in welfare ben­
efit plans sponsored by NS Under the present 
plans, which may be amended or terminated at 
NS option, a defined percentage of health care 
expenses is covered, reduced by any deductibles, 
co-payments, tvledicare payments and, in some 
cases, coverage provided by other group insur­
ance policies. The cost of such health care cover­
age to a retiree may be determined, m part, by 
the retiree's years of creditable service with NS 
and its participating subsidiary companies prior 
to retirement. Death benefits are determined 
based on various factors, including, in some 
cases, salary at time of retirement, 

NS Rail continues to fund benefit cosU princi­
pally on a pay-as-you-go basis. However, m 
1991, NS established a Voluntary Employee 
Beneficiary Association (VEBA) account to fund a 
portion of the cost of future health care benefits 
for iu retirees and those of its participating sub­
sidiary companies. The last corporate contribu­
tion to the VEBA was $10 million in 1994, 

Effective January 1, 1994, NS amended the 
attnbution period for postretirement health care 
benefits. The amendment generally provides for 
benefits to be determined ratably over a 10-year 
period based on creditable service commencing 
at age 45, or from date of hire if employment 
began after age 45 The amendment reduced 
the accumulated postretirement health care ben­
efit obligation by $80 million, which will t>e 
amortized as a reduction in annual cost on a pro 
rata basi:. over a six-year period. 

A summary of the postretirement kjenefit cost 
follows: 

(i in millions) 1996 1995 1994 
Service cost-venefits 
atti .1—IdDle to service 
dunng the year 

Interest cost on accumu­
lated postretirement 
t)enefit obligation 

Actual retum on 
plan assets 

Net amortization 
and deferral 

I 10,0 $ 9 1 $ 13 1 

24.1 

(13.7) 

(<0) 

27.2 23.8 

(17.5) -

(13 9) 1.9 

Net postretirement 
tienefit cost 

Cost ot early retire­
ment benefits 

16,4 20.7 

8 3 

2 3 0 

The foliowi-ig 'able sets forth these plans' 
total accumulated postretirement benefit obliga­
tion, reconciled with the accrued postretirement 
benefit obligation: 

December 31, 
1996 1995 

Health Health 
Care Death Care Dean 

(S in millionsl Benefits Benefits Benetits Benefi s 
Accumulated post-

retirement benefit 
obligation 

Retirees $ 162,8 $ 82,3 $ 216 1 $ 8 2 8 
Fully eligible 

active pian 
participants 20,6 7,0 21 4 7 8 

Other active plan 
participants 41,8 11,9 47 3 12 6 

Total 225,2 101,2 284 8 103 2 
Plan asseis 

at fair value 85.8 — 72.1 — 
Funded status (139 4) (101.2) (212.7) (103.2) 

Unrecognized 
loss (gam) (26.7) (2.3) 52,2 4.7 

Unrecognized 
pnor service 
cost (benef.t) (36,8) — (49 0) — 

Total $ 16,4 $ 29 0 $ 23.0 

Accrued post-
retirement 
t>enefit 
obligation $(202.9) $(103,5) $(209 5) $ (98 5) 

For measurement purposes, a 10,4% increase 
in the per capita cost of covered healtn care ben­
efits was assumed for 1997. The rate was 
assumed to decrease gradually to an ultimate 
rate ot 5.5% and remain .it that level tor 2005 
and thereafter. The health care cost trend rate 
has a significant effect on the amounts reported 
in the financial statemenu. To illustrate, increas­
ing the assumed trend rates by one percentage 
point in each year would increase the accumulat­
ed postretirement tienefit obligation as of 
December 31, 1996, by about $25 million and 
the aggregate of the service and interest cost 
componenU ot net postretirement tjenefit cost 
for the year 1996 by about $4 million 

The weighted-average discount rate used in 
determining the accumulated postretirement 
benefit obligation, the salary increase assump­
tion and the lo.ig-term rate of return on plan 
asseu are the same as those used for the pension 
plans (see table ot rate assumptions ir Note 12), 

The VEBA trust holding the plan asseu is not 
expected to be sub)ect to tederal income Uxes, 
as the asseu are invested entirely in trust-owned 
life insurance. 
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Under collective bargaininc; agreemr nU, NS 

Rail and certain subsidianes participatf m a mul­
tiemployer benefit plan, which prov jes certain 
postretirement health care and lite insurance 
benefiu to eligible union employees. Premiums 
under tfiis plan are expensed as incurred and 
amounted to $3.6 million, $3 / million and $4 8 
mill ion m 1996, 1995 and 1994, respectively 

1 4 . -AIR V A L U E S OF F INANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

The fair values ot "Cash and cash equiva-
lenU," "Short-term investmenU," "Accounu 
receivable," "Short-term debt" and "Accounu 
payable" approximate carrying values tyecause of 
the short maturity ot these financial instrumenu. 

The fair value of long-term ' InvestmenU" 
approximated $943 million and $83; nillion at 
December 31 , 1996 and 1995, respectively (see 
Note 5 for carrying values of "InvestmenU "). 
The fair value ot corporate-owned lite msurance 
approximates carrying value. Quoted market 
prices were used to determine the fair value of 
marketable securities which, beginning in 1994 
(see Note 1, "Required Accounting Changes"), 
were recorded at fair value Carrying value 
ad)ustmenu, which are non-cash transactions, 
are not mcluded in the Consolidated Statement 
of Cash Flows Underlying net asseU were used 
to estimate the fair vah'e of other investmenU, 

Under SFAS 115, NS hail increased the report­
ed carrymg value of short-term and long-term 
investmenU classified as "available tor sale" as 
follows: 

Decemoer 31 

1996 199S 
Sftort- Short-
term Equity term Equity 

(J in mi/.'nns; Securities Secunties Securities Secunties 
Cost $ 335.0 $ 20.6 $ 242 2 $ 20,6 
Cro-' unrealized 

holding gam 
(loss; 6184 0 7 555 6 

fair value $ 334 4 $ 639,0 J 242 9 ; 576 2 

The short-term securities are principally LI,S. 
Treasury securities. Equity securities con î t 
almost entirely ot 7,252,634 shares of NS 
Common Stock, 

The change in the unrealized holding gain 
was J61.5 million tor 1996 and J l 38 8 million 
for 1995 These changes primarily reflect 
changes in the NS stoc'; pnce As a result, stock­
holder's equity increased J60.5 million in 1996 
and J84.2 million m 1995. 

The fair value of "Long-term debt," including 
current matunties, approximated J627 million at 
December 31, 1996, and J606 n.illion at 
December 31, 1995 The fair values of debt were 
estimated based on quoted market prices or dis­
counted cash flows using current mteresi rates for 
debt with similar tenns, company rating and 
remaining matunf (see Note 8 for carrying values 
of "Long-term debt"). The fair value of interest 
rate swaps is immaterial. 

15, NW—SUMMARIZED CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

NW IS operated as an integral part of NS Rail. 
Revenues are allocated to NW based on actual 
tiaffic movemenu as determined by revenue ton 
miles within market groups. Expenses are allocat­
ed to NW oased on appropriate ent ma for the 
type of expense. The cosU of functions per­
formed by NS, the parent holding company of 
NS Rail, are also allocated to iu rail operating 
subsidiaries 

Norfolk and Wester i Rgilway Company and Subsidianes 
Sumrnanzed Consoli.lated Statements ot Income 

Vears endtd Decemtwr 31. 
(S tr millions) 1996 1 J95 1994 
Railw.'v operating 
revenues $ 1,958 6 $ 1,911 3 $ 1,858,1 

Raiiwa) operating 
expenses 1,351,6 1,402 6 1,382.7 

Income fK;r*i railway 
operations 607.0 508 7 475 4 

Other - net 49.8 38.8 25.8 
Income be'ort 

income taxes 656,8 547.5 501,2 
Provision for income taxes 228/1 186 8 175 1 

Net income $ 423,4 $ ?60 7 $ 326 1 
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15 NW—SUMMARIZED CONSOLIDATED 

FINANCIAL INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 

Norfolk gnd Westem RgiKvay Company and Subsidiaries 
Summanzed Consolidated Balance Sheets 

As ot December 31, 
(I in millions) 1996 199^ 

Assets 
Current assets $ 353 4 $ 298 3 
Noncurrent assets 5,631.2 4.778,2 

Total assets $ 5,984,6 $ 5 076 5 

Liabilities and Stockholder s Equitv 
Current liabilities $ 205 7 S 246 Z 
Noncurreni MaOtmies 1,812,5 1 603 9 
Stockholder's equity 3,9664 3,226.4 
Total liabilities and 

stockholder's equitv $ 5,984,6 $ 5 076 5 

On August 1 1996. NS Ran transferred 5 294,931 shares o» 

NS stock to NW as a contnbut ion to capitai The transfer was 

recorded at histoncai cost, and in accordance wi th Statement 

of Financial Accountinc standards rsio 115 "Accounting for 

Certain Investments in V b t and Equitv Secunties " unrealized 

appreciation was recogi 'Zed which increased "Noncurrent 

assets" $478.2 million, "Noncurrent liabilities" $167 4 mil l icn, 

and "StockhokJer's equity" $310 8 mill ion 

16, COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

Proposed Acquisition of Conrail by NS 
On October 23, 1996, NS announced lU 

intention to commence an all-cash tender offer 
tor all shares of Conrail Inc (Conra '), a 
Pennsylvania corporation On O c t jr 24, 1996, 
Atlantic Acquisition Corporation, a Pennsylvania 
corporation and a whollv owned subsidian,' of 
NS, offered to purchase all ouUt.mdmg shares of 
Conrail's common stock and Series A ESOP 
Convertible junior Preferred Stock (collectively, 
the Shares), including, in each case, the associat­
ed Common Stock Purchase Righu, at a price of 
JlOO per Share—approximately J9.1 billion in 
the aggregate Shares tendered in the offer or 
acquirea any subsequent merger would be 
held in a voting trust pending regulatory 
approval by the STB. The offer followed the 
Octot)er IS announcement that Ccnrail had 
entered into a merger agreement with CSX 
Corporation (CSX), whereby Conrail stockholders 
would receive J92 50 in cash per Share tor up to 
40 percent ot tneir Shares and receive CSX com­
mon stock f^r tne balance of their Shares. On 
November 6, 1996, CSX and Conrail announced 
that CSX had raised the cash portion of lU offer 

to J l 10 per Share and left unchanged the ratio 
pursuant to which certo.n Conrail stcckholders 
would receive shares of CSX common stock. On 
November 8, 199o, NS announced that it had 
increa ed lU all-cash offer to $110 rior Share— 
approximately JIO.O billion in the agg:egate 
On December 19, 1996, CSX and Conrail 
announced that CSX was adding preterred stock 
(convertible into CSX common stock) to its 
offer—a featuie said to be worth $16 per Share. 
On December 20, NS increased its all cash ofter 
to J l 15 per S lare—approximately J l 1 billion m 
the aggregate-—and on lanuary 1 3, 1997, NS 
announced that it would offer to purchase up to 
8,2 ' 'iH'Of. Shares (approximately 9.9%), the 
approximate maximum number ot Shares NS 
can buy without triggering Conrail's current anti-
takeove' defenses, tor J l l 5 per Share, it Con'ail 
stockholders disapproved at a special meeting 
certain management recommendations designed 
to facilitate the merger with CSX 

At that special meeting on januarv 1 7, 1997, 
Conrail stockholders did disapprove those rec­
ommendations Accordingly, on january 22, 
1997, NS amended lU pending all-cash tender 
offer by reducing the number of Shares sought 
to 8,2 million; on February 1 1 1997, it acquired 
8.2 million Shares for- a total of J943 million, 
pursuant to that amended offer These Shares 
have been placed m a voting trust and under 
certain circumstances might have to be sold at a 
loss. The Conrai! ooard repeatedly has affirmed 
lis commitment to a merger with CSX. 

On February 12, 1997, NS commenced a sec­
ond tender offer tor the remaining Conrail 
Shares. NS' second tender offer is conditioned 
upori, among other things, the valid tender of at 
leas' Shares sufficient, with those already owned 
by vis, to constitute at least a ma|onty ot the 
Sfares on a fully diluted basis. Subchapter 25F of 
Pennsylvania's Business Corporation Law not 
being applicable to the offer, Conrail's RighU 
Agreement (or poison pill) having been 
redeemea or otherwise maoe inapplicable to NS' 
tender offer, the merger agreement between 
CSX and Conrail havinri been terminated in 
accordance with lU terms or otherwise, and 
other conditions. NS has received a favorable 
opinion trom the STB regarding the use of a vot­
ing trusi and has obtained sufficient financing 
commitnients (see "NS Debt Commitments"). 
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The STB has proposed a schedule for handling 

Conrail control applications which could result in 
an STB decision in late 1997 or early 1998 If the 
STB does not approve NS' application or if NS 
deems any conditions imposed by the STB too 
onerous, NS would have the nght and obligation 
to sell all Conrail Shares held m the voting trust. 
Such a disposition could result in a significant loss 

Through Dec-mber 31, 1996, NS had 
incurred J76 million of cosU associated witn the 
proposed acqui .ition. 

MS Debt Commitments 
In connection with the proposed acquisition 

ot Conrail, NS has secured debt commitmenU 
sufficient for the tender offer and subsequent 
merger. The commitmenU expire on August 1, 
1997, except for a portion of a revolving credit 
facility expinng on August 1, 1998 The total 
commitment fevjs will approximate $200 million 
it the entire facility is used. At Decemter 31, 
1996, NS had incurred $57 million r̂ f cor,,r,-iit-
ment tees. 

In connection with the purchase cf the 8,2 
million Shares, NS arranged for commercial 
paper debt in an aggregate amount not to 
exceed $1,0 billion. All or pari of this amount 
could be refinanced either by issuing additional 
commercial paper or through drawing on the 
debt commitment that has been arranged in 
connection with the all<ash $115 per share ten­
der offer for all Shares 

Lawsuits 
Nortolk Southem Railway Company and cer­

tain subsidiaries are defendanu in numerous law-
suiU relating pnncipally lo railroad operations. 
While the final outcome of these lawsuiU cannot 
be predicted with certainty, it is the opinion ot 
Management, atter consulting with iu legal coun­
sel, that the amount of NS Rail's ultimate liability 
Wll! not matenaUy affect NS Rail's consolidated 
financial position. 

Environmental Knitters 
NS Rail IS subien to vanous |unsdictions envi­

ronmental laws and regulations. It is NS Rail's 
policy to record a liabilitv where such liability or 
loss IS probable and can be reasonably estimat­
ed Claims, it any. against third parties tor recov­
ery of clean-up cosU incurred by NS Rail are 

reflected as receivables in the balance sheet and 
are not netted against the associated NS Rail lia­
bility. Environmental engineers participate in 
ongoing evaluations of all identified sites, and— 
after consulting with counsel—any necessary 
adjustmenu to initial liability estimates are 
made. NS Rail also has established an 
Environmental Policy Council, composed of 
senior managers, to oversee and interpret irs 
environmental policy. 

As ot Decemfcier 31, 1996, NS Rail s balance 
sheet included a reserve for environmental expo­
sures in the amount of tS3 million (of which 
$12 million is accounted for as a current liabili­
ty), which is NS Rail's estimate of the probable 
cosu at 111 identified IcKations based on avail­
able information On that date, nine sites 
accounted for $19 million of the reserve, and no 
individual site was considered lo be material. NS 
Rail anticipates that the majoritv of this liability 
will be paid out over five years; however, some 
cosu will be paid out over a longer pencxJ. 

At many of the 111 locations, Norfolk 
Southern Railway and/or certain of its sub­
sidianes, usually in conjunction with a number of 
other parties, have been identified as potentially 
responsible parties by the Environmental 
Protection Agency (EPA) or similar state autnori-
ties under the Comprehensive Environmental 
Response, Compensation, and Liability Act of 
1980, or comparable state statutes, which often 
impose joint and several liability for clean-up 
cosu. 

With respect to known environmental sites 
(whether identified by NS Rail or by the EPA or 
comparable state authonties), estimates of NS 
Rail's ultimate potentia) financial exposure for a 
given site or in the aggregate for all such sites 
are necessanly imprecise because of the widely 
varying cosU of currently available clean-up 
techniques, the likely development of new 
clean-up technologies, the oifficulty of determin­
ing in advance the nature and full extent of con­
tamination and each potential participant's share 
of any estimated loss (and that participant's abil­
ity to bear it) and evolving statutory and regula­
tory standards governing liability. 
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16, COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
(CONTINUED) 

The risk of incurnng environmental liability— 
for acU and omissions, past, present and 
future—IS inherent m the rai'road business Some 
of the commodities, particularly those classified 
as hazardous matenals, in NS Rail's traffic mix 
can pose special nsks that NS Rail and its sub­
sidiaries work diligently to minimize In addition, 
NS Rail owns, or has owned in the p-;t, land 
holdmgs used as operating property, or which 
are leased or may have tieen leased and operat­
ed by others, or held tor sale Because certain 
conditions may exist on these properties related 
to environmental problems that are latent or 
undisclosed, there can be no assurance that NS 
Rail will not incur liabilities or cosu with respect 
tc one or more ot them, the amount and materi­
ality of which cannot tie estimated reliably now. 
Moreover, law;uiU and claims involving these 
and other now-unidentitied environmental sites 
and matters are likely to arise fro n time to l ime. 
The resulting liabilities could have a significant 
effect on financial condition, resulU of operations 
or liquidity in a particular year or qujirer. 

However, based on its assessmenU of the tacU 
and circumstances now known and, after con­
sulting with lU legal counsel. Management 
believes that it has recorded the probable cosU 
based on available information tor those environ­
mental matters of which the Corporation is 
aware. Further, Management believes that it is 
unl.kely that any identified matters, either ndi-
vidually or in cjggregate, will have a material 
adverse effect on NS Rail's financial position, 
resuiu of operations or liquidity 

Change-in-Control Arrangements 
Noi-folk Southern has compensation agree­

menu with officers and certain key employees, 
whi rh tiecome viperative only upon a change in 
contiol of the Corporation, as defined in those 
agreemenu The agreemenu provide generally 
tor payments based on compensation at ttie 
time of a covered individual's involuntary or 
other specified termination and for certain other 
benef lU 

Capital Expenditure Commitment 
In connection with a long-term transportation 

contract entered into during 1996, NS 'tail has 
commit ted to construct and operate fcur motor 
/ehicle distribution centers These facilities are 
scheduled for completion in 1998. 

Debt Guarantees 
As of December S \ 1996, NS Rail and certain 

of i u subsidianes are contingently liable as guar­
antors with respect to $48 7 million of indebted­
ness ot related entities. 
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Independent Auditors Report 27 
KPMG-Peat Marwick LLP 

The Stockholders and Board of Directors 
Nortolk Southern Railway Company: 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheeU of Nortolk Southern 
Railway Company and subsidianes (a majority-ownea subsidiary of Nortolk Southem 
Corporation) as of December 31, 1996 and 1995, and the related consolidated statemenu 
ot income, changes in stockholders' eauity, and cash flows tor each of the years m the 
three-year p^/riod enied December 31, 1996 These consolidated financial statemenu are 
the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opin­
ion on these consolidated financial statemenu based on our audiU. 

We conducted our audiu m accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements are free of matenal misstatement. An audit includes 
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounU and disclosures in the finan­
cial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and signifi­
cant estimates made bv management, .•<s well as evaluating the overall financial staiement 
presentation. We believe that our audiU provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statemenu referred to above present fairly, in all 
material respecu, the financial position of Norfolk Southern Railway Company and sub­
sidiaries as of December 31, 1996 and 1995, and the resulU of their operations and their 
cash flows tor each ot the years in the thre^-year period ended December 31, 1996 in 
conformity with generally accepted accounting pnnciples 

KP^6 l^f^r-V/^ LLf=> 

Norfolk, Virginia 
January 28, 1997, except as to the second and third paragraphs of Note 16, which are as 
of February 12, 1997 
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28 Norfolk Southern Railway Company and Subsidiaries 
(A Maiority-Owned Subsidiary of Norfolk Sou'liem Corporation) 

Quarteriy Financiai Data (Unaudited) 

Three Months Ended 

IVIarch 31 June 30 Sept. 30 Dec. 31 

1996 
($ in millions, except per share amounU) 

Railway operating revenues $1,016.7 $1,038.0 $1,020.1 $1,026.2 
Income from railway operations 261,8 300.0 300,3 302.6 
Net income 163,1 190.6 208.8 206.0 
Dividends per serial preferred share $ 0,65 $ 0.65 $ 0 65 $ 0,65 

1995 

Railway operating revenues $ 999,2 $1,016,4 $ 996,0 $1,000.2 
Income from railway operations 250,4 284.3 277.9 250.7 
r^ct income 153.3 180.3 •;y3.9 174.2 
Dividends per serial preferred share $ 0.65 $ 0.65 $ 0.65 $ 0 65 
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Eleven Year Financiai Summary 

($ In Millions Except Per Share ) 19951 1994J 1993' 1992 1991' 1990* 1989' 1988 1987' 1986 1985 

Revenues 53,686 $3,733 $3,453 $3,345 $3,252 $3,372 $3,411 $3,490 $3,247 $3,144 $3,208 

Opctaiing Income (Loss) 456 606 591 534 (261^ 427 198 482 417 403 397 

Net Income (Loss) 264 324 160 282 (207) 247 148 306 299 431 442 

Per Common Shiare* 
Pnman. 3 19 3 90 1 82 3,28 (2.70) : 55 1 09 2 22 2 17 3.27 3 41 

Fullv Diluted 2 94 3 56 1 70 2 99 (2 70) 2 39 1 09 2 22 2 17 3 27 341 

Di\idcnds Per Common Share* 1 60 1 40 1 20 1 00 85 75 65 55 25 - -
Capual Expenditures S 494 $ 508 S 650 $ 491 S 398 $ 38! $ 678 $ 577 $ 472 $ 578 $ 574 

.Average Freight Employees 23,510 24,833 25,406 25,380 25,852 27.787 31,574 32,816 33,437 35,476 37,706 

At December 31 
Cash and Temporary 

Cash Investments $ 73 $ 43 $ 38 $ 40 $ 135 $ 153 $ 502 $ 666 $ 632 $ 847 $ 910 
Working Capital (Deficit) 36 (76) (13) (489) (286) (216) 153 398 426 733 754 

Tolal Asseis 8.424 8.322 7.948 7,315 7,096 7.245 7,471 7,224 6.796 6,776 6,568 

Long-Term Debt 1.911 1.940 1,959 1.577 1,637 1.680 1.57 850 826 1,705 1,690 

Redeeniable Preferred Stock - - - - - - - - - 2,330 2.323 

Stockholders' Equity 2.977 2.925 2.784 2,748 2.661 2.929 4.044 4.043 3.825 1.784 1.559 

1 Mti iiKorat ,ni:ludcj iht cdfti ol j cme-imt«»! disposiiion charjt •n ' ' < orif-iimt ux bentfu rcljied u- > decmv in • suit income ux r»« Sff Noicj 2 tnd 6 to the 
Q>nsoii(Uted firurKul Suiemems 

2 Net income includes the efiects ol i one-time charje lor a non-un on emplovee volunurv retirement rn-,,(nm »nd rebied coHi Set No<e 9 to the Conjolidaied 
Financul Scatements 

3 Net income includes the eflects of an estimated net ,oss or tht lisposition of a ̂ ub»ld^a^ .̂ the incTrase in the fedeti! corporate income tax rate and the idoptior of required 
changes m accounting lot incomt taxes and posimirtmeni benel.-s other than pensions Set Nc».-s ; t 7 and 10 to ihe Consolidated Financul Satements and kUnagtmenti 
t>ucjssion and Analvsui of FinarKtal Condition and Results ol Operations 

4 Includes the eftectS of a 1992 two-lor-ont common stock split 

5 A 1991 spccui chaijt of S'\9 miliior reductd net mcome by S**l miUwr A 19b9 special charge of J23« million reduced riet income bv $M7 million 

t In 1990. Ihe Companv completed a financul rtsiructunn| plar, ivhich included a Dutch auaion WIATT ofttr ihe establishment of an employee stock ovmetship plan lot non­
union employees and i related cpen market commor stocx purchase program 

T TlK Companvs financul position and resui-j ol optraiions after 1996 wen: signiticantlv aftected b> changes lesultin^ from ihe sale of the U S Govemm.-nts 8?% ownership of the 

Compa,-ivs common stocii 

N E T I M C O M E 
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Corporate Highlights 

March 

• The Board of Directors elects David M Lr\an as 
Chief Executive Officer, succeeding James .\ Hagen 
who retires as Chief Executive Officer, Hagen continues 
as Chairman of the Board 

May 

• Conrail and Norfolk Souihern launch north-souih inier­
modal service via Harnsburg and Hâ erstov̂ -n The com­
prehensive service connects Conrail-sened markets in 
Massachusetts and the New York-New Jersey area vnih NS 
points, including Birmingham, Hunisnile, Jacksomlle 
Memphis. Miami and New Orleans 

J«ly 
• A $3.2 million modemizaiion of Collinwood Yard 

m Cleveland expands capacity for Conrail's growing 
multi-level network for transporting new vehicles from 
assembly plants and pens lo dealer distribution facilities 
Volume over the multi-level network keeps growing unth 
improved transit times and betier use of the specialized 
multi-level cars 

• The Board of Directors approves lhe companys eighth 
consecutive annual dividend increase The quanerly 
dmdend increase of $ 05 per common share uo $ 425 per 
share) produced an eighi-year compound annual growth 
rate of 16 percent 

September 

• Conrail completes the largest engineering project in its 
history, the $97 million program to create ,i T^ie across 
Pennsylvania for iniermodal , ains carrsT-.g double-stack 
containers A related project opens to double-stacks the 
North Jerscy-Hamsburg-Hagersiown route used by the 
Conrail-Norfolk Southem north-south service 

• Conrail and the Fraternal Order of Police (FOP), repre­
senting more lhan 300 police officers, reach agreement 
on a new five-year labor contract Under the comract 
later ratified by the organization, FOP members are con­
verted from hourly pay to salaned status, become eligible 
fot annual bonuses tied to company financial goals and 
become eligible for a company match in the 401 (k) 
savmgs plan 

• The U S Depanment of Defense presents Conrai! v.iih 
Its Corporate Recognition Award for outstanding and 
contiiiued support of the Guard and Reserve program 

October 

• New York City firemen answer the school bell in 
Sa\TeMlle, New Jersey, for the first-ever Association of 
Amencan Railroads East Coast tank car safety school. 
Previously, the program was held only at AARs Pueblo, 
Colorado, facility Conrail supplies many of the instructors 
for the program and donates much of the equipment 
Conrail sponsors the program along \nth the New jersey 
State Police Office of Emerger̂ .ry Management 

November 

• Canadian National (CN) and Conrail replace paper 
viiih the electronic exchange of billing information for 
rating and billing of interline movements The stan-up 
makes Conrail and CN the first two roads to successfully 
communicate as pan of the Rate EDI Network being 
developed by the rail industry 

December 

• Conrail takes delivery of the first of 28 nev̂  5.000-hors.'-
power Itxomotives, the most powerful in rail freight 
service in America Two SDSO-MAC uniis, which are 
built by General Motors' Electro-Motive Division, can 
replace is many as four existing locomotives 

• The nation's largest railroarb, including Conrail, reach a 
tentative agreement with the largest union of railroad 
employees—the United Transponation Union—on a five-
vear contract 
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January 1996 

• Realignment of functions in the opieraiing depanment Is 
introduced to improve the company's ;:bility to recog­
nize, understand, and quickly adapt to the changing 
conditions dnving our customers freight transportation 
decisions The changes are aimed at improving how 
Conrail designs, plans and delivers freight service, how 
It uses resources and how it develops us people 

• Conrail announces an expanded partnership program 
with short line railroads. Under the program, Conrail's 
relationship with panicipating shon lines will be much 
like the co nmercul relationship between majoi airlines 
and independently owned and operated commuter 
airlines The program takes advantage of each of our 
.strengths the shon lines' ability to deliver local service 
to small shippers, and Conrail's ability to provide efficient 
service on long-haul routes and manage commercial 
aspects of the transporution transaciion, 

• Conrail announces the selection of about 1,800 miles of 
lightly used rail lines for sale to other operators, especully 
shon lines panicipating in the new pannership The deci­
sion to expand the shon li,\e network through addition­
al line sales comes after more lhan a year of study Conrail 
does not anticipate any other significant line sales beyond 
these m the foreseeable future 

February 1996 

• Planning begins for a double-stack clearance program 
on the route between Albany, New- York, and Boston, 
Massachusetts, following approval by (3ovemo: William F 
Wield and the Massachusetts legislature to assist m funding 
the effon The state will invest $110 million for improve­
ments on lines owned by Conrail, the Boston & Maine, 
and the Providence 6: Wbrcester Conrai! will invest $23 
million of lis own funds for the work in the Commonwealth 
plus an additional S4 million lo allow double-siacK opera­
tions between the Mas&achusetts/>'Jew York state line and 
Selkirk Yard near Albanv 

• Early retirement and separation programs are instituted 
to elimirute 900 non-union positions The programs 
will help the company achieve its strategic business plan 
b • Unking staffing levels to changing work process 
needs, and bnnging suff levels in line writh those of 
other large railroads 

• James A, Hagen announces he will retire as Chairman 
following the May 15 annual shareholders meeting 
President and Chief F-:^uiive Officer David M, LeVan 
will assume the aduitional title of Chairman, 

• Burlington Nonhem Santa Fe, Norfolk Southem and 
Conrail introduce the Nonh Amencan Container System 
(NACS) For intermodal shippers, the NACS eonuiners 
will allow restnction-free interchange of eonuiners among 
the three railroads The railroads expect improved equip­
ment utilization, which will benefit both customers and 
the camers 

• Continuing effons to educate motorists on the dangers of 
tPiing 10 beat trains at grade crossings are credited with 
helping achieve a 20 percem reduction in accidents in 
1995 compared to 1994 

• The Chemical Manufacturers Association accepts Ccnrail 
as a panicipant m its Responsible Care Program, 
Membership commits Conrail to continually improving its 
health, safety and environmenia! perfonnance. and to 
involving lhe public m that process 

March 1996 

• Conrail files with the Surface Transporution Board 
comments and testimony in opposition to the Union 
Pacific-Southern Pacific merger, unless it is conditioned 
on divestiture of the eastem half of the Southem Pacific's 
lines and assets 
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To Our Shareholders 

James A HA9«n, 
Chstrmiut the tarn 

Conrail's ability to keep COSB in line v«.ith business levels 
dunnj: 1995 contnbuted co a sound financial performance 
We are encouraged by the actions our people took to adjust 
our operating plan m the face of declining freight traffic 
through the year Because of those effons, we continued 
to make significant progress toward our long-term goal 
of providing a supenor return on assets and increasing 
shareholder value 

While we are pleased with our 
financial progress, there is an event 
which stands out as more signifi­
cant, and that was the tragic train 
collision late in the year in 
Effingham, Illinois, which resulted 
in the death of three employees 
This was panicularly disheanening 
in a year when all of us put so 
much effon into the paramount 
goal of improving safety And 
although m 1995 we achieved a 35 
percent reductic n in personal 
mjunes, an event of this magnitude 
diminishes that accomplishment 
We are redoubling our effons in 
1996, so that safety remains the 
number one pnoniv of every 
employee every day 

Our goal for 1996 is to cut injunes 
in half Among the activities that 
will help us reach that goai are these 

• For 1996, v^e'll recognize indmdua. and team safety 
achievements wuh awards of Conrail stock 

• We Vf tied management incentive compensation to safety 
perlormance in 1996 

• Once again this year we are dedicating a million dollars to 
each operating division and our system shops to allow 
them to respond immediately to safety concems raised by 
our employees, and we'll continue the increased training 
eflon begun last year 

W'e can uke satisfaction in our accomplishments as a whole 
only if our safety goal is accomplished in full 

With regard to our 1995 traffic and revenue performance, 
the 5 4 percent decrease in freight volume in 1995 resulted 
from a weak economy and over-capacity in the irucking 
industry However, revenue per unu improved across all of 
our service groups — Intermodal Automotive, Unit Train 
and CORE — so that the overall decline in revenue for the 
year was only 13 percent 

DavKf W LcVan, 

Ckul fjtiuti^f Offitrr 

For 1996, our goal is to deliver sound growth, with pro­
jected increases of 3 5 to 4 5 percent in line haul revenues 
It's clear that the economy alone will not produce that level 
of growih To deliver on our growth plan, we are counting 
on a btoad range of iniuatives designed to increase market 
share, paiaculariy in intermodal (trailers and containers on 
flatcars), coal, steel, petrochemicals, and food and agncultur­
al products All of these initiatives build or ene strength of 
our franchise—one of the nchest, most Jensely populatet. 
consumer markets in (he worid—the dt velopment of new 
products urgeted to customer needs, an.-f a bedrock of 
steadily improving service qualitv 

Some ex̂  .iples of these initiatives: 

• A major source of Intermodal growth is expected 
to '•ome from our package and less-than-truckload 
( . . . L ) busmess, as the LTL industry accelerates us 
conversion from highway to rail based on our supenor 
service and economics 

• Wc also expect continued growth from the domestic 
tr',._kload camers, again, as w-e demonstrate our ability 
to move their trail'is and containers with economies supe-
nt,,r to highway movement and without compromising 
service quality 

• Our double-suck service (eonuiners sucked two high cn 
flatcars) should be aided by the ci'aranee project we com­
pleted across Pennsylvania in the fall of 1995 giving us 
two east-west routes able to accommodate these taller, 
more efficient trains 

• We ex̂ iect to continue to capitalize on the fundamental 
strength of our franchise by serving new markets ihrough 
effons such as the nonh-south intermodal service we 
launched with Norfolk Southem in May 1995, which 
links key Conrail-served points in Massachusetts and the 
New Vork metropolitan area with key markets in the 
South In February of this year, we launched a new 
Conrail service to Kansas City in conjunction with the 
Gateway Western Railway This service is designed for 
both our international customers who want to reach as far 
Midwest as lhey can from Nonh Atlantic pons, and 
domestic customers looking for opponunities to move 
goods to the Nonheast 

• We expect strength m our coal business in 1996 as a 
result of increased production of competitive. Conrail-
ongin coal, and by sustaining 1995 record levels of 
expon coal 

Continued on pap 8 
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Ccntinuei Irom page 6 

• Our steel business should be helped bv additions to 
our fleet, including coil steel cars and gondolas, and by 
planned improvements in gondola utilization so that 
we get more tnps per car out of the fleet In addition, 
twc new mini-miUs will open at Conraii-served points 
this year, 

• Petrochemicals grow-th is expected as a result of new 
Conrail-served facilities 

• In grain, a weak 1995 local harvest is expected to increase 
rail shipments from the Midwest to Conrail-served mar­
kets in the East, 

• The planned sale of about 1,800 route miles to shon line 
panners will both enhance Conrail's focus on the most 
productive pans of us OWTI system and create a stronger 
platform for growth through the independently owned 
and operated shon lines 

So there are a number of positives in tne picture for 
1996, all of them well-suited to our franchise, many of 
them resulting from initianves under way in 1995, and all 
of them attainable with the comrratment we ve made (o 
coptinuouslv improving asset utilization, service quality 
and customer satisfaction 

For 1996, we know we've got to raise the bar on ser.ice 
quality Our customers require consistent conformance to 
their expectations in the service we ofi'er them Vk'c've com­
mitted ourselves to a fixed schedule operation they ean 
count on In Januarv 1996. w-e reorganized our operating 
depanment so that our resources are focused on the process­
es that matter most to meeting that requirement — specifi 
cally to obtain optimum utilization of freight cars and 
locomotives, make our interchange processes with other 
railroads more efficient, and simplify and speed the flow of 
freight across our network 

.Altnough winter storm.* w-reaked havoc on our operations 
earlv this year, with an effect that will be difficult to over­
come in the first quaner. achieving our grow-th goals for the 
year depends on demonstrating that we consistentlv deliver 
the service we promise We have the people, the measures 
and the accountabilitv m place to ensure continued improve­
ment m our service, which is essential to accomplishing the 
revenue improvement we rc looking for in 1996 

In sum, Conrails business strategv ir. 1996 and bevond 
IS premised on grow-th W'e can grow only bv recognizing 
that we are in business to help our customers grow And we 
can succeed in that strategv onlv through initiatives in the 
four focus areas under which we ve organized our manage­
ment effon Safety Growth. Asset Utilization and Emplovee 
D:velopment and Productivity 

First and foremost, we absolutely need to make major 
advances in safety Wc cannot be satisfied without safely 
being every employee's number one pnonty every Q.>-
Seeond. we must grow this business We are well-positioned 
to achieve our growth goals by raising our service levels, bv 
giving our customers the specific service products thev need 
to grow, and by extending the strength of our franchise to 
new markets Third, optimum asset utilizatior. is central not 
only to achieving a competitive cost structure but also to 
assunng tha: our track network, our shops, our freight cars 
and our locomotives are deployed in a manner that produces 
supenor service Founh. we recognize that the development 
of our people — ensunng that they are properl)- trained 
and that they are placed where our customers need them — 
IS essential to giving us the opponumty to compete in 
todav's environment 

As we are successful m these key areas, Conrails goal is 
to establish uself as the premie transportsuon partner to its 
customers, and thereby deliver supenri hnancial results and 
shareholder valut 

We are confidem that we have the employees to do the 
job The safety record, the service and the growth will not 
occur without their talent, their dnve and their leadership 

james A Hagen, 
Chairman rf the Board 

David .M LeVan 
President and 
Chiej Ejcecutivf Ojy.cer 

Marcn 6, 1996 
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Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition 
and Results of Operation 

Overview 
Conraii's net income for 1995 was $264 million, compared with 5324 million for 1994 and hvSenT'e Group' 
$160 million for 1993 The results for 1995 include the effects of a $285 million asset dispo­
sition charge (,$176 million after income taxes" and the recognition of a $21 million reduction 
in income taxes related to a decrease in a sta; • tax rate <̂:ee Notes 2 and 6 t.-i the Consolidated 
Financial Statements' Wiihoui these items, net income for 1995 would have been $419 million 

The results for 1994 include a one-time charge of $51 million vnet of tax benefits of S33 
mil!-on) relating to a non-union early retirement program and related costs isee Note 9 to the 
Consolidated Financial Statementŝ  Results for 1993 include one-time after-tax charges of 
$74 million for the adoption of required changes in accounting for income taxes and postrt-
tirement benefits other tnan pensions, the estimated ne; loss on the disposition of ;ts sub­
sidiary. Concord Resources Group. In^ . $50 million, and the one-time effects on deferred 
taxes of the increase in the federal tax rate, $34 million isee Notes 1,6.7 and 10 to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements' Ab;ent the one-time cĥ arges, Conrails net income for 
1994 and 1993 would have been S375 million and $318 million, respectively 

Traffic volumes and operating reven ies decreased 5 4% and 1 3%, respectivelv, in 1995 
coinpared with 199-* However, continued emphasis on cost reduction and productivity 
improvement enabled Conrail to achieve an operating ratio (.operating expenses as a percent 
of revenues' of 79 9'i , exclud.ng the asset disposition charge, which was worse than us 
199; operating ratio goal of 79 5% The 1994 operating ratio was 81 5% excluding the 
early ret'rement program charge 

In 1994. i.-iffic volume and operating revenues increased 8 3% and S 1%. respectively 
over 1993, whu» operating expenses were 6 3% higher (excluding the early retirement 
program charge) 

1996 Outlook 
Conrai: cxpec.s the economv to grow a; a slower pace in 1996 than in 1995 Conrails oui-

Lx-ik for 1996 IS baseJ on assumptions of 2 2% grow-th in real gross domestic product, is 
measured on a "1987 pnces' basis, and 2 5% grow-th in industrial production Conrail pro­
tects line haul revenue grow-th of between 3 5% to 4 5Sb in 1996, and expects to achieve this 
grow-th pnmanlv through increasing us m.arket share m the Intermodal. Unit Train and CORE 
Service Groups Within the CORE Service Grc^p. market share growth is projected in steel, 
petrochemicals and food and agnculture products, Conrail's market share growth plans are 
based on the impiementation of new service initiatives, anu us achievemeni of these growth 
estimates is highlv d • - indent upon the success of these initiatives Conraus operating ratio 
goal for 1996 is 77.5'5t Conrail's abilitv to meet this goal is dependent upon continuing 
emphasi.-̂  on cost red' ction programs, in addition to the projected growih m revenues This 
goal has been made more .;hailenging bv severe w;nter weather in the first quarter 1996, 
which I . . , - :- ĉĴ ,̂•c operating costs and reduced trai'lr volume below the levels ongmally 
proiecioci U : :,io quarter 

On Februa.-v 21, 1996, the Boa'd ot Directors approved a voluntarv early retirement pro­
gram and volunury separation program for eligible mem.bers of the non-union workforce 
w ith the goal of eliminating 900 non-un.on positions Eligible employees have until Apnl 23. 
1996 to applv ior the programs Ir, the event the 900 position goal is not achieved through 
the volunian- programs, the Companv expects to obtain the additional reductior.' •,trough 
non-voiuntarv seoaration programs 

The costs of the programs are expected to rct.oraed m the second quarter of 1996. 
and are expected to have a matena effect on the income statement m that quarter The 
programs will not r,ave a significant effect on :hc Companv s cash position as the maionty 
of the costs will be paid from the Companvs overfunded pension plan .see Notes 7 and 12 
to the consolidated Financial St.rc--c-
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1995 Asset Disposition Charge 
The founh quaner 1995 asset disposition charge resulted fro.,i a review of Conrails route 
system and other assets to determine .hose that no longer effectively and economically suppon 
current and expected operations As a result of this review, Conrail identified approximately 
1,800 miles of rail lines thai wiM be candidates for sale These dispositions are excected to 
provide proceeds subsiantiaUy iess than net book value Cenain other operating assets identi­
fied for disposition, pnmanly yards and sidetracks, have also been wntten down to estimated 
ne, realizable value Accordinglv the asset disposition charge of $285 million represents the 
e/pectcd loss on rail line and other asset dispositions Conrail estimates that net cash proceeds 
from the disposition of these asseis will be approximately $50 million Conrails goal is to h-ve 
sales agreements in place on many of the lines dunng 1996 and on most of the lines by the 
end of 1997 

Results of Operations 
1995 Compared with 199-> 

Net income for 1995 was $264 million ($3 19 per share, pnmary and $2 94 per share, fully 
diluted) compared with 1994 net income of $324 million ($3 90 per share, pnmary and $3 56 
per share, fullv diluted) Excluding th. one-time charges (see "Overview') in both years and the 
one-time tax beneht in 1995, Conrails net income A-ould have been $419 million ($5 16 per 
share pnmary and 54 69 per share, fully diluted) for 1995 and $375 million ($4 54 per share, 
pnmarv and $̂  13 per share, fully diluted) for 1594 

Operating revenues ^pnmanly freight line haul revenues, but alsc including switching, 
demurrage and incidental revenues) decreased $47 million, or 1 3%, frcm $3,733 million in 
1994 to $3,686 million in 1995 A 5 4% decrease in traffic volume in units (freight cars and 
intermodal trailers and containers' resulted in a $191 million decrease in revenues which was 
partiallv offset 'ov an increase in average revenue per unit that increased revenues by $140 mil­
lion The improvement in average revenue per unit resulted from increases in average rates, 
$117 million, and a favorable traffic mi;, $23 million Traffic volume decreases were expen­
enced bv three of the four service groups, with only Automotive showing a slight volume 
increase of 8% Traffic volume declines for the other service groups were as follows 
Intermodal. 7 3%; Unit Train, 5 4%, and CORE, 5 1% Withm the CORE Service Group, 
traffic volume declines were also expenenced by each of the commoditv groups Food and 
Agnculture, 8 2%, Petrochemicals. 4 6%, Metals, 4 0%, and Forest and Manufactured Products, 
3,9% Other revenues increased $4 million 

Opierating expenses increased $103 million, or 3 3%, from 53,127 million in 1994 to $3,230 
million in 1995 The following table sets forth the operating expenses for the two years 

(In Millions^ 1995 1994 
Increase 

'Decrease) 

Compensation and benetits $1,249 $1,260 $(11) 
Fuel 168 188 (20) 
Matenal and supplies 167 203 (36) 
Equipment rents 355 361 (26) 
Depreciation and zmonizatior,- 293 278 15 
Casualties and insurance 175 184 (9) 
Other 538 549 (11) 
Asset disposition charge 285 

84 
285 

Earlv retirement program 84 (84) 

$3,230 53 127 $103 
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Compe' saiion and benetits costs decreased 511 million, or 9%. as a result of a 5 i % reduc­
tion in emplovment levels, which exceeded the increases in wage rates and fringe benefit costs 
Compensation and benefits as a percent of revenues was 33 9\ in 1995 compared with 33.7% 
m 1994 

Fuel costs decreased 520 million, or 10.0%, as a result of greater u>c o! newer fuel efficient 
locomotives, lower average fuel prices and lower traffic volume 

The decrease of $36 million, or 17.7%. m m.atenal and supplies costs was pnmanly attribut­
able to a lower level of repair and maintenance expenditures related to lower traffic volume 

Equipment rents decreased 526 million, or 6 8%, pnmar.lv as a result of fewer foreign cars 
on Conrail's lines and improved equipment utilization, partiallv offset bv the increased costs 
associated with new operating leases for equipment 

Depreciation and amonization increased 515 million or 5 due to asset additions and 
increased depreciation rates for track stmcture as a result of a depreciation study required by 
the former Interstate Commerci Commission 

Casualties and insurance decre.ised 59 million, or 4 9% The cost reduction attnbutable to 
an approximate 35% decline m tf.e number of employee injuries w as largelv offset by the esca­
lating costs to settle claims as well ŝ the continuing increase m the number and cost of occu­
pational ci .ims 

Conrail recorded an asset disposition charge of 5285 mtUior. in 1995 .see Note 2 to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements' and a one-time pre-tax charge of $84 million in 1994 for 
the non-union volunury early retirement program and related costs isee Note 9 to the 
Con.soUdated Financial Statements 

Conrails operating ratio was 67 6% for 1995. compared with 83 8% for N-?- Without the 
$285 million asset disposition charge in 1995 and the $84 million charge for the early retire­
ment program ;n 1994, the operating ratios for 1995 and 1994 would have been 79 9% and 
81 5% resf)ectively 

Other income, net, increased 512 million, o: 10 2%, pnmanlv due to an 58 million gam 
from a propeny sale completed dunng the second quarter of 1995 

The Company's effective income lax rate for 1995 was 32 7% compared with 39 1% for 
1994 The lower rate reflects the effect of a $21 million reduction in income taxes resulting 
from a decrease m a state mcome tax rate enacted dunng the second quaner of 1995 (.see Note 
6 to the Consolidated Financial Statements' 

1994 Compared with 1993 
Net income for 1994 w-as 5324 million \S3 90 per share, pnmarv T.C 53 5<? per share, fully 
diluted) compared with 1993 net income of 5160 million {Si 82 per share pnmarv- and 51 70 
per share, fuily diluted Excluding the one-time charges ̂ see "Overview " Conrails net income 
would have been 5375 million i.$4 54 per share, pnmary and 54 13 per share, fully diluted' 
for 1994 and $318 million (S3 78 per share, pnmary and $3 43 per share, fully diluted' for 
1993 

Operating revenues increased 5280 million, or 8 1\-. :>orr. 53.4?3 mill.or, in 1993 to 53,733 
million m 1994 ,An 6 y\- increase in traffic volume ir, units resulted m a S2"4 million increase 
in revenues that was partiallv offset bv a slight decrease in average revenue pe: unu which 
reduced revenues by 58 m.iUion The decrease m average revenue per unit was caused by an 
unfavorable traffic mi.x which reduced revenues by $46 million, substantiallv offset hy increases 
in average rates which increased revenues bv 53S million TrafTic volume increases w-ere expen­
enced bv each o! the lour service groups Intermodal, 1" 3%. .Automotive 10 0%, Unit Tram, 
3 9%, and CORE. 1 5% Withm the CORE Service Group, Metals increased 4 5%, Fores; and 
Manufactured Products increased 3 1%, Petrochemica'is increased 5%, and Food and Agnculture 
decreased 2 O"̂ ; Switching, demurrage and incidental revenues increased SH miili:", 
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Operating expenses increased $265 million or 9 3%, from $2,862 million in 1993 to $3,127 
million in 1994 The following table sets fonh the operating expenses for the two years 

Increase 
(In Millions"' 1994 1993 ''Decrease'' 

Compensation and benehts $1,260 $1,229 $ 31 
Fuel 188 178 10 
Matenal and supplies -.03 194 9 
Equipment rents 381 305 76 
Depreciation and amortization 278 284 (6) 
Casualties and insurance 184 131 53 
Other 549 541 8 
Early retirement program 84 84 

$3,127 $2,862 5265 

Compensation and benefits costs mere' C i31 million, or 2 5%, pnmanlv due to increoĵ .-i 
wage rates which were partially offset b' le^uced fnnge benefits costs and lower employment 
levels Compensation and benefits as a percent of revenues was 33 7% in 1Q94 compared with 
35 6% m 1993 

The increase of $76 million, or 24 9%. in equipment rents reflects the effects of increased 
traffic volume and new oper-- j , leases, as well as the effects of crowded serving yards and 
train delays expenenced pr ,Tianly in the first half of 1994 

Casualties and insurance rosts increased $53 million, or 40 5% While the number of 
mjunes for the year was about the same as in 1993. the cost per claim to settle in|unes has 
continued to escalate The costs related to occupational claims and the number of those claims 
also increased 

In the first quarter of 1994, Conrail incurred a one-time pre-tax charge of $84 million for 
the non-union voluntarv early retirement program and related costs î see Note 9 to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements) 

Conrail's operating ratio was 83 8% for 1994, compared with 82 9% for 1993 Without the 
$84 million one-time charge for the early retirement program, the operating ratio for 1994 
would have been 81 5% 

Liquidity and Capital Resourct: 
Conrails cash and cash equivalents increased $30 million, from 543 million at December 31. 
1994 to $73 million at Decem.ber 31, 1995 Cash generated from operations, pnncipally from 
us wholly-owned subsidiary: Consolidated Rail Corporation ("CRC ), and bonowings are 
Conrails pnncijial souices of liquiditv and are used pnmanly for capital expenditures, debt 
service, and dividends Operating activities provided cash of $773 million in 1995 compared 
with $697 million in 1994 and $504 million in 1993 Issuance of long-term debt provided 
cash of $85 million in 1995 The pnncipal uses of eash in 1995 were for propeny and equip­
ment acquisitions. $415 million, cash dividends on preferred and common stock, $150 mil­
lion, payment of long-term debt including capital iease and equipment obligations, $134 mil­
lion, and the repurchase of common stock, $92 iMllion 

Working capiul (.current assets less current liabilities'' of $36 million existed at December 
31, 1995, compared with a $76 million deficiency at December 31, 1994 The improvem.ent 
m working capital is pnmanly related to an increase m deferred tax assets in 1995 (see 
Note 6 to the Consolidated Financial Statements'! Management beheves that Conrails 
financial posuion allows it sufficient access to eredit sources on investment grade terms, and, 
if necessarv-, adduional intermediate or long-term debt could be issued for additiorai working 
capual requirements 
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In Jul) 1994, the Board ol Directors authorized a fourth common stock repurchase program CAPITAI. EXPCMOmiRES 
ot up lo $100 million In December 1995, this program was completed at a total of 1,664,053 
shares In April 1995 the Companvs Board of Directors approved an additional <250 million 
multi-year sio<.k repurchase program At December 31, 1995. Conrail had acquired 20,000 
shares lor approxi"nately $1 million under this program 

During 1995, CRC issued an additional $128 million of commercial paper and repaid $151 lo-
million Ol ihc $189 million outstanding at December 31, 1995, $100 million is classified as J 
long-term debt since it is expected to be refinanced ihrough subsequent issuances of commer 
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cial papci and is supported by the long-term poruon of the $500 million uncollateralized , Equipmem 
bank credit agreemeni 

At December 31, 1995, $312 million remains available to Conrail and CRC under a 1993 
shell registration statement whereby CRC can issue debt securities and Conrail can issue both 
convertible debt and equity securities 

In June 1995, (.IRC issued $110 million of 6 76% Pass Through Certificates, Senes 1995-A, 
due 2015, to finance the acquisition of equipment Of these Certificates, $55 million are 
direct obligations of CRC secured by the acquired equipment The remaining $55 million of 
Certificates were issued to finance equipment that CRC will utilize under a capiul lease, and 
while such certificates are not direct obligations of, or guaranteed by CRC, the amounts payable 
by CRC undei ihe lease will be suflicient to pay pnncipal and interest on the Certificates 

In June 1995, CRC issued $30 million of 6 3% Medium-T r̂m Notes matunng in 1999 
Dunng 1995, CRC borrowed and repaid $130 million under us uncollateralized bank cred­

it agreement at interest rates ranging from 6 0% to 6 4% dunng the year At December 31, 
1995. no amount was outstanding under this agreemeni 

Capital Expenditures 
Capital expenduures loiaied $494 million $508 million an.i $650 million in 1995, 1994 and 
1993, respectr>ely Of these totals, Conrail directly financed $126 million in 1995 $57 mil­
lion in 1994 and $232 m.illion in '993 In addition, the proceeds of notes and debentures 
sold in those years $30 million $65 illion and $329 million, respectively were available to 
fund capual expenditures 

Conrail identified 1.800 miles of underutilized rail lines and other asseis for sale or dispiosal 
which are expected to provide proceeds substantially less than the net book value of such 
assets The Company has prov ided for such deficiencies m us 1995 asset disposition charge 
(.see Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements and "1995 Asset Disposition Charge") 
Although these disposals will eliminate the need for future capital expenditures on these lines 
and improve Conrails cash ptisition in the year ol disposition, the extent of the effect on cash 
will depend on the linal terms ol the sales agreements 

In response to lower than expecied traffic and revenues, Conrail reduced us planned capital 
expenditures lor 1995 from 5550 million to $494 million Capiul expenditures for 1996 are 
expected to be approximately $450 million 

Inflation 
ocneralK accepted accounting pnnciples require the use of histoncai costs in prepanng 
financial sutements This approach does not consider the effects of inflation on the costs of 
replacing assets The repla..ement cost of Conrail's propeny and equipment is subsuntiaUy 
highei than its historical cost basis bimilarlv: deprecution expense on a replacement cost 
basis would be substantiallv in excess ol the amount recorded under generally accepted 
accounting principles 
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Environmental Matters 
Conrails operations and propeny are subject to vanous federal, state and local laws regulating 
the environment CRC is a party to numerous proceedings brought by regulatory agencies and 
pn'.ate panies under federal, state and local laws, including Superfund laws, and has also 
receiv ed inquiries from governmental agencies w ith respect to other potential environmental 
issues As of December 31, 1995, CRC had received, together with other companies, notices 
of Its involvement as a potentially responsible pany or requests for information under the 
Superfund laws with respect to cleanup and/or removal costs due to us sta'us as an alleged 
transporter, generator or property owner at 130 locations throughout the country However, 
based on currently available information, Conrail believes CRC may have some potential 
responsibility at only 56 of these sues Due to the number of parties involved at many of 
these sues, the wide range of costs of the possible remediation alternatives, changing technol­
ogy and the length of time over which these matters develop, ii is not always possible to 
estimate CRC's liability for the costs associated with the assessment and remediation of 
contaminated sues At December 1., 1995, Conrail had accrued $64 million for estimated 
future environmental expenses Although Conrails operating results and liquidity could be 
significantly affected in anv quanerly or annual reporting penod in which CRC was held 
pnncipally liable in certain of these actions, Conrail believes the ultimate liability for these 
matters will not matenaUy affect its financial condition, (See Note 12 to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements' 

Conrail spent 514 million, $8 million and 57 million m 1995. 1994 and 1993, respectively, 
for environmental remediation and related costs and anticipates spending approximately $10 
million in 1996 In adduion. Conrails capital expenditures for environmental control and 
abatement projects were approximatelv 56 million in 1995, 55 million m 1994 and 52 mil­
lion in 1993, and are anticipated to be approximately 58 million in 1996 

Conrail has an Environmental Quality group, '.he mission of which is to institute and pro­
mote compliance with environmentally sound operating practices and to monitor and 
assess the status of sues where liability under environmenul laws may exist. 

Other Matters 
Dunng 1995, CRC reached an agreement with approximatelv 300 of its employees represent­
ed bv the Fraternal Order of Police In adduion, a tentative agreement was reached w-ith 
approximately 4,000 of us employees represenied by the United Transportation Union 
through negotiations earned on by the National Garners Committee, of which CRC 
IS a member 

Except for the histoncai information contained herein, the matters discussed in this report 
are forward-looking statements tha; involve risks and uncertainties that may cause actual 
results to differ, including but not limited to the eflect of econom.ic conduions, competition, 
regulation and weather on Conrails operations, customers, service and pnces, and other fac­
tors discussed elsewhere in this lepon and, froni time to timie, in other reports filed with the 
Secunues and Exchange Commission 
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Report o f Management 

The Stockholders 
Conrail Inc, 
Management is responsible for the preparation, integnty and objectivity of the Company's 
hnancial statemems The financial statements are prepared in conformity with generally 
accepted accounting pnnciples and include amounts based on management's best estimates 
and judgment The financial information contained in other sections of this annual repon is 
consistent w-ith that contained in the financial statements 

The Companv maintains a system of intemal accounting controls and procedures which is 
continually reviewed and supported by wTitten policies and guidelines and su ĵplemented by 
a corporate staff of internal auditors The svstem provides reasonable assurance that assets are 
safeguarded against loss from unauthonzed use and that the books and records reflect the 
transactions of the Companv and arc reliable for ihe preparation of financiai sutements The 
concept of reasonable assurance recognizes that the cost of a svstem of intemal accounting 
controls should not exceed the benefits denved and also recognizes that the evaluation of 
these factors necessanly requires estimates and judgments by managem.ent 

The Companys financial statements are audited by us independent accountants Their audit 
IS conducted m accordance with generallv accepted auditing standards and includes a study 
and evaluation of the Companys system of intemal accounting controls to determine the 
nature, timing and extent of the auditing p,iKedures required for expressing an opinion on 
the Company's hnancial statements 

The Board of Directors pursues us oversight responsibilities for the financial statements and 
corporate conduct through us .Audit and Ethics Committees Each Committee consists of 
Directors who are not employees of the Company The Audit Committee recommends the 
appointment of the independent accountants, and meets several times a year with manage­
ment the intemal auditors and the independent accountants The independent accountants 
and imemal auditors have unrestneted access to the Audit Committee to discuss audit scope, 
the results of their audits, the adequacy of internal accounting controls and financial report­
ing The Ethics Commitiee meets several times a year with management to review matters of 
public interest, including safety, equal employment and compliance with environmental regu­
lations 

David .\f LeVan 
President and 
Chief Executive Officer 

H WxWxam Broun 
Senior Vice President-
Finance and ,4dminisfrafion 

Januarv 22, 1996 
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Report of Independent Accountants 

The Stockholders and Board of Directors 
Conrail Inc, 
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balanc;' sheets and the related consolidated 
statements of income, of stockholders' equity and of eash flows present fairly in all material 
respects, the hnancial position of Conrail Inc /nd subsidianes at December 31, 1995 and 
1994. and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the years then ended in con­
formity with generally accepted accounting principles These financial statem,ents are the 
responsibility of the Companys management, our responsibilitv is to express an opinion on 
these financial statements based cn our audits We conducted our audits of these statements 
in accordance with generallv accepted auditing standards w-hich require that we plan and per­
form the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free 
of matenal misstatement An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting 
the amounts and disclosures m the financial statemients, assessing the accounting pnnciples 
used and significant estimates made by managemem, and evaluating the overall financial 
statement presentation We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for the opinion 
expressed above The consolidated financial statements of Conrail Inc and subsidianes for the 
vear ended C)ecember 31, 1993 were audited bv othe," independent accountants whose repon 
dated January 24, 1994 expressed an unqualihed opinion on those statements 

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed 
its methods ior accounting for income taxes and postretirement benefits other than 
pensions in 1993 

Pnce Waterhouse LLP 
Thirty South Seventeenth Street 
Philadelphia. Pennsylvania J9J03 

Januarv 22, 1996, 
except as to paragraphs hve and six of Note 12. which are as of February 21, 1996 
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Consolidated Statements of Income 

'lears ended December 31, 
;S In Million.; Except Per Share Dat..- 1995 1994 1993 
Rev enues 53,686 53,733 $3,453 
Operating expenses 

Wav- and structures 
Equipment 
Transportation 
General and administrative 
Asset disposition charge (.Note 2) 
Early retirement program (Note 9̂  

485 
766 

1,324 
370 
285 

499 
315 

1,379 
350 

84 

492 
703 

1.283 
384 

Total operating expenses 3,230 3.127 2,862 
Income from operations 
Interest expense 
Loss on disposition of subsidiarv (N'ot̂ - 10' 
Other income, net (.Note } 1) 

456 
(194) 

130 

606 
(192) 

118 

591 
(185) 

(80) 
114 

Income before income taxes and the cumulative effect 
ol changes in accounting pnnciples 

Income taxes (.Note 6'' 
392 
128 

532 
208 

440 
206 

Income before the cumulativt -ffect of changes in accounting pnnciples 
Cumulative effect of changes in acc hunting principles (Notes 1, 6 and 7) 

264 324 234 
174) 

Net income $ 264 $ 324 5 160 

Income per common share (Note 1) 
before the cumulative effect ol changes in accounting pnnciples 

Pnmarv 
Fully diluted 

Cumulative effeci of changes in accounting principles 
Pnmary 
Fullv diluted 

Net income per common share 
Pnmz'-v 
ruUy diluted 

Ratio i f earnings to fixed charges (Note 1) 

$ 3,19 
2,94 

$ 3 19 
2,94 
2 51x 

$ 3 90 
356 

$ 3 90 
3 56 
3 19x 

S 2 74 

2,51 

(92) 
(,81) 

$ 182 
1 70 
2 98x 

See a^coinp.inving notes 
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Consolidated Balance Sheets 

December 31, 

$̂ In Millions) 1995 1994 

ASSETS 

Current assets 
Cash and cash equivalents $ 73 $ 43 
Accounts receivable •14 646 
Deferred tax assets (Note 6) 333 249 
Matenal and supplies I M 164 
Other current assets 28 23 

Total current aisets 1,206 1.125 
Property and equipment, net (Note 3) 6,408 6.498 
Other assets 810 699 

Total assets $8,424 $8 322 

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUlTi' 

Current liabilities 
Shon-term borrowings 112 
Cunent mati.niies of long-term debt (Note 5) M l 130 
Accounts pay: ble 113 119 
Wages and en ployee benehts 183 169 
Casualty resenes 110 103 
Accrued and other current liabilities (Note 4) 494 568 

Total current lubilities 1,170 1.201 
Long-term debt (Note 5) 1.911 1,940 
Casualty reserves 217 212 
Deferred income uxes (Note 6) 1,393 1,203 
Special income tax obligation (Note 6) 440 513 
Other liabilities 316 328 

Total liabihties 5,447 5,397 

Commitments and contingencies (Note 12) 
Stockholders' equity (Note 8) 

Preferred stock (no par value, 15,000,000 shares authonzed no shares issued) 
Senes A ESOP convertible junior preferred stoek (no par value, 10,(XX),CX)0 shares authonzed. 

9,770,993 and 9,821.358 shares iss'ued and outstanding, respectively) 282 283 
Unearned ESOP compensation (233) (243) 
Com.mon stock i$l par value, 250,000,000 shares authonzed, 85,392,392 and 80.409,598 

shares issued respectively, 82,094,675 and 78.620.434 shares outsunding, respectively) 85 80 
Additional paid-in capital 2,187 1,848 
Employee benehts trust (4.706,665 shares) at market (329) 
Retained eamings 1,176 1,056 

3,168 3,024 
Treasurv stcKk, at cost (3,297.717 and 1,789,164 shares, respectively) (191) (99) 

Totai stockholders equity 2,9:'7 2,925 

Tota! liabilities and stockholders equitv $8,424 $8,322 

See accompanying notes 
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Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity 

Senes .\ Uneamed Adduional Employee 

(5 In Millions Except Per Share Data' 
Preferred ESOP Common Paid-in Benefits Reuined Treasury 

(5 In Millions Except Per Share Data' Stock Compensation Stoek Capital Trust Eamings Stock 
Balance. Januarv 1, 1993 5287 $;263) $83 $1,888 $ 903 $(150) 

Amonization 10 
$(150) 

Net income 160 
Common dividends, $1 20 per share (96) 
Prefened dividends, $2 165 per share (21) 
Common shares acquired 

(21) 

m Exercise of stoek options 1 20 m 
Common shares reclassified as unissued (4) (107) (98) 209 
Other (1) 18 9 

209 

Balance, December 31, 1993 286 (.253) 80 1,819 857 (5) 
Amonu:ation 10 

(5) 

Net income 324 
Common dividends, $1 40 per share (111) 
Preferred dividends. $2 165 per sha.'e (21) 
Comimon shares acquired 

(21) 
(94) 

Exercise of stock options 14 
(94) 

Other (3) 15 7 
Balance, December 31, 1994 283 

Amon'ization 
Net income 
Common dividends, $1 60 per share 
Preferred dividends, $2 165 per share 
Common shares acquired 
Exercise of stock options 
Establishment of employee benehts trust 
Employee benefits trust transactions, net 
Other (,1) 

^431 
10 

80 1,848 

6 
245 
84 
4 

1,056 

264 
(129) 
(21) 

$(250) 
(79) 

(99) 

(92) 

BaLince, December 31. 1995 $282 $.233^ $85 52.187 $';329) $1,176 $(191) 

See accompanying notes 
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 

Years ended December 31 

(5 In Millions' 1945 W94 1993 

Cash flows from operating activities 
Net income 5 264 $ 324 $ 160 

.Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities 
.Asset disposition charge 285 

84 Early retirement program 84 
80 Loss on disposition of subsidiarv 80 

Cumulative effect of accounting changes 74 
Depreciation and amortization 293 278 284 
Deferred income taxes 108 150 221 
Special income tax obligation (73) (62) (50) 
Gains from sales of property (27) (18) UO) 
Pension credit (43) (46) (43) 
Changes in 

(2) (52) .Accounts receivable 32 (2) (52) 
.Accounts and wages payable 8 41 (15) 

Settlement of tax audit (51) 
Other (74) (52) (84) 

Net cash provided bv operating activitic-s 773 697 504 

Cash flows from investing activities 
Propertv and equipment acquisitions (415) (490) (366) 
Proceeds fromi disposals of propenies 38 32 23 
Other (59) i ; 3 ' (45) 

Net cash used in invesiing a^iivitits (436) (481 :588) 

Cash flows from financing activities 
(64) Repurchase of common stock (92) (94) (64) 

Net proceeds from (repayments of 
33 (46) shon-term borrow-ings (23) 33 (46) 

Proceeds from long-term debt 85 114 485 

Pavment of long-term debt (134) (158) (195) 

Dividends on common stock (129) (111) (96) 

Dividends on Series A preferred stock (21) (16) (21) 

Proceeds from, stock options and other 21 

Net cash provided bv (used m' linancing aLtivititb (307) (211) 82 

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 30 5 (2) 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Bc»:ipr,ini; o; \e.dr 43 38 40 

End o! vcjr 5 73 5 43 5 38 

See accompanying notes 
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

I Summarv of Significant Accounting Policies 

Industrv 

Conrail Inc ("Conrai!") is a holding company of which the 
principal subsidiary is Consolidated Rail Corporation 
("CRC"). a freight railroad which operates within the nonh­
east and mHwesl United States and the Province of Quebec 

Priniiples of Consolidation 
rhe consolidated financial statements include Conrail and 
maiontv-owTied subsidiaries Investments in 20% to 50% 
owned comp.ir,ies are accounted for by the equity method 

Cash Equivalents 
Cash equivalents consist of commercial paper, cenihcates of 
deposit and other liquid securities purchased with a matunty 
of three months or less, and are stated at cost which approxi­
mates market value 

Matenal and Supplies 
Matenal and supplies consist mainly of fuel oil and items for 
mamienance of propeny and equipment, and are valued at 
the lower of cost, principally weighted average or market 

Property and Equipment 
Property and equipment arc recorded at cost Deprecialion is 
provided using the composite siraight-line method The cost 
(net of salvage ' of depreciable property retired or replaced in 
the ordman course of business is ch.irgcd to accumulated 
depreciation and no gain or loss is recognized 

Revenue Recognition 
Revenue is recognized proportionallv as a shipment moves on 
the Conrai! svstem from origin lo destination 

Earnings Per Share 
Pnmarv eamings per share arc based '^;i net income ad|usted 
fo: the effects of prefened dividends net ol income tax bene­
fits, divided by the weighted average number of shares out­
standing dunng the period, including the dilutive effect of 
stock options Fullv diluted eamings per share assume eon-
version of Series A ESOP Convenible Junior Preferred Stock 
("ESOP Stock") into Conrail common stock Net income 
amounts applicable to fulK diluted earnings per share have 
been adjusted by the incre.ise, net of income tax benehts, in 
ESOP-related expenses assuming conversion of all ESOP 
Stock to common stock Shares in the Conrail Employee 
Benefits Trust are not considered outstanding for computing 
earnings per share The weighted average nunber of shares of 

common stock outstanding dunng earh of the most recent 
three vears arc as follows: 

1995 1994 1993 

Pnmar)' wcightec 
ave.̂ age shares 78.733,947 79,674,781 80,646,495 

diluted weigiiled 
average shares 88.702,712 89,562,721 90,835.982 

Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges 
Earnings used in corripuiing the ratio ol earnings to fixed 
charges tf presem income before income laxes plus fixed 
charges, less equity in undistributed eamings ol 20% to 
50% owTieo companies Fixed charges represent interest 
expert'̂  together with interest capitalized and a pomon of 
rent i.nder long-term operating leases representative of an 
interest facior 

New Accounting Standards 
Effective January- 1, 1993, the Company adopted Statement of 
Financial .Accounting Standards No 106. "Employers 
Accounting for Posireiirement Benehts Other Than Pensions" 
'."SF,AS 106") (Note 7) and Statement of Financial Accounting 
Standards No 109, "Accounting for Income Taxes' ('SFAS 
109") (Note 6) As a result, the C.-mpany recorded cumula 
live after ta;: charges ol $22 million and $52 million for SFAS 
106 and SFAS 109, respectively 

Dunng 1995, the Financial Accounting Standards Board 
issued Staiement of Financial Accounting Standards î 'SFAS") 
No 121, Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived 
,Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed OP (SFAS 
121̂  and SFAS No 123. "Accounting lor Stock-Based 
Compensation' (SFAS 123), w-hich are both effective in 1996 
The Company has decided to adopt only the disclosure provi­
sions of SFAS 123 in 1996 The Company has also deter­
mined that SF.AS 121 will not have a matenal eflect on us 
hnancial statements 

Use of Estimates 
The pieparaiion of financial statements in conformity wuh 
generally accepted accounting pnnciples requires manage­
ment to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial 
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expens­
es dunng the reporting f>eriod Actual results could differ 
from those estimates 
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".otes to Consolidated -inancial Sutements (Continued) 

2, Asset Disposi t ion Charge 

Included in 1995 operating expenses is an asset disposition 
charge of $285 million, which reduced net income by $176 
million The asset disposition charge resulted from a review of 
the Companys route system and other operating asseis to 
determine those that no longer effectively and economically 
suppon curreni and expected operations The Company iden­
tified and has committed to si ll 1.800 miles of rail lines that 
are expected to provide procf eds substantially less than net 
book value In addition, other assets, pnncipally yards and 
side tracks, identified for disposition hav been wntten down 
to estimated net reahzable value. 

3 Property and Equipmeiit 
December 3!, 

(In Millions^ 1995 1994 

Roadway 
Equipment 
Less Acc vnulated deprecution 

Allo'vance for aisposition 

$ 6.828 
1.213 

(1,572) 
(439) 

5 6,764 
1,171 

(1,571) 
(241) 

6,030 6.123 

Capitzl leases (pnmanly equipment^ 
Accum jlated amonization 

908 
(530) 

988 
v613' 

378 375 

$ 6.408 5 e,498 

_onrail acquired equipment and incuned related long-term 
dchi under vane .s capiul leases of $71 m.illion in 1995, $8 
miUu n in 1994 and 575 million in 1993 As pan of the 1995 
(Note 2) and 1991 asset dispositions, the Company recorded 
allov, ances for disposuion for the sale or abandonment of cer­
uin under-utilized rail lines and other facilities 

4 Accrued and Other Current Liabilities 
December 31, 

i ln Miliions'1 1995 1994 

Freight settlements due others $ 54 $ 55 

Equipment rents (pnmanlv car hire' 71 76 
Uneamed freight revenue 56 74 
Propeny and corporate taxes 66 78 

Other 247 

$49-: 55o8 

5 Long-Term Debt 

Long-term debt outstanding including the weighted average 
interest rates at December 31 1995, is composed of 'he fol­
lowing 

December 31, 

i,ln Millions) 1995 1994 

( jp i ta l leases S 489 5 -»88 

Medium-!,:rm notes payable. 
6 16%, due 1996 to 1999 208 228 

Notes payable, 9 75%, due 2000 250 250 

Debentures payable, 7 88%, due 2043 250 250 

Debentures p,.;-able, 9 75%, due 2020 544 544 
Equipment anc other obligations, 6 43% 251 210 

Commercial pap>er, 5 90% 100 IOO 

2,092 2,070 

Less current ponion (181) (130) 

$1,911 $ 1 940 

Using current market pnces when available, or a valuation 
based on the yield to matunty of comparable debt instru­
ments having similar charactenstics, credu rating and maiun­
tv the total fair value of the Company's long-term debt, 
including the current pomon, bu; excluding capital leases, is 
$1,8"0 million and $1,601 million at December 31, 1995 
and 199-t, respectively compared with carrying values of 
$1,603 million and $1,582 million at Decemiber 31, 1995 
and 1994, respectively 

The Companv's noncancelable long-term lea-ses generally 
include options to purchase at fair value and .o extend the 
terms Capita! leases have been discounted at rates ranging 
from 3 09% to 14,26% and are collateralized by assets with a 
net book value of $378 million at December 31. 1995 

Mmimum comm.itmenis, exclusive of executory costs bome 
by the Company, ai-e. 

Capital Operating 
(In Millions' Leases Leases 

1996 $ 102 S i27 

199" 92 109 

1998 84 100 

1999 75 84 

2000 36 76 

2001 - 2017 269 576 

Total 680 51,072 

Less interest pomon v l9 I • 

present value $ 489 
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Operating le'-e rent expense was $130 million in 1995, 
$118 million 1.1 1994 and $88 million in 1993 

In June 1993, the clompany and CRC hied a shelf ••'•gistra-
tion staiement on Form S-3 to enable CRC to issue up > 
$500 million in debt securities or the Company to issue up to 
$500 million in con","enible debt and equity secunties The 
remaining balance under this shelf registration w-as $312 mil­
lion at December 31, 1995 

I- , june 1995, CRC issued $110 million of 6.76% Pass 
Through Certificates. Senes 1995-A. due 2015, to hnance the 
acquisition of equipment 01 these Certificates, $55 million 
ate direct obligations of CRC secured by the acquired equip­
ment The remaining 155 million of Cenihcates were issued 
to finance equipment that CRC will utilize unde- a capital 
lease and while such crtificates are not direct obligations of, 
or guaranteed by CRC, the amounts pavable by CRC under 
the lease will be sufficient to pav pnncipal and interest on 
the Cenihcates 

In June 1995, CRC issued $30 million of 6 3% Medium-
Term Notes matunng in 1999 

Equipment and other obligations mature r -6 through 
2043 and are collater5',hzed bv assets with a net book value of 
$279 million at December 31, 1995 Matunties of long-tenn 
debt other than capital leasts and com.mercial paper are $114 
million in 1996, 564 million in 1997, $-4 million in 1998, 
$44 million in 1999, $264 m.illion in 2000 and $973 million 
in total from. 2001 through 2043 

CRC had $189 million of commercial paper outstanding 
at December 31 1995 Of the toul amount outstanding, 
$100 million IS classified as long-term since it is expected to 
be rehnanced throagh su'osecuent issuances of commercial 
paper and is supported by the long-term credit facility 
mentioned below 

CRC maintains a $500 million uncollateralized bank credit 
agreem'-nt with a group of banks which is used for general 
corporate purposes and to support CRC's commercial paper 
program, The agreement has a hve year matunty and requires 
i.iterest to be paid on amounts borrowed at rates based on 
vano'us defined shon-term rates and an annual maximum fee 
of 125% of the facihty amounts The agreement contains, 
among other conditions, restnctive covenants relating to a 
debt ratio and consolidated tangible net worth 

Dunng 1995, Ci<C bonowed $130 million under us uncol­
lateralized bank credu agreement at interest rates ranging 
from 6 0% to 6 4%, and repaid $130 million dunng the /ear 
At December 31, 1995, no amount was outstanding under 
inis agreement 

Interest pavments were 5177 million in 1995, $174 
million m 1994 and $164 million in 1993 

6, Income Taxes 

The provisions lor income taxes are composed of the following: 

(In Millions l 1995 199-1 1993 

Current 
Federal 
State 

$ 78 
15 

SI04 
16 

S 25 
10 

93 120 35 

Deferred 
Federal 
State 

110 
(2) 

123 
25 

189 
32 

108 150 221 

Special income tax obligation 
Federal 
State 

(61) 
(12) 

(53) 
(9) 

(42) 
(8) 

(73) (62'> (50) 

$128 $208 $206 

Effeetive januarv 1, 1993, the Company adopted the provi­
sions ot SFAS 109 which requires a liability approach for 
measuring defened tax assets and liabilities based on differ­
ences between the hnancial sutement and ux bases of assets 
and liabilities at each balance sheet date using enacted ux 
rates in effect when those differences are expected to reverse 
.As a result, the Company recorded a cumulative adjustment 
of $52 million 
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued) 

In conjunction with the public sale in 1987 of the 
85% of the Company's common stock owned by the U S 
Government, fed-rai legislation was enacted which resulted 
m a reduction ot the tax basis of certain of the Company's 
assets, particularly property and equipment, thereby substan­
tially decreasing tax depreciation deductions and increasing 
future federal income tax payments Also, net operating loss 
and investment tax credit carryforwards were cancelled As a 
result of the sale-related transactions, a special income tax 
obligation was recorded in 1987 based on an estimated 
effective federal and state income tax rate of 37 0% 

As a result of a decrease in a state income tax rate enacted 
dunng the second quaner of 1995, income tax expanse for 
1995 was reduced by $21 million representing the effects of 
adjusting deferred income taxes and the special income tax 
obligation for the rate decrease as required by SFAS 109 

As a result of the increase in the federal' orporate income 
ux rate from 34% to 35% enacted August 10, 1993, and 
effective januar>- 1, 1993, income tax expense for 1993 was 
increased by $38 million, of which $34 million related to tht 
effects of adjusting defened income taxes and the special 
income tax obligation for the rate increase 

Di'nng 1993, the Company reached a settlement with the 
Intemal Revenue Service ("IRS") related to the audit of the 
Companys consolidated federal income tax returns for the 
fiscal years 1987 through 1989 Under the settlement, the 
Company paid $51 million, including interest, all of which 
had been provided for in years pnor to 1993 The Company's 
consolidated federa! income tax returns lor the fiscal years 
1990 through 1992 are currently being examined by the IRS 
Federal and state income tax payments were $109 million in 
1995, $80 million in 1994 and $39 million in 1993 (exclud­
ing tax settlement) 

Reconciliations of the U S statutor>' tax rates with the 
effective tax rates follow 

1995 1994 1?93 

Statutory tax rate 35,0% 35 0% 35 0% 
State income taxes. 

net of federal beneht 3,5 39 5 1 
Effect of federal tax increase 

on deferred taxes 7.7 
Effect of Slate tax decrease 

on del'"-red taxes (53) 
Other (,5) ( ' 01 

Effective tax rate 32,7% 39 1% 46 8% 

Significant components of the Companys special income 
tax obligation and deferred income tax liabilities and (assets) 
are as follows 

December 31, 

(In Ml lions) 1995 1994 

Currert assets 
(pnmanly accounts receivable) $ (27) $ (33) 

Curre'it liabilities 
(p.nmarily accrued liabilities 
ar d casi ilty reserves) (265) (175) 

Tax benefits -elated to disposition 
of subsidiarv' (30) (30) 

Net operating loss carryforwards (11) (11) 

Current deferred tax asset, net 5 (333) $ (249) 

Noncunent liabilities 
Property and equipment 1,936 1,923 
Other long-term assets (pnmarily 

prepaid pension asset) 67 62 
Miscellaneous 66 50 

2,069 2.035 

Noncurrent assets 
Nondeductible reserves and 

other liabilities (144) (151) 
Tax benehi transfer receivable (33) (38) 
,'.lterr.ative minimum tax credits (38) (75) 
Miscellaneous (21) (55) 

(236) (319) 

Special income tax obligation and 
deferred income tax lubilities, net $1,833 $1,716 

7, Employee Benefits 

Pension Plans 
The Company and certain subsidiaries maintain dehned bene­
fit pension plans which are noncontnbutory for all non-union 
employees and generally contributory for participating union 
em, oyees Benehts are based pnmanly on credited years of 
sei-vice and the level of compensation near retirement 
Funding is based on the minimum amount required by lhe 
Employee Retirement Income Secunty Act of 1974 
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Pension credits include the following components 

(In Millionsl 19Q5 1994 1993 

Service cost • benefits eamed 
during the penod 5 8 5 8 5 8 

Interest cost on proiected 
benelit obligation 51 48 46 

Return on plan asseis • actual (254) (10) (121 
• dele ned 167 (77) 42 

Net amortization 
and delenal (15> '15^ (15-

I43'i $i,46) 5 (43' 

The funded status of the pension plans and the amounts 

reflected in the balance sheets are as t'ol ows 

(In Millions) 1995 1994 

Accumulated benefit obligation 
(5603 million and $526 million 
vested respectivelv $ 609 $ 530 

^larket value of plan assets 1.U.S 982 
Projected benef;: obligation (726) (594) 

Plan assets in excess ot proiected 
benefit obligation 442 388 

' ,'nrecognized pnor service cost 50 44 
Ui,'"ecognized transition net asset (120) (139) 
Unrecognized net gain (157) (117' 

Net prepaid Dcnsior. cost 5 215 $ 176 

The assumed weighted average discount rates used in 1995 
and 1994 are 7 0% and 8 5%, respectively and the rate of 
increase in future compensation levels used in determining 
the actuanal present value of the projected benefu obligation 
as of December 31. 1995 and 1994 is 6 0% The expected 
long-term rate of retum on plan assets (pnmanly equitv secu­
nties ' in 1995 and 1994 is 9 0% 

Savmgs Plans 
The Company and cenain subsidiaries provide 401(k) savings 
plans for union and non-union employees Under the Non­
union ESOP 100% ol emplov " contnbuuons are matched m 
the form of ESOP Stock for the first 6% of a participating 
employees base pay There is no Company match provision 
under the union employee plan Savings plan expense w-as $4 
million m 1995 and $5 million in 1994 and 1993 

In connection wi;,i the Non-union ESOP ;he Company 
issued 9,979,562 of the authonzed 10 million shares of its 
ESOP Stock to the Non-union ESOP m exchange for a 20 
year promissorv- note with interest at 9 55% from the Non­
union ESOP in the pnncipal amount of $288 million In 
addition, uneamed ESOP compensation of $288 million -A-as 

recognized as a charge to stockholders' equity coincident 
with the Non-union ESOP's issuance of its $288 m.illion 
promissory note to the Company The debt of the Non-union 
ESOP was recorded by the Company and offset against the 
promissory note from the Non-umon ESOP Uneamed ESOP 
compensation is charged to expense as shares of ESOP 
Stock are allocated to participants The number of allocated 
ESOP shares outstanding at December 31, 1995 was approx­
imately 2 2 million shares ,An amount equivalent to the 
preferred dividends declared on the ESOP Stock partiallv 
offiets compensation and interest expense related to the 
Non-union ESOP 

In 1994, the ESOPs promissory note to the Company was 
rehnanced As pan of the retinancing. the interest rate was 
decreased to 8 0%, from the ongmal 9 55%, and accr\iv-d 
interest of $21 million was capiulized as pan of rbc pnncipal 
balance of the promissory note 

The Company is obligated to make dividend payments at a 
rate of 7 51% on the ESOP Stock and additional eonti-bu-
tions in an aggregate amount sufficient to enable the Non­
union ESOP 10 make the required interest and pnncipal pay­
ments on Its note to the Company 

Interest expense incurred by the Non-union ESOP on us 
debt to the Companv was $24 million in 1995, $30 million 
in 1994 and $29 million in 1993 Compensation expense 
related to the Non-union ESOP was $10 million in 1995 
1994 and 1993 Prefened dividends of $21 million were 
declared in 1995, 1994 and 1993 Prefened dividend pay­
ments of $21 million, $16 million and $21 million were 
made in 1995 1994 and 1993 respectively The Company 
received debt service pavmerts from the Non-union ESOP 
of $31 million in 1995, $21 million in 1994, and $26 mil­

lion in 1993 

Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions 
The Company provides health and life insurance benefits to 
certain retired non-union employees Certain non-union 
employees are eligible for retiree medical benehts, while sub­
stantially all non-union employees are eligible for retiree life 
insurance benefits (Generally company-provided health care 
benefits terminate when individuals reach age 65 

Retiree life insurance plan assets consist of a retiree 
life insurance reserve held in the Companv's grcup life insur­
ance policy There are no plan assets for the ,-etiree health 
benehts plan 

Eflective Januarv- 1, 1993, ihe Company adopted SFAS 
106, which requires tha; ihe cost of retiree benefits other 
than pensions be accrued dunng the period of em,plovment 
rather than when benehts are paid The Company elected the 
immediate recognition method allowed under the statement 
and accordingly recorded a cumulative, one-time c'narge of 
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$22 million (net of tax benehts of $14 million) This accrual 
was m addition to the remaining balance of $21 .nillion which 
had been accruf-J for postretirement health be.iehts for 
employee- w'lo panicipated in the Companys 1989 non­
union volL.ltaiy retirement program 

The following sets fonh the plans funded s'atus reconciled 
with amounts reported in the Company's balanc • sheets 

1995 1994 

Ufe Life 
Medical Insurance Medical Insurance 

(In Millions') PUn Plan Plan Plan 

Accumulated postretirement 
benefit obligation 

Retirees $38 $19 $38 $15 
Fully eligible active 

plan participants 5 1 3 I 
Other active plan 

participants 5 I 4 

Accumulated benefit 
obligation 43 25 42 20 

Market value jf plan assets \ "J 'i (6 

Accumulated beneht 
obligation in excess of 
plan assets 43 18 42 14 

Unrecognized gains 
and (losses) 1 (P 1 3 

Accrued beneht cost recog­
nized in the Consolidated 
Balance Sheet $44 $17 $43 $ 17 

Net penodic postreti-ement 
beneht cost, pnmanly 
interest cost 5 4 $ 1 $ 4 $ I 

A 10 percent rate of increase m per capita costs of covered 
health care benehts was assumed for 1996, gradually decreas­
ing to 6 percent by the year 2006 Increasing the assumed 
health eare cost trend rates b; ort percentage point in each 
year would increase the accumulated posi'etirement beneht 
obligation as of December 31, 1995 by $3 million and would 
have an immatenal effeci on the net penodic postretirement 
beneht cost for 1995 Discount rates of 7 0% and 8 5% were 
used to determine the accumulated postretirement be,iefu 
obligations for both the medical and life insurance plans in 
1995 and 1994. respectively The assumed rate of compensa­
tion increase was 5 0% in both 1995 and 1994 

Retiree medical benefits are funded by a combination of 
Company and retiree contnbu ions Retiree life insurance 
benefits are pro-.ided by insurance companies whose premi­
ums are based on claims paid dunng the year 

8 Capital Stoek 

Preferred Slock 

The Company is authonzed lo issue 25 million shares of 
preferred stock with no par value The Board of Directors 
has the authonty to divide the preferred stock into senes 
and to deiermine the nghts and preferences of each 

The Company cannot pay dividends on us common stock 
unless full cumulative dividends have been paid on us ESOP 
Stock, and no distnbutions can be made to the holders of 
common stoek upon liquidation or dissolution of the 
Company unless the holders of the ESOP Stock have 
received a cash liquidation payment of $28 84375 per share, 
plu^ unpaid dividends up to the date of such payment The 
ESOP Stoek IS convertible into an equivalent number of 
shares of common stock based on their respective market 
values at the date of conversion The ESOP Stock is entitled 
to one vote per share, voting together cS a single class with 
common stoek on all matters 

Employee Benefiis Trust 
In June 1995, the Company issued approximately 4 7 mil­
lion shares of its common stock to the Conrail Employee 
Benehts Trust (the "Trust") in exchange for a promissory 
note of $250 million at an interest rate of 6 9%, The Trust 
will be used to fund certain employee benehts and other 
forms of compensation over us hfteen-year term The 
amount representing uneamed emp!o/ec benehts is recorded 
as a deduction from, stockholders equity and is reduced as 
benehts and compensation are paid through the release of 
shares from the Trust The shares owned bv- the Trust are 
valued at the closing market pnce as of t'ne end of each 
reporting penod, with the conesponding changes in the bal­
ance of the Trust reflected in additional paid-in capital 
Shares held bv the Trust are not considered outstanding for 
earnings per share computations until released by the Trust, 
but do have voting and dividend nghts 

Common Stock Repurchase Program 
In July 1994, the Board of Directors authorized a fourth 
common stock repurchase program of up to $100 million 
In December 1995, this program w-as completed at a total 
of 1.6<i4,053 shares 
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In ,Apnl 1995, the Companv's Board of Directors approved an 
additional 5250 million multi-vear stock repurchase program 
,At LVcember 31, 1995, the Company had acquired 20,000 
shares for approximately 51 million under this program 

The aetivitv and status of treasurv stock follow-

|095 |U04 •993 

;narci, bc-ginninj: ci .ca: 
Acquired 
Reclassihed as 

authorued 
but unissued 

1,789.104 83,"43 3,690,002 
1.508,553 1,705,419 1,181,322 

» 7S-,579' 

ĥa:ê , end o! vear 3 , : J ; 83745 

Stock Plans 
The Company's 1987 and 1991 Long-Term Incentive Plans 
3'Jthonze the granting tc ofhcers and kev emplovees of up to 
4 million and 3 2 million shares of common stock, respective­
ly through stock options, stock appreciation nghts, and 
awards of restncted or performance shares A stock option i ; 
exercisable for a specified term, commencing after grant at a 
pnce not less than the fair marke: value of the stock or the 
date of grant The vesting of awards made purs'uant to these 
plans 15 contingent upon one or more ot the following con­
tinued emplovment, passage of time or hnancial and othe: 
performance goals 

The Company has granted phantom shares and restncted 
stock under us non-union employee bonus plans to eligible 
em.plovees who elect to defer ali or a portion of their annual 
bonus in a given year The number of shares granted depends 
on the length of the deferral penod Grants are m.ade a; the 
mar'Ket pnce of the Companvs comm.on stock a; the date of 
grant The Compar.v hzs granted S",52? shares and 31",028 
shares of phantom and restncted stock, respectively under us 
non-union employee "oonus plans through December 31. 
; J JT -fhe Companv has also granted 68,896 performance 
snares under us 1991 Long-Term Incentive Plan through 
December 31, 1995 Compensation expense related to these 
plans was $3 million in 1995 

:-. Mav 1995. the Companys s'nareholders approved the 
'.ail Senior Executive Perfonnance Plan (the "Plan") under 

whicn certain senior executive officers of Conrail will be eligi-
'-1.- • v:--\,-e ar.r'jil '̂ ..̂ r•.•̂ ; ravable in cash cr com.-

. - • ,c-tain performance cnte-
rii .\c a'.vard; .nave Dee.-, grantee u.ider the Plan as of 
December 31. 1995 

The activitv and status of stock options under the incentive 
plans follow 

Non-q'jalified Stock Options 

Option 
Pnce 

Per Share 

S.hares 
Under 

Option 

Balance. Januar. !. 1993 
Granted 
Exercised 
Cancelled 

$14 000 
$49 375 
$14 000 
$31 813 

- $45 125 
- 560 500 
- $53 875 
- $45 125 

2,870.878 
"3,027 

(928.822) 
'48,762) 

Balance Dece.Tiber 31, 
Granted 
Exercised 
Cancelled 

1993 514 OOC 
$52 188 
$14 000 
S42 625 

• 560 500 
- 566 938 
- 551 375 
- S6C 500 

1,966,321 
23,988 

(507,450) 
(118,904) 

Balance, Decem.ber 31. 
Granted 
Exercised 
Cancelled 

199-» $14 000 
$50 688 
$14 000 
$42 625 

- $66 938 
• 568 563 
- $53 875 
-$53 875 

1.363,955 
516,757 

(200,940) 
(123,560) 

Balance December 31, 1995 514 000 - $68 5(r3 1.55f.2i: 

Exercisable. 
Decem.ber 31. 1995 514 OiX' - 557 6"5 "•?C 476 

.Available fcr future grants 
Decem't̂ er 31. 1994 l.e"S,293 

Decern'oer 31 1995 1,188,193 

Stock Rights 
In IC'9, the Company declared a dividend of one common 
s'nare purchase nght vthe "Right") on each outstanding share 
of cor.mon stock The Rights are not exercisable or transfer­
able apart from the common stock until the occurrence of cer­
tain events ansmg out of an actual or potential acquisition cf 
) 0% or more of t'ne CU)mpanys common stock, and would at 
such time provide the holder with certain adduional entitle­
ments If the Rights become exercisable, each Right will entitle 
stockholders to purchase one share ol ccmimon stock at an 
exercise pnce of $205 00, as amended in 1995 In September 
1995, a dnidend cf one Right for each share of ESOP Stock 
was declared, which was paid on October 2. 1995 At the 
Companys option, the Rights are redeemable pnor to becom­
ing exercisable at one-half cent '.$ 005 per Right a; September 
2005, as amended in 1995. and do not have any votmg pnvi-
legCj or nghts to receive dividends 
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9 19 M Early Retirement Program 

Dunng tne hrst quarter of 1994, the Company recorded a 
charge of $51 million (after tax benehts of $33 million) for a 
non-union employee voluntan early retirement program and 
related costs The majonty of the cost of the early retirement 
program is being paid from the Company's overfunded pen­
sion plan 

10 Disposition of Subsidiary 

In 1993, the Company committed to a plan for the disposi­
tion of Its investment in Concord Resources Group Inc 
("Concord") Pursuant to this plan, the Company recorded the 
estimated loss of $80 million in 1993 for the disposition of us 
investment, including $19 million for operating losses expect­
ed to be incurred during the phase-out penod and disposition 
costs The Company also recorded estimated federal tax bene­
hts of 530 million relating to the disposition 

In June 1995, the Company completed the disposition of 
the last of two major waste disposal facilities of Concord The 
dispositions had no hnancial statement .mpact 

11, Other Income. Net 

(In Millions) 1995 1994 199.-' 

Interest income S 33 5 34 $ 39 
Renul income 57 53 56 
Propeny sales 27 18 20 
Other, net 13 13 (T 

$130 5118 5114 

12, Commitments and Contingencies 

Environmenul 

The Company is subject 'o vanous federal, state and Iccal 
laws and regulations regarding environmental matters CRC is 
a party to vanous proceedings brought by both regulatory-
agencies and pnvate parties under federal, sute and local 
laws, including Superfund laws, and has also received 
inquines from govemmental agencies with respec; to other 
pot'intial environmental issues .At December 31, 1995, CRC 
ha:, received, together with other companies, notices of us 
involvement as a potentially responsible pany or requests for 
inlormation under the Superfund laws with respect t j cleanup 
and/or removal costs due to us status as an all ged trans­
porter, generator or property owner at 130 locitions 
However, based on currently available information, the 
Company believes CRC may have some potential responsibili­
ty at only 56 of these sues Due to the num.ber . f parties 

involved at many of these sites the wide range of costs of 
possible remediation alternatives, the changing terhnology 
and the length of time over which these matters develop, it 
IS ohen not possible to estimate CRC's liability for the costs 
associated with the assessment and remediation of contami­
nated sites 

Although the Company s operating results and liquidity 
could be signihcantly affected in any quanerly or annual 
reporting penod if CRC were held pnncipally liable in cer­
tain of these actions, at December 31, 1995. the Company 
had accrued 564 million, an amount it believes is sufficient 
to cover the probable liability and remediation costs that will 
be incun.'d at Superfund sues and other sites based on 
known rif.-fmation and using vanous estimating techniques. 
The Company believes the ultimate liability for these matters 
will not m.atenally affect us consolidated hnancial condition 

The Company spent $14 million in 1995, $8 million in 
1994 and $7 million in 1993 for environmenul remeduiion 
and related costs and anticipates spending approximately 
$10 million in 1996 In addition, the Companys capital 
expenditures for environmental control and abatement 
projects were approximately $6 million in 1995 and $5 mil­
lion in 1994. and are anticipated to be approximately 
$8 million m 1996 

The Environmental Qualit,- group is charged with promot­
ing the Company's compliance wuh laws and regulations 
affecting the environment and instituting environmientally 
sound operating practicei The department monitors the sta­
tus of the sues where the Company is alleged to have lubili-
tv and continually reviews the information available and 
assesses the adequacy of the recorded liability 

Non-union Voluntary Retirement and 
Separation Programs 
On February 21. 1996. the Board of Directors approved a 
voluntary early retirem.ent program and voluntary separation 
program for eligible members of the non-union workforce 
with the goal of eliminating 900 non-union positions 
Eligible employees have until Apnl 23, 1996 to apply for the 
programs In 'he event the 900 position goal is not achieved 
through the voluntary programs, the Company expects to 
obtain the additional reductions ihrough non-voluntary sep­
aration programs 

The costs of the programs are expected to be recorded in 
the second quaner of 1996 and are expected to have a 
matenal effect on the income statement in that quaner The 
programs will not have a significant effect on the Company's 
cash posuic '.e majonty of the costs will be paid from 
the Companys overfunded pension pian (Note 7) 
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ilie v_ompany is involved in vanous legal actions, pnncipally 
relating to occupational health claims, personal injunes. casu­
alties, property damage and damage to lading The Company 
has recorded liabilities on us balance sheet tor amounts sufii 
eienl to cover the expected pavments for such actions 

The Companv- mav be cotitmgently liable for approximate­
ly $81 million at December 31, 1995 under indemnihcation 
provisions related to sales of tax benehts 

CRC had an average ot 22,631 emplovees in 1995, 
approximately 36% of whom are represenied by 14 different 
labor organizations and are covered bv 22 separate collective 
bargaining agreements The Companv was engaged in collec­
tive bargaining at December 31. 1995 w-iih labor organiza­
tions representing approximately 84% of us labor force CRC 

has reached an agreement with its employees represented by 
the Fratemal Order of Police and has reached a tentative 
agreement with us employees represe ued by the United 
Transportation Union through negotiations earned on by the 
National Garners' Committee, of which CRC is a member 

In 1994, Locomotive Management Services, a General 
partnership of which CRC holds a fifty percent interest, 
issued approximately $96 million of Equipment Trust 
Cenihcates to fund 100% of the purchase pnce of 60 new 
locomotiv^j Whi' lhe principal and interest payments on 
the ce,.iiicates wih be fully guaranteed by CRC. through a 
sharing agreement w-ith its panncr, CRC's portion ct the 
guarantee is reduced to approximately $80 m.illion 

13 Condensed Quarterly Data (L'nauditcd) 

First Second Third Fourth 

($ In Millions Except Per Sh.ire 1905 1994 1993 1994 1995 1904 1995 1994 

Revenues 5889 56-*: 592 3 5951 5923 594'-) 5051 5986 
Income UJSS) trom operations 114 (32) J80 189 218 194 (46) 255 
Net income (loss) 55 (32) 123 101 1) S 106 (30) 149 
Net income (loss) per common share 

Pnmarv- 66 'v 45; 1 52 1 24 1 44 1,29 (,43) 1 :-!4 
Fuily diluted 61 . 45^ 1 37 1 12 1 31 1 17 (,43) 1 66 

Ratio of eamings to hxed charges 2 39x - 3 42x 3 84x 4,02x 4 04x - 4 61 
Dividends per common share ,375 325 ,375 325 .425 .375 ,425 .375 
Market pnces per common share 
(New York Stock Excfiange' 

High 57V, 69/. 56 . 59 - 70',. 58v; 74'/, 55 
1 50 56 51 . ^0 - 55,. 48.-. 65, 48 

.As .1 res Jli ci a decrease in a state income ux rate er.acied 
durinc the second quaner of 1995. mccmfr ta.*: expense was 
reduced bv $21 m.illion representing the effects of adjusting 
deferred income taxes and the special income tax obligation 
lot tiie rate decrease as required under SFAS 109 (Note 6) 
Without this one-time tax benefit, the Company's net income 
fi"T the ou.irter would have been $102 m.illion ($1,25 and 

- : • •: ire. pnmarv and fully diluted, respectively'! 
L u. -.ŵ  v.c Ic unh quaner of 1995, an asset disposition 
charge reduced income from operations bv $285 million and 
adversely affected the quarters net income by $176 million 
(Note 2' Without the asset dispĉ sition charge, net incorr.e 

would have been 5146 million ($1 82 and $1 65 per share, 
pnmary- and fullv diluted, respectivelv) for the fourth quaner 
of 1995 .After the asset disposuion charge, eamings were ir.suf-
ficient by $56 million lo cover fixed charges for the quaner 

During the first quaner of 1994. the Company recorded a 
chirge of $51 million '.after tax 't5enehts of $33 million) for a 
non-u'iion employee voluntarv- retirement program and relat­
ed costs (Note 9) Without this one-time charge, the 
Companys net income per common share for the quaner 
would have been 5 20, pnmary and $ 19. fully diluted Aher 
this one-time charge, earnings were insufficient by $56 mil­
lion to cover fi.xed charges for the quarter 
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Corporate Officers 

David M. LeVan, 50 
President and Chief Executiie Officer 
Present position since March 16, 1995 Served as President 
and Chief Operating Ofhcer between September 190t and 
March 1995 Served as Executive Vice President between 
November 1993 and September 1994 Served as Senior Vice 
President-Operations between Ji ly 1992 and November 
1993 Served as Senior Vice President-Operating Systems 
and Strategy between November 1991 and June 1992 
Served as Senior Vice President-Corporate Systems between 
November 1990 and November 1991 

Cynthia A. Archer, 42 
Senior Vice PTtsidem-lntermodd Smice Group 
Present position suicc May 1995 Served as General 
Manager-Transportation and Customer Semce of the 
Hamsburg Division between Februarv 1994 and Mav 1995 
Served as Assistant Vice President-Food and Agncultur-
between September 1993 and January 1994 Served as 
Director-Intermodal Business Development between 
Septcm'ner 1991 and August 1993 

H. William Brown, 57 
Senior V ice President-Finance arui .Adminiitrauon 
Present posuion since Apnl 1992 Served as Senior Vice 
President-Finance between April 1986 and Apnl 1992 

Ronald J, Conway, 52 
Senior V ice Pre>id^t-Operii(ion> 
Present posuion since November 1994 Served as Vice 
Presidert-Operations between September 1994 and 
November 1994 Seived as \'icc President-Transportation 
betw-een July 1994 and September 1994 Served as Vice 
President-Intermodal Service Group between November 
1993 and July 1994 Served as ,Assistant \'ice President-
Petrochemicals and Minerals between Apnl 1992 and 
November 1993 Served as General Manager-Philadelphia 
Division between 1989 ^nd Apnl 1992 

Timothy P, Dwyer, 46 
Seruor Vice Prejident-L'rut Train Seriice Group 
Present position snte November 1994 Served as Vice 
Presideni-Unit Train Service Group between November 
1993 and November 199-i Served as General Manager-
Philadelphia Division between Apnl 1992 and November 
1993 Served as Assistant \'ice President-Metals between 
1989 and Apnl 1992 

Frank H, Nichols, 49 
Semor Vice President-Organnaticjruil Performarxce 
Present position since May 1995 Served as Vice 
President-Human Resources between February 1993 and 
May 1995 Served as Assistant \'ice Pfsident-Firunce 
between November 1388 and February 1993 

John P. Sammon, 45 
Senior Vice President-CORE Service Group 
Present position since November 1994 Served as Vice 
President-Intermodal between July 1994 and November 
1994 Served as Assistant Vice President- Intermodal 
betw-een januarv 1988 and July 1994 

George P. Turner, 54 
Seruor Vice Presiden t-Auwmotive Sertice Group 
Present position since November 1994 Served as Vice 
President-.Automotive Service Group between November 
1993 and November 1994 Served as Assisun' Vice 
President-Automotive between Apnl 1992 and November 
1993 Served as Assistant Vice President-Petrochemicals and 
Minerals between March 1990 and Apnl 1992 

Bruce B. Wilson, 60 
Senior Vice President-Lau 
Present position since Apnl 1987, 

Lucy S.L. Amerman, 45 
Vice Presukni-Risk Management* 
Present position since July 1994 Served as Assistan' v'lce 
President-Claims and Litigation between Apnl 1994 and 
July 1994 Served as General Counsel-Litigation between 
March 1990 and March 1994 

Dennis A. Arouca, 44 
Vice Presideni-Labor Relations* 
Present position since May 1994 Served as Panner in the 
law hrm of Pepper Hamilton 6z Scheetz between February-
1986 and May 1994 

John T. Bielan, Jr., 48 
V ice Presideni-Connnuouj Quality Improi-ement* 
Present position smce March 1992 Served as Ass:-iant \'ice 
Presideni-Automotive between Apnl 1989 and March 1992, 
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Gerald T, Gates, 42 
Vice Pre,sideni-Customer Support* 
Present position since Januarv 1996 Served as Vice 
President-Transponation between November 1994 and 
January 1996 Srv-ed as Vice President-Mechanical between 
November 1993 and November 1994 Served as.Assisunt 
Vice President-Operations Planning and Administration 
between July 1992 and November 1993 Served as General 
Manager-lndianapolis Division beiween September 1990 
and July 1992 

Hugh J. Kiley, 43 
Vice Presideni-Senice Desi^ & Ptmrung* 
Present position since January 1996 Served as Assisunt Vice 
President-Performance and Process Management between 
November 1994 and Januarv 1996 Served as Assisunt Vice 
President-Program Management between May 1994 and 
November 1994 Served as Cienerai Manager-National 
Customer Semce Center between November 1990 and 
May 199* 

Craig R. MacQueen, 43 
Vice President - Corporate Communjcauons* 
Present position since June 1995 Served as Assistant Vice 
President-Public Affairs between September 1992 and June 
1995 Sei\'ed as Executive Director-Public Affairs between 
November ,990 and August 1992 

Donald W. Mattson, 53 
Vice President-Conrrofier 
Present position since Apnl 1994 Served as Vice 
President-Treasurer beiween May 1993 and Apnl 1994 
Served as Vice President-Controller between August 1988 
and .May 1993 

John A. McKelvey, 44 
Vice President-Service Delinery* 
Present position since January 1996 Served as Vice 
President-Matenals and Purchasing between Apnl 1994 and 
Januarv 1996 Served as \'ice President-Controller betw-een 
May 1993 and March 1994 Served as Vice President-
Treasurer between 1988 and May 1993 

William 8. Newman, Jr., 45 
Vice President and Veashington Counsel' 
Present position since 1981 

Timothy T. O'Toole, 40 
Vice President and Treasurer 
Present position since Apnl 1994 Served as Vice President 
and General Counsel between May 1989 and Apnl 1994 

Lester M. Passa, 42 
Vice President-Logistics and Corporate Strategy* 
Present position since Mareh 1995 Served as Assistant Vice 
President-Strategic Planning beiween February 1993 and 
March 1995 Served as Director-Intermodal Planning 
beiween October 1991 and January 1993 

Albert M. Polinsky, 49 
Vice President-fn/ormaocm Systems* 
Present position since Apnl 1994 Served as Assistant V'lce 
President-Program Management between December 1993 
and March 1994 Served as Assistant Vice 
President-Marketing Semces between Apnl 1992 and 
December 1993 Served as Director-Information Semces 
between March 1990 and Apnl 1992 

Richard S, Pyson, 54 
Vice Prisident-OperoBons Services* 
Present position since January 1996 Served as Vice 
President-Engineenng between November 1994 and january 
1996 Served as Vice President between Julv 1994 and 
November 1994 Served as Vice President-Transportation 
between Apnl 1992 and July 1994 Served as Vice President-
Engineenng between March 1991 and March 1992 

John M. Samuels. 52 
Vice Presideni-Operaflng Assets* 
Present position since January 1996 Served as Vice 
President-Mectianical between November 1994 and January 
1996 Served as Vice President-Engineenng between .Apni 
1992 and November 1994 Served as \'ice President-
Continuous Quality Improvement between Apnl 1990 
and March 1992 

Allan Schimmel, 55 
CorpoTou Secretary 
Present posuion since July 1980 

• Officer of Consolidated Rail Corpoiation. pnncipal 
subsidiarv of Conrail Inc 
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Board of Directors 

James A,Hagen' 
Chainnan oi the Board 
ot Directors, Conrail Inc 

Finance' 

E. Bradley Jones 
Retired Cfuirman and 
Chief Executive Ofhcer, 
LT\' Steel Co 
Ethics 
Nominating* 

E. Bradley Jones 
Retired Cfuirman and 
Chief Executive Ofhcer, 
LT\' Steel Co 
Ethics 
Nominating* 

H, Furlong Baldwin 
Chaimiat: and Chief 
E,xecutive Officer, 
Mercantile Bankshares 
Corporation 

Compensation 
Finance 

David M, LcVan' 
President and Chief 
Executive Ofhcer 
Conrail Inc 

Finance V; 

H, Furlong Baldwin 
Chaimiat: and Chief 
E,xecutive Officer, 
Mercantile Bankshares 
Corporation 

Compensation 
Finance 

Claude S Brinegar 
Retired \'ice Chairm>an, 
Unocal Corporation 

Audit 
Nominating M 

David B, Lewis 
Chairman. Lewis, White 
& Clay 

Audit* 
Finance H 

Daniel B. Burke 
Retired President and 
Chief Executive Officer. 
Capital Cities-'ABC, Inc 
Ethics 
Nominating 

John C, Marous 
Retired Chairman and Chief 
Executi'-e Officer, 
Westinghouse Elecmc 
Corporation 

Compensation 
Finance 

Daniel B. Burke 
Retired President and 
Chief Executive Officer. 
Capital Cities-'ABC, Inc 
Ethics 
Nominating 

John C, Marous 
Retired Chairman and Chief 
Executi'-e Officer, 
Westinghouse Elecmc 
Corporation 

Compensation 
Finance 

Kathleen Foley 
Feldstein 
President, Economics 
Studies, Inc 

' Ethics* 

Raymond T. Schuler 
Retired 'v'lcc Chairman 
President and Chief 
Executive Officer, The 
B jsiness Council of New 
\c>\V State, Inc 

' Finance Audit 
Nominating 

Roger S, Hillas 
' Retired Chairm.an and Chie' 
, Executive Ofhcer, Mentor 

Saving Bank 

Compensation' 
Finance 

David H, Swanson 
President and Chief 
Executive Officer 
Countrvmark 
Cooperative, Inc 

.Audit 

Roger S, Hillas 
' Retired Chairm.an and Chie' 
, Executive Ofhcer, Mentor 

Saving Bank 

Compensation' 
Finance 

Nominating 
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ELEVEN YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY 

($ In Millions Except Per Share) 1996' 1995- 19943 1993' 1992 1991 ' 1990' 19896 1988 19878 1986 

Revenues $3,714 $ 3,686 $3,733 $3,453 $3,345 $3,252 $3,371 $3,411 $3,490 $3,247 $3,144 
Operating Income (Loss) 601 456 606 591 534 (261) 427 198 482 417 403 
Net Income (Loss) 342 264 324 160 282 (207) 247 148 306 299 431 

Per Common Shared 
Primary 4.25 319 3,90 1,82 3 28 (2,70) 2,55 1,09 2,22 2,17 3,27 
Fully Diluted 3.89 2,94 3,56 1 70 2,99 (2,70) 2,39 1,09 2,22 2,17 327 

Dividends Per 
Common Share- 1.80 1,60 1,40 1,20 1,00 ,85 ,75 ,65 ,55 ,25 -

Capital Expenditures $ 478 $ 494 $ 508 $ 650 $ 491 $ 398 $ 381 $ 678 $ 577 $ 472 $ 578 
Average Freight Employees 21,280 23,510 24,033 25,406 25,380 25,852 27.787 31,574 32,816 33,437 35,476 

At Oecember 31 
Cash and Temporary 

Cash Investments $ 30 $ 73 $ 43 $ 38 $ 40 $ 135 $ 153 $ 502 $ 666 $ 632 $ 847 
Working Capital (Deficit) 25 36 (76) (13) (469) (286) (216) 153 398 426 733 
Total Assets 8,402 8,424 8,322 7,94P 7,315 7,09r< 7,245 7,471 7.224 6.796 6,776 
Long-Term DeDt 1,876 1,911 1,940 1,059 1,577 1,637 1,680 857 850 826 1,705 
Redeemable Preferred Stock - - - - - - - - - - 2,330 
Stockholders' Equity 3,107 2,977 2,925 2,784 2,748 2,66' 2,929 4,044 4,043 3,825 1,784 

I Net ifKone mciuoes t^e e^«t$ ol a one-tirr^e cJiArg« lo- non-unior employe* voluntary eany reti^efneni ar^ seoaritior programs aoc related costs anc ex.-)enses incurrtc 
as a resjh o* the croposeo merger «»tfi CSJc See Notes 2 and 3 to tne Consolidated Fmanoa' Staiements 

J Ne; inco«ne inckioes t^e el*ec1 o* a one-tm-ie asset disixjsition cnarge ana a one-time Ux beneW 'elated to a i f . c t ,* in a state income ta< rite See Notes ' 0 and 7 tc 
the C>nsoi<3ated financ.a Stater.'.ents 

3 Nei income includes the ertects c' a ooe-time charge »oi a nonjnior. empioyae voluntify retiremem program and related co*t». See Note ' I to the ContoliOaTed 
Financial Sutements 

4 Net income includes the el'ects o' ar esImaiM net loss on tne Oispoiition o' a suOsidiafy. S5C million, the maeaae m the tederal corpofile Kome t*« rate, $34 mili.on. 
and the adoption ol reoui-ed changes ir accounting for mcome taxes and postretirement benefits other than perttions. $74 millicv 

5 Includes the e«ect$ ol a '-992 h»o-lo'.one common stock spin 

6 A 1991 special charge o> $7 '9 mliior 'ecjcea net rcorne By $447 m*on A 1989 special charge ol $J34 million reducad net income by $147 million 

7 In I99C. the Compar, completev a financ a restrjciunng pian i t - x t incijdeo a Dutch auction tenaer offer, the establishment ot an empio/ee stoc* ownership plar lor r.nn-
unKxi employees ana a related ope-- ma-ke* corrmon SIOCK pu'chase p'ograr-. 

8 The Company 's I nancia. position anc results of operations after '• 986 were signficantly (ffected by dwigct reauNmg frcm- tne u M ol the US Govammenri 65% ownar-
sn.p o ' tfie Companys c o m n o n stocK 

NET I N C O M E C O M M O N S T O C K M A R K E T D I V I O E N D S PER 
P € K C O M M O N S H A f K ( V E A R END) r%. C O M M O N S H A R E 
$ Per S-,a.e • O O K V A L U E $ Pef Share 

$ Per Share 

nMffl wM 
P-JK 0 * j i t c wftrw^jt one t im* c/W9»» 

m f g t i ccsts ' M € ano 
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C O R P O R A T E H I G H U G H T S 

March 
Detroit shippers gam direct access to the leading hub for North Atlantic intermodal 
shipments when Conrail begins double-stack service between the Motor City and the 
Port of New York-Ne.v Jersey, The five-day a week service to the Port's on-dock 
ExpressRail container facility is especially attractive to exporters of automotive carts 
and related equipr.er.*, 

April 
The annua! Corporate Conference begins its two-day program on April 1, the date of 
Conrails 20th anniversary Among other activities, the conference honors nine labor-man­
agement 'earns from across the system for their efforts in promoting safety, customer sat­
isfaction, erT,,-iloyee development asset uhlization and growth, 

Conrail's double-stack network expands to include The Ports of Philadelphia and Camden 
with the Stan ot service to the AmenPort facility. With the new service Philadelphia 
becomes one of only two Northeastern ports with the ability to handle full high-cubic 
capacity double-stack trams. The $97 million program to create a double-stack route 
across Pennsylvania completed the previous fall - the largest engineering project in 
Conrail's history - makes the service possible. 

Several existing short line partners join Conrail in introducing Conrail Express a feeder 
system similar to that used by major airlines serving smaller markets through commuter 
airlines. Conrail Express coordinates the efforts of Conrail and short lines more closely 
than ever before to improve sen/ice and < nhance growth opportunities for customers and 
communities on hght density lines. By the ond of the year, about 20 short lines and reqion-
ai railroads operate under the Conrai! Express banner 

Applications to participate in the voluntary separation and voluntary retirement programs 
announced earher m February are accepted from over 840 employees. 

May 
Conrail recognizes shippers for their role in the safe delivery of hazardous material 
products at the annual "Conrail Diamond Drop Award For Flawless Shipping" cpremony. 
Twenty-six customers earn the award by shipping at least 1,000 carloads of hazardous 
matenals in a year without a single shipper-caused incident When the award program 
started in 1988, only seven s: uppers earned the honor, 

David M, LeVan is elected Chairman of Conrail, succeeding James A, Hagen, who retires 
immediately following tne annual shareholders' meeting. 

After permits are obtained, full scale construction begins for the $43 million Shire Oaks 
project a critical element m Conrail's coal industry growth strategy The project will signifi­
cantiy improve efficiency, as-̂ et utilization and capacity in serving Pittsburgh Seam produc­
ers in southwestern Penrsylvania and nearby West Virginia The new facilities will funnel 
unit trains to and fror, the mines and will also handle reiateo car inspection and repair 
activities. The won, also includes installation of advanced coirmumcation and signal 
systems along the .Monongahela Line, which connects the mines and Shire Oaks with 
the rest of Conrail's system. Although the project will not be completed until September 
1997 Conrai, and customers begin to reap benefits from the project as track capacity is 
expanded throughout 199b, 

Export Express begins with non-stop sen/ice from Chicago to th'- ExpressRail facility at 
the Port Newark-Port Elizabeth rnanne terminal. Export Express offers the quickest transit 
time in the rail industry for Atlantic exports, making the Chicago-North Jersey run in 32 
hours with stops only for crew changes and locomotive refueling 

June 
To entice shipments from highway to rail, Conrai! reduces prices for westbound boxcar 
shipments of canned, packaged and bottled noods. The new "Every Day Low Pncmg" 
program offers shippers savings of about 50 percent from what truckers charge. The 
additional westbound Lackhaul traffic will help Conrail make better use of the'boxcar fleet 

CONRAIL INC 
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July 
Conrail's attempt to acquire trie eastern lmes of the Southern Pacific Railroad ends as the 
Surface Transportation Board approves the Union Pacific-Southern Pacific merger without 
requiring divestiture of those eastern lines. 

National agreements between the rail mdustry and several major unions avert the 
possibility of a national rail work stoppage. 

Operation Lifesaver Express takes to the rails to visit the New York State Fair, It is one of 
a number of trips by the speciai tram this spring and summer through Indiana. New York. 
Ohio, and Pennsylvania to emphasize the need for greater public safety awareness at rail-
road-high'way crossings. Joining Conrail and Operation Lifesaver officials on the tnps are 
local and regional public safety and law enforcement representatives. 

September 
Wth the start of the new academic year, seven additional colleges offer the Associates 
Degree m Railroad Management sponsored by Conrail for its employees. By the start 
of the January 1997 semester, the program will have enrolled more than 200 Conrail 
employees at 13 different campuses in Indiana. New Jersey, Ohio, and Pennsylvania 

New TRACNET multipurpose traiiiing centers introduced at three major yards and corpo­
rate headquarters also foster em.ployee education, growth and development The centers 
offer a variety of framing programs, mclud'r.g instructor-led, self-paced distance-learning 
and multimedia computer-based courses. 

October 
Conrail and CSX agree to a pro-competitive, strategic merger-of-equals. The new trans­
portation company will offe; much more extensive smgle-lme rail semce opportunities to 
shippers and receivers in 22 states. Eight days later, Norfoik Southern announces a hostile 
offe' for Conr?il, 

A new monthly record for mtermodal volume is set: more than 162,600 trailer and 
contamer shipments, an 8,1 percent increase over the 150,400 shipments in October 
1994. Along with the general increase in economic activity, a steady stream of new 
intermoda! products - including service extensions into Kansas City and Minneapolis -
contributes to the record. 

Helping to handle that increased mtermodal volume (and attract mere busmess) is 
a new hub serving the Pittsburgh area The new terminal at Pitcairn completes the 
network of facilities necessary to support the double-stacK route across Pennsylvania 
opened m 1995, 

January 1997 
Conrail and Guilford Rail System launch DownEast Express, direct intermodal service link­
ing Maine to U,S. markets m the Midwest and Southeast DownErist Exprf-:s, originating at 
Wate-ville m central Maine, connects Mame shippers to markets '.hat previously had been 
available only by truck. 

March 1997 
Conrail and CSX amend their merger agreement increasing the consideration to $11 5 in 
cash per Conrail share. Conrail shareholders will receive, no later than June 2, 1997 $115 
in cash per Conrail share through a CSX tender offer, Al' the Conrail stock acquired by 
CSX in the tender offer wih be placed m a voting trust pending the outcome of the 
Surface Transportation Board's regulatory review. It is anticipated that CSX and Norfolk 
Southern will negotiate an appropriate division of Conraii's assets. 
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY 

NET MCOME 
$ in millions 

264 419 34? 43S 

Withoet ofie-tim* charges »nd me*©** 
costs IT 1996 and the one-lim« tv 
fnefn tn 199b 

REVENUES 
$ in millions 

3,6*6 3,714 

M 
UMTS 
(FREK3HT CARS 
AND INTERMOOAL 
TRAILERS AND 
CONTAINERS) 
in thousands 

3 »e8 4,073 

M 

For 1996, Conrail's net income was $342 million compared with $264 million 

for 1995, including unusual Items. Exduding the unusual items, Conrail would 

have earned $435 million ($4.96 per share, fully diluted basis) for 1996, an 

increase of nearly four percent in net income and nearly six percent in 

eamings per share when compared with $419 million ($4.69 per share, fully 

diluted basis) in net income for 1995 also excluding the unusual items. 

Freight volume (freight cars and intermodal trailers/containers) increased 

2.1 percent in 1996 and operating revenues increased 0.75 percent After 

beginning the year with increased costs; due to severe winter weather, Conrail 

finished 1996 on a strong note, with three consecutive quarters of record 

resuiu in net income, earnings per share and operating rat«o (operating 

expenses as a percentage of revenues). The operating ratio decreased .*,o 79.7 

percent for 1996 from 79.9 for 1995 (exduding unusual Items In i.̂ oth years). 

Please turn to the Management's Discussion and Analysis section of this 

report, beginning on page 6, for a detailed discussion of finandal results. 
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TO O U R S H A R E H O L D E R S 

Nothing defines the qualities of Conrail ano its people 
better than their response after severe winter weather hit 
Conrail hard last year The most striking image from that 
winter; a 122-ca' tram trapped for two days after ice 
floes jumped the banks along 3 two-mile stretch of 
the Susquehanna River m Pennsylvania But to Con'aii 
people, winter is just another challenge We dug m, dug 
out. and earned the appreciation of our customers by 
keeping the freight moving 

Those extraordmary efforts, necessarily led to extraordi­
nary costs With the same extraordinary levei of dedication 
and perseverance that triumphed over the ice, Conrail 
emerged from that wmtry first quarter to post three con­
secutive quarters of record financia' results m net income, 
earnings per sha'e ana operating ratio. 

That IS an achievement of which o j r employees, our 
company, and our shareholders, can be justly proud. 

Dedication and perseverance have been hallmarks 
of Ccnrail since its founding The^ contm-ue today as 
strony a ever Others may lose sight of long-term goals 
to become subsumed by the crisis ot the day or week 
or month. Not Conrail, The Company and its people 
have mamtaineo a steaoy course That continuity of 
focus has led to a return to shareholders of more than 
640 percent since our inception ,n 1987 as a public 
company That return is 750 percent when reinvested 
dividends are considered 

The ded.catior- and perseverance of Conraii employees 
has helped bu'lc ong term econom'C value for ati of our 
constituencies: shareholders, customers employees and 
the comnunifies we serve But dedication and persever­
ance alorie could not maintain Conrail's identity as an 
indepenoeif company Although Conrail's board and 
managerrent would have preferrea for the system to 
remain mtact through a strategic merger-of-equais 
with CSX, ci'cumstances preventeJ that from happen.ng 
However, we succeedec m negotiating the best possible 
transaction for all of Conrail's constituencies. 

Throughout the trans tion process. Conrai; will maintain 
its focus on the need for continued improvement m safe^; 
growth, asset utilization, and emplovee development anc 
productivity 

The same combination of dedication and pe'severance 
that heloec Conrai eme'ge from the wmt^' of 1995-96 
st'onger than ever is necessary to continue makmg signifi­
cant strides m safety Last ye"r, lost-time employee injuries 
dropped more than 20 percent when compared to 1995. 
This achiekement is disappointing only m the context of 
the lofty goals we set for ourselves. 

VVe can be nr less oemandmg this year For 1997, 
our goa' s ar;z r. to rejuce injuries by 50 percent 
Management is committed to helpir>g ou ' employees 
ach eve this aoal, and we wil use al' the too s we have 

available to meet and exceed it These tools include 
extensive programs to: recognize and reward safe Behav­
ior; align management incentive compensation with work 
group safety achieve.ment^: and tram employees m safe 
work practices 

A critical aspect of our safety and other risk manage­
ment programs is to educate managers and employees 
alike to the cost-of-nsk concept and to help them identify 
it in their activities. 

As good as Conrail has been at driving down its costs 
and usmg its assets more effectively, we have also applied 
Our dedication and perseverance to delivering consistent 
service and a continuous stream of new products 

New product offenngs conS'Stent servnce and continued 
improvement m safety all reiy on the qualities and capabili­
ties of our people. They not only made possible our finan­
cial recover following last winter's storms, but have pow­
ered Conrail's success in overcoming many of the chal­
lenges the Company has faced over tne years, 

Conrail's presence on the rail transportation scene has 
been short, but its impact has been 'arge. Our people took 
a long neglec*ed plant and turned it iiuo a first-class rail­
road Our people led the fight for the Staggers Rail Act of 
1980 and deregulation - a fight which finally let railroads 
compete with trucks and allowed railroads to begm the 
remarkable renaissance that today makes them vital 
contributors to ou' nation's economy. Our people fought 
off the federa' government's att-impt to sei' Conrail to 
the Nortolk Southern m the mid-1980s - and aliowed 
Conrail to demonstrate that Eastern railroading could 
deliver real value to our shareholders and our shippers. 
In short our people made Conrail. To them, I say thank 
you and well done' 

Although Corira I s name will disappea' from the ranks of 
operating railroads, the achievements of Conrail's people 
and their rich legacy to the industry and our corporate suc­
cessors, will not be forgotten. 

David M. LeVan 
Chairman, President and Chef Executive Officer 
March 8. 1997 
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MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF 
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND R E S U L T S O F OPERATIONS 

Overview 
Conrail's net income for 1996 was $342 million, compared with $264 million for 1995 
and $324 million for 1994, Results for 1996 include a one-time charge of $83 million 
(net of $52 million of tax benefits) related to voluntary separation programs and related 
costs and merger-related expenses of $10 million (net of $6 milt.on of tax benefits) 
incurred in connection with tne proposed merger with CSX Corporation ("CSX") (see 
Notes 3 and 2, respectively to the Consolidated Financial Statements), Without these 
charges, net income for 1996 would have been $435 million. 

The results for 1995 include the effects of a $285 million asset disposition charge 
($176 million after income taxes) and the recognition of a $21 million reduction m income 
taxes related to a decrease in a state tax rate (see Notes 10 and 7, respectively, to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements), Results for 1994 include a one-time charge of $51 
million (net of tax benefits of $33 million) for a non-union early retirement program and 
related costs (see Note 11 to the Consolidated Financial Statements). Absent the one­
time items, Conrail's net income for 1995 and 1994 would have been $419 million and 
$375 million, respectively 

Traffic volumes and operating revenues increased 2 .1% and ,8%. respectively m 1996 
compared with 1995, Lower than anticipated revenue growth and higher than expected 
operating expenses resulted m an operating ratio (operating expenses as a percent of 
revenues) of 83,8%, Excluding the voluntary separation programs charge and merger-
related costs, Conrail's operating ratio was 7 9 7 % compared with the Comp-^ny's 1996 
operating ratio goal of 775%, The difficult operating conditions caused by severe weati.ijr 
experienced over most of the Company's service area during the first quarter of 1996, 
higher fuel pnces and declines m equipment utilization all contributed to the increase 
in operating expenses in 1996 as compared with those that were planned foi 1996, 
The 1995 operating ratio, excluding the asset disposition charge, was 79,9%, 

For 1995 versus 1994, traffic volume and operating revenues decreased 5,4% 
and 1,3%, respectively, while operating expenses, excluding one-time charges, 
decreased 3,2%, 

Proposed Merger 
On October 14 1996, Conrail, CSX and a subsidiary of CSX entered into an Agreement 
and Ran of Mcger (as amended, the "Merger Agreement"), pursuant to which Conrail was 
to be merged with a subsidiary of CSX in a merger-of-equals transaction. 

On October 24, 1996, Norfolk Southern Corporation ("Norfolk") commenced an 
unsolicited tender offer for all outstanding Conrail voting stock at $100 per share m 
caish, Norfolk has sine.? increased its offer to $115 per share m cash. 

On November 20, 1'-596, CSX concluded its first tender offer and purchased approxi­
mately 19,9% of Conrail's outstanding shares for $110 per share. 

On Decem.ber 18, 1996, CSX and Conrail entered into a second amendment to the 
Mernc. Agreement (the "Second Amendment') that would, among other things, (i) increase 
the consideration payable pursuant to the merger, (n) acceleiate the consumm,ation of the 
merger to immediately following the receipt of applicable shareholder approvals and prior 
to Surface Transportation Board ("STB") approval and (m) extend until December 31 , 
1998. an exclusivity penod during which the Conrail Board agreed not to withdraw or 
modify its recommendations of the CSX transactions, approve or recommend any takeover 
proposal or cause Conrail to ente' into any agreement related to any takeover proposal. 

On January 13. 1997 Norfolk issued a press release announcing that if would offer to 
purchase .shares representing 9.9% of the outstandmg shares for $ 115 per share, in the 
event that Conrail shareholders did not approve a proposal to opt out of a Pennsylvania 
statute (the 'Opt Oi i Proposal") at the meeting of shareholders to be held on Janua^ 17, 
1997 (the "Special Shareholders Meetmg"), 

On January 17 1997 Conrail shareholders voted at the Special Shareholders Meeting 
against the Opt Out Proposal 
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On February 4, 1997 the amended Norfolk tender offer expired, and Norfolk subse­
quently purchased approximately 8,2 million shares pursuant thereto. 

On March 7 1997 Conrail and CSX entered into a Third Amendment (the "Third 
Amendment") to the Merger Agreement. Puisuant to the Third Amendment (i) the 
pnce per share has been increased from $1 10 to $1 15, and the number of shares to be 
purchased m the tender offer has been increased to all outstanding shares. The tender 
offer IS scheduled to close Apnl 18, 1997 (subject to extension Dy CSX tc June 2, 1997 
whether cr not the conditions have been satisfied), (i;) the consideration pa'd per share 
in the merger for ali remaining outstanding shares following consummation of the offer 
has been increased to $1 1 5 in cash and (in) the conditions to the offer relatmg to certain 
provisions of Pennsylvania law becoming inapplicable to Conra I and relatmg pendmg 
governmental actions oi proceedings have beer- deleted. 

The Third Amendment also provides that CSX will have sole control over the regulatory 
approval process and will he free to conduct by itself discussions with other railroads, 
includmc Norfolk, relating to compet.t ve issues raised by the CSX transactions, and to 
enter into any resulting agreement It is anticipated that CSX and Norfolk will negotiate an 
appropriate division of Conrail's assets; however, neither the pending CSX tender offer noi 
the me-ger is conditioned or CSX s reaching an agreement with Norfolk, 

Pursuant to the Third Amendment three members of Conrail's Board of Directors 
approved by CSX shall be mvited to join the CSX Board of Directors and a transition team 
will be established, the leadership of which will include senior executive officers of CSX 
and Conrail to ensure the orderly operation of Conrail dunng the i^gulatory approval 
process and an orderly transition thereafter 

Under the Third Amendment Conrail and CSX agreed to reduce from December 31 , 
1998 to December 31, 1997 the penod of time during which the Conrail Board is prohib­
ited from (i) w thdrawing or modifying, or publicly proposing to withdraw c modify, its 
approval or re ommendation r f the CSX transactions, in a manner adverse to CSX. (n) 
approving or recommending, or publicly proposing to approve or recommend, any compet­
ing proposal or (lii; causing Conrail to enter into any agreement related to any such com­
petmg proposal 

Under the Merger Agreement as amended, Conrail may terminate the Merger 
Agreement ir the e>rent that after June 2, 1997 CSX fails to consummate the tender offer 
for any reason other than the non-occurrence of any condition to the tender offer In the 
event that CSX fails to consummate the tender offe' under such circumstances, Con,'ail 
will be entitled to exercise any additional remedies it may have 

The ful: terms and conditions of the CSX and Norfolk offers and Conrail's position with 
respect to the CSX and Norfolk offers are set forth m documents filed by Conrail with the 
Secuntie.i and Exchange Commission 

1997 Outlook 
Con,rail expects the economy to grow in 1997 at about the same growth rate expenenced 
in 1996. Conrail s 1997 plans are based on assumptions of 2 2% growtr, m real gross 
domestic product and 3.4% growth in industrial production, Conrail's outlook for 1997 
includes line haul revenue g-owt"i of between 2.5% and 3.5%. Conrail s operating ratio 
goa' f." 1997 is 78.5% 

Voluntary Separation Programs 
Durmc tne second quarter ot 1996, the Company recorded a charge of $135 m.liion 
(before tax benefits of $52 million) consistng of $102 million m termination benefits to be 
paid to non-union employees participating m the voluntary retirement and separation pro-
grans (\oluntary separation programs') and losses of $33 million on non-cancelable leas­
es 'or office space no longer required as a result of the reduction m the Company's work­
force Over 840 applications were accepted from eligible employees under the voluntary 
separation programs. Approximately $90 n. liion of the termination tienefits are bemg paid 
from the Company's overfunded pension plan. 

1996 REVENUE 
DlSnaBUTKM 
by Service Group 
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Results of Operations 
1996 Compared with 1995 

Net income for 1996 was $342 million ($4.25 per share, primary and $3.89 per share, 
fully diluted) compared with 1995 net income of $264 million ($3,19 per share, primary 
and $2,94 per share, fully diluted). Excluding the unusual items (see "Overview") m both 
years, Conrail s net income would have been $435 million ($5,45 per share, primary 
and $4,96 per share, fully diluted) for 1996 and $419 million ($5,16 per share, 
primary and $4.69 per share, fully diluted) for 1995. 

Operating revenues (primarily freight Ime haul revenues, but also including switchmq, 
demurrage and incidental revenue) increased $28 million, or ,8%, to $3,714 million in 
1996 from $3,686 million in 1995, A 2,1% increase in traffic volume in units (freight cars 
and intermodal trailers and containers) resulted in a $74 million increase in revenues. 
Average revenue per unit decreased revenues by $42 million due to an unfavorable traffic 
mix, A traffic volume increase of 7,6% was experienced by the Intermodal Service Group 
while traffic volume for the Unit Train Service Group remained unchinged. The Automotive 
and CORE service groups experienced traffic volume decimes of 1 7% and 1,6%, respec­
tively. Within the CORE Service Group, traffic volume declines were experienced by three 
of the four commodity groups; Forest and Manufactured Products, 5,3%: Food and Ag­
riculture, 2,8%; and Petrochemicals, 2,5%, Metals experienced a traffic increase of 4,0%, 

Operating expenses (including one-time charges and merger-related costs in 1996 and 
the asset disposition charge m 1995) decreased $117 million, or 3,6%. from $3,230 mil­
lion in 1995 to $3,113 million m 1996. The following table sets forth the operating 
expenses for the two years: 

(In Millions) 1996 1995 
Increase 

(Decrease) 

Comjjensation and benefits $1,206 $1,249 $(43) 
Fuel 202 168 34 
Material and supplies 175 ier 8 
Equipment rents 382 356 27 
Depreciation and amortization 2S3 203 (10) 
Casualties and insurance 176 175 1 
Other 554 538 16 
'Voluntary separation programs 135 135 
Asset disposition charge 285 (285) 

$3,113 $3,230 $1 17 

Compensation and benefits decreased $43 million, or 3.4%, as a result of reductions 
in employment levels and other employee-related costs. These decreases were partially 
offset by increased wage rates due to new labor agreements, mort ised tram crew costs 
and overtime caused by adverse weather conditions experienced dunng t^e f:rst quarte' 
of 1996. Compensation ano benefits as a nercent of --evenues was 32,5% m ^996 as 
compared with 33,9% in 1995. 

Fuel costs increased $34 million, or 20.2%, due mostly to higher fuel prices. 
Equipment rents increased $27 million, or 76%, primarily as a result of declines in 

equipment utilization and increased car hire rates. 
Other operating expenses increased $16 million, or 3,0'/o. primarily due to $16 million 

of costs incurred m connection with the proposed merger with CSX (see Note 2 tc the 
Consolidated Financial Statements). 

Ccnrail recorded a one-t:me pre-tax charge cf $135 million in 1996 f c the voluntary 
separation programs and related costs (set Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements) and an asset disposition charge of $285 million in 1995 (see Note 10 to 
the Consolidated Fmanc.al Statements). 

Conrail's operating ratio was 83.8% for 1996, compared with 87.6% for 1995. Without 
the one-time charges recorced in 1996 and 1995 ard the merger-reiatea costs incurred 
in 1996, the operating ratios would have been 79,7% and 79,9%, respectively, 
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Other income decreased $18 million, or 13,8%, from $130 million in 1995 to $112 
million in 1996 primarily due to decreases in renta' .ncome and lesser gams from sales 
of property. 

The Company's effective income tax rate for 1996 was 35,6% compared with 3 2 7 % 
for 1995, The lower effective rate m 1995 is primarily caused by a $21 million reduc­
tion m income taxes as a result of a decrease in state income taxes (see Note 7 to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements) 

1995 Compared with 1994 
Net income for 1995 was $264 million ($3.19 per share, pnmary and $2.94 pei sha'e, 
fully diluted) compared with 1994 net income of $324 million (1 ',90 per share, primary 
and $3.56 per stiare, fully diluted). Excluding tne one-time charges (see "Overview") in 
both years and the one-time tax benefit in 1995, Conrail's net income would have been 
$419 million ($5.16 per share, pnmary and $4.69 per share, fully diluted) for 1995 
and $375 million ($4.54 per share, primary and $4.13 per sha.e, fully diluted) for 1994, 

Operating revenues decreased $47 million, or 1.3%, from $3,733 million in 1994 to 
$3,686 million m ^995. A 5 4% decrease m traffic volume in units resulted in a $191 
million decrease m revenues which was partially offset by an increase m average rev­
enue per unit that increased revenues by $140 million The improvement in average 
revenue per unit resulted from increases m average rates, $117 million, and a favorable 
traffic mix, $23 million. Traffic volume decreases were experienced by three of the four 
seivice groups, with only Automotive showing a slight volume increase of ,8%, Traffic 
volume declines fo' the other service groups were as follows; Intermodal, 73%; Unit 
Tram, 5,4%; and CORE, 5.1% Withir the CORE Service Group, traffic volume declines 
were also experienced by each of the commodity groups: Food and Agriculture. 8,2%, 
Petrochemicals, 4,6%: Metals. 4,0%; ani.' Forest and Manufactured Products, 3.90/c. 

Operating expenses increased $103 mi'ion. or 3.3%, from $3,127 million in 1994 
to $3,230 million in 1995 The following table sets forth the operating expenses for 
the two vears 

COMPENSA'nON ANO 
IB£NEFITS AND 
0<»EltATMG RA'nO (%) 

U « t l S t T t 7ge U ( 7«7 

M7 M l M*i 32 5 

ftjlnJlrLrL 
t m » I t M > M i iM f t 1«M t « M 

CowpaoMtKy and Mn« f iu r»,lo 

OPERATMG RATIO 

w ActuAJ 

» W4hout on*-itfn« char^M 

and rvwrg«f coat* n 1 M < 

(In Millions) 1995 1994 
Increase 

(Decrease) 

Compensation and benefits $1,249 $1,260 $ (11) 
Fuel 168 188 (20) 
Matenal and supplies 167 203 06) 
Eguipment rents 355 381 (26) 
Depreciation and amortization 293 278 15 
Casualties and insurance 175 134 (0) 
Other 538 549 (11) 
Asset disposition charge 285 

84 
285 

Early retirement program 84 (84) 

$3,230 $3 127 $ 103 

Compensation and benefits costs decreased $1 1 mil'ion, or ,9%, as a result of a 5,3% 
reduction in employment levels, which exceeded the increases m wage rates and fringe 
Denefit costs. C<-mpensation and benefits as a percent of reve"ues was 33,9% in 1995 
compared with 33,7% in 1994, 

Fuel costs decreased $20 mnll.on, or 10,6%, as a result of greater use o' newer fuel 
efficient locomotives, iowc average fuel pr.ces and lower traffic volume 

The decrease of $36 million, or 177%, m material and supphes costs was pnmanly attnb­
utable to a lower level of repar and maintenance expenditures related to lower traffic volume. 

Equipment rents decreased $26 million, or 6,8%, primarily as a result of fewer foreign 
cars on Conrai!s lmes a'd impro/ed equipment utilization, partially offset by the increased 
costs associated with new operating leases for equipment 

C O N R A I L I N C . 

708 



Depreciation and amortization increased $15 mill on, or 5 4%, due to asset additions 
and increased depreciation rates for track structure as a result of a depreciation study 
required by the former Interstate Commerce Commission. 

Conrail recorded an asset disposition charge of $285 million m 1995 (see Note 10 
to the Consolidated Financial Statements) and a one-time pre-tax charge of $84 million 
in 1994 fo' the non-union voluntary early retirement program and related costs (see Note 
11 to the Consolidated Financial Statements) 

Conrail's operating ratio was 87.6% for 1995, compared with 83,8% for 1994, Without 
the $285 million asset disposition charge in 1995 and the $84 million charge for the early 
retirement program in 1994, the r^perating ratios for 1995 and 1994 would have been 
79,9% and 81,5%, respectively 

Other income, net increased $12 million, or 10,2%, pnmarily due to an $8 million 
gam from a property sale completed dunng the second quarter of 1995, 

The Company's effective income tax rate for 1995 was 32,7% compared with 39 ,1% 
for 1994. The lower rate reflects the efect of a $21 million reduction in income taxes 
resulting from a decrease in a state income tax rate enacted during the second quarter 
of 1995 (see Note 7 to the Consolidated Financial Statements) 

Liquidity and Capital Resources 
Conrail's cash and cash equivalents decreased $43 million, from $73 million at December 
31 , 1995 to $30 million at Oecember 31, 1996, Cash generated from operations, princi­
pally from its wholly-owned subsidiary. Consolidated Rail Corporation ("CRC"), and borrow­
ings are Conrail's pnncipa! sources of liquidity and are used primarily for capital expendi­
tures, debt service, and dividends Operating activities provided cash of $669 million in 
1996 compared with $773 million in 1995 and $697 million in 1994, In 1996, loans 
from and redemptions of insurance policies provided cash of $95 million and issuance 
of long-term debt provided cash of $26 million. The principal uses of cash m 1996 were 
for propei ty and equipment acquisitions, $387 million, payment of long-term debt includmg 
capital lease and equipment obligations, $184 million, cash dividends on preferred and 
common stock, $171 million, and the repurchase of common stock, $156 million. 

Working capital (current assets less current liabilities) of $25 million existed at 
Decemtier 31, 1996, compared with $36 million at Decemtser 31 , 1995 Management 
believes that Conrail's financial position allows it jufficient access to credit sources on 
investment grade terms, and, f necessary, additional intermediate or long-term debt could 
be issued for additional wori< ng capital requirements. 

In April 1995, the Company's Board of Directors approved a $250 million multi-year 
stock repurchase program. During 1996, the Company acquired 2,225,738 shares for 
$156 million under this program As a result of the proposed merger agreement with 
CSX (see Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements) the (Company will not make 
any additional stock repurchases under this program. 

During 1996, CRC issued an additional $139 million of comme-cial paper and repaid 
$129 million Of the $199 million outstanding at December 31 , 1996, $100 million is 
classified as long-term debt smce it is expected to be refinanced through SLibsequent 
issuances cf commercial paper and is supported by the $500 million uncollateralized 
bank credit agreement 

At December 31 , 1996, $312 million remains available tc Conrail and CRC under a 
1993 shelf registration statement whereby CRC can 'ssue debt securities and ConraH 
can issue both convertible debt and equity securities. 

In April 1996. CRC issu'?d $50 milhon of Pass-Through Certificates at a rate of 6.96% 
to finance equipment Although the certificates are not direct obligations of, or guaranteed 
by CRC, amounts payabL' under related caprtal leases will be sufficient to pay principal 
and II terest on the certificates. 

In July 1996. CRC issued $26 T.illion of 1996 Equipment Trust Certificates, Senes A with 
interest rates ranging from 6.(y/: to 748%. matunng annuallv f.om 1997 to 2011. The certifi­
cates were ,.;s'jed to finance approximately 85% of the purchase pnce of twenty locomotives 
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In June 1996. CRC Dorroweo $69 million agamst the cash surrender value of the 
company-owned hfe insurance policies which it maintains on certain of its non-union 
employees. The Company also redeemed the remaming excess cash surrender value 
o* $26 million Both transactions resulted in an increase of $95 million in cash m 1996. 

Capital Expenditures 
Capital expenditures totaled $478 milnon, $494 million and $508 million m 1996, 
1995 and 1994, respectively Of these totals, Conrail directly financed $108 million 
in 1996, $ 126 million in 1995 and $57 million in 1994 

Capital expenditures for 1997 -ire expected to be approximately $550 million. 

Inflation 
Generally accepted accounting principles require the use ot hiitoncal costs in preparing 
financial statements This approach does not consider the effects of inflation on the costs 
of replacing assets The replacement cost of Conrail s property and equipment is substan­
tially higher than its histoncai cost basis Similarly depreciation expense on a replacement 
cost basis would be substantially m excess of the amount recorded under generally 
accepted accounting principles. 

Environmental Matters 
Conrais operations anc p'operty are subject to various federal, state and local laws regu­
lating the environment CRC is a party to numerous proceedings brought by regulatory 
agencies and private parties under federal, state and local laws, mciudmg Superfund laws, 
and has also received inquiries from governmental agencies with iespect to other potential 
environmental issues. As of December 31. 1996, CRC had received, together with other 
companies, notices of its involvement as a potentially responsible party or requests for 
information under the Superfund law.̂  with respect to cleanup and/or removal costs due 
to its status as an alleged transporter, generator or property owne' at 135 locations 
throughout the country Hcwever, based on currently available I'rformation, Conrail believes 
CRC may have some potential responsibihty at only 61 of these sites. Due to the riumber 
of parties involved at many of these sites, the wide range of costs of the possible remedia­
tion alternatives, changing technology and tne length of time over which these matters 
develop, it IS not always possible to estimate CRC's liability for the costs associated with 
the assessment and remediation of contaminated sites. At December 31, 199C, Conrail 
hac accrued $55 million for estimated future environmental expenses. Although Conrail's 
operating results and liquid ty couid be significantly afffccted m any quarterly or annual 
reportmg period in which CRC was held principally liable m certain of these actions, 
Conrail believes the uitmate liability for these matters will not materially affect its financial 
condition (See Note 13 to the Consoi'dated Financial Statements). 

Con'ail spent $1 1 million, $14 million ana $3 mi'iior in 1996, "^95 and 1994, 
respectiviily, for environmental remediation and related costs and anticipates spending 
an amount comparable to that spent in 1996 during 1997 In addition, Conrail's capital 
expenditures for environmental control and abatement projects were approximately 
$6 million in 1995 and 1995, and $5 million m 1994, and are anticipated to be 
approximately $10 million m 1997 

Conrail has an Environmental Quality Department the miss'on of which is to institute 
and promote compliance with environmentally sound operating practices and tc monitor 
and assess •he status of sites where liability unaer environmental laws may exist 

Other Matters 
Except for the historical information contained herein, the matters discussed m this repoi 
are forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties that may cause actual 
results to differ including but not limited to the effect of economic conditions, competition, 
regulation and weather on Conrail's oper-^tions, customers, sen^ice and prices, anc other 
factors discussed e:sewheie m this report ana, fiom time tc time, in other reports filed with 
the Securities and Exchange Commission, 

CAPITAL EXPENOnURES 
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REPORT OF MANAGEMENT 

The Stockholders 
Conrail I n c 
Maiiagement is responsible for tne preparation, integrity and objectivity of thr Compaii/'s 
finan,-ial stateme'ts, Tfie financial statements are prepared m conformity with generally 
accepi^d accoi .itmg pnnr iles anc include amounts based on management s best esti­
mates and judgment The financial information contamr^d in other sections of this annual 
report IS consistent with that contained in the financiai statements. 

The Company maintains a system of internal accounting controls and procedures which 
is continually reviewed and supported by written policies and guidelines and supplemented 
by a corpor.ite n.a^ of mternal auditors. The system provides reasonable assurance that 
assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorized use and that the books and 
records reflect the transactions of the Compai,;' and are reliable for the preparation of 
financial statements The concept of reasonable &;surance recognizes that the cost of a 
systerii 01 internal accounting controls shou,^ not exceed the benefits de'ived and also 
recognizes that tne evaluation of these facfrjrs necessarily requires estm',3tes and judg-
n.ents by management 

The Company's rmancial statements are audited by its independent accountants. Their 
audit IS conducted m accjrcance with generally accepted auditing standards and includes 
a study and evaluation of the Company's system of internal accounting controls to deter­
mine the nature 'immg and extent of the aud'tmg procedures required for expressing an 
opinion on the Company's financial statements. 

The Boaid of Directoib pursues its oversight re:-ponsibilities for the financial statements 
aiV corporate conduct through its Audit and Ethici Committees Each Committee consists 
cf '.v.'ectors who are not employees of the Compa• y. The Audit Committee recommends 
the appointment c* the independent accountama, C'ld meets several times a year with 
m,anaqeme,it the internal auditors and the maeperdent accountants. The mdependent 
account.in-s .^nd internal audito's have unrestnctec access to the Audit Committee to dis­
cuss avdit scop'?. the results of their audits, the ad(!quacy of mternal accounting controls 
ard financial 'eportmg. The Ethics Committee mee-.s several times a year with manage­
ment to review matters <;t public interest mcludma safety, equal employment and compli­
ance with ' nvironmental regulations. 

David M. LeVan 
Chairman, f- esicent and 
Chief Executive Officer 

Timothy T. O'Toole 
Senior Vice President - Finance 

January 21 , 1997 
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R E P O R T O F I N D E P E N D E N T A C C O U N T A N T S 

The Stockholders and Board of Directors 
Conrail Inc 
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidat­
ed statements ot income, of stockholders' equity and of cash flows present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of Conrail Inc, anc subsidiaries at December 31 , 
1996 and 1995, ai->d the results ot the'r operations and their cash flows for eacfi of the 
three years in the penod ended Decemiber 31, 1996, in conformity with generally accept­
ed accountmg principles, Thess financial statements are the responsibility of the 
Company's management; our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial 
statements based on our aud'ts. We conducted our audits of these statements in accor­
dance with generally accepte auditing standards which require that we plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free 
of matenal misstatement A', audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence support­
ing the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting 
pniiLiples used and significant estimates made by management and evaluating the overall 
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for 
the opinion expressed above 

Price Waterhouse LLP 
Thirty South Seventeenth Street 
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 19103 

January 21. 1997 
except as to Note 2, which is as of March /, '997 
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C O N S O U D A T E D STATEMENTS O f INCOME 

Years ended December 31, 

($ In Millions Except Per Share Data) 1996 1995 1994 

Revenues $3,714 $3,686 %3733 

Operating expanses 
Way and structures 4«2 485 499 
Equipmt.-'t MS 766 815 
Transportation 1.324 1,379 
General and administrative ast 370 350 
Voluntary separation programs (Note 3) i n 

285 Asset disposition charge (Note 10) 285 
Early retirement piogram (Note 11) 84 

Total operating expenses 3,113 3,230 3,127 

Inco Tie from operatic is 601 456 606 
Interest expense (182) (194) (192) 
Other income, net '̂ Notv? 12) 112 130 118 

Income before income taxes 531 392 532 
Income taxes (Note 7) 189 128 208 

Net income $ 342 $ 264 $ 324 

Net income per common share (Note 1) 
Primary $ AJ2S $ 3,19 $ 3,90 
Fully diluted 3.89 2,94 3,56 

Ratio of eamings to fixed charges (Note '<) 3.19x 2,5 Ix 3,19x 

See accompanying notes. 
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

December 31 , 

($ In Millions'! V)96 1995 

A S S E T S 

Current assets 
Cash ?nd cash ?ni ivalents $ fO $ 73 
Accour ts receivable 630 614 
Deferred tax assets (Note 71 293 333 
Materi;.! and supplies I M 158 
Other curient assets 25 28 

Total current assets 1,117 1,206 
f*roperty and equipmet^t, net (Note 4) 6,590 6,408 
Other assets 695 810 

Total assets $8,402 $ 8 ^ 1 4 

UABIL IT IES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 

Current liabilities 
Short-term borrowings M 89 
Current maturities of long-term debt (Note 6) I M 181 
Accounts payable I M 113 
Wages and employee benefits 14S 183 
Casualty reserves 141 110 
Accrued and other current liabilities (Note 5) 44^. 494 

Total current liabilities 1,092 1,170 
Long-term debt (Note 6) 1,876 1,911 
Casualty reserves 190 Q-. 
Deferred income taxes (Note 7) M 7 8 1,393 
Special income tax obligation (Note 7) U§ 440 
Other liabilities 313 316 

Tota! liabilities 5^95 5,447 

Commitments and contingencies (Note 13) 
Stockholders' equity (Notes 2 and 9) 

Preferred stock (no par value. 15.000.000 shares authorized; ro shares issued) 
Series A ESOP convertible junior preferred stock (no par value, 10,000,000 shares authorized 

7303,920 and 9,770,993 shares issued and outstanding, respectively) 211 282 
Unearned ESOP comoensatiori (222) (233) 
Common stock ($1 pa' value; 2o0.000.000 shares authonzed; 87,768428 and 85,392,392 

shares issued, respectively; 82,244,973 and 82,094,675 shares outstanding, respectively) 88 85 
Additional paid-m captai 2,404 2,187 
Employee benefits trust at market (3.394,988 and 4,706,665 shares, respectively) (384) (329) 
Retainec earnings 1,357 1,176 

3,454 3,168 
Treasuri. stock, at cost (5,523,455 and 3,297717 shar.?s, respectively) (347) (191) 

Total stockholde's' equity 3,107 2,977 

Total liabilities and stockho'aers' equity $8,402 $8,424 

See accompanying notes. 
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C O N S O L I D A T E D S T A T E M E N T S O F S T O C K H O L D E R S ' E Q U I T Y 

($ In Millions Except Per Share Data) 

Series A Unearned Additional Employee 
Preferred ESOP Common Paid-m Ben^'fits Retained Treasury 

Stock Conpensation Stock Capital Trust Earnmas Stock 

Balance, January 1,1994 $286 
Amortization 
Net income 
Common dividends, $1,40 pe'sf re 
Preferred dividends, $2,165 per share 
Common sha'es acquired 
Exercise of stock option? 
Other (3) 

$(253) $80 
10 

$1,819 $ 857 $ (5) 

324 
(111) 

(21) 

14 
15 

(94) 

Balance, December 31 ,1994 283 
Amortization 
^let income 
Common dividenas, $1,60 per share 
Preferred dividends, $2,165 per share 
Common shares acquired 
Exercise of stock options 
Establishment of employee benefits trust 
Employee benefits trust transactions, net 
Other (•) 

(243) 
10 

80 1,848 1,056 

264 
(129) 

(21) 

6 
245 

84 
4 

(99) 

(92) 

$(250) 
(79) 

Balance, December 31,1995 282 (233) 85 2,187 (329) 1,176 (191) 
Amortization 11 

(191) 

Net income 342 
Common dividends, $1,80 per share (146) 
Preferred dividends, $2,165 per snare (20) 
Common shares acquired (156) 
Exercise of stock options 29 53 
Employee benefits trust transactions, net 128 (116) 
Effects of voluntary separation prog'ams (8) 8 
Effects of CSX tender offer (Note 2) (63) 3 60 
Other 5 

Balance, December 31,1996 $ 2 ' 1 $(222) $88 $2 404 $(384) $1,357 $(347) 

See accompanying notes. 
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C O N S O L I D A T E D S T A T E M E N T S O F C A S H F L O W S 

Years ended December 31 , 

($ In Millions) 1996 1995 1994 

Cash flows from operating activities 
Net income 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to -et cash 

provided by operatmg activities: 
Voluntary separation programs 
Asset disposition cha'ge 
Early retirement program. 
Depreciation and amortization 
Deferred income tr <es 
Special income tax ooligation 
Gams from sales of property 
Pension credit 

$ 342 

135 

283 
183 
(94) 
(24) 
(46) 

$264 

285 

293 
108 
(73) 
(27) 
(43) 

$324 

84 
278 
ISO 
(62) 
(18) 
(46) 

Changes in: 
32 (2) Ac( ounts receivable (16) 32 (2) 

Ac rounts and wages payable (18) 8 41 
Settlen'?nt of tax audit (39) 
Other (37) (74^ (52) 

Net cash provided by operatmg activities 669 773 697 

Cash flows from Investing activities 
(490) FVoperty and equ pment acquisitions (387) (415) (490) 

Proceeds from disposals of properties 34 38 32 
Othe' (46) (59) (23) 

Net casn used ir investing activities (399) (436) (481) 

Cash flow'j from finandng activities 
(94) Repurchase of common stock (156) (92) (94) 

Net proceeds from (repayments oO 
(23) 33 short-term borrow,ngs 10 (23) 33 

Proceeds from lon'j-term debt 26 85 114 
Payment of long-term debt (184) (134) (158) 
Loans trom and redemptions of 

insurance policies 95 
Diviaends on common stock (146) (129) (111) 
Dividends on Series A preferred stock (25) (21) (16) 
Proceeds from stock options and other 67 7 21 

Net ccsh used in financing activities (313) (307) (211) 

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (43) 30 5 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Beginning of yea' 73 43 38 

End of year $ 30 $ 73 $ 43 

See accompanying notes. 
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N O T E S T O C O N S O L I D A T E D F I N A N C I A L S T A T E M E N T S 

1, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Industry 

Conrail Inc. ("Conrail") is a holding company of which 
the principal subsidiary is Consolidated Rail Corporation 
("CRC") <j freight railroad which operates withm, fhe 
northeast and midwest United States and the Province 
of Quebec 

Principles of Consolidation 
The consolidated financial statements include Conrail and 
majority-owned subsidiaries Investments in 20% to 50% 
owned companies are accounted for by the equity method. 

Cash Equivalents 
Cash equivalents consist of cor-.mercial paper, certificates 
of deposit and other liquid securities purchased with a 
maturity of three months or less, and are stated at cost 
which approximates market vahe 

Material and Supplies 
Material and supplies consist mainly of fue' oii and 
items for maintenance of property and equipment and 
are valued at the lower of cost, principally weighted 
average, or market 

Property and Equipment 
pyoperty and equipment are recorded at cost Depreciation 
IS provided using the composite straight-line method. The 
cost (net of salvage) of depreciable property retired or 
replaced in the ordinary course of business is charged to 
accumulated depreciation and no gain or loss is recognized. 

Asset Impairment 
Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment whenever 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carry­
ing amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Expected 
future cash flows from the use and disposition of long-hved 
assets are compared to the current carrying amounts to 
determme the potential impairment loss. 

Revenue Recognition 
Revenue is recognized proportionally as a shipment 
moves on the Conra i system from origm to destination. 

Earnings Per Share 
Primary ean .mgs per share are based on net income 
adjusted for the effects of preferred dividends net of 
income tax benefits, divided by tne weighted average num­
ber of shares outstanding during the period, including the 
dilutive effect of stock options. Fully diluted earnings pei 
share assume conversion of Series A ESOP Convertible 
Junior Preferred Stock ("ESOP Stock") into Conrail com­
mon stock. Net income amounts applicable to fully diluted 
earnings per share have been adjusted by the increase, net 
of mcome tax benefits, m ESOP-related expenses assum­
ing conversion of all ESOF- Stock to common stock. Shares 
m the Conrail Employee Benefits Trust are not considered 
outstandmg for computing earnings per share. The weight­

ed averarje number of chares of common stock outstand­
ing during esch of the most recent three years are as fol­
lows: 

1996 199E 1994 

Pnn.ar}' weighted 
average shares 77,b28,825 78,733,947 79 674,781 

Fully dilu'ed weighted 
average shares 87,325,575 88,7027'2 89,562,721 

Ratio of Earnings to :^ixed Charges 
Earnings used in computing the ratio of earnings to fixed 
charges represent income before income taxes plus fixed 
charges, less equity in undistributed earnings of 20% to 
50% owned companies. Fixed charges repiesent interest 
expense together with interest capitalized and a portion of 
rent under long-term operating leases representative of an 
interest factor 

New Accounting Standards 
During 1995, the Financial Accounting Standards Board 
issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 
("SFAS") No. 121, "Accounting for the Impairment of Long-
Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed 
Of (SFAS 121) and SFAS No 123. "Accounting for 
Stock-Based Comoensation" (SFAS 123), which are both 
effective in 1996, The Company has decided to adop' only 
the disclosure provisior-^ r. SFAS 123 in 1996 and con­
tinues to apply APB Opinion No, 25, "Accounting for Stock 
(ssued to Employees' (APB 25) and related interpretations 
in accounting for its stock-based compensation plans. The 
Company adopted SFAS 121 m the first quarter of 1996 
and determined that it did not have a material effect on its 
financial sta ements. 

Use of Estimates 
The p'eparatio-i of fmancial statements m conformity with 
generally accepted accounting principles requires manage­
ment to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of 
contingent asset; and liabilities at the date of the financial 
statements and the reported amounts of 3venues and 
expenses during the reportmg period. Actual results could 
d ffer from those estimates. 

2 Proposed Merger 

On C ctober 1 4, 1996, Conrail, CSX Corporation ("CSX") 
a'd o subsidiary of CSX entered mto an Agreement and 
r'lan of Merger (as amendea, the "Merger Agreement'), 
pursuant to which Conrail 'vas to be merged with a sub­
sidiary of CSX m a merge -of-equals transaction. 

On October 24, 1990, Norfolk Southern Corporation 
("Norfolk") commenced an unsolicitea tende' offer for 
all outstanding Conrail votmg stock at $100 per share in 
cash. Norfolk has since increased its otter to $115 per 
share in cash. 
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On November 20, 1996, CSX concluded its first tender 
offer and purchased aoproximately 19,9% of Conrail's out­
standing shares for $1 10 per share. 

On December 16, 1996. CSK anC Conrail entered 
mtc a second amenament to the Merger Agreement (t .c 
"Second Amendment") that would, among other things, 
(i) increase the consideration payable pursuant to the 
merger, (n) accelerate the consummation of the merger 
to immediately following the receipt of aoplicable share­
holder approvals and prior to Surface Transportation Board 
("STB") approva! and (m) extend until Decemoer 31, 1998, 
an exclusivity period during which the Conrai! Board agreed 
not to withdraw or modify its recommendations of the CSX 
transactions, approve o' recommend arv takeover p'oposal 
or cause Con'ail to enter into any agreement related to any 
takeover proposal. 

On January 13, 1997 Norfolk issued a press release 
announcing that it would offe' to purchase shares 
representing 9,9% of the outstanding sha,res for 
$115 per share, m the event that Con'ai shareholders 
did not approve a proposal to opt out of a Pennsylvania 
statute (the "Opt Out Proposal") at the meeting of share­
holders to be held on January 17 1997 (the "Special 
Shareholoers Meeting") 

On January 17 1997 Conrail shareholders voted 
at the Special Shareholders Meeting against the Opt 
Out Proposa', 

On February 4, 1997 tfie amended Norfoik tender offer 
expired, and Norfolk subsequentiy purchased approximately 
8,2 mil ion shares pursuant thereto. 

On March 7 199" Conraii and CSX entered into a Third 
Amendment (the "Third Amendment") to the Merger 
Agreemer.t Pursuant to the Third Amendment (0 the price 
per share has been mcreaseo from $110 to $115. and the 
number cf shares to be purchased in the tender offer has 
been increased to all outstanding share? The tender offe­
is sctieduiea to close Aprr 18, 199V (s-: ect to extension 
by CSX to June 2, 1997 whethe' O' not the cond'tions 
have been satisfied), vn) the cons deration paid per share m 
the merger for al; remaining outstanding shares following 
consummation of the offei has betn mcreased to $115 m 
cash and (m) the conditions to the o f fe relating to certam 
provisions of 'Pennsylvania law becoming inapplicable tc 
Conra.' and relating pend ng governmental actions or pro­
ceedmgs have been deleted. 

The Third Amendment a'io provides th.it CSX will ha"C 
sole control ove' the reguiatory approva' process and will 
be free to conduct by itself discussions w th othe' railroads, 
mciudmg NorfolK. relatmg to competitive ssues raised by 
the CSX trarisactions and to enter mto any resulting agree­
ment It IS anticipated that CSX and Norfolk negotiate 
an appropriate daision of Conrail's assets; however neither 

the pending CSX tender offer nor the merger is conditioned 
on CSX's reaching an agreement with Norfolk. 

Pursuant to the Third Amendrrient three members of 
Conrail's Board of Directors approved by CSX shall be 
invited to join the CSX Board cf Directors and a transition 
team will be established, the leadership of which will include 
senior executive officers of CSX and Conraii to ensure the 
orderly operation of Conrail during the regulatory approval 
process and an orderly transition ihereafter. 

Under the Third Ainendrnent Conrail and CSX agreed 
to reduce frcm, December 31 , 1998 to December 31, 
1997 the period of time during which the Conrail Board 
IS proh oited from (i) withdrawing or modifying, or pubncly 
propo;ing to withdraw or modify, its approval or recommen­
dation of the CSX transactions, in a manner adverse to 
CSX. ,n) approving or recommending, or publicly proposmg 
to approve or recommend, '.ny competmg proposal or (in) 
causing Conra i to enter irto any agreement related to 
any such competing propc sal. 

Under the merger agreerient as amended, Con ail may 
termmate the Merger Agreement m the event that after 
June 2, 1997 CSX fails to ctmsummate the tende' offer for 
any reason othe' than the nonoccurrence of any condition to 
the tenri'jr offe' In the event that CSX fails to consummate 
the tender offer unde' such circums'ances, Conrail will be 
entitled to exercise any additional remedies it may have. 

The full terms and conditions of the CSX and Norfolk 
offers and Conraii's position with respect to the CSX and 
Norfolk offers are set forth in documents • '?d by Conrail 
with the Secunties and Exchange Commission, 

Pending approval by the STB, 1(X)% of Conrail's voting 
stock will by held by CSX m a voting trust '!'he combmation 
of the railroad ope'ations of the two companies is contin­
gent upon the aooroval of the merger by the STB 

3. Voluntary Separation Proaram^ 

During tne seconc auarter of 1996, tne Compar.recorded 
a charge of $135 million (before tax benefits of $52 mil­
lion) consistmg o' $102 million m termmation benefits to be 
paid to non-union employees parfiicipating m the voluntary 
retirement and separation programs ("voluntary separation 
programs') anc losses of $33 million on non-cancelable 
leases for office space no longer required as a result of the 
reduction in the Company's wo'kforce. Over 840 applica­
tions were accepted from eligible employees under the vol­
untary separation programs. Approximately $90 million of 
the termination benefits are bemg paid from the Conpany's 
overfunded pension pian. 
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NOTES TO COMSOLIOATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

4. Property and Equipment 

December 31, 

(In Millions) 19i>6 1995 

Roadwa^ 
Equipment 
Less. Accumulated depreciation 

Allowance for disposition 

$ 7,021 
1,231 

(1,654) 
(408) 

S 6,828 
1,213 

(1,572) 
(439) 

6,190 6030 

Capitai leases (primarily equipment) 
Accumulated amortization 

908 
(508) 

908 
(530) 

400 378 

$ 6,590 $ 6.408 

Conrail acquired equipnient and incurred related long-
term debt under various capita, leases of $82 million in 
1996, $7 ! million in 1995 and $8 million in 1994 In 
1995 (Note 10) and 1991, the Company recorded 
allowances for disposition for the sale c, abandonment 
of certam under-utilized rail lmes and other facilities. 

5. Accrued and Ott er Current Liabilities 

December 31. 

(In Millions) 1996 1995 

Freight settlements due others $ 48 $ 54 
Equipment rents (primarily car hire) 74 71 
Unearned freight revenue 79 56 
Property and corporate taxes 49 66 
Other 194 247 

$444 $494 

6. Long-Term Debt 

Long-term debt outstanding, mciudmg the weigh' .•d i ver-
age interest rates at December 31 , 1996, is C',iTiposi;d of 
the toiiowing the toiiowing 

Decer.ber 3 ' , 

(In Millions) 1996 1995 

Capital leases $ 491 $ 489 
Medium-term notes pavable. 

6,70%, due 1997 to 1999 109 208 
f^otes payable, 9,75%, due 2000 250 250 
Debentures payable, 788%, due 2043 250 250 
Debentures payable, 975%, due 2020 544 544 
Equipment anc other obligations, 6,55'^ c 262 251 
Commercial paper 5.53'': 100 :oo 

2,006 2.092 
Less cuirent portic" (1301 (181 

$1,876 $ - 9 - 1 

Using current market prices when available, or a valua­
tion based on the yield to maturity of comparable debt 
instruments having similar characteristics, credit rating and 
matu' ty the total fair value of the Company's long-term 
debt including the current port.on out excluding capital 
leases, is $1,685 million and $1,870 million at December 
31, 1995 and 1995, respectively compared with carrying 
values cf $1,515 million and $1,603 million at 
December 31, 1996 and 1995, respectively 

The Company's noncancelable long-term leases gener­
ally include options to purchase at far value and to extend 
the terms. Capital leases have been discounted at rates 
ranging from 3.09% to 14.26% and are collateralized by 
assets with a net book value of $400 miliior. at 
December 31, 1996, 

Minimum commitments, exclusive of executory r.osts 
bomf by tne Company, are: 

Capital Operating 
(In Millions) Leases Leases 

1997 
1998 
1999 
2000 
2001 
2002 - 2017 

$ 107 
96 
86 
64 
57 
273 

$115 
104 
87 
76 
08 
523 

Totai 683 .W3 

Less interest port.ion (192) 

Present value $ 491 

Operating lease rent expense was $127 million in 
1996, $ 130 million in 1995 and $ 118 million in 1994. 

h June 1993, the Company and CRC filed a shelf regis­
tration statement on Form S-3 to enable CRC tc issue up 
to $S.iOO million in debt securities or the Conipany to issue 
up to $500 million ir. convertible deLt and equity securities. 
The rf mainmg balance under this shelf registration was 
$ 3 I ' i million at December 31. 1996. 

I'I April 1996, CRC issued $50 million of Pass-Through 
Cert.ficates at a rate of 6,96% to finance equipment 
Although the certificates are not direct obligations of. or 
guaranteed by CRC, amounts payable under related capi­
tal leases wil: be sufficient to pay prmcipal and mterest on 
the certificates. 
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In July 1996, CRC issued $26 million of 1996 
Equipment Trust Certificates, Senes A, with interest 
rates rang.ng from 6.0% to 748%, maturing annually 
from 1997 to 2011 The certificates were used to 
finance approximately 85% of the purchase pnce of 
twen-y locomotives. 

In June 1996, CRC borrowed $69 million ayainst 
the cash surrender value of the company-owned life 
insurance policies which it maintairis on certain of its non­
union employees. 

Equipment and other obligations mature m 1997 through 
2043 and are collateralized by assets with a net book va'ue 
of $253 million at December 31 , 1996, Maturities of long-
term debt other than capital leases and commercial paper 
are $65 million m 1997 $46 million m 1998, $46 million 
m 1999, $266 m.ilion m 2000, i \ y million in 2001 and 
$975 million in tota! from 2002 through 2043, 

CRC had $199 million of commercial paper outstanding 
at December 31 , 1996, Of the total amount outstanding, 
$100 million is classified as long-term since it is expecied 
to be refinanced through subsequent issuances of commer­
cial paper and is supported by the long tenn credit facility 
mentioned below, 

CRC maintains a $500 million uncollateralized bank 
credit agreement with a group of banks which is used 
for general corporate purposes and to support CRC's 
commercial paper program. The agreement matures 
in 2000 and requires interest to be paid on amounts 
borrowed at rates based on various de'ined short-term 
rates and an annual maximum, fee of , 125% of the facility 
amounts. The agreement contains, c'mong other conditions, 
restrictive covenants relating to a debt ratio and consohdat­
ed tangible net worth. Dunng 1996, CRC had no borrow 
ings unde' this agreement 

Interest payments were $170 million in 1996, $177 
million in 1995 and $174 million in 1994 

7. Income Taxes 

The provisions for income taxes are composed of 
the following: 

(In Millions) 1996 1995 1994 

Current 
Federal $ 90 $ 78 $104 
State 10 15 16 

100 93 120 

Deferred 
Federal I"' 110 125 
State 32 (2) 25 

183 108 150 

Special income tax obligatici 
Federal (80) (61) (53) 
State (14) (12) (9) 

(94) (73) (62) 

$189 $128 $208 

In conjunction with the public sale in 1987 of the 85% of 
the Company's common stock then owned by the U S, 
Govei.nment federal legislation was enacted which resulted 
in a reduction of the tax basis of certain of the Company's 
assets, particularly property and equipment thereby substan­
tially decreasing tax depreciation deductions and increasing 
future federal income tax payments. Also, net operatmg loss 
and investment tax credit carryforwards were canceled As 
a result of ttie sale-related transactions, a special income 
tax obligation was recorded m 1987 based on an estimated 
effective federal and state income tax rate of 370%, 

As a result of a decrease in a state income tax rate 
enacted dunng 1995, income tax expense for that year 
was reduced by $21 million representing the effects of 
adjusting deferred income taxes and the special income 
tax obligation for the rate decrease as required by SFAS 
109, 'Accounting for Income Taxes' (oFAS 109) 

In November I f J6, the Company reached a settlement 
with tfie Interna! r^evenue Service related to the audit of 
the Company's consolidated federal income tax returns for 
the fiscal years 1990 through 1992, The Company made 
a payment of $39 million pending resolution of the final 
interest determination related to the settlement Federal 
and state income tax payments were $145 mi'iion in 1996 
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NOTES TO COMSOUOATEO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

(excluding tax settlement), $109 million in 1995 and 
$80 million in 1994, 

Reconciliations of the U S, statutory tax rates with the 
effective tax rates are as follows: 

1996 1995 1994 

Statutory tax rate 35.0% 
State income tames, 

net of federal benefit 3.4 
Effect of state tax decrease 

on deferred taxes 
Other (2.85 

35,0% 

3,5 

(5,3) 
(.5) 

35.0% 

3,9 

,2 

Effectiv • tax rate 35.6% 32,7% 39 ,1% 

Significant components of the Company's special income 
tax obligation and deferred income tax liabilities and 
(assets) are as follows: 

December 31, 

(In Millions) 1996 1995 

Current ',»ssets 
(pnmanly accounts receivable 1 

Current liabilities 
(primarily accrued liabilities 
and casualty reserves) 

Tax benefits related to disposition 
of subsidiary 

Net operating loss carr/orwards 

$ (9) 

(245) 

(30) 
(9) 

$ (27) 

(265) 

(30) 
(11) 

Current deferred tax asset, net $ (293) $ (333) 

Noncurrent liabilities: 
Property and equipment 
(Dther long-term assets (pnmanly 

prepaid pension asset) 
Miscellaneous 

1,939 

• 2 
N 

1,936 

67 
66 

2,129 2,069 

Noncurrent assets: 
Nondeductible reserves and 

other liabilities 
Tax benefit transfer receivable 
Alternative minimum tax credits 
Miscellaneous 

(174) 
(36) 

(95) 

(144) 
(33) 
(38) 
(21) 

(305) (236) 

Spedal income tax obligation 
and def erred income tax 
liabilities, net $1,824 $1,833 

8. Employee Bertef its 

Pension Plans 

The Company and certain subsidiaries maintain defined 
benefit pension plans which are noncontributory fo' all 
non-union employees and generally contributory for partici­
pating union employees. Benefits are based primarily on 
credited years of service and the level of compensation 
near retirement Funding is based on the minimum amount 
required by the Employee Retirement Income S curity Act 
of 1974. 

F'ension credits include the following components: 

(In Millions) 19''6 1995 1994 

Service cost - benefits earned 
dunng the penod $ 9 $ 8 $ 8 

Interest cost on projected 
benefit obligation 51 51 48 

Return on plan 
assets - actual (138) (254) (10) 

- deferred 47 167 (77) 
Nt* amortization 

ai d deferral (15) (15) (15) 

$ (46) $ (43) $ (46) 

The funded status of the pension plans and the amounts 
reflected m the balance sheets are as follows: 

(In Millions) 1996 1995 

Accumulated btnefit obligation 
($655 million and $603 million 

vested, respectively) $ 661 $ 609 

Market value of plan assets 1,187 1,168 
Projected benefit obligation (734) (726) 

Plan assets m excess of projected 
t)enefit obligation 46i 442 

Unrecognized prior service cost M 50 
Unrecognized transition net asset (90) (120) 
Unrecognized net gam (231) (157) 

Net prepaid pension cost $ 168 $ 215 
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The assumed weighted average discount rates used in 
1996 and 1995 are 7 5 % and 70%, respectively, and 
the rate of increase in future compensation levels used 
IP determining the actuarial present value of the project­
ed benefit obligation as of December 31 ,1996 and 
1995 IS 6 0% The expected long-term rate of return on 
plan assets (primarily equity securities) in 1996 and 
1995 IS 9.0%. 

Savings Plans 
The Company and certain subsidianes provide 401(k) 
savings plans tor union and non-union employees. Under 
the Non-union ESOP, T00°/c of employee contributions are 
matched m the form of ESCP Stock for the first 6% of a 
participating employee's base pay There is no Company 
match provision under the union employee plan. Savings 
plan expense was $4 million in 1996 and 1995, and $5 
million in 1994 

In connectior. with the Non-union ESOF, fhe Company 
issued 9,979,56.'' of the authorized 10 million shares of 
its ESOP Stock to the Non-union ESOP in exchange for 
a 2C year promissory note with interest at 9,55% from the 
Non-union ESOP m the prmci^"! amount of $288 million. 
In addition, unearned ESOP compensation of $288 million 
was recognized as a charge to stockholders' equity coinci­
dent with the Non-union ESOPs issuance of its $2 J8 
,million promissory note to the Company. The debt of the 
Non-union ESOP was recorded by the Company and off­
set agamst the promissory note from the Non-union ESCP 
Unearned ESOP compensation is charged to expense as 
shares of ESOP Stock are allocated to part cipants. 
Approximately 2,7 million ESOP shares have been cumu­
latively a/located to participants throua*~ December 3 1 , 
1996, and a portion of these shares have been tendered 
to CSX (Note 2) An amount equivalent to the preferred 
dividends declared on the ESOP Stock partial'y offsets 
compensation and interest expense re'ated to the Non­
union ESOP 

In 1994. tho ESOPs promissory note to the Company 
was refinanced. As part of the refinancing, the interest 
rate was decreased to 8.0%. from the original 9.55%, and 
accrued interest of $21 million was capitalized as part of 
the principal balance o' the promissory note. 

The Company is obligated to make dividend payments 
at a rate of 7 5 1 % on the ESOP Stock and additional 
contriDutions in an aggregate amount sufficient to enable 
the Non-umon ESOP to make the required interest and 
prmcipal payments on ts note to the Company 

Interest expense incurred by the Non-umon ESOP on 
its debt to the Company was $24 million m 1996 and 
1995, and $30 million in 1994 Compensation expense 
related to the Non-umon ESOP was $11 million m 1996, 
and $10 million in 1995 and 1994. Preferred dividends 
of $20 million were declared m 1996. and $21 million 
in 1995 and 1994. Preferred dividend payments of $25 
mil'ioh, $21 million and $16 million were made in 1996, 
199.", a, id 1994, respectively The Company received 
debt sc-rrvice payments from the Non-union ESOP of 
$40 million m 1996 $31 million m 1995 and $21 
million m 1994, 

Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions 
The Company provides health and life insurance benefits to 
certain retired non-union employees. Certain non-unio"i 
employees are eligible for retiree medical benefits, while 
substantially all non-union employees are eligible for retiree 
life insurance benefits. Generally, company-provided health 
care benefits terminate when individuals reach age 65 

Retiree life insurance plan assets consist of a retiree life 
insurance reserve held m the Company's group life msur­
ance policy There are no plan assets for the retiree health 
benefits plan. 
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"OTES TO CONSOUDATED RNANOAl STAriMENTS (CONTINUEO) 

The following sets forth trie p arv, funded status 
reconciled with amounts reported in the Companys 
balance sheets: 

1996 1995 

Medical 
(In Millions) Rao 

Life 
Insurance 

Ran 
Medical 

Plan 

Lfe 
Insurance 

Ran 

Accumulated postretirement 
benefit obligation: 

Retirees $ 44 
Fully eligible active 

plan participants 1 
Other active plan 

participants 

$ 20 

3 

$ 38 

5 

$ 19 

1 

5 

Accumulated benefit 
obligation 45 

Market value of plan assets 
23 

(10) 
43 25 

(7) 

Accumulated ben-- 'it 
obligation in excess of 
plan assets 45 

Unrecognized gams 
and (losses) (1) 

13 

2 

43 

1 

18 

(1) 

Accrued benefit cost recog­
nized in the Consolidated 
Balance Sheet $ 44 $ 1 5 $ 44 $ 17 

Net periodic postretirement 
benefit cost pnmanly 
interest cost $ 3 $ 1 $ 4 $ 1 

An 8 percent rate of increase in per capita ccsts of cov-
ereo health care benefits was assumed for 1997 gradually 
decreasing to 6 percent by the year 2007, Increasing the 
assumed health care iost trend rates by one percentage 

point in each year would increase the accumulated 
postretirement benefit obligation as of L .cemter 31, 
1996 by $2 million and would have an immaterial effect 
c,i the net penodic postretirement benefit cost for 1996, 
Discount rates of 7,5% and 70% were used to determine 
the accumulated postretirement benefit obligations for 
both the medical and life insurance plans in 1996 and 
1995, respectively 

The assumed rate of compensation increase was 
6 0 % IP 1996 and 5,0% in 1995. 

Retiree medira' benefits are funded by a combination of 
Company and retiree contributions. Retiree life msuranc? 
t)enefits are provided by insurance companies whose pre­
miums are based on claims paid dunng the year 

9. Capital Stock 

Preferred Stock 

The Company is authonzed to issue 25 million -hares of 
preferred stock with no par value. The Board of L rectors 
has the authority to divide the preferred stock into series 
and to deter.-nme the rights and preferences of each. 

The Company cannot pay dividends on its common 
stock unless full cumulative dividends have been paid 
on its ESOP Stock, and no distributions can be made to 
the holders of common stock upon liquidation or dissolu­
tion of the Company uniess the holders of the ESOP 
Stock have received a cash liquidatu n payr ?nt of 
$28,84375 per share, plus unpaid di\ dends up to the 
date of such payment The ESOP Stock is i..^,,/ertible 
into an equivalent number of shares of common stock 
based on their respective market values at the date of 
conversion. The ESOP Stock is entitled to one vote per 
share, voting together as a smgle class with common 
stock on all matters 

As a result of the CSX tender offer related to the 
proposed merger (Note 2), 2.2 million shares of ESOP 
Stock have been converted to common shares as a 
result of being removed from the Non-union ESOP 
401(k) savings plan. 
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Employee Benefits Trust 
In 1995 the Company issued approximately 4,7 million 
shares of its common stock to the Conrail Employee 
Benefits Trust (the "Trust") in exchange for a promissory 
no*e of $250 million at an interest rate of 6.9%, The 
Trust IS being used to fund certain employee benefits 
and other forms cf compensation over its fifteen-year 
term. The amount representing unearned employee 
benefits IS recorded as a deduction from stockholders' 
equity and is reduced as t>enefits and compensation are 
paid through the release of shares from the Trust T.,e 
shares owned by the Trust are valued at the closing mar­
ket pnce as of the end of each .-eporting penod, with cor­
responding changes m the balance of the Trust reflected 
in additional paid-in capital. The Trust has sold shares 
of Conrail common stock m connecrtion with the CSX 
and Norfolk tender offers (Note 2) and has used the 
proceeds to repurchase shares of Conrail common stock 
in the opon market Shares held by the Trust are not 
considered outstanding for ea-'mngs per share rompijia-
tions until released by the Trust but do have voting and 
dividend nghts. 

Common Stock Repurchase Program 
In Apnl 1995, the Board of Directors approved a $250 
million mult'-year stock repurchase program. During 1996. 
the Company acquired 2,225,738 shares for approximately 
$156 million under this p:cgiam, A» December 31, 1996, 
approximately $93 in,llion remained available from this 
authorization; however as a result of ttie proposed merger 
with CSX Corponition (Note 2), the Company will not 
make any additional stock repurchases under this progiam. 

The activity and status of treasury stock follow: 

1S96 1995 1994 

Shares, beginning 
of year 3,297,717 1,789.164 83,745 

Acquired 2,225,738 1.508.553 1,705,419 

Shares, end of year 5,523,455 3,297,717 1,789,164 

Stock Plans 
The Company's stcck-based compensation p,a is as of 
Decemtjer 31,1996 are described below. The Company 
applies APB 25 and related interpretations m accounting 
for its plans. Accordingly, no compensation cost has been 
recognized for its fixed stock option plans, SFAS 123 
was issued in 1995 ano, if fully adopted, wouio change 
the method of recognition of costs on plans similar to 
those of the Company Adoption of SFAS 123 is optional; 
however, the required pro forma disclosures as if the 
Company had adopted the cost recognition requirements 
under SFAS 123 in 1996 and 1995 are presented below. 

The Company's 1987 and 1991 Long-Term Incentive 
Plans authorize the granting to officers and key employees 
of up to 4 million and 6,6 million shares of common stock, 
respectively, through stock options, stock appreciation 
rights, nhantom stock and awards of restncted or 
performance shares, A stock option is exercisable for 
a specified term commencing after grant at a price not 
less than the fair market value of the sUxk on the date 
of grant The vesting of awards made pursuant to these 
plans IS contingent upon one or more of the following: 
contir ued employment passage of time or financial and 
otnei performance goals. 
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NOTES TO CONSOUDATEl' FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

Effective November 1996, the Company's Boara of 
Directors authonzed tf e automatic vesting of all unvested 
stock options outstanding in connection with the Merger 
Agreement between CSX and the Company (Note 21, 

The activity and status of stock options under the 
incentive plans follow: 

Non-qualified Stock Options 

Option 
Price 

Per Share 

Shares 
Under 
Option 

Balance, 
January 1, 1994 

Granted 
$ 14,000 - $60,500 1,966,321 
$52188 -566,938 23,988 

Exercised 
Cancelled 

$ 14,000 -
$ 42,625 -

$51,375 
$60,500 

(507,450) 
(118,904) 

Balance, 
December 31, 1994 

Granted 
Exercised 
Cancelled 

$ 14,000 -
$ 50,688 -
$ 14 000 -
$ 42,625 -

$66,938 
$68,563 
$53,875 
$53,875 

1,363,95?= 
51'",o7 

(200,940) 
(123,560) 

Balance, 
December 31, 1995 

Granted 
Exercised 
Cancelled 

$ 14,000 -
$ 68563 -
$ 14.000 -
$ 42.625 -

$68563 1,556,212 
$96063 551,038 
$73,250(1,268,085) 
$70,031 (3,984) 

Balance, 
December 31, 1996 $ 14.000 - $96,063 835,181 

Exercisable, 
December 31, 1996 $ 14.000 - $74,188 831,481 

Available for future grants 
December 31, 1995 1,188.193 

Decemiber 31, 996 3,969,317 

The weighted average exe'cise p'lces of or-tions 
granted dunng 1996 and 1995 are $70,130 per share 
and $51,204 per share, respectivelv The weighted average 
exercise prices of options exercisec ounng 1996 and 
1995 are $48,32 per share and $31.16 pi;r share 
respectively. The average remaining maximum terms of 
options IS not considered meaningful given ttie events 
that have occun-ed as a 'esulf of the proposed merger 
with CSX (Note 2). 

The fair value of each option granted during 1996 is 
estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes 
option-pricmg model witn the following weighted average 
assumptions: (1) dividend yield of 7.^3%, (2) expected 
volatility of 25,25%, (3) nsk-free interest rate of 5,51%, 
and (4) expected life of 4 years. The weighted average 
fair value of options granted dunng 1996 and 1995 is 
$16.00 per share and $13,12 per share, respectively. 

Had the compensation cost for the Company's 1996 
and 1995 grants for stock-based compensation plans 
been determmea consistent with SFAS 123, the Company's 
net income, pnmary earnings per share and fully diluted 
earning? per share for 1996 and 1995 would aoproximate 
the pro forma amounts below ($ in millions except per 
share data): 

(In Millions) 1996 1995 

Net income as reported $ 342 $ 264 
Net income pro forma 335 262 

Primary earnings per share $4JI5 $3.19 
Primary earnings per share pro forma 4.16 3,16 

Fully diluted earnmgs per share $3.89 $2,94 

Fully diluted earnings per share 
pro forma 3.81 2.92 

The Company has granted phantom shares and restrict­
ed stock under its non-union employee bonus ;"ilans to 
eligible employees who elect to defer all or a portion of 
their annual bonus in a given yea:, Tiie numt>er of shares 
granted depends on the length of the deferral penod. 
Grants are made at the market price of the Company's 
common stock at the date of grant The Company has 
granted 148,749 shares and 337329 shares of phantom 
and restricted stock, respectively, under its non-union 
employee bonus plans through Decembe' 31. 1996, 
The Company has also granted 73,344 performance 
shares under its 1991 Long-Term Incentive Ran through 
December 31 . 1996, Compensation expense related 
to these plans was $2 million m 1996 and $3 million 
in 1995, The weighted-average fair value for the 
phantom shares and restncted stock granted dunng 
1996 and 1995 was $68,02 per share and $52.88 
per shar'e, respectveiy 
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StocK Rights 
In 1989, th° Compary declared a dividend of one com­
mon share purchase right (the "Right") on each outstand­
ing share of common stock. The Rqhts are nc. exercisable 
or transferable apart from the common stock until the 
occurrence of certain events arising out of an actual or 
potential acquisition of 10% or more of the Company's 
common stork, and would at such time provide the hnlrior 
with certain additional entitlements. However, under the 
terms of the Merger Agreement (Note 2) the CSX tender 
offer does not constitute an event that would result m 
the Rights becornmc exercisable. In 1995, a dividend of 
one Right for each share of ESOP Stock was declared 
and paid. The exercise price of the Rights is $205. The 
Rights may be redeemed by the Company prior to becom­
ing exercisable at one-half cent ($.005) per Right and 
have no voting or dividend rights, 

10. Asset Disposition Charge 

Included in 1995 operating expenses is an asset disposi­
tion charge of $285 million, which reduced net income by 
$176 million. The asset disposition charge resulted from a 
review of the Company's route system and other operating 
assets to determine thos" that no longer effectively and 
economically supported current and expected operations. 
The Company identified and has committed to sell 1,800 
miles of rail lines that are expected to provide proceeds 
substantially (ess than net book value. In addition, other 
assets, principally yards and side tracks, identified for dis-
positon were wntten down to estimated net realizable 
value (See Note 1 "Asset Impairment"), 

11.1994 Early Retirement Program 

Dunng 1994. the Company recorded a charge cf $84 mil­
lion, which reduced net income by $51 million, for a non­
union employee voluntary early retirement program and 
related costs. The majonty of the cost of the early retire­
ment program is being paid from the Company's overfund­
ed pension plan. 

12. Other Income, Net 

(In Millions) 1996 1995 1994 

Interest income $ 29 $ 33 $ 34 
Rental income SO 57 53 
Property sales U 27 18 
Other, net 10 13 13 

$112 $ ' 3 0 $118 

13. Commitments and Contingencies 

Environmental 

The Company is subject to vanous federal, state and 
local laws and regulatons regardmg environmental mat­
ters, CRC IS a party to vanous p'oceedmgs brought by 
both regulatory agencies and private parties under 
federal, stat.; and local laws, including Superfund laws, 
anc has also received inquiries from governmental agen­
cies with respect to other potential environmental issues. 
At December 31,1996, CRC has received, together with 
other companies, notices of its ii.volvement as a potentially 
responsible party or requests for information under the 
Supeifund laws with respect to cleanup and/or removal 
costs due to its status as an alleged transporter, generator 
or property owner at 1 35 locations. However, based on 
currently available information, t te Company believes 
CRC may have some potential responsibility at only 61 
of these Sites Due to the number of parties involved at 
many of these sites, the wide range of costs of possible 
remeoiation alternatives, the changing technology and 
the length cf time over which these matters develop, it 
IS offen not po<:-;ible to estimate CRC's liability for the 
costs associated ^.'ith the assessment and remediation 
of contaminated sites. 
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NOTES TO CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUEO) 

Although the Company's operating results and liquidity 
COL Id be significantly affected in any quarterly or annual 
reporting period if CRC were held principally liable in cer­
tain of these actions, at December 31, 1996, tne Company 
had accrued $55 million, an amount it believes is sufficient 
to cover the probable liability and remed.ation costs that will 
be incur-ed at Superfund sites and other sites based on 
known ir formation and using vanous estimating techniques. 
The Cornpany believes the ultimate liabilty for these mat­
ters will not materially affect its consolidated financial con­
dition. 

The Company spent $1 1 million in 1996, $14 million m 
1995 ana $8 million m 1994 fcr environmental remedia­
tion and related costs and anticipates spena.ng an amount 
comparable to that rpent in 1996 during 1997, in addition, 
the Company's capital expenditures for environmental con­
trol and abatement projects were approximately S.5 million 
in 1996 and 1995, -̂ nd $5 million m 1994, and are antici­
pated to be approximately $10 million m 1997 

The En/ironmental Ouai.;; Department is charged 
with promoting the Company s compliance with laws 
ah'j regulations affecting the environment and instituting 
'̂ ,-nvironmer tally sound operating practices. The depart­
ment monitors the status of the sites where the Company 
is alleged to have liability and continually reviews the 
information available and assesses the adequacy of the 
recorded liability. 

Other 
The Company is involved in vanous legal actions, principally 
relating to occupational health claims, personal injuries, 
casua.ties, property dam,age ano damage to lading. The 
Compsmy has recorded liabilities on its balance sheet for 
amoun's sufficient to cover the expected payments for 
such actions. 

The Company nay be contingently liable for approxi­
mately $63 million at December 31 , 1996 under indemni­
fication provisiu'^E related to sales of ta> -enefits, 

CRC had an ave-age of 20,761 employees in 1996. 
approximately 87'" o of whom are represented by 14 differ­
ent labor org?'.,nations and are covered by 22 separate 
collective bargaining agreements. The Company was 
engaged m collective bargaining at December 31 . 1996 
with labor organizations representing approximately 22% 
of its labor force. 

In 1994, Locomotive Management Services, a general 
partnership of which CRC holds a fifty percent interest 
issued $96 million of Equipment Trust Certificates to fund 
the purchase price of 60 new locomotives. While principal 
and interest payments on certificates will be fully guaran-
• :ed by CRC, thrc ugh a sharing agreement with its part­
ner, CRC's portic 1 of the guarantee is reauced to approxi­
mately $48 mil: on, effective January 1. 1997 with the 
Company's pi .xhase of twenty of the locomotives, 

CRC has eceived ihree adverse jury verdicts related to 
railroad crossing acrjidents m Ohio that include significant 
punitive damage ?,wards that collectively approximate $30 
million, CRC believes the punitive dam.age awards m those 
cases are improper and that it has meritorious defenses, 
which it plans to pursue on appeal. The Company is not 
presently able to reasonably estimate the ultimate outcome 
of these cases, and accordingly, no expense for such 
awards has been recorded as of December 31,1996, 

As part of the Merger Agreemert (Note 2), the 
Company may be a party to certain stock purchase options 
or, under certain cinrumstances. be required to p,ay sub­
stantial termination fees. 
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14. Condensed Quarterly Data (Unaudited) 
First Second Third Fourth 

($ In Millions Except Per Share) 1996 1995 1996 1995 1996 1995 1996 1995 

Revenues 
Income (loss) from operations 
Net income (loss) 
Net income (loss) per common share: 

Primary 
Fully diluted 

Ratio of earnings to fixed charges 
Dividends per common share 
Market pnces per common share 
(New York Stock Exchange) 

High 
Low 

$889 $889 $949 $923 $933 $923 $943 $951 

69 114 54 180 235 208 243 (46) 

31 55 26 123 138 116 147 (30) 

J» ,66 .30 1,52 1.74 1,44 1.86 (,43) 

JU .61 .29 1,37 1.58 1,31 1.70 (.43) 

1.75X 2,39x 1.57X 3,42x 4.77X 4,02x 4.9 I x -

.425 ,375 .425 ,375 .475 ,425 .475 ,425 

77/. 57% 73'/. 56'/. 74y. 70'/. 100'/. 74̂ 4 

67y. 50'/, 66/. 5:% 63y. 55^ 68'/> 65/i 

Du-ng the second quarter of 1996. the Company 
recorded a one-time charge of $135 million for the non­
union employee voluntary early retirement and separation 
programs and related costs, which reduced net income by 
$83 million (Note 3), Without this charge, net income 
would have been $109 million for the quarter ($1,37 and 
$1,25 per share, pnmary and fully diluted, respectively). 

As a result of a decrease m a state income tax rate 
enacted durmg the second quarter of 1995, income tax 
expense w-is reduced by $21 million representing the 
effects of adjusting deferred income taxes and the special 
income tax obligation for the rate decrease as required 

under SFAS 109 (Note 7), Without this one-time tax bene­
f i t the Company's net income for the quarter would have 
been $102 million ($1,25 and $1,14 per share, pnmary 
and fully diluted, respectively). During the fourth quarter of 
1995, an asset disposition charge reduced incor^,' from 
operations by $285 million and adversely affected the 
quarter's net income by $176 million (Note 10), Without 
the asset disposition charge, net income would have been 
$146 million ($1,82 and $1,65 per share pnmary and 
full) diluted, respectively) for the fourth quarter of 1995, 
A'ter the asset disposition charge, earnings were insuffi­
cient by $58 million to cover fixed charges for the quarter. 
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C O R P O R A T E O F F I C E R S 

David M. LeVan, 51 
Chairman, Presider)t and Chief Executive Officer 
Present position smce May 1996, Served as President and 
Chief Executive Officer between March 1995 and May 
1996, Served as President and Chief Operating Off cer 
between September 1994 and March 1995 Servec as 
Executive Vice President between Novembe' 1993 and 
Septemt)er 1994, Served as Senior Vice President -
Operations between July 1992 and November 1993 
Served ais Senior Vice President - Operating Systems and 
Strategies between November 1991 and July 1992, 

Cynthia A. Archer, 43 
Senior Vice President - Intermodal Service Group 

Present position since May 1995 Served as General 
Manager - Transportation and Customer Sen/ice of the 
Harnsburg Division t)etween February 1994 and May 
1995, Served as Assistant Vice President - Food and 
Agriculture between September 1993 and January 1994, 
Served as Director - Intermoda' Business Development 
between September 1991 and August 1993, 

Ronald J. Conway, 53 
Senior Vice President - Operations 
Present position since November 1994 Se-ved i s Vice 
FVesident - Operations between Septemoer 1994 and 
November 1994, Served as Vice President -
Transportation between July 1994 and September 1994. 
Served as Vice President - Intermodal Service Group 
between November 1993 and July 1994. Sensed as 
Assistant Vice President - Petrochemicals and Minerals 
between Apnl 1992 and November 1993, 

T imothy P. Dwyer, 47 
Senior Vice President - Unit Train Service Group 
Present position since November 1994 Served as 
Vice President - Unit Tram Service Group between 
November 1993 and November 1994 Served as 
General Manager - Philadelphia Division between 
April 1992 and November 1993. 

John A McKelvey, 45 
Senior Vice President - Finance 
Present position since February 1997 Served as Vice 
President-Service Delivery between January 1996 and 
February 1997 Sen/eo as Vce President - Matenals and 
Purchasing between Aprn 1994 ana January 1996. 
Served as Vice President - Controller between May 1993 
and March 1994. Served as Vce President - Treasurer 
between 1988 and May 1993 

Frank H. Nichols, 5C 
Senior Vice President - Organizational Performance 

Present position since May 1995, Served as Vice 
President - Human Resources between February 1993 
and May 1995, Servec as Assistant Vce President -
Finance between November 1988 and February 1993 

Timothy T. O'Toole, 41 
Senior Vice President - Law and Government Affairs 

Present position since February 1997 Sewed as Senior 
Vice President - Finance between Apnl 1996 and 
February 1997 Sen/ed as Vice President and Treasurer 
between Apnl 1994 and April 1996, Served as Vce 
President and General Counsel between May 1989 
and Apnl 1994, 

Lester M. Passa, 43 
Senior Vice Pres dent - Automotive Service Group 

Present position smce February 1997, Served as Vice 
President - Logistics and Corporate Strategy between 
March 1995 and February 1997 Served as Assistant Vice 
President - Corporate Strategy between February 1993 
and March 1995, Served as Director - Intermodal 
Planning between October 1991 and January 1993, 

John P. Sammon, 46 
Senior Vice President - CORE Service Group 
Present position since November 1994, Served as Vice 
Presidei.t - Intcmodal between July 1994 and November 
1994, Served as Assistant Vice President - ntermodal 
between January 1988 and July 1994, 

George P. Tumer, 55 
Senior Vice President - Merger Transition 

Present position smce February 1997, Served as Senior 
Vice President - Automotive Service Group between 
November 1994 and February 1997 Served as Vice 
President - Automotive Service Group between November 
199'. and November 1994, Served as Assistant Vice 
President - Automotive between Apnl 1992 and 
November 1993, 

Bruce B. Wi lson, 61 
Senior Vice President - Merger 

Present position smce February 19'57, Served as 
Senior Vice President - Law between Apnl 1987 
and February 1997, 
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Lucy S,L. Amerman, 46 
Vice President - Risk Management' 
Present position since July 1994, Served as Assistant 
Vice President - Claims and Litigation between April 
1994 and July 1994, Served as General Counsel -
Litigation between March 1990 and March 1994, 

Dennis A Arouca, 45 
Wee President - Labor Relations' 
Present position since May 1994. Served as Partner in the 
law firm of Pepper Hamilton & Scheetz between February 
1986 and May 1994. 

Thomas J. McFadder 42 
Treasurer' 

Present position since May 1996. Served as Assistant 
Treasurer - Investor Relations and Finance between June 
1994 and May 1996. Served as Director - Project 
Financing between July 1990 and June 1994. 

James D. McGeehan, 48 
Corporate Secretary 

Present position since May 1996. Served as Assistant 
Corporate Secretary between December 1980 and 
May 1996, 

Gerald T. Gates, 43 
Vice President - Customer Support' 

Present position since January 1996, Served as Vice 
President - Transportation between November 1994 and 
January 1996, Served as Vice President - Mechanical 
between December 1993 and November 1994, Served as 
Assistant Vice President - Operations Planning and 
Administration between J.'v 1992 and November 1993, 
Served as General Manager - Indianapolis Division 
between September 1990 and July 1992, 

Hugh J, Kiley, 44 
Vice President - Service Design & Planning' 
Present position since January 1996, Sen/ed as Assistant 
Vice President - Performance and Process Management 
between November 1994 and January 1996, Served as 
Assistant Vice President - Program Management between 
May 19-."*4 und November 1994, Served as General 
Manager - National Customer Ser/ice Center between 
November 1990 and May 1994, 

Craig R. MacQueen, 44 
Wee President - Corporate Communications' 

FVesent position since June 1995, Served as Assistant 
Vice President - Public Affairs between September 1992 
and June 1995 Served as Executive Director - Public 
Affa.rs between November 1990 and August 1992, 

Wi l l iam B. Newman, Jr., 46 
Wee Pres'dent and Washington Counsel' 

Present position since 1981, 

Albert M. Polinsky, 50 
Wee President - Information Systems' 

Present position since Apnl 1994, Served as Assistant 
Vice President - Program Management between 
December 1993 and March 1994, Serv-ed as Assistant 
Vice President - Marketing Services between April 1992 
and December 1993, 

John M. Samuels, 53 
Wee President - Operating Assets' 

Present position since January 1996, Served as Vice 
President - Mechanical behAieen November 1994 and 
January 1996, Served as Vice President - Engineenng 
tietween April 1992 and November 1994, 

Gary M. Spiegel, 46 
Wee President - Service Delivery' 
Pre'".-iii position îlnce February 1997, Served as 
',3Sistant Vice President - Tram Operations between 
August 1994 and February 1997 Served as General 
Manager - Transoortation and Customer Service between 
April 1992 and August 1994, 

Donald W, Mat tson, 54 
Wee President - Controller 
Present position since April 1994 Served as Vice 
President - Treasurer between May 1993 and April 1994, 
Served as Vice Pres-dent - Controller between August 
1988 and May 1993 

'Indicates an o.^'icer of Consolidated Rail Corporation inly. 
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B O A R D O F D I R E C T O R S 

David M. LeVan 
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer, 
Conrail Inc. 

E. Bradley Jones 
Retired Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, 
LTV Steel Co. 

Finance' Ethics 
Nominating* 

H. Furlong Baldwin 
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, 
Mercantile Bankshares Corporation 

David B. Lewis 
Chairman, 
Lewis. Clay & Munday 

Compensation 
Finance 

Audit" 
Finance 

Claude S . Brinegar 
Retired Vice Chairman, 
Unocal Corporation 

John C. Marous 
Retired Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, 
Westinghouse Electric Corporation 

Audit 
Nominating 

Com.pensation 
Finance 

Daniel B. Burke 
Retired President and Chief Executive Officer, 
Capital Cities/ABC, Inc. 

Gail J. McGovern 
Executive Vice President, Consumer Mirkets 
/.T&T 

Ethics 
Nominating 

Ethics 

Kathleen Foley Feldstein 
President, 
Economics Studies, Inc. 

Ethics" 
Finance 

Raymond T, Schuler 
Retired Vice Chair-nan, President, and 
Chief Executive Officer, 
The Business Council of New York State, Inc. 

Audit 
Nominating 

Roger S . Hillas 
Riiti,-ed Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, 
Meritor Savings Bank 

David H. Swanson 
President and Chief Executive Officer 
Countrymark Cooperative, Inc. 

Compensation" 
Finance 

Audit 
Nominating 

• Committee Chair 
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C O R P O R A T E I N F O R M A T I O N 

Stock Transfer Agent and Registrar 
t i.st Ctiicagc Trust Company of New York 
PO. Box 2500, Jersey City, NJ 07303-2500 

Stock Exchange Listings 
Conrai! Inc Common Stock is listed on the New 'Vork and Philadelphia stock exchanges, 
(The tradmg symbol is CRR), 

Dividends 
Common stock dividends of $.425 per share were declared on each of 
February 21 , 1996 and May 15, 1996, and dividends of $,475 per share 
were declared on each of July 17 1996 and November 20, 1996, 

Shareholders 
As of March 1, 1997 there were 18,377 holders of record of Conrail Inc Common Stock, 

Shareholder Investment Program 
Conrail makes available a DirectSERVlCE'" Shareholder Investment Program for current 
shar'eholders and any individual investors wishing to become Conrail shareholders. This 
program, which will cont?,ii a dividend reinvestment feature, provides other flexible options 
to meet a variety of individual investment objectives. For addition? nformaton related to 
this DirectSERVICE™ Program, interested individuals can contact i . Chicago Trust 
Company of New York by dialmg, toll free, 1-800-446-2617 
Conrail Shareholder Dirert* 
Conrail offers a corporate information service called Conrail Shareholder Direct* This ser­
vice enables shareholders to listen to and receive copies of earnings and dividend infor­
mation, recent press releases and other corporate information. Shareholders can access 
Conrail Shareholder Direct* at any time by dialing, toll free, 1 -800-215-RAIL 

Shareholder Inquiries 
Communications concerning stock transfer, dividend disbursement change of address, 
loss of a stock certificate, or non-receipt of a dividend check shouid be directed to: 
First Chicago Tru ît Company of New York 
P,0, Box 2500, Jersey City, NJ 07303-2o'X) 
(201) 324-0498 http:''.'www,fctccom 

All other inquiries should be directed to: 
Office of tr." Corporate Secretary/, Conrail Inc, 
200 ' Market Street PO. Box 41416 
Phiadeiphia PA 19101-1416 
(215) 209-2000 

Financial Inves tors and Security Analysts 
Fmar̂ iCai investors anc analysts requiring interviews, financial reports, general 
information or any other publications should direct requests to: 
Thomas J. Conroy Assistant Treasure- Conrail Inc. 
2001 Market Street P.O. Box 41407 Philadelphia. PA 19101-1407 
(215; 209-5592 

S E C Form 10-K 
A co:. of the Company's 1996 Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the Securities and 
E.-change Commission, may be obtamed by contacting tiie Office of the Corporate 
Secretary 

Ccrrai l Web Site 
www.conrail.com 

Annual Meeting 
Friaa>, Decembe' 19 1997,9:30 AM, 
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CONRAIL' 

We are an equal employment opportunity/affirmative 
action employer committed to work force diversity. 
We select people for employment and promotion on 
the basis of their ability, without regard to race, color, 
religion, sex, age, sexual orientation, national origin 
or disability. 

® 
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FORM 10-Q 

Securities and Exchange Commission 
Washington, D.C. 20549 

Quarterly Report Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securitiei Exchange Act of 1934 
For the Quarter ended March 28, 1997 

Commission File Number: 1-8022 

CSX CORPORAUON 
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter) 

Virginia 62-1:51971 
(State or other jurisdiction of (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.) 

incorporation or organization) 

9C1 East Car\' Street 
Richmond, Virginia 23219 

(Address of principal executive offices) 
Registrant's telephone number, including area code (804) 782-1400 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to 
be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the 
preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file 
such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. 
Yes No • 

Indicate the number of shares outstanding of each of the issuer's classes of 
common stock, as of March 28, 1997: 217,662,928 shares. 
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csx CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
Consolidated Statement of Eamings 

(Millions of Dollars, Except Per Share Amounts) 

(Unaudited) 
Quancrs Enaed 

March 28, 
1997 

March 29, 
1996 

Operating Revenue $ 2,567 $ 2,514 

Operating Expense 2,243 2,218 

Operating Income 
Other Income (Expense) 
Interest Expense 

324 
(7) 
84 

296 
(12) 
ed 

Earnings before Income Taxes 
Income Tax Expense ^ 

233 
82 

224 
78 

Net Eamings S 151 S 146 

Earnings Per Share $ .70 $ ,69 

.Average Common Shares Outstanding (Thousands) 217,127 210,964 

Com.7ion Shares Outstanding (Thousands) 217,663 211,512 

Casi: Dividends Paid P*r Common Share $ .26 S ,26 

See accompanying Notes to ConsoUdated Financial Statemf,Jits, 

-3 
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CSX CORPORATION AND SUBSIDDUUES 
Consohdated Statement of Cash Flows 

(Mil" Dns of Dollars) 

(Unaudited) 

March 28, 
1997 

March 29, 
1996 

OPERATING ACTrVTTIES 
Net Eamings 
Adiustments to Reconcile Net Famings 
to Net Cash Provided 

Depreciation 
Deferred Income Taxes 
Produciiviry/Restrucnmng Charge Payments 
Other Operatmg Activities 
Changes m Operatmg Assets and Liabiliuc<i 
Accounts Receivable 
Other Current Assets 
Accounts Payable 
Other Current Liabihties 

$ 151 

159 
17 

(15) 
14 

(23) 

(89 
(14) 

5 146 

156 
14 

Ŝ̂l 
^\ 
(58) 

(156) 

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operaiing Activiues 197 (31) 

INVESTING ACTIVmES 
Propeny Additions 
Proceeds from Property Dispositions 
Short-Term Investments - Net 
Purchases of Long-Term Marketable Secunues 
Proceeds from Sales of Long-Term Marketable 

Secunues 
Other Investing Activities 

(189) 
3 

41 
(18) 

1 
(25) 

(338) 
24 

(44j 

89 
12 

Net Cash Used by Invesimg Aamties (180) (257) 

FIN.\NCING ACTI\TnES 
Shon-Term Debt - Net 
Long-Term Debt L sued 
Long-Term Debt Repaid 
Dividends Paid 
Other Finanang Aaivities 

(48) 

si 
3 

284 
57 

(120) 
(55) 

3 

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Fmancmg Aaivities (148) 169 

Net Decrease m Cash and Cash Equivalents (131) (119) 

CASH, CASH EQLTv'ALENTS AND SHORT-
TERM INVESTMENTS 
Cash and Cash Equivalents at Begmnmg of î enod 368 320 

Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Period 
Shon-Term Investments at End of Penod 

237 
273 

201 
380 

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Shon-Term 
Investments at End of Penod $ 510 S 581 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Finanaal Statements. 
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c s x CORPORATION A N D SUBSIDIARIES 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 

(MiUions of DoUan) 

ASSETS 
Current Assets 

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Shon-Term 
Investments 

Accounts Receivable 
Matenals and SuppUes 
Deferred Income Taxes 
Other Current Assets 

Total Current Assets 

Propenies-Net 
Investment in Conrail 
Affiliates and Other Companies 
Other Long-Term Assets 

Total Assets 

UABILrnES 
Current LiabiUties 
Accotmts Payable 
Labor and Fringe Benefits Payable 
Casualty, Environmental ana Other Reserves 
Current Maturities of Long-Term Debt 
Shon-Term Debt 
Other Current LiabiUties 

Total Current LiabiUties 

Casualty, Environmental and Other Reserves 
Long-Term Debt 
Deferred Income Taxes 
Other Long-Term LiabiUties 

Total LiabiUties 

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUTTY 
Common Stock, 51 Par Value 
Other Caj-ital 
Retamed Eamini 
Minimum Pension Liability 

Total Shareholders' Equity 

Total LiabiUties and Shareholders' Equity 

See accompanying Notes to ConsoUdated Fmancial Statemenu, 

(Unaudited) 
March 28, 

1997 

S 510 
924 
243 
145 
119 

1,941 

11,924 
1,955 

362 
706 

$ 16,888 

$ 1,053 
444 
298 
143 
287 
346 

2,571 

716 
4,243 
2,743 
1,488 

11,761 

218 
1,470 
3,546 

ao7) 

5.127 

$ 16,888 

December 27, 
1996 

S 682 
894 
229 
139 
128 

2,072 

11,906 
1,965 
345 
677 

$ 16,965 

1,189 
499 
306 
101 
335 
327 

2,757 

715 
4,331 
2,720 
1,447 

11,970 

217 
1,433 
3,452 
(107) 

4,995 

$ 16,965 

-5 
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c s x CORPORATION AND SUBSIDL^RIES 
Notes to ConsoUdated Financial Sutements (Unaudited) 

(All Tables in MilUons of DoUars, Except Per Share Amounts) 

NOTE 1, BASIS OF PRESENTATION 

In the opinion of management, the accompanying consoUdated fmancial natements contain all 
adjustments necessary to present fairly the company s financial position as of March 28, 1997 and 
December 27, 1996, the restxlo of us operations and its cash flows for the quaners ended March 28, 
1997 and March 29, 1996, such adjustments bemg of a normal recurring nature, 

Eammgs per share are baseo on the weighted average of common shares outstanding for the 
ouaners ended March 28, 1997 and March 29, 1996, Diluuon for these periods, whic'a could result if 
all outstandmg common stock equivalents were exercised, is not significant. 

While the company beUeves that the disclosures presented a*-- ade<}ua,e to make the 
information not misleadmg, i: is suggested that these financial statemenu oe r̂ -ad m .onjunction with 
the finanaal statemenu and the notes mcluded in the company's latest Annual K.-tx-n and Form 10-K, 

Begmnmg with the quaner ended June 28, 1996, the company changed its eammgs 
presentation to frclude non-transponation activities from operatmg re»'''aue and expense. These 
acuvities, principaUy real esute and resort operations, are now included j ' "» :̂her Income (Expense)." 
Pnor-year data nave heen reclassified to conform to the new presentatior 

NOTE 2 FISCAL REPORTING PERIODS 

The company's fiscal year is composed of 52 weeks ndmg on the last Friday in December 
The financial statemenu presented are for the 13-week quan rs ended March 28, 1997 and March 29, 
1996, and the fiscal year ended December 27, 1996. 

NOTE 3, ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS 

The Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) has issued Sutement No, 128 "Eammgs 
per Share," which establishes new guidelines for the calculation of and disclosures regardmg eammgs 
per share. The company wiU adopt the provisions of Statement No, 128 during the founh quaner of 
1997 and at that timf wiU be required to present basic and diluted eammgs per share and to restate aU 
pnor penods. There w I' be no impaa on the calculation of basic eamings per share for the quaners 
ended March 28, 1997 and March 29, 1996. Diluted eammg<: per share is not expeaed to differ 
materially from basic earmngs per share. 

The FASB also issued Statement No, 129 "Disclosure of Information About Capital 
Struaure," which the company will adopt dunng the founh quaner of 1997, The company does not 
expea that adoption of the disclosure requirements of this pronouncement wiU have a matenal impaa 
on its fmancial statements, 

NOTE 4 JOINT ACQUISITION OF CONRAIL, INC, 

.̂ t March 28, 1997, the company held shares equivalent to approxinutely 19,9% of the 
aggregate outstandmg commoa and ESOP Preferred stock (the Conrau shkres) of Conrail, Inc 
(Conrail) The shares were acquired m November 1996 pursuant to a tnereer agreement entered mto 
by the two companies m Oaober 1996 and subsequent tender offer. Tne merger agreement was 
subsequently modified, mcluding an amendment on March 7, 1997 to mcrease the pnce to be paid for 
the remaimng outstandmg Conrail shares to $115 cash per share and to permit the company to 
negotiate with Norfolk Southem Corporation (Norfolk Southem) on a division of the Conrail rail 
system. On Apnl 8, 1997, the company and Norfolk Southem announced an agreement to form a 

- 6 -
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CSX CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
No'.es to ConsoUdated Financial Sutemenu (Unaudited), Continued 

(AU Tables in MilUons of Dollars, Except Per Share Amoimts) 

jointly-owned entire to acquire aU outstanding Conrail shares for S115 cash per share. The agreement 
provides for the company to contribute $4.3 bilUon for its 42% share of the acquisition and for 
NorfoUi Southem to contribute $5.9 bilUon for its 58% share, including the investments already held 
by each company. The jointly-owned entitv is expeaed to complete its tender offer for the remaining 
Conrail shares in May 1997 and to place all Conrail shares m a voting trust pending approval of the 
proposed transaaion by the Surface Transportation Board (STB). The joint STB appUcation is 
expeaed to be filed shortly after acquisition of the remaining Conrail shares is completed. 

At March 28, 1997, the company h.--. accoimted for iu 19.9% investment in Conrail usmg the 
cost method. Upon acquiring its additional mterest in Conrail through the iointly-owned entity and 
until STB approval and release of the Conrail shares from the votmg trust, the company wiU account 
for the investment using the equity method. 

During the quarter ended March 28, 1997, the company incurred net costs before mcome taxes 
of $24 milUon with respea to its investment in Conrail shares. These net costs, prinapaUy mterest on 
debt issued to acquire tne mvestment less dividends received on the shares, reduced net earmngs by $16 
million, 7 cenu per share. 

NOTES. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 

The company has sold, directly and tiirough Trade Receivables Panicipation Cenificates 
(Certificates), ownership interests in designated pools of accounts receivable ongmated by CSX 
Transponation, Inc. (CSXT), its rail unit. 

Dunng 1993, >20C milUcn of Certificates were issued at 5.05%, due September 1998 The 
Certificates represent undivided interests in a master trust holdine an ownership interest m a revolvmg 
pool of rail freight accoimts receivable. At March 28, 1997 and December 27, 1996, the Certificates 
were coUateraUzed by $249 miUion and $248 milUon, respeaively, of accotmu receivable he'd m the 
master trust. 

In addition, the company has a revolving agreement with a financial institution to scU with 
recourse on a monthly basis an undivided percentage ownenhip interest in designated pools of freight 
and other accounts receivable. The agreement provides for the sale of up to $200 million iii accounts 
receivable and expires m September 1998 

The companv has retamed the responsibiUty for servicing and coUeaing accounts receivable 
held m trust or sold. At March 28, 1997 and December 27, 1996, accounu receivable have been 
reduced by $372 millinn, representmg Certificates and accounts receivable sold. The net costs 
associated with sales of Certilicates and receivables were $7 million for each of the quarters ended 
March 28, 1997 and March 29, 1996. 

The company adopted FASB Staiement No. 125 "Accountmg for Transfers and Serviong of 
Financial Assets and Extmguish ments of LiabiUties" dunng the first auaner of 1997, Adoption ofthe 
pronouncement, which estabUshed new guidelines for accountmg and disclosure re'ated tc irir,lcrs of 
trade accounts receivable and other fmancial asses, did not have a material impaa on the company's 
fmancial statements. 
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c s x CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
Notes to ConsoUdated Fmanaal Statemenu (Unaudited), Continued 

(All Tables m MilUons of DoUan, Except Per Share Amounu) 

NOTE 6. OPERATING EXPENSE 

Labor and Fnnee Benefits 
Matenals, Supplies and Other 
Buildmg and Eqmpmeni Rent 
Inland "Transportauon 
Depreciation 
Fuel 

Total 

NOTE 7. OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE) 

Interest Income 
Income from Real Estate and Reson Operations'" 
Net Costj for Accounts Receivable Sold 
Minority Interest 
Net Loss on Investment Transactions 
Equity Famings of Other AffiUates 
Income from Investment m Conrail - Net 
Miscellaneous 

Total 

Quarters Ended 
March 28, March 29, 

1997 1996 
$ 795 $ 794 

614 618 
284 289 
237 229 
156 153 
157 135 

$ 2,243 $ 2,218 

Quaners Ended 
Man:h28, March 29, 

1997 1996 
$ 12 g) $ 12 

(!) 

m (7 
(8 
(2) 

1 2 
5 — 

(1) 

(12) 

Gross revenue from real estate and reson operations was $17 million and $13 milUon for the 
quanen ended March 28, 1997 and March 29, 1996, respectively, 

NOTE 8. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

Although the company obtams substantial amoimu of commercial insurance for potential 
losses for third-pany LabiUty and propeny damage, reasonable levels of risk arc retamed on a self 
msurance basis. A ponion of the msurance coverage, $25 millinn Urmt above $100 milUon per 
occunence from rail and cenam other operauons, is provided by a company oartiaUy owned by CSX, 

The company has been advised that aaivities of a subsidiary that administered student loans 
and that was sold by the company m 19''? .-f? 'rnder review to determine whether, and to what extent, 
damages should be asscned agamst the compan\ for government msurance payments on uncoUected 
loans related to aUeged processmg deficiencies or errors that may have occurred pnor to the time the 
subsidiarv- was sold. The company believes it has DO matenal UabiUty for any claim that might be 
asserted, but the final outcome of the review and the axnoun: of potential damages are not yet 
reasonably estimable. Based upon mformation cunently available to the company, it is beUeved any 
adverse outcome will not be matenal to the company's resuiu of operations or fmancial position. 
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c s x CORPORATION AND SUBSIDLMUES 
Notes to ConsoUdated Finanaal Statemenu (L'naudited), Contmued 

(AU Tables m MilUons of DoUars, Except Per Share Amounts) 

CSXT is a party to vanous proceedmgs mvolving private parties and regulatory agencies 
related to environmental issues CSXT has been identified as a potenuaUy responsible pany (PRP) at 
approximately 111 envu-onmentaUv impau-ed sites that are or may be subjea to remedial aaion under 
the Federal Superfund statute (Superfund) or similar state statutes. A number of these proceedmgs are 
based on aUegations that CSXT, or its radroad predecessors, sent hazardous substances to the faciUties 
m question for disposal. Such proceedmgs ansme under Superfund or sumlar state statutes can mvolve 
numerous other waste generators and disposal compames and seek to aUocate or recover costs 
associated with site mvestigauon and cleanup, which could be substantial 

CSXT IS mvolved in a number of administrative and judiaal proceedmes and other clean-up 
effons at approximatelv 271 sites, mciudmg the sues addressed under the Federal Superfund statute or 
similar state statutes, at'which it is partiapatmg m the study and/or clean-up of alleged environmental 
contammatiou. The assessment of the required response and remedial cosu associated with most sites 
is extremelv complex. Cost estimates are based on mfomoation available for each site, fmancial 
viabiUrv of other PRPs, where available, and existing technoloe}-, laws and regulauons, CSXT's best 
estunat'es of the aUocauon method and percentage o f UabiUty when other PRPs are mvolved are based 
on assessments by consultanu, agreements among PRPs, or determmauons by the U.S, Envu-onmental 
Protecuon Agency or other regulatory agencies. 

At least oncf each quaner, CSXT reviews its role, if any, with respea to each such location, 
giving consideration to the nature of CSXT's aUeged conneaion to the location (e.g., generator, owner 
or operator), the extent of CSXT's aUeged connection (e.g., volume of waste sent to the location and 
other relevant faaors), the accuracy and strength of evidence connecting CSXT to the location, and 
the number, conneaion and fmancial position of other named and unnamed PRPs at the location. 
The ultimate UabiUty for remediauon can be difficult to determme with certamty because of the 
number and creditworthmess of PRPs mvolved. Through the assessment process, CSXT momton the 
creditwonhmess of such PRPs m determining ultimate UabiUty. 

Based upon such reviews and updates of the sites with which it is mvolved, CSXT has 
recorded, and reviews at least quanerly tor adequacy, reserves to cover estimated contmgent future 
environmental costs with respea to such sites. The recorded UabiUties for estimated future 
envu-onmental costs at March 28, 1997, and December 27, 1996, were $115 miUion and $117 miUion, 
respeaively. These recorded UabiUties mclude amounts representmg CSXT's estimate of unasserted 
claims, which CSXT beUeves to be immatenal. The UabiUt> has been accrued for future costs for all 
sues where the companv s obUgation is probable and where such costs can be reasonably estimated 
The UabiUty includes future costs for remediation and restorauon of sues as weU as any significant 
ongomg momtormg costs, but excludes any anticipated msurance recovenes. The majonty of the 
March 28, 1997 environmental Uability is expeaed to be paid out over the next five to seven years, 
hinded bv cash generated from operations. 

The company does not cunently possess sufficient mformation to reasonabiv estimate the 
amounts of additional UabiUties, if any! on some sites until compleuon of fiiture environmental 
studies. In addition, latent conditions at any given locauon could result m exposure, the amount and 
.TiatenaUtv of which cannot presently be reUably estunaicd, _ Based upon mformation currentlv 
available, however, the company beUeves that us environmental rc '̂̂ rves are adequate to accompUsh 
remedial actions to comply wuh present laws and regTilaiioiis, and that the ultimate habiUty for these 
matters will not matenaUy affect us overall results of operations and fmancial condition, 

.\ number of legal aaions, other than environmental, are pendng aeamst CSX and cenain 
subsidiaries in which claims are made m substantia' amounts Wmle the ultimate results of 
environmental mvestigations, lawsuits and claims mvolvmg the company cannot be prediaed wuh 
cenamty, management does not currently expect that resolution of these rianers wiU have a matenal 
adverse effect on the consolidated financial posuion, results of operaucns and cash flows of the 
company. 

-9 -
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ITEM 2. M. iNAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
A:̂ ID FINANCIAL CONDITION 

On /̂ .pril 8, 1997, the company and Norfolk Southem entered into an agreement providing 
for the joint acquisition and division of Conrail. This landmark aereement is outlined in more detail 
under "Joint CbX/Norfolk Southem Acquisition of Coorail' in tnis lection. 

RESULTS OF OPFRATTONS; 

Tht coL\ »ay reported net earnings for the quarter ended March 28, 1997, of $151 millinn 70 
cents per share, versus net eamrngs of $146 milUon, 69 cenu per share, for the same period in 1996, 
Net eammgs for the quarter rose 3% over the 1996 first quaner resuiu. 

Excludmg net cosu of $24 milUon pretax and $16 milUon after tax relating to CSX's 19,9% 
mvtrznent m Conrail, earmngs would have been $167 milUon, 77 cenu per share, for the 1997 
quarter. These cosu were principally interest on debt issued to acquire the investment, leu dividends 
received on the Conrail stock. 

Operating revenue for the first auaner of 1997 rose to $2.6 biflion, vs. $2.5 bilUon in the 1996 
penod. Operating expense of $2.2 billion remained level with the prior-year quaner. Operatmg 
mcome was $324 cnlUon, 9% higher than 1996's first quarter. 

Rail Umt RCSUIH 

The company's rail unit achieved record quanerlv operating income of $282 million, 19% 
ibove last year's first quaner, f̂ id 15% above the prior first-quaner record set in 1995. Total rail 
operating revenue of $1.25 bil'ion exceeded 1996's weather-affected firjt-quartei resuiu by $52 milUon, 

Shipmenu of coal, the unit's largest commodity, rose 9% to 41.5 milUon tons, reflecting higher 
UtiUty coal traffic. Coal revenue increued 5% over 1996. Total merchandise traffic rose 4%, due to 
strong demand overaU, Major contributors to the increase Laduded: autos and pans (up 14%); 
mmerals (up 11%); metals (up 9%) and chemicals (up 6%), 

Rail operaung expense for the quarter increased 1% to $965 millinn 

RAIL OPERATING INCOME 
(MiUions of DoUars) 

Quanen Ended 

Operating Revenue 
Merchandise 
Coal 
Other 

March 28, 
1997 

March 29, 
1996 

Percent 
Change 

Operating Revenue 
Merchandise 
Coal 
Other 

$ 826 
319 
32 

$ 789 
370 
36 

5% 
5% 

(11)% 

Total 1,247 1,195 4% 

Operatmg Expense 965 959 1 % 

Operatmg Income $ 282 $ 236 19% 

Operatmg Ratio 77,4% 80.3% 

10-
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U T M 2 MANAGEMENT S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
AND FINANCIAL CONDITION, C O N T I N U E D 

RESULTS OF OPFR ATTONS. Continued 

Contamer Shippmg Unit Results 

Despite ongoing rate pressures in major trade lanes, the container-shipping unit achieved its 
second-best first quarter. Operating mcome totaled $41 milUon, compared with 1996's first-quarter 
record $52 million During the quarter, the unit continued to foais cn strmgent cost control and 
productivity improvements 

Strength m global trade resulted m a 10% increase in total f oiume - 33% m the Amencas trade 
lane, 16% m the Asia/Middle East/Europe (A.M.E.), and 14% in the Atlantic. Operatmg revenue 
declmed 1% over die pnor-year quaner to $1 bilUon, refleamg rate pressures m the major trade lanes. 

While handlmg greater volume, operatmg expense of $909 miUion was held level with the 1996 
penod. This reflecu the combmed benefits of cost-cutting measures to date and strategic imtiatives. 

Other Unit Resulu 

Performance at the company's barge unit was significandy affeaed by adverse weather 
conditions along the nver system. The unit's first-ouaner operatmg income totaled $2 milUon, 
compared with last vear's record of $18 million. Severe flooding and ice resulted m mcreased 
operating costs and reduced shipments. Traffic is expeaed to rebound when the flooding subsides. 

The company's intermodal unit achieved operatine income of S5 milUon, v$, $3 milUon m the 
1996 quarter. Although revenue decreased 3% due to aianges in traffic mix, bener margins were 
achieved as a result of netwck redesign and rationalization measures implemented in 1996. 

The contraa logistics unit continued iis rapid growth, with revenue rising 30% to $92 milUon 
and operating mcome reaching $6 million. 

FTN.ANCLM rONDITION 

Cash, cash equivalents and shon-term investments totaled $510 milUon at March 28, 1997, a 
decrease of $172 milUon smce December 27, 1996. The primary source of cash and cash eqmvalents 
durmg the quaner was busmess operations. Cash and cash equivalenu were primarily used by 
propenv additions, repayment of long-term debt, and payment of dividends. 

Durmg the first quaner of 1997, net investing caivities consumed $180 milUon of cash and 
cash equivalents compared wuh $257 million consumed in the first quaner of 1996. The change in 
casb u:ed bv mvestmg aaivities was pnmarily due to lower property additions compared to the 
quaner ended March 29, 1996, 

Fmancmg activities used $148 miUion of cash and cash equivalents for the quarter ended March 
28. 199'' a $317 million mcrease from 1996's first quarter. The change was pnmarily due to a 
reduaion m shon-tenu debt levels. 

The workmg capual deficit decreased $55 milUon during the quarter ended Ma.ch 28, 1''97, 
The decrease was pnmarilv due to reduaions in accounts payable and labor and fringe benefits 
pavable, paniaUy ofiset by a decrease m cash, cash equi\ aJents and short-term investments. A workmg 
capual deficu is not unusual for the company and does not indicate a lack of Uquidity. The company 
contmues to mamtam adequate current assets to satisfy cunent UabiUties when they are due aud has 
sufficient Uquidity and fmancial resources to manage its day-to-day cash needs. 

- 11 -

745 



ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
AND FINANCIAL CONDITION, CONTINUED 

FINANCIAI. DATA 

(MilUons of DoUars) 
March 28, December 2'', 

1997 1996 

510 $ 682 

2r 335 

2,300 2,300 
(630) (685) 

0.8 0.8 
45 % 46 % 
2.8 X 4,0 X 

Cash, Cash Equivalenu and 
Short-Term iDwtmer.iS i 

Commercial Paper Outstandmg -
Short-Term 

Commercial Paper Outstanding • 
Long-Term 

Workmg Capital (Deficit) 

Current Ratio 
Debt Ratio 

Ratio of Eamings to Fixed Charges 

QLTLQQK 
Each of the company's transporution uniu anticipates overaU favorable performance over the 

remainder of 1997, compared to 1996. be company expeas modest economic growth and robust 
demand for transporution services. CSX also plam to remain focused on customer service, safety and 
cost control throughout iu units in order to enhance core eaming power and increase shareholder 
retums. 

FoUowing on iu nrcord first quaner resuiu, the rail umt expecu »o continue on tha: same 
positive trend into the second quaner. Revenue is expeaed to improve m 19S'7 propeUed Dy strength 
m merchandise and coal traffic. The nul umt, througn the National Camen Conference Comminee, 
now has agreemenu with aU labor organizauons signed and m effea. 

The container-shipping unit anticipates increased volume and permanent cost reduaions to 
mitigate the difficult rate environment. Improvmg the mix of higher margm freight wiU remam an 
ongomg pnonty. 

The barge umt wiU closely monitor the weather situation as it wiU continue to have a negative 
impaa on us operations in the second quarter. The mtermodal umt forecasu overa'J improvement 
compared to pnor year levels anributable to us network redesign implemented in 1996, The contraa 
logistics company expeas iu growth to contmue throughout the year, based upon L'̂  creased demand 
lor its services 

iQEsT CSX/NORFOLK SOLTTff RN ACQinSITION OF CONR.\Tl 

CSX/Nciolk Southern 

On / pnl 8, 1997, the company and Norfolk Southera Corporation entered into an agreement 
providmg for their jomt acamsiuon ot Conrail and the division of us routes and other assas, Conrail 
IS a holding ccmpany of which the pnncipal subsidiary is ConsoUdated Rail Corporation, a Class I 
freight railroad that operates approximately 10,5X rc \te miles m the Northeast and Midwest of the 
United States and the Province of Quebec, Canada, and which possesses supenor access to certam 
ma)or nonheast markets, mciudmg the New York and Boston mctropoUtan areas, Norfolk Southern 
owns an eastem Class I freight railroad, Ncrfolk Southern Railway Company. 

12-
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
ANT) FPJANCL^X CONDITION, CONTINUED 

Under the CSX/Norfolk Southem agreement, the company and Norfolk Southem wdl 
acquire aU outstandmg shares of Conrail not aUeady owned by them for $115 in cash per share 
ihrough a jomily-owned acquisition entity. The company and Norfolk Southera wdl each possess 
50% of the votmg and management nghts of the acquisiuon entity, and non-votmg eqmty wdl be 
apportioned between the parties to achieve overaU economic aUocaiions of 42% for CSX and 58% for 
Norfolk Southern, FoUowmg approval by the STB as described below, Conrail's assets wiU be 
segregated withm ConraU. and the company and Norfolk Souihem wiU each benefu fro-n the 
operauon of a specified portion of the Conrail routes and other assets through the use of vanous 
operaung arrangements, and cenam Conrail assets wiU be operated for the jomt benefit of the 
company and Norfolk Southem, 

The acqmsiuon of the Conrail shares wdl be effeaed tmder a pending tender offer mitiated by 
the company in December 1996 and amended m Apnl 1997 to mclude Norfolk Southem as a co-
bidder (the )omt lender offer) and a subsequent cash merger. The estimated aggregate cost of the )omt 
lender offer, the merger and the shares of Conrail already acquired by the company and Norfolk 
Southera is approximately $10,2 bilUon Pursuani to the CSX/Norfolk Southern agreement, the 
company will bear 42%, or approximately $4,3 bilUon, aud Norfolk Southem wiU bear 58%, or 
approximately $5,9 bilUon, of such cost These totals induce approximately $2 bilUon previously 
spent by the companv and $1 bilUon previously spent by Noriolk Southem to acquire approximately 
30%, m aggregate, of Conrail's shares 

The scheduled closmg for the jomt tender o0er for the remaining outsianding Conrail shares 
IS May 23, 1997 However, the closing may be extended, to a date not later lhan Jime 2, 1997, if 
cenam conditions m the ongmal merger agreement, dated as of Oaober 14, 1996 by and among 
Conrail, the company and Green Acquisition Corp, (a whoUy-owned subsidiary of the company), as 
amended, are satisfied The jomt tender offer is not subjea to any financing condition but is 
conditioned, among other things, on the vaUd lender of shares consututng, together with Conrail 
shares alreadv owned by CSX and Norfolk Southem, at least a majority ofthe outsiandmg Conrail 
shares on a fuUv-diluted basis, Conrail shares purchased m lhe jomt tender offer wiU, together wuh aU 
Conrail shares previouslv purchased by the company and Norfolk Southera, be deposited mto a 
votmg trust pendmg STB approval of the )omt acquisition, control and division of ConraU. Upon 
closmg, the jomt tender offer wiU be foUowed by a merger m which aU Conrail Shares not tendered 
for purchase m the |omt tender offer wiU be convened mto the nght lo receive $115 per share m cash. 

Joint CSX/Norfolk Southerr: STB .Application 

While the obUgation to purchase ConraU shares by the company and Norfolk Southern m the 
)omt tender offer is not sub)ea to any regulator*- condition, the exercise of control over Conrail bv 
the acquinng compames remains subjea to a number of conditions and approvals, mciudmg approval 
bv the STB, which has the auibonty to modify contraa terms and impose adcUtional conditions, 
mciudmg with respea tc divestitures, grants of irackage rights and other terms of contmumg 
operations Subjea to the STB's authonzauon of an accelerated filmg date, the company and Norfolk 
Southera plan to fUe a jomt appUcation with the STB in June 1997 for control and division of Conrail 
and for such other maners as may be required to b-e approved bv the STB, The joint STB apphcauon 
will address traffic flows, operations and related marten; wi l l outline the capital mvestments each 
companv plans to make m new conneaions and faciUties and to mcrease capacity on cntical routes, 
and will detail operatmg savmgs and other pubbc benefits resultmg from the transaaion. The 
application also wiU contam cenam histoncai and pro forma fmancial mformation reamred by the 
STB The companv and Norfolk Southera have asked the STB ',o consider the )omt appUcation on an 
expedited scheaule that would result m an STB decision m early 1998, Under current law, the STB 
must rule withm approximately sixteen months from the filing date of the jomt appUcation, No 
assurance can be given with respect to the receipt of STB approval or the modifications or conditions 
that may be imposed in connection therewith 
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ITEM 2, MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION ANT> ANALYSIS OF RESULTS OF 
OPERATIONS AND FINANCIAL CONDmON, CONTINUED 

Proposed Division of Conrail Routes 

Untd the date the company and Norfolk Southem are permined by the STB to assume 
control over Connul (the Control Date), Conrail wiU continue to be managed by its curreni Board of 
Direaors and management. After the Control Date, Conrail wiU segregate iu asseu pnmaiily mto 
two groups to faciUute their separate operation pursuant to leasing, operating, pannership or other 
similar arraneemenu. The remaining assets and liabiUties of Conrad, including joint faciUties, 
generaUy will either be shared or aUocated raubly berween the company and Norfolk Southera 
accordmg to their respective 42% and 58% economic aUocations. In aniving at the proposed division 
of Conrail and these f>ercentages, the acquiring compames negotiated with a view to«'ard producing 
the best fits with their existing systems and optimizing service to their respective customers. 

The acquisition by the company of the ConraU shares and the right to use the asseis aUocated 
to or shared by the company pursuant to the CSX/NorfoUi Southem agreement and the UabiUties 
aUocated to or shared by it pursuant to that agreement wiU be hereinafter referred to as the 
"Transaaion." Many of the terms of iL: Transaction wiU be detailed \n further definitive 
documentation that is currendy being negotiated betwtwr CSX and NorfoUi Southem, 

For additional information regarding tne Transactioa and tbe CSX/Norfolk Southera 
agreemeni, reference is made to the company's Tender Offer Sutement on Schedule 14D-1, toeether 
with cxhibiu thereto, initiaUy filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission cn Decemner 6, 
1996, as amended. In addition, pursuant to the Securiues Exchanee A a of 1934, the company wiU be 
required to fUe under cover of Form 8-K certain historical financiu sutemenu and pro forma financial 
statements givmg effea to the Transaction no later than 75 days after the consummation of the jomt 
tender offer. 

Financing Arrangements 

The company estimates that it wiU require $2.3 bilUon to purchase its poruon of the 
outstandmg ConraU shares pursuani to the joinr *ender offer. The company paid approximately $2 
bilUon to acquire about 20% of ConraU's shares in November 1996. At that time, the companv 
arranged a five-year $4.8 bilUon bank credit faciUty to fmance an acquisilion of Conrad and to meet 
general workmg capital needs. The company mtends to utilize the capital markets to raise 
substantiaUy aU of the remaining funds needed for us contribution under the jomt tender offer. Those 
secunues wiU be sold m pnvate placements and wiU not be registered under tne Securiues Aa of 1933 
Therefore, such secunties may not be offered or sold m the United States without registration or 
exemption. 

Such financings are expeaed to residt in the company's having outstanding a combinauon of 
long-term debt with staggered maturities, trust prefened securities and commercial paper. The 
company expeas its long-term debt levels (including the company's portion of Conraii debt and 
excludmg trust prefened securiues) to peak m 1998 at approximately $6.5 biUion, with related interest 
charges (mcluding interest payments on the company's poruon of Conrail debt) to peak at 
approximately $500 milUon. WhUe definiuve documentation is not con̂ >lete, the company and 
Norfolk Southem contemplate that payments to Conrad under operating or similar arrangements and 
through capital contributions to the jointly-owned acquisition entity wiU be sufficient to pay 
obUgations on Conrad's outstanding debt instmmenu. The agreement between the company and 
Norfolk Southern provides that such debt wiU be shared ratably according to their respective 42% and 
58% percentages. 

Broadest Geographic Network m Eastem L'nited States 

The Transaaion wiU sigmficantly enhance the company's position as a leadmg global 
transponation company The company wiU remam the largest radroad m the eastem United States 
and become the third largest radroad in the nation, measured m terms of route mdes and ton-mJes 
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF RESULTS O.^ O^^ERATIONS 
AND FINANCIAL CONDITION, CONTINUED 

The company, as a residt of the Transaction, wiU be adding approximately 3,500 route mdes, or 19%, 
to its rail network, and sharing with Norfolk Southem approximately 1,200 additional route mdes 
The company wiU have approximately 22,000 route mdes m 22 sutes, the Distna of Columbia, and 
the Provinces of Ontano and Quebec, Canada, and wiU provide direa access to virtuaUy every major 
metropoUtan area east of the Missisuppi River and to eleven of the largest east coast and gulf poru. 

Enhanced Operating Efficiencies and Revenue Growth 

Management expeas the mtegration of ConraU operations resulting from the Transaaion to 
add approximately $1.6 DilUon, or 15%, to the company's annual revenue beginnmg m the fint twelve 
months foUowmg consoUdauon Management beUeves that the Transaction wiU also result m growth 
of the company's rad revenue base through expansion of smgle-line service and the company's abiUty 
to compete more effeaively on cenam routes along which large quantities of goods are now 
transported by track. Smeie-Une service is prefened by shippers over lomt-Une service because of 
lower transaaion costs, recuiced delays, less damage fiom mterchange operations and smgle<arner 
accoxmtabiUty, The addition of ConraU lines tc the company's rad network also wiU improve 
operational effiaency through bener asset utiUzauon, Optimizauon of train sizes, mcreased length ol 
haul, improved backhauls, shorter routes to many destmations and fewer empty movements are aU 
expeaed to produce cost reducuons for the combmed rad network. Other signinrant savmgs wdl be 
acnieved through the realization of economies of scale, rauonalization of aoministrative and other 
overhead expenses and consoUdauon of dupUcative 'aciUties, Specific plans for achievmg these cost 
savings foUowme the Control Date are currently under development and w-Jl be more sf>ecdicaUy 
identified m the STB appUcation. 

Financial Effects 

The company expecu that the benefits from the Transaction wiU begin to budd from the 
Control Date ana should De largely realized withm a three-year period thereafter It is anticipated that 
STB approval wiU be granted in early 1998, Therefore, for the purposes of the foUowmg discussion, 
Year 1, Year 2 and Year 3 roughly conespond to 1998, 1999 and 2000, respeaively Based on jomt 
eflons of the company and Conrail to identify potential cost savmgs, management currentl> estimates 
that the T ransaction wiU lead to quantifiable pre-tax benefits from mcreased traffic and cost efficiencies 
of approximately $75 miUion, $170 milUon and $24C milUon annuaUy m Yean 1, 2 and 3, respeaively, 
compared to the separate operation of the company and us share of Conrad, These benefits mclude 
estinuted mcrementaJ operatix-g mcome of $25 miUion, $54 million and $75 irilUon expeaed through 
mcreased traffic m Years 1, 2 and 3, respeaively The remaining pre-tax benefits ..••11 m the form of 
operatmg cost savmgs, with $5C million, $116 miUion and $165 millior expeaed to be reaUzed m 
Years 1, 2 and 3, resf)eaively Funher, management expecu a reduaion in the requirement for annual 
capital expenditures of approximately $12 milUon, $28 million and $40 milUon m Yean 1, 2 and 3, 
respeaively. 

Management estimates that the company wiU, m Years 1 and 2, incur one-time transitional 
capual expenditures m conneaion with the mtegration of operations. Those are expeaed to be $31C 
milUon m Year 1 and $178 miUion m Year 2, 

The overaU purchase pnce paid bv the company is expeaed to exceed the histoncai book value 
of the net Conrad assets acquired by the companv by approximately $3,5 bilUon Although purchase 
accountmg adjustments wUi not be fjiaUzed until the Transaction is completed, a substantial pomon 
of tbe excess purchase pnce i ; expected to be aUcxated to specific assas and UabiUties acquired, with 
the remamder aUocated to goodwiU On an aggregate basis, the excess purchase pnce is expeaed to be 
amortized over a period o! approximately 4C yean. 

Because of the time required to obtam necessary regulatory and other approvals, the company 
does not expeaed mtegrated operations to have a significant effea on operatmg imd fmancial results 
prior to fiscal 1998 The pnmary impaa of the proposed Transaaion on net eammgs pnor to the 
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ITE!^ •> MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION ANT) ANALYSL*" OF RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
ANI") FINANCL\L CONDITION, CONTINUED 

integrauon of operauons is likely to be the after-tax effea of the company's share of Conrad's net 
eammgs, reported under the e«7uity method of accotmting, less interest on debt incurred :o acauire and 
hold Conrad shares. Net ra«h flow prior to operational integration is expeaed to be t^uced by 
interen paymenu on such debt, panialfy oHset by Conrad dividends. The average interest nte in 1996 
on debt mcurred to acquire Conrad shares was approximately 5,6%, The degree of negative impaa on 
net eamings and net cash flow during 1997 will depend primarily on the n« eamings reported by 
Conrad and the average interest rate and tinoing of interest paymenu on the related debt. 

THE ABOVE ESTIMATF^ AND FORECASTS ARE BASED UPON NUMEROUS 
ESTIivlATES AND ASSUMPTIONS ABOUT COMPLEX ECONOMIC AND OPERATING 
FAfTORS WITH RESPECT TO INDUSTRY PERFORMANCE, GENEILU, BUSINESS AND 
ECONOMIC CONDITIONS AND OTHER MATTERS THAT CANNOT BE PREDICTED 
ACCURATELY AND THu\T ARE SUBJECT TO CONTINGENCIES OVER WHICH THE 
COMP.\NY HAS NO CONTROL, SUCH FORW/^RD LOOKING STATEMENTS n^A'OLVE 
KNOWN AND UNKNOWN RISKS, UNCERTAINTIES AND OTHER IMPORTANT 
FACTORS THAT COULD CAUSE THE ACTUAL RESULTS, PERFORMANCE OR 
ACHIEVEMENTS OF THE COMPANY TO DIFFER MATERLMXY FROM ANY FUTURE 
RESULTS, PERFORMANCE OR ACHIEVEMENTS EXPRESSED OR IMPUED BY SUCH 
FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS. CERTAIN OF THOSE RISKS, UTSICERTAINTIES 
AND OTHER IMPORTANT FACTORS THAT COULD CAUSE ACTUAL RESULTS TO 
DIFFER MATERIALLY INCLUDE: {.\) FUTURE ECONOMIC CONDITIONS IN THE 
MARKETS IN TmiCH THE COMPANY AND CONRAIL OPERATE; (B) FINANCIAL 
MARKET CONDITIONS; (C) INFLATION RATES; P ) CHANGING COMPETITION; (E) 
CHANGES IN THE ECONOMIC REGULATORY CLIMATE IN THE UNITED STATES 
RAILROAD INDUSTRY; (F) THE ABILITY TO ELIMn>IATE DUPUCATIVE 
ADMINISTRAUVE FUNCTIONS; AND (G) ADVERSE CHANGES I>'I APPUCABLE LAWS, 
REGLTATIONi OR RUTES GOVERNING ENVIRONMF.NTAL. T.\X OR ACCOLTsTING 
MATTERS T>1£SE FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS SPEAK ONLY AS OF THE DATE 
OF THIS FUSING. THE COMPANY DISCLAIMS ANT OBUGATION OR UNDERTAKING 
TO DISSEMliJATE Al Y UPDATES OR REVISIONS TO ANY FOR VARD LOOKING 
STATEMENT COOTAINED HEREIN TO REFLECT ANY CHANGE IN THE COMP ANT'S 
EXPECTATIONS WITH REGARD THERETO OR ANY' CHANGE IN EVENTS, 
CONT)rnONS O R C I R C U M S T A N C E S O N WinCH A N Y S U C H S T A T E M E N T IS BASED 
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PARTn. O T H E R I N F O R M A T I O N 

Item 6. Exhibits and Repons on Form 8-K 

(a) Exliibiu 

1. (10,1) 1987 Long-Term Perfon*.. ace Stock Plan 

2. (27) Financial Data Schedule 

(b) Reporu on Form 8-K 

1. None, 

•iignaiurc 

Pursuant to the requiremenu of the Securities Exchange Aa of 1934, the registrant has duly 
caused this repon to be signed on iu behalf by the undenigned thereunto duly authorized. 

CSX CORPORATION 
(Registrant) 

By: /i/JAMES L. ROSS 
James L. Ross 
Vice President and ControUer 
(Principal Accounting Officer) 

Dated: April 24, 1997 

-17-

751 



UNITES STATES SECURITIES ANE EXCHANGE CCMMISSICrj 
Washir .gtor. , D.C. 2C549 

FORM 10-Q 

X ;UA?.TERL: REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15 (ci) OF THE SECURITIES 
EXCHANGE ACT OF 193 4 
For ziie cr.:arrerly period e-ded MAKCH 31, 1997 

( ) TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) CF THE SECURITIES 
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 
For t.-.e t r ans i t io r . period f r o n to 

Conroissior. f i l e number 1-8339 

NORFOLK SOUTHERN CORPORATION 

(Exact r.ame of registrant as specified ir. i t s c.iarter) 

V i r g i n i a 5 2 - 1 1 8 8 0 1 4 

iState or other j u r i s d i c t i o n cf (IRS E5aploy«r l i e n t i f i c a t i o n No.) 
incorporation or organization) 

Thzmm C o a m a r c i a l P l a c * 
N o r f o l k , V i r g i n i a 2 3 5 1 0 - 2 1 9 1 

(Address cf p r i n c i p a l executive o f f i c e s ) Zip Code 

Regi.-vcrar.t' s relephcr.e number, i n c l u d i n g area c jde (757) €29-2680 

No Chang* 

(Fomer name, former address and fonner - . i seal year, 
i f c.-Anged since las t repor t . ) 

I n d i c a t e by check mark whe the r t.he r e g i s t r a n t {'..) has f i l e d a l l r e p o r t s 
req-_ired t o be f i l t d by S e c t i o n 13 c r 15(d) of the S e c u r i t i e s Exchange Ac 
1534 d u r i n g the p r e c e d i n g 12 r-.cnt.hs : c r f o r such s h o r t e r p e r i o d t h a t the 
r e g i s t r a n t was r e q u - - e d t c f i l e such r e p o r t s ) , and (2) has been s'ubTect : 
sucn f i l i n g req-uirements f c r t h e pas t SZ days. :X) Yes ( ) No 

The n-umber c f shares c u t s t a n d i n g c f each c f the r e g i s t r a n t ' s c lasses c f 
Cc.T.-cn S tcck , as c f t.-'.e l a s t p r a c t i c a b l e da te : 

Class O u t s t a n d i n g as c f A p r i l 3C, 199 

Ccr.rr.on S tock ;par v a l u e Sl.OC) 125,454,372 shares ( e x c l u d i n g 
7 ,252,634 shares h e l d by 
r e g i s t r c u i t ' s c n s c l i d a t e d 

s u b s i d i a r i e s ) 
752 

-I 



-2-

NORFOLK SOUTHERN CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES (NS) 

INDEX 

Page 

Part I . Financial Infonnation: 

Item 1, Financial Statements: 

Consolidated Statements of Income 

Three Months March 31, 1997 and 1996 3 

Consolidated Baiionce Shecsts 

March 31, 1997, and December 31, 1996 4 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 

Three Months Ended March 31, 1997 and 19 96 5-6 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 7-10 

Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of 
Financial Condition and Results of Operations 11-18 

Part I I . Other Infonnation: 

Item 1. Legal Proceedings 19 

Item 6. Exhibits amd Reports on Fonn 8-K 19 

70 
Signatures 
Index to Exhibits 

753 



FINANCIAL INFCRMATION 

r i n a n c i a . l S t a t emen t s , 

NORFOLK SOUTHERN CORPORATION ANT SUBSIDIARIES 
C c n s c l i d a t e d Sta tements c f Inccme 

( I n m i l l i o n s o f d o l l a r s except per s.".are amcunts; 
(Unaudi ted) 

Three Mor.; 

19S7 

n=ANS?ORTATION OPERATING KT^TEIZJZS : 
Rai lway: 

Coal 
Z-f.-.ezai merchandise 
:.-.terniodal 

T o t a l r a i l w a y 
Motor c a r r i e r ;Note 6) 

Tcta.. :ransp - r t a t i c n o p e r a t i n g revenues 

S 326.1 
594 .2 
125 . T 

1,046 ,: 
203 .7 

1,249.7 

'.s ij-.ded 

199€ 

3 323,S 
574.1 
l i s S 

1,016 , -
198.3 

1,215.0 

TrJLVSPORTATICN' CPERATING EXPENSES: 
.-.a: . *ay : 
Co-pensaticn and b e n e f i t s 361 9 377 3 
M a t e r i a l s , services and r e n t s 169 4 151 9 
Oepreciation 102 9 100 2 
Oiesel f u e l 62 7 55 4 
Casualties and ot.her c l a m s 29 0 34 7 
Ct.-.er 38 6 3 5 2 

T c t a l r a i l w a y 
Motor c a r r i e r :Note 6) 

T o t a l t r a n s p o r t a t i o n o p e r a t i n g expenses 

I.-.ccne f r o n operations 

;.".er mcone expense' : 

T c t a l other income expense) 

Ir.cone before inco.-ne taxes 

Provision f o r income taxes 

T :.-'COKE 

764 . 5 
199 . € 

964 .1 

285,6 

'87,1) 

196,5 

70.7 

S 127.3 

-54 S 
:?9.2 

954 3 

261 ,0 

I n t e r e s t income 6 3 5 8 
l.-.terest expense on de.-)t ;r.'ote 4) (38 4) (27 6) 
C.-.arge f o r c r e d i t f a c i l i t y costs (Wote 3) (77 2) 

22 2 27 6 

£ .8 

266 .8 

98.7 

rer s.-.are a."r,ounts (Note 5) : 
.".'et i.-.cor.e 
dividends 

See accompanying notes to c o n s o l i d a t e d f i n a n c i a l stataments. 
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Finemcial Statements, (continued) 

NORFOLK SOUTHERN CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
Consolidated Balance Sheets 

(In mil l ions cf dollars) 
(Unaudited) 

March 31, 
1997 

ASSITE 
Current a s s e t s : 

Cash and cash equivalents 
S.hort-term investments 
Accounts rece ivab le - net 
M a t e r i a l s and supp. ies 
Deferred income taxes 
Other c u r r e n t asse ts 

T o t a l current as te t s 

Investments (Note 2) 
Proper t i e s l e s s accumulated deprec ia t ion 
Ot.ner a s s e t s (Note 3) 

TOTAI- ASSETS 

L I A B I L I T T E S AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 
Current l i a b i l i t i e s : 

Short- term debt 
Accounts payable 
I.icome and other caxes 
ether current l i a b i l i t i e s 
Current m a t u r i t i e s of long-term debt 

T o t a l current l i a b i l i t i e s 

Long-term debt (Note 4) 
ether l i a b i l i t i e s 
Minority i n t e r e s t s 

deferred income ttoccs 

TOTAL L I A B I L I T I E S 

Stockholders' equity: 
Co.Twion stock Sl.OO per share par value 
Addi t iona l paid i n c a p i t a l 
Retained income 

Less t r e a s u r y stock at cost . 7,252,634 shares 

TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS' ECUITY 

TOTAL L I A B I L I T I E S ANT) STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 

139.5 
185.7 
748 .7 

64 , 8 
139.5 
108.6 

1,387 .0 

1,266.1 
9,677,6 

101.6 

$ 12,432.3 

27.2 
679 . 0 
217.7 
161.9 

56 . 0 

1,141.8 

2,843,6 
959.7 

49.7 

2,392 ,5 

7 , 3 8 7 . 3 

132 .7 
488 .1 

4,444.8 

(20.6) 

5.045.C 

S 12,432.3 

December 3: 
1996 

S 209.2 
194 . 2 
704 . 3 

63 , 0 
158,9 
127.2 

1,456.8 

274.7 
9,529 .1 

155.8 

S 11.416,4 

44 . 0 
708.9 
178.7 
202.7 
56.0 

1,190.3 

1,800.3 
987.1 
49.5 

2,411.6 

6.438 .8 

132 .4 
462 .1 

4,403 .7 

(20.6) 

4,977.6 

$ 11,416.4 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial stateaents. 
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F i n a r . ' - i a i S ta* . ' »ments . ( c o n t i n u e d ) 

NORFCLK SOUTHERN CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
C o n s o l i d a t e d S ta tements of Cash Flows 

( I n m i l l i o n s o f d o l l a r s ) 
(Unaudi ted) 

T.hree Mont.".s E.-.ded 
March 21 

1997 L996 

CASH FLO'A'S FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES: 
Net income 
R e c o n c i l i a t i o n of .net income to net cash 

provided by o p e r a t i n g a c t i v i t i e s : 
Charge f o r c r e d i t f a c i l i t y cos ts (Note 3) 
Deprec ia t ion 
Defer; ed income taxes 
Nonoperating gams and losses on p r o p e r t i e s 

and investments 
Changes m assets end l i a b i l i t i e s a f f e c t i n g 

ope ra t ions : 
Accounts r ece ivab l«» 
M a t e r i a l s and supp.lies 
Otner c u r r e n t assets 
Current l i a b i l i t i e s o the r than debt 
Other - net 

Net cash provided fay o p e r a t i n g a c t i v i t i e s 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES: 
Property a d d i t i o n s (Note 4) 
Property sales and ot.her t r a n s a c t i o n s 
Inve tment m C o n r a i l 
Investments, i.-.cludmg short-term 
Investment sales and other t r a n s a c t i o n s 

Net cash used f o r i n v e s t i n g a c t i v i t i e s 

CASH FLOWS s-ROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES: 
Dividends 
Common stock issued - net 
Purchase and r e t i r e m e j j t cf common stock 
Commercial paper proceeds (Note 4! 
Credit f a c i l i t y costs paid (Note 3) 
?rcceeds from long-term borrowings (Note 4) 
Debt repayments 

Net cash provided by (used f o r i 
f i n a n c i n g a c t i v i t i e s 

Net i.-.crease ;decreasei i.-. cas.-. 
and cas.i equivalents 

CASH CASK ECflVALENTS : • 
At beginning of year 

At end of p e r i o d 

:27.8 

77.2 
107 . 8 
7.5 

.0.4) 

(44.4) 
(1.8) 
7 

IS 
(18.2) 

271.4 

(229.5) 
17 . 5 

(959.2) 
(119 .2) 
102 . 8 

(1.187.6) 

(75.1) 
9.7 

993 .1 
(70.9) 
1.2 

(11.5) 

346 , 5 

(69,7) 

209.2 

S 139.5 

163 , 

105 ,6 
13.9 

(15,9; 

(31.1) 
(2.3) 
12.1 
67 ,7 
2,4 

320 , 

(163,C) 
24 .0 

(83 ,4) 
81 . 5 

(14C ,9) 

(71.9) 
11 2 

(108.6) 

5.6 
LI ,8) 

(175.5) 

4,1 

67.7 

S -1.8 
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:em 1. F i n a n c i a l Statements, (continued) 

NORFOLK SOUTHERN CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
Consolidated Statemxvnts of Cash Flows 

(In mi l l ions o.* dollars) 
(Unaudited) 

Three Months Ended 
March 31, 

1997 1996 

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INTORMATION 
Cash paid during the period for: 

I n t e r e s t (net of amounts c a p i t a l i z e d ) S 52.2 S 43.1 
Income taxes $ 4.3 $ 2 7 

* Cash equiva lents are highly l i q u i d investments purchased three months or l e s s from 
matur i ty . 

See accompanying notes to consol idated f i n a n c i a l statements. 
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Item 1. Financial Statem.ents, 'continued) 

NORFCLK SOUTHERN CIRFGRATICN A-\T SUESIIIAR.IES 
Motes to Ccnsclidated Financ-al Statenents 

•lanage.'̂ .ent, the acccmpanymg 'unaudited i.iteri.T, 
f i n a n c i a l statements contain a l l ad3ustments consisting cf normal 
rec u r r i n g accruals; necessary tc present f a i r l y the f i n a n c i a l p o s i t i c n 
as cf Marci 31, 199", ana t.".e r e s u l t s cf operations and cash flows f o r 
the tnree r.c.-.ths ended .Marc.-. 31, 1997, and 15S6. 

'A'hile Management believes that the disclosures presented are adeq-uate tc 
.T.ake t.ie m f c r m a t i c . •n::,t -isleadmg, these consolidated f i n a n c i a l 
statements s.iould be read m conjunction w i t h the f i n a n c i a . :;tatements 
and notes included m the Corporation's l a t e s t Ar-nual Repcrt cn 
Fcrm IC-K, 

Ccmmitments and Contingencies 

Except as discussed beiow, there have been no s i g n i f i c a n t changes since 
year-end 1996 m the matters as discussed m NOTE 15, CC.MM.TMENTS AI.'D 
CCrmNGEi;CIE.S, and NOTE 16, r/ENTS SUBSEQUEITT TO THE DATE CF THE 
irTDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT-CONRAIL DETv̂ ELOPMENTS, appearing m the 
NS Annua- Report on Form 10-K f c r 1996, Notes to Consolidated F i n a n c i a l 
Statements, begirmmg cn page 76, 

JOINT ACQUISITION OF CONRAIL INC. (CONRAIL) 

On Februar-/ _ 1 , 1997, pursuant to i t s tender c f f e r as then cunended, NS 
purciased 5.2 m i l l i o n Ccnrail shares at 3115 m casn per s.-.are, cr 
i94 3 m i l l i o n m the aggregate. 

On A p r i l £, 1997, r;s and CSX Corporaticn (CSX) entered mtc an agreement 
, "Agreem.ent'; providing f c r a : c i n t acq'uisiticn cf Conrail, The two 
companies w i l l fcrm. a j o i n t l y cwned e n t i t y to acquire a_l cutstanding 
s.-.ares cf Ccnrail, net c u r r e n t l y held by NS or CSX, f c r 2115 m cash per 
share, pursuant to .=i tender c f f e r scneduled to expire Ma-/ 23, 1997, 
fc-lowed by a second-b ,.ep merger. Following t.ne ^ c i n t accjuisition of 
the Ccnrail shares and receipt of a l l r e q u i r e d regulatory approvals, 
m,ost cf the assets and l i a b i l i t i e s of C c n r a i l are expected tc be 
a l l o c a t e d between NS and CSX p-ursuant to leasing, operating, partners.-.ip 
cr ether arrangements yet tc be negotiated by NS and CSX. NS w i l l 
c o n t r i bute S5.9 b i l l i c n f c r i t s 58 percent share cf the p-urchase p r i c e 
cf the Ccnrail shares, and CSX -w i l l c o n t r i b u t e S4,3 b i l l i o n f c i i t s 
42 percent share (including amounts p r e v i o u s l y paid by NS and CSX to 
acq-uire Ccnrail shares). 

Ccnrail tender c f f e r and merger shares p-urchased previc-jsl-/ b-/ N'S and 
CSX, and Ccnrail s.hares.; c i n t l - / p--rc-.ased - w i l l be placed i.n a ; c i n t 
v c t i n g t r u s t pending STB apprcval. N'S and CSX intend tc f i l e a ; c i n t 
a p p l i c a t i e n -with tne Surface Transpcrtation Ecard STE; m J-ne 195" 
see.-cmg apprcval cf tne proposed a c q - j i s i t i c n cf Ccnrail, T.he apprcval 
cf the STE 'w.-.ile expected, car.r.ct be ass-um.ed and i s net l i k e l - / tc be 
e f f e c t i v e p n c r tc A p r i l 1, 1995, 

NS intends tc accc-.:nt f c r i t s investm.ent m Ccnrail usi.nc tne eq-,iity 
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:tem 1. F i n a n c i a l Statements. continued) 

NORFOLK SOL'THEP.N CORPORATION A:.T SUBSIDIARIES 
Notes to Consolidated Finemcial Statem.ents 

Commitments and Contingencies .continued) 

JOINT ACQUISITION OF CONRAIL INC. (CONRAIL) '.continued) 

and d u r i n g the per i o d Ccnrail shares are held i n a voting t r u s t - - a 
p e r i o d t h a t w i l l extend at least u n t i l the e f f e c t i v e date cf the STB's 
d e c i s i o n approving the transactions contemplated by the Agreement ' i f 
such approval i s obtained) . The method of accounting f o r the investment 
i n C o n r a i l subsequent to the v c t i n g t r u s t being dissolved w i l l depend cr 
the ownership arramgement th a t i s u l t i m a t e l y negotiated between NS and 
CSX, and approved by the STB, and the determination of whether and how 
c o n t r o l l i n g f i n a n c i a l i n t e r e s t s wii^-l be established f o r selected assets, 
l i a b i l i t i e s and operations cf Ccn r a i l . A d d i t i o n a l l y , the terms of 
leases, o p e r a t i n g , partners.nip and other arrangements, yet tc be 
neg o t i a t e d , - w i l l im.pa--t tne acccunting. I t i s also expected that some 
of the assets and operations of Conrail w i l l remain sxib^ect to j o i n t 
c o n t r o l by NS and CSX and thus w i l l continue tc be accounted f o r using 
the e q u i t y method of accc-unting post STB approval. 

The C o n r a i l shares purchased on February 11, 1997, were financed w i t h 
commercial paper debt see Note 4, 'Commercial Paper'). D-urmg the 
second q u a r t e r of 1997, NS intends to finance the remaining 
approximately $5 b i l l i o n cost cf the Conrail transaction by accessing 
both p u b l i c auid p r i v a t e markets by issuing consnercial paper and term" 
debt. 

JEBT CCMMITMENTS 

Following the A p r i l 8, 1997, Agreement w i t l : CSX, NS terminated a l l but 
SI. €5 b i l l i o n of the commitments ava i l a b l e under a S13.0 b i l l i o n c r e d i t 
agreement dated Februar-/ 12, 1997, as amended. T.he February c r e d i t 
agreement provided fmemcing f c r NS' then-proposed a c q u i s i t i o n cf a l l 
Ccnrail shares. NS has begun n e g o t i a t i n g a new credi t agreement t o 
provide a bank f a c i l i t y cf up to $7. C b i l l i o n . During t.he second 
q-uarter of 1997, NS mtendr. tc finance the remaining approximately 
S5 b i l l i o n cost of the Ccnr.Til t r a n s a c t i c n by accessing both p u b l i c and 
p r i v a t e markets by issuing commercial paper and term debt. NS .has 
e.ntered i n t o c e r t a i n agreements to hedge i t s exposure tc chamges m 
i n t e r e s t r a t e s . The t c t a l n o t i o n a l amount cf s-Jch contracts •>nd 
agreements i s SI. 25 b i l l i c n . s a r e s u l t , NS i s exposed to the market 
r i s k a s s o c i a t e d w i t h i n t e r e s t .ate f l u c t u a t i o n s -until t.he contracts and 
agreements are terminated. NS expects tc terTr,inate them, -when t.he term 
debt _s issued and accc'unt f c r any gai.n cr less, w.-.ieh i s net expected 
tc be m a t e r i a l , as a ccmpcnent cf i n t e r e s t expense ever t.he l i f e cf the 
terr. debt. Ccur.terpart-ies to the contracts and agreements are na-or 
f i n a n c i a l i n s t i f u t i e n s believed by Management to be cr edifwort.hy. 
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; tem 1 
Financial Statements, (continued) 

NORF'OLK SCLTTHERN CORPORATION AND SL3SIDIAR.IES 
Notes to Consolidated F i n a n r i a j State.ments 

Charge f c r Credit F a c i l i t y Ccsts 

NS recorded a Ŝ 7.2 m i l l i o n pretax charge m t.he f i r s t q-uarter ef 19?-
•'cr the d i r e c t costs, p r i n c i p a l l y loan commitment fees, cf having 
secured a.nd maintained c e r t a i n now-terminated comm.itments -jnder t.-.e 
t^ebr^uary c r e d i t agreement (see Note 2, "Debt Comm,itments' ; , Tnis cnarge 
reduced first-q-uarter net inccme by $49.7 m i l l i o n , or SC. 4.. per s.-.are. 

Long-Term Debt 

SHELF REGISTPATIONS 

on Janvary 22, 1S:7. and cn March 27, 1997, NS f i l e d w i t n the Securities 
and Exchange Commission shelf r e g i s t r a t i o n statements on Fcrm S-3 
covering t.he issuance of -up to SI.25 b i l l i o n and S3,0 b i i i i o n , 
r e s p e c t i v e l y , p r i n c i p a l amount of any combination of cebt cr equity 
s e c u r i t i e s . 

COMMERCIAL PAPER 

In'pebruary 1997, NS issued Sl.O b i l l i o n of commercial paper debt to 
finance i t s purchase of 8.2 m i l l i o n Conrail shares (see Note 2, "Joint 
Acqu'sition cf Ccnrail I n c . ' ) . The debt has been c l a s s i f i e d as .ong-
terrr. because NS has the a b i l i t y , through a r e v o l v i n g back--up . a c i - i t y , 
t c convert t h i s o b l i g a t i o n i n t o longer-term, debt. NS mtenas tc 
-e^-ranee the commercial paper e i t h i r by issuin g a d a i t i o n a - commeroia. 
paper er by replacing commercial paper notes w i t n -ong-term. aeot, 

CAPITAL LEASE CBLIGATICNS 

I . " r i Z ~ Z h e " f i r s t quarters cf 1997 and 1996. an NS r a i l s-ubsidiaiv 
e n t e r e d ' i n t c ' c a p i t a l -eases covering new locomotives. ^^T.he^related 

vp i t a -
mi_.\ion 

bt 

-a---a- lease"'obligaticns t o t a l i n g S44,7 m i l l i o n m 1997 and 
1-^". ^ . - - . ^ ^ -.oge were r e f l e c t e d m the Consolidated Eaiance sneets 
Is*-eb"'"Lnd "beca-Ise they -were ncn-cash t r a n s e c t i o n s , were excluded frcm 
-Ue"—--s-lidated Statements of Casn Flows. T.he lease c c l i g a t i c n s carry 
s-a-ed -nterest rates cf 6,8 3 percent f c r t.he lease entered i n t o i n 
• I ; - and bet-ween 6.2C percent and 6.75 percent f c r these enterec mtc 
' I -zrjf. • we'e '-o.nverted te va r i a b l e rate o b l i g a t i o n s using mterest 
rate^wap agreements. T.he i n t e r e s t rates on these o b l i g a t i o n s are rasec 
cn the six-month London Interbank Cffered Rate ana are reset ever-/ s i x 
m.ont.hs with realized gams cr losses acco-untec -cr as an ac;us men. e. 
i n t e r e s t expense e-.-er t.-.e terms cf the leases. «s a resu.-, ... -s 
exposed tc the narket I ^ S K associated w i t n f - u c t u a t i o n s m m-erest 
ra t e s . Tc date, t.-.e e f f e c t s cf t.-.e rate fl-ucfuaticns .nave ceen 
favorable and not - a t e r i a l . Cc-unterparties te t.ne i.nterest rate s-wap 
agreements are ra:ci f i n a n c i a l i . n s t i t u t i c n s c e l i e v e a by Manage.-nent to ne 
creditworthy. 
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Item 1. F i n a n c i a l Statements, (continued) 

NORFOLK SOUTHERN CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
Notes to Consolidated Financia l Statements 

5 . Eamings Per Share 

"Eamings per share ' i s conqjuted by dividing net income by the weighted 
average niuaber of common shares outstamding as follows: 

Three Months Ended 
March 31, 

1997 1996 

(In thousamds) 

Average number of shares outstanding 125,255 128,215 

The decrease in the average niimber of shares outstanding is a result of 
the stock purchase program which was suspended on October 23, 1996. 

6, Reclassification of Motor Carrier Revenues and Expenses 

Motor carrier revenues and expenses have been reclassified to conform to 
a change in presentation made in the f i r s t quarter of 1997 from a net 
basis to a gross basis. Certain motor carrier expenses previously 
reported net in revenues have been reclassified to motor carrier 
expenses to conform with recent industry reporting practices. Motor 
carrier operating income i s not affected by this change in presentation, 
and first-quarter 1996 has been reclassified to conform to the 1997 
presentation. 
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:tem 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of F inanc ia l Condition 

and Re,5ults of Operations. 

NORFOLK SOUTHERN CORPOPĴ TION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
Management's Discussion and Analysis cf F i n a n c i a l Condition 

and Results of Operations 

RESLT,TS OF OPERATIONS 

Net Income 

"Net income' for the f i r s t qrjarter of 1997 -was S127.8 million, a decrease 
of S40,3 million, or 24 percent, compared with first-quarter 1996. 
Included in 1997's results was a $77.2 million (S49.7 million after-tax) 
charge for costs related to the February credit agreement which had been 
established and maintained to purchase a l l Conrail shares (see Note 3) . 
Excluding the charge, first-quarter net income was 5177.5 million, up 
S9,4 million, or 6 percent, compared with the saune period l a s t year. A 
S24.6 million, or 9 percent, increase in operating income more than offset 
a $15,7 million decrease m nonoperating income (excluding the charge for 
credit f a c i l i t y costr) that principally resulted from higher interest 
expense. 

Railway Operating Revenues 

Railway operating revenues were a record SI.05 b i l l i o n for the f i r s t quarter, 
a S29.3 million, or 3 percent, increase, compared with the same period last 
year. As shown in the table below, the improvement was the result of 
increased t r a f f i c volume. 

F i r s t Quarter 
1997 vs. 1996 

Increase (Decrease) 

(In millions of dollars) 

T r a f f i c volume (carloads) 
Revenue per unit 

$42.3 
(13.0) 

.$29.3 
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Item. 2, ."ianeigement' s D i s c u s s i o n and Ar;,a-yEis o f F i n a n c i a i C e n d i t i e n 

and R e s u l t s o f O p e r a t i o n s . 

Revenues a.nd c a r l o a d s f o r t h e commodity groups were as f o l l o w s : 

Revenues Car leads 
1997 1996 1997 1996 

(S i n ( i n t h ourands) 

Coal S 326 . 1 S 323.8 327 .7 319.6 

Chem.icals 147 . 2 141.1 100.6 96 . 6 
Paper,' f o r e s t 134 . 8 129 .7 114 .7 109 . S 
Automotive 123 . 8 118.3 92 .1 83 .8 
A g r i c u l r u r e 99 . 2 101. 6 91. 0 93 .1 

89 . 2 83 .4 87 .2 82 .7 

Generax merchandise .;94 . 574 .1 485 ,6 466 .0 

Ir.termoual 125. 7 118 . 8 342 .2 319 .2 

T o t a l 3 1 , 046 . J S1,016.7 1,155.5 1,104.8 
- -= === = = ======== ======= ======= 

Coal 

F i r s t - q u a r t e r c o a l revenues of S326 . 1 m i l l . o r were S2 .3 mj. 11 i cn, or 
1 percenc, .higher :.har. f i r s t - r ^ - u a r t e r 1 996. The improvement was d'ue t o a 
3 perce.iL i n c r e a s e m ca r l o a d s r e s u l t l ng f r o n i n c r eased e x p e r t . coke a.nd 

c o a l t onnage rose 9 p e r c e n t . l e d -.c reased 
s.hipments t o Japan, Eraz i l and T-urkey. S t e e l c o a l toruiage a l s c 1.-proved. 
£-.;ppcrted by new coke Lu. aine^*^ t.hat mere than o f f s e t d e c l i n e s m t : e 
dcmestic metc.ll-.irgic«l c o a l market r e s u l t m g from. i n v e n t o r y ad^-u s t m t n t s , 
s.nipment tim.mg anc some l o s t market share. U t i l i tonnage imp rovec 
2 percent d e s p i t e s t r o n g c a r l o a d i n g s 1 a t e m t h e f i r s t q-uarter c f 1996. 

Coa- reven'ue!^ f o r a l l o f 1997 a r e expec t ed t r cem.pare f a v o r a b l y wit .h t.hese 
c f 1996. 

General .Merchandise 

General merchamdise reven-ues -were $594,2 . m i l l i o n i n t.he f i r e q u a r t e r , 
i n c r e a s i n g $ 2 0 . 1 m . i l l i o n , c r 4 p e r c e n t , compared -wi th t.he sam.e p e r i o d l a s t 
/ e a r . A l l commodi ty g rcups e x c e p t a g r i c u l t u r e p o s t e d c a r . e a d and revenue 
? a m s . Lead ing t h e i.T.pre-/ement 'wa,«; t . ie che.rMcals g roup , up S 6 , l . r . i l l i e n , cr 
•i p e r cen t , r e f l e c t i n g i n c r e a s e d t r a f f i - .'cl-um.e, a r e s u . t ef s t r o n g dem.and re; 
P - a s t i c s , c i l o r a i - a l k a l 1 and . T i s c e l l i .ecus c.ie.micals . .Metals , cons t r - - - - : 
re-.-e.iues p c s t e d a S5 . S m i - l i c i , c r " p e r c e n t . nc rease en a 5 pe rcen t 
i . icreasr- -n t r a f f i c vcl-ume, Growt.h -was b road based w i t h revenue i . i c rease i , 
r e p r . r t e d f e r ~,zsz m o t a l s and c o n s t r - u c t i e n cenm.odi t i es . Autcmeti-.-e rever.-ues 
i nc reased $5.5 . m i i l i c n , er 5 p e r c e n t , as t r a f f i c -v-el-ume m c r e a s e d I I pe rce . i t 
Th i s growt.h was s u p p o r t e d t y i m p r o v e d de^iand f e r b o t h p a r t s and f i n i s h e d 
au tomobi les d e s p i t e a .mid-.March s t r i k e a t one GM p l a n t and -unscheduled 
ccwntim.e at twc F o r d p l a n t s , Lcwer a*/erage reven-ues per ear, t . ie res-u. t z i 
s n e r t e r lengt .h c r h a u l and a s n i f t m t r a f f i c .mix among custemers, o f f s e t 
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Management's Discjssion and Anal-/sis cf Financial 

scm,e ef the vcl-ume -.-r.provement , Paper/rcrest reven'.:es i.T.prcvec 
S5,- m i l l i o n , cr 4 percent, eo.mpared -with a -weaK f i r s t q-uarter l a s t -/ear, 
A c r i c u l t u r e revenues decl-.ned $2.4 .T.illion, or 2 percent, due tc softness 
i n the _>xpcrt gram .market. 

General r-.erenandise revenues are expected to continue t c show im.pro---ement 
for t.ie remainder of t.he year. 

Intermodal 

I.itermcdal revenues were $125.7 m i l l i o n i n the f i r s t quarter, a 
S£.r m i l l i o n , or 6 peroent, increase, compared w i t h che saime period l a s t 
•v-ear T r a f f i c vcl-ume i.iereased 7 percent, due to strong -unit increases m 
Inter,-'.ational and domestic containers, and double-digit growth m .""ripie 
Cre-AT. Sert'ices Ccmpany vol'.;OTe. 

NS' mterm.odal t r a f f i c is expected to continue the f i r s t - q u a r t e r ' s p o s i t i v e 
-rewch trend f o r the remamaej. -if t h i s year. 

,= ai_-way Operating Expenses 

F i r s t - q u a r t e r r a i l w a y cperati.ig expenses were $764.5 m i l l i o n , -up 
S9." m i i l i c n , or 1 percent, compared w i t h l a s t -year's f i r s t quarter despite 
a 5 percent increase m earlcadmgs. 

The largest increase was m Materials, services and rents expense, up 
31",5 m i l l i o n , cr 12 percenr, Higher equipment rents r e s u l t e d from a change 
m the mix ef received and forwarded t r a f f i c , new f r e i g h t car leases (mainly 
eevered hoppers and some box cars), and the absence t h i s year ef income from 
leased locomotives. Purc.iased ser\'ices expense was also higher due to 
increased automotive and intermodal hamdling costs r e s u l t i n g frcm increased 
t r a f f i c •/cl'u.T.e. 

Ciesel f u e l e:rpense increased $7.3 mill...cn, cr 13 percenc, due almost 
•.entirely to i.icreased p r i c e per gallon--average prices m tli e f i r s t cj-uarter 
were 12 percent higher than a yeur ago. As the q-uarter progrfssed, l-owever, 
fuel pr-.ces d i d c^ecline. 

T.-.e -a'.-gest decrease -was i n ccm.pensation and benefits expense, -which was 
down .''15,4 m. i l l i o n , or 4 percent, due te lower accr-uals f c r stcck-based 
eem,c^nsaticr. and favorable experience i n emplc-/ee be n e f i t costs . 

Casualties and other claims expense decreased S5." m i l l i o n , or 16 percent. 
Higher environmental -.-emediaticn expenses l a s t year and Icwer personal 
in-ur-/ costs t h i s year res-ultmg from favorable claim.s experience -were 
responsible f o r the im.pre-.-em,ent. 

The 3 cercent increase m rail-way operating revenues, combined -with only a 
1 percent increase m rail-way eperatmg expenses, produced a railway 
eceratmg r a t i o f o r the f i r s t c--arter cf "3,1 percent, a f i r s t - q - u a r t e r 
record surpassing l i s t year s record of "4.2 percent by mere tnan one 
"ereentage p o i n t . 
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--em 2, Mamagement's Discussion and Analysis of Financia^ C-;nditicn 

amd Results of Operations, (continued) 

Meter C a r r i e r Operai -.ng Revenues 

First-q-uarter motor c a r r i e r operating revenues were $203." .million, a 
35,4 m i l l i o n , or 3 percent, increase, compared -with l a s t year's f i r s t 
q--arter. The im.provement was p r i n c i p a l l y aue tc gams i n t.he High '.'alue 
Prcducts D i v i s i o n , i n c l u d i n g increased l o g i s t i c s business. 

E f f e c t i v e A p r i l 11, 1997, NAVL's la r g e s t revenue-producing agent terminated 
I t s r e l a t i o n s h i p w i t h NAVL. Management expecus to r e t a i n over half of the 
revenues produced cy t h i s agent m 1997 and beyond. The loss of t h i s agent 
IS not expected to .nave a m a t e r i a l e f f e c t on NS' f i n a n c i a l statements. 

Motor C a m e r Operating Expenses 

.Motor c a r r i e r operating expenses -were $199.6 m i l l i o r i n the f i r s t quarter, 
s l i g h t l y above t.hose of the same per i o d l a s t year, which were adversely 
affected by harsh weather, Ho-vever, t.his year's expenses were reduced due 
to a favorable l i t i g a t i o n settlement 

Other Income (Expense) 

Total other income amd expense f o r the f i r s t quarter was an expense of 
387.;, m i l l i o n , compared -with income of $5.8 m i l l i o n i n the f i r s t quarter of 
last year. Included m t h i s year's expense was a $77.2 m i l l i o n pretax charrje 
te w r i t e o f f the costs mc-urred to e s t a b l i s h and maintain a $13. C b i l l i o n 
c i e d i t f a c i l i t y m connection w i t h the tender o f f e r f o r a l l Ccnrail shares 
,see Note 2, " J o i n t A c q u i s i t i o n of Conrail Inc.,' and Note 3). I n t e r e s t 
expense increased $10.6 .mi l l i o n , or 39 percent, m the f i r s t quarter, 
ccmp.ired w i t h the same period l a s t year. The increase r e f l e c t s the cost cf 
bcrr:-wings t o acquire the 6.2 . m i l l i o n Conrail shares m m.id-Febr-uary, and t.ie 
S2C0 m i l l i o n cf medium-term notes issued l a s t September, 

FINA.NCIAL COrroiTICN AND LIQUIDITY 

March 31, -997 December 31, 1996 

(Dollars i.n m.illions) 

Ca.';h amd short-term i.ivestments S325,2 $403,4 
V.'orkmg c a p i t a i S245.2 S266,5 
Current assets to current l i a b i l i t i e s 1.2 1.2 
Cebt to t o t a l c a p i t a l i z a t i o n 36.''% 27.6% 

CASH PROVIDED B';' OPERATING ACTIVITIES i s NS' p r i n c i p a l source of l i q - u i d i t y 
and -was s - u f f i c i e n t tc cc-.'er .most of the cash outflows f c r di'/idends, debt 
rep3-,.-.aents and c a p i t a l spending (see Consolidated Statements cf Cash Flo-ws cn 
page 5: . The decline m cash previdee b-y operations, compared -with the f i r s t 
q-jarter cf l a s t year, -was prim.aril-y a t t r i b - u t a b l e te a decrease m eperatmg 
aeerunts payable, com.pared -wit.i an increase i n the same pence l a s t /ear. 
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:temi 2 Mamagement' s Disc-ussion a-id r s . a l y s i s c f F i n a n c i a l 

e,nd R e s u l t s e f O p e r a t i o n s , ; con t inued) 

CASH USED FOR IN'vTSTING ACTIVITIES mcreased s u e s t i n t l a l l y due t e tne 
F e b r u a r y purchase c f B.2 . m i l l i o n C o n r a i l shares f o r 3115 per snare m cas: 
(see Ncte 2, r o i n t A c c a i i s i t i o n c f : n r a i - The i n c r e a s e m 

O Q - :mpared w i t h l a s t -year, 
rrcper: 
:.ie 

some Icccmcti-.'es 
a d d i t i c i s i n t.he f i r s t q-jarter c 
res-ult of increased roadway additions and t.he p-urchase cf 
1?5" -using cash, instead cf rrapital leases, 

CASH PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES m the f i r s t quarter of 199'̂  
proceeds frcm the sale cf ccmmercial paper to finance t.he purchase 
3.2 m.illion Ccnrail shares see Note 2, "Joint Acq-uisition cf Conr 
In c , , ' and Note 4, "Commercial Paper'' . Included also i s S'"0.9 mi 
c r e d i t f a c i l i t y ccsts paid r e l a t e d to ce r t a i n now-term.mated comm,i 
under c r e d i t agreements -w.hich were i n place to s-upport the tender 
a l l Conrail shares (see Note 3; . NS is negotiating a new c r e d i t a 
te provide a bank f a c i l i t - / cf -up to $7.3 b i l l i o n . During the second 
q-uarter of 1997, NS intends tc finance the remainmg apprcxim.ate--/ 
35 b i l l i o n cost of the Conrail transacticn by accessing both p u b l i c a.id 
p r i v a t e markets by iss-umg ccmniercial paper and term debt. NS has entered 
m t c c e r t a i n agreements tc hedje i t s exposure to changes i n i n t e r e s t 
races . The t o t a l n o t i o n a l amount cf such contracts and agreements i s 
31.25 b i l l i c n . As a r e s u l t , NS i s exposed to the market r i s k associated 
w i t h m t e r e s t rate fluct-uaticns u n t i l t.he contracts and agreements are 
term.mated. NS expects tc term.inate them when t.he term debt i s iss-ued and 
acccunt f o r any gam cr loss, -w.hich i s net expected t o be m a t e r i a l , as a 

mc-uae ' : 

a i l 

tmients 
c * f e r fC3 
creement 

.he term sec: 
•w.hich 

ccmpcnent cf mt e r e s t exp'^nse over t.ie - i t e ct 
Co-ur.terpar cies to the contracts and agreements are ma-cr f i n a n c i a l 
i n s t i t u t i o n s believed by Management tc be creditworthy. I n view cf the 
amc'unt of debt NS w i l l inc-ur tc finance i t s pert-.on of the C c n r a i l 
t r a n s a c t i c n , both ma^cr c r e d i t r a t m g agencies have downgraded t.heir 
r a t i n g s cn NS debt, 

JOIN"! ACQUISITION OF CONRAIL 

Cn A p r i l 8, 1997, Ns and CSX a.-u-.cuneed tnat th^.y had entered m t o an 

Aareement prcvicmg r na f - r tne -cm acquis: Lcn of a-1 o-utstancmg Conrai 
s.iares not already o-wned by ther. for 3115 i n cash per s.iare. T.he Agreement 
foll o w e d several months of atte.mpts by each of NS and CSX acquire 

n r a i . I n connection therewith NS' t e n i e : e r t c acq-uire C c n r a i l 
o: 

.lares 
'was t e r m i n a t e d and CSX's t ende r c f f e r :o accjuire C c n r a i l s.hares -was a.men.ied, 
a.-.cng e t h e r t h i n g s , t o i n c l u d e NS as co -b idde r and t e e x t e n d i t s e x p i r a t i o n 
da t e t e May 23, 1997. 

T.-e es t im.a ted t o t a l ces t c f the : o i n t a o q - . i i s i t i c n and o f t . i e C o n r a i l shares 
a l r e a d - / acq-uired by .VS and CSX i s approxi .mately 310.2 b i l l i o n , b e f c r e 
t r a n s a c t i c n expenses. p-jrs-uamt t e the Agreement. NS w i l l bear 5= peroent ef 
t . i a t t o t a l cos t ; c r approxim.atal-y 35,5 b i l l i o n , and CSX - w i l l cea r 42 pereent 
of s-uch c o s t , m eac.i case t a k i n g m t c e o n s i d e r a t i c n aimc-unts p r e v i c u s l - / p a i d 
by each e f NS and CSX t o accruire C o n r a i l shares . 
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Item 2. Management's Discussion anc'- Analysis of Financial Ccndition 

and Results cf Operations, (continued) 

NS and CSX w i l l have, respec t i v e l y , a 58 percent and a 42 percent econom.ic 
i n t e r e s t in--and each - w i l l exercise a 50 percent -.^otmg mtere'st in--the 
e n t i t y formed to acq-uire Conrail shares. 'Under the Agreement and sub'ject to 
STB approval, NS w i l l operace routes and assets (or r i g h t s t.herem cr 
thereto) that generated approximately 58 percent of Conrail's 1995 revenue,?;, 
pursuant to leasing, operating partnerships or other arrangements to be 
negotiated and im.plemented between NS and CSX. Each of NS and CSX -w i l l have 
the r i g h t to appoint 50 percent of t h a t e n t i t y ' s d i r e c t o r s and w i l l be 
e n t i t l e d to appoint f u l l - t i m e Co-Chief Executive O f f i c e r s . 

Under the Agreement, i t i s expected t h a t i n some form, yet to be determined, 
NS w i l l have primary operating i n t e r e s t m Conrail l i n e s between Chicago and 
Cleveland, Ohio, and between Cleveland and nort h e m New Jersey, v i a 
Pittsburg.h and Harrisburg, Pennsylvania. I n a d d i t i o n , NS w i l l operate t.ie 
Conrail l i n e serving the metropolican New York ax'ea between northem New 
Jersey and Buffalo through B-nghaunton, New York, amd another between Buffalo 
and Harrisburg, Pennsylvania. .NS w i l l also operate most Conrail l i n e s i n 
Michigan, Maryland, Delaware and Pennsyivamia, and w i l l operate the routes 
between Toledo amd D e t r o i t , between Columbus and C i n c i n n a t i and between 
Col'umbus and Charleston, '^est 'v'irgmia. NS and CSX w i l l j o i n t l y operate 
c e r t a i n Conrail assets i n ma^jor ter m i n a l areas s-uch as D e t r o i t and northem 
and southem New Jersey. NS and CSX w i l l also share access to c e r t a i n l i n e s 
m P.hiladelphi?. and Ind i a n a p o l i s , and to the r a i l l i n e s serving the 
Monongahela o r a l f i e l d s m southwestem Pennsylvania. 

NS and CSX intend t o f i l e a j o i n t a p p l i c a t i o n w i t h the STB i n June of 1997 
seeking approval cf the Conrail a c c j u i s i t i o n . NS and CSX have recjuested a 
2 55-da-y STB review period. However, other i n t e r e s t e d p a r t i e s -have recjuested 
ei t . i e r a 365-day review period or the maximum per i o d permitted under the 
stat-ute--l£ mcnt.hs. Therefore, even -under the accelerated schedule retquested 
by NS and CSX, an STB decision i s not l i k e l y p r i o r to March 1, 1998, and 
cculd be delayed - u n t i l as l a t e as October 1998 i f the maxim-um stat-utory 
period i s -used. 

Ccnrail shares purchased p r e v i o u s l y by NS .-md CSX, and Conrail shares 
p-urchased i n t,he 3oint a c c j u i s i t i o n w i l l be placed i n a ^omt vot i n g t r u s t 
pending STB approval. NS intends to account f o r i t s investment i n Conrail 
using the equity method of acccunting follow,..ng consummation of the ^ o i n t 
acq-uisition and during the period Conrail shares are held m a voting 
t r u s t - - a period t h a t w i l l extend at le a s t - u n t i l the e f f e c t i v e date of the 
STE •s decision approving the tr a n s a c t i c n s ccntemplated by the Agreement ( i f 
such approval i s obtained) . The method of accc-untmg fo r the investment i n 
Ccnrail s'ubsecjuent t c the v o t i n g t r u s t being dissol'v-ed w i l l depend on t.he 
o-A-nership arrangement th a t i s u l t i m a t e l y negotiated between NS and CSX, and 
apprc/ed hy the STB, and the determ.ination cf whether and how c o n t r o l l i n g 
f i n a n c i a l i n t e r e s t s w i l l be*established f o r selected assets, l i a b i l i t i e s and 
operations of Co n r a i l . A d d i t i o n a l l y , the terms of leases, operating, 
partnership and other arrangements, yet tc be negotiated, - w i l l im.pact the 
acco-unting. I t i s alsc expected t.iat some cf the assets and operations cf 
Conrail -will remain S'ubject te ;emt eentrel by NS and CSX and thus w i l l 
centmue te be acco-unted f e r using the ecj-uity m.et.hcd of acccunting post STB 
approval, 
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:em 2. .Management's Discussion a.id Anal-ysis cf Financial Condi: 

and Results cf Operaticns, centmuec 

::S has i d e n t i f i e d a nu.mber cf synergies related tc the transactior. -w.hich i t s 
.-anagement believes ean oe achieved and that are estimated tc y i e l d operatine 
incom.e i n nominal d o l l a r s of about 3~1 m i l l i o n m 1998, 3236 .million m 1999 
and $399 m i l l i o n by the year 2000. F-jr 1996, NS' and Conrail's most recent 
f u l l year, combined operating income, r e f l e c t i . i g 58 percent of Conrail's 
operating income adjusted f e r non-recurnng charges, was $1.6 b i l l i o n . The 
s>-nergy estimates r e f l e c t a n t i c i p a t e d operating expense savings and revenue 
erJiancements and do net mcl'ude an-/ one-time costs t c achieve such 
im.provements. Expense savings are expected to r e s u l t from, aunong ot.her 
th i n g s , reduced general and acim.inis t r a t ive expenses, improved ecruipment 
u t i l i z a t i o n and maintenance, im.prc/ed use of r a i l yards and routes, .more 
e f f i c i e n t purchasing of ma t e r i a l and ecjuipment coupled wit.h mamtenamce-of-
way e f f i c i e n c i e s , and more e f f i c i e n t transportation operations. Reve.nue 
enhancements are expected to r e s u l t from net new business ( s i n g l e - l i n e 
ser-.'ice. new coal t r a f f i c and t.he diversion of truck t r a f f i c tc r a i l ) . NS 
a n t i c i p a t e s t.he s-^T.ergies from the transaction w i l l r e s u l t m accretion i n 
NS' earnings per share cf about 6 percent m 1999, 15 percent m 2000 and 
mere than 17 percent t h e r e a f t e r . NS expects the a c q u i s i t i o n tc be d i l u t i v e 
to eamings by approximately 2 percent i n 1997 and 3 percent i n 1998. 

The fcregoing esti.mates of co^t savings, synergies, and proiected eamings 
per snare are "forward-looking' and inherently s-ub^ect to s i g n i f i c a n t 
'-incertamties and contingencies, many of -which are beyond t.he c o n t r o l cf NS, 
i n c l u d i n g : (a) future eccncm.ic conditions m t.he markets m which NS and 
Conrail operate,- (b) f i n a n c i a l market conditions; (c) i n f l a t i o n rates; 
(d) changing com.petition and t.he e f f e c t s cf new and increased competition m 
the areas served by NS and Ccnra i l ; (e) changes m the eco.iomic regulacory 
climate m t.he United States r a i i r o a d md-ustry; : f ; NS' a b i l i t y to elim.mate 
or reduce d-uplicative adm.mistrative and other f-jnctions and f a c i l i t i e s 
fcllc-wmg t.he t r a n s a c t i c n ; (g) labor -uncertainties and NS' a b i l i t y t c 
i.mple-ment a n t i c i p a t e d labor sa'/ings; '..h) -unanticipated envirorunental and 
ether sit-uations r e l a t i n g to Conrail assets- ( i ) NS' a b i l i t y tc in t e g r a t e 
c e r t a i n Conrail assets, i n c l u d i n g i t s infcrmation technoleg-j- systems, w:thin 
NS' system.s; and c ) adverse changes m applicab-e laws, regulations cr r-ules 
goveming environmental, tax cr acccunting matters. There ean be no 
ass-urance t.iat t.he estimated savings, revenue increases, s-/nergies cr 
procected eammgs per share w i l l be achieved; acfual savi.igs, revenue 
mcreases, synergies and eam-mgs per share may vary m a t e r i a l l y from these 
estimated. The in c l u s i o n of such estimates herein shculd not be regarded as 
a.1 m d i c a t i e n cr a f f i r m a t i o n that NS cr any other party considers such 
estim.ates an accurate p r e d i c t i o n cf f-uture events. 

CLASS ACTION SUIT 

Nerfe l k Sout.hem. Corporaticn i s t.he defendant i n a class action s u i t f i l e d 
m f e d e r a l d i s t r i c t ee-urt m BirTr.i.igha.T., Alabama, e.i be.half cf 
African-A:nerican e.mplcyees -w.ho allege t.hat, since December 16, 1989, the 
Corporation .-.as ciscrimmatec". against them m promotion to nonagreement 
p o s i t i o n s because cf t h e i r race. T r i a l began cn .May 12. While the 
cutceme cf t.h-s matter oar_nct be predicted, .Management's current 
assessm.ent, based cn a l l kr.c-*rr. facts and circ-umstances and ether available 
f a c t e r s , i s thac t.he r e s u l t i s unlikel-y to have a ma t e r i a l adverse e f f e c t 
en NS' f i n a n c i a l p o s i t i c . i , res-ults cf operation cr l i c r u i d i t y , 
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:tem 2. Mamagement's Discussion and Analysis of Finamcial Condition 

and Results of Operations, (continued) 

NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS 

Effective Jamuary 1, 1997, NS adopted AICPA Statement of Position 96-1, 
"Environmental Remediation Liabilit.-'.ec. ' The statement provides guidance 
with respect to recognition and measurtunent of environmental remediation 
l i a b i l i t i e s and disclosure of such l i a b i l i t i e s i n financial statements. The 
imp:»ct to NS of adopting the standards of t h i s statement was not material to 
r'.ie Corporation's financial position, results of operations or l i c j u i d i t y . 

In February 1997, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement 
of Finamcial Accounting Stanciards (SFAS) No. 128, "Eamings per Share,' which 
establishes standards for computing amd preventing eamings per share and is 
effective for finamcial statements iF.,ued for periocis ending after 
December 15, 1997. Implementation of SFAS No. 128 is not expected to have a 
material effect on NS' financial &wat«ments. 
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PART I I . OTHER INFC.C-MATICN 

Itemi 1. Legal Proceedings. 

As was more p a r t i c u l a r l - y described most recently i . i Ite.T 3 l e a a l 
Proceedings, cf t.he Corporation's Annual Report en Fcrr, IC-K'405' for t.ie 
f i s c a l year ending December 31, 1996, NS, CSX, Ccnrail and ce r t a i n 
i.idi'v'idualE were parcies (both p l a i n t i f f s and defendants) to a v a r i e t y of 
acticns, s u i t s , coxmterclaims and ether legal proceedings gro-wmg c-it cf NS' 
and CSX's e f f o r t s t o acquire a l l of Conrail. 

Pursuant t c the Agreemenc, CSX and NS have encered i n t o a 
s t i p u l a t i o n (the " S t i p u l a t i o n " ) p r o v i d i n g f o r the dismissal -with prejudice c: 
NS' claims against CSX and of CSX's counterclaims against NS, As Conrail i s 
noc a p a r t y to the Agreement, the S t i p u l a t i o n does noc cover NS' clai.ms 
against defendants other than CSX or Conrail's counterclaims against NS. 
However, m the Agreement, CSX has agreed to request, under CSX's Merger 
Agreement w i t h C o n r a i l , t.he dismissal wit.h prejudice of a l l clai.ms and 
l i t i g a t i o n against NS fo l l o w i n g the merger w i t h Conrail. Acccrdi.igl-/, NS 
an t i c i p a t e s t h a t Conrail's counterclaims against NS and NS' claims against 
defendants other tham CSX w i l l be dismissed wit.h prejudice upon e f f e c t u a t i o n 
cf the merger w i t h Conrail. I n the i n t e r i m , CSX has agreed, m the 
Agreement, t o request that Conrail j o i n m a stay or s i m i l a r adjournment of 
the pending claims. 

The u l t i m a t e e f f e c t of these undertakings is expected tc be the 
termination w i t h p r e j u d i c e of a l l l e g a l proceedings between and a.mong t.he 
p a r t i e s , i n c l u d i n g i n d i v i d u a l defendants, conceming the accjuisition of 
Conrail. 

This matter has been reported previously by NS i n Part I , Item. 3, of 
I t s Annual Report on Form 10-K(405) f o r t.he f i s c a l year ending Dece.mber 31, 
1996, and i n Part I I , Item 1, of i t s Form 10-2 repcrt f c r the cruarter ending 
September 30, 1996. 

Item 6. E x h i b i t s and Reports on Form. 8-K. 

(a) E x h i b i t s : 

Computation of Per Share Eam^ings 

F i n a n c i a l Data Schedule 

(b) Reports cn Form 8-K: 

A r e p o r t en Ferri 6-K dated Febr--ary 5, 1997 (date ef e a r l i e s t 
evont reported) -was f i l e d cn Febr-jar-/ 14, 1997, r epe r tmg that 
a w h o l l y owned ,-.-ubsidiar'/ of NS had accepted f o r pa-/r,ent 
8.2 m i l l i o n s.hai es cf Ccnra i l tendered pursuant te i t s tender 
o f f e r and t.hat NS had arranged f e r the issuance and sa.e, 
through p r i v a t e place.ment, cf S1,C b i l l i c n of comm.ercia- paper. 
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SIGNATURES 

Pursuant to the requirements cf the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, t.he 
Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on i t s behalf by the 
-undersigned thereunto duly authorized. 

NORFOLK SOUTHERN CORPORATION 

(Registrant) 

Date: May 14, 1997 I s l Dezora M. Martin 

Dezora M. Martin 
Corporate Secretary (Signature) 

Date: May 14, 1997 I s l John P. Rathbone 

John P. Rathbone 
Vice President and Controller 
(Principal Accounting Officer) (Signature) 
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EXHIEIT 1 1 , Page 1 

NORFOLK SOL'THERN CORPORATION AI.'D SUBSIDIARIES 
Co.irputaticn c f Per Share E a r n i n g s 

( I n m i l l i o n s except per s . iare am.ounts) 

Three .Mo.it.is Ended 
March 31 , 

1997 1996 

COMPUTATION FOR STATEMENTS CF INCOME 
Net income per statements cf income S 127.8 $ 168.1 

Weighted average number cf s.iares outstanding 125.3 128.2 

Primary eamings per snare S 1 . 

ADDITIONAL PRIMARY COMPUTATION 
Net income per statements cf income $ 127.8 S 168.1 

Adjustment t o weighted average number 
cf shares outstanding; 
Weighted average n-umber of sharss cutstanding 
per primary computation above 

D i l u t i v e e f f e c t of outstanding options, 
stock a p p r e c i a t i o n r i g h t s ;SAF.s) and 
performimce share un i t s (PSUs) (as 
decermined by the app l i c a t i o n of the 
treasury stock method)(1) 

Weighted average n-umber ef shares 
outstanding, as adjusted 

Primary eamings per share, as adjusted (2) 

125.3 128.2 

1.0 1.4 

126.3 129.6 

S 1.01 S 1.30 

(1) =:ee Note 12 of Notes to Consolidated F i n a n c i a l Statementr m Norfolk 
ieutnem.'s 1996 Ar-nual Report on Fcrm. IC-K f c r a d e s c r i p t i o n of the 
Lcng-Term I n c e n t i v e Plan, 

(2) "hese c a l c u l a t i o n s are' s-ur)T,itted m accordance w i t h Regulation S-K, 
item 601(b) (11) although not recpuired by footnote 2 to paragraph 14 
of APB Opinion No. 15 beca-use they r e s u l t m d i l u t i o n cf less man 
3 percent, 
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EXHIBIT 11, Page 2 of 2 

NORFOLK SOUTHERN CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
Comp-dcation of Per Share Eam.mgs 

( I n m i l l i o n s excepc per share amounts) 

FULLY DILLTED COMPUTATION 
.Net mcome per s ta tements c f income 

Adjustment to i n c r e a s e eam.i-igs tc r e q u i s i t e 
l e v e l to earn, maximum PSUs, net of tax e f f e c t 

Net income, at, a d j u s t e d 

Three Months Ended 
March 31, 

1997 1996 

S 127.8 

7.7 

S 135.5 

$168.1 

16.8 

S 184.9 

Adjustment to weighted average n-umber 
of shares outstamding, as a d j u s t e d for 
a d d i t i o n a l primary/ c a l c u l a t i o n : 

'Weighted average n-umber of shares 
outstamding, as a d j u s t e d per a d d i t i o n a l 
primary computation on page 1 

Addi t iona l d i l u t i v e e f f e c t of o-utstanding 
options and SARs (as determined by 
t.he a p p l i c a t i o n of the t r e a s u r y stock 
method us ing p e r i o d end market pr ice ) 

Addi t iona l s h a r e s i s s u a b l e at maximuw 
l e v e l for PSUs 

Weighted average number of 
shares , as a d j u s t e d 

126.3 

0.1 

126.4 

129. 6 

0.1 

0.1 

129 . 8 

"ully d i l u t e d e a m i n g s per share >3: S 1.07 .42 

''3) T.hese c a l c u l a t i o n s a r e submitted i n accordance wi th Regulation S-K, 
Item 601(b) (11) a l though t.hey are contrary to paragraph 4^ cf 
APB Opinion No. 15 because they produce an a n t i - d i l u t i v e r e s - l i t . 
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S B C U R I T I E S AKD EXCHANGE C(»OI1SSION 
W a s h i n g t o n , D . C . 20549 

FORM 10-Q 

(X) Cueirterly report pursuant to section 13 or 15 (d) of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934 for the quarterly period ended March J1, 1997 
or 

( ) Transition report pursuant to .section 13 or 15(d) of t.he Securities 
Exchange Act of IS34 for tha tiansition period from to 

Coami.. 3lon f i l e uuaber 1-1218< 

, COmUilL_ INC. 

(Exact name of registrant as specified in i t s charter) ' 

?????Y^Yf?i? 23-272 8514 
(State Ol other jurisdiction of ( l i R i s " ^ > i o y e r 
iacorporation or organizatioa) Ideatificatioa No.) 

Street, Philadelfh j.9101 
(Address of priacipal executive offices) 

(Zip Code) 

(2151,209-4000 

(Registraat's telephone nuaber, including area code) 

(Former aame, fonner addxess aad foraer f i s c a l year, i f changtj since 
last report) 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (i) has fi l e d a l l reports 
reguired to be f i l e d by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange 
Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period 
that the registrant was required to f i l e such reports), and (2) has 
been subject to such f i l i n g reguirements for the past 90 days. 

Yes X No 

Indicate the number of shares outstanding of each of the issuer's 
classes of cornmon stock, as of the latest practicable date. 

e3'"344 079^^^^*^^ °^ common stock outstanding (as of April 30, 1997) 

776 



CONRAIL INC. 

INDEX 

Page Number 

PART I . FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

Item 1. Financial Statements: 

Condensed Consolidated Statements 
of Income - Quarters ended 
March 31, 1997 and 1996 3 

Condensed Consolidated Balance 
Sheets - March 31, 1997 and 
December 31, 1996 4 

Condensed Consolidated Statements 
of Cash Flows - Quarters ended 
March 31, 1997 and 1996 5 

Notes to Condensed Consolidated 
Financial Statements < 

Report of Independent Accountants • 

Item 2. Management's Discussion and 
Analysis of Financial Condition 
and Results of Operations f 

PART I I . OTHER INFORMATION 

Item 6. Exhibits and Reports on Form 8-K 13 

SIGIiATURES 14 

- 2 -

777 



PART I . FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
CONRAIL INC. 

Item 1. Financial Statements. 

CONDENSED C(}NSOLIDATBD STATEMENTS OF INCOME 
(Unaudited) 

($ In Millions Except Per Share Data) 
Quarters 

March 
ended 
31, 

1997 1996 

Revenues $906 $889 

0}->eratlng eaqienses 
Way and structures 
Equipment 
T.ransportation 
General eind administrative 

124 
202 
354 
_110 

140 
219 
362 

..?? 
Total operating expenses ]??9 820 

Income from operations 116 69 

Interest expense (45) (47) 

Other income, n-at 27 28 

Income before income taxes 98 50 

Income taxes 37 19 

Net Incone $ 61 
mmmm 

Net Income per eoomion share 
Primary 
Fully d i l u t e d 

$ .74 
.70 

$ .36 
.35 

Dividends per conmon shar^. $.475 $.425 

Weighted average nuaber of shar«<» used In 
cos^uting eamings per share .thousands) 

Primary 
Fully d i l u t e d 

80,025 
86,842 

78,002 
87,755 

Ratio of eamings to fixed charges 2.52X 1.75X 

See accompanying notes. 

- 3 -
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COMRAIL INC. 
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BAIANCB SEEETS 

(Unaudited) 

($ I n M i l l l o a s ) March 31, 
1997 

December 31, 
1996 

ASSETS 
Current assets 

Cash and cash e q u i v a l e n t s 
Accounts r e c e i v a b l e 
D e f e r r e d tax assets 
M a t e r i a l and sup p l i e s 
Other c u r r e n t assets 

$ 32 
662 
293 
141 
34 

$ 30 
630 
293 
139 
25 

T o t a l c u r r e n t assets 1,162 1,117 

Property and ecruipment, net 
Other ass e t s 

T o t a l assets 

6,599 
709 

$8,470 
mmmmmm 

6,590 
695 

$8^402 

LIABILITIES AND STOCPCHOLDERS' I.QUITY 
Current l i a b i l i t i e s 

S h o r t - t e r m borrowings 
(Current m a t u r i t i e s of long-term debt 
Accounts payable 
Wages and employee b e n e f i t s 
Casualty resfcr\'es 
Accrued and ot h e r c u r r e n t l i a b i l i t i e s 

€5 
82 

148 
167 
140 
476 

99 
130 
135 
143 
141 
444 

T o t a l c u r r e n t l i a b i l i t i e s 1, 078 1,092 

Long-term debt 
Casualty reserves 
r e f e r r e d Income taxes 
Sp e c i a l Income tax obligation 
Other l i a b i l i t i e s 

T o t a l l i a b i l i t i e s 

1,889 
195 

1,520 
330 
306 

5,318 

1,876 
190 

1,478 
346 
313 

5,295 

Stoclcholders' e(;[uity 
Series A ESOP c o n v e r t i b l e j u n i o r 
p r e f e r r e d stock 

Uneamed ESOP compensation 
Common stock 
A d d i t i o n a l p a i f ^ - i n c a p i t a l 
Employee o e n e f i - s t r u s t 
Retained eamings 

, Treasury stock 

T o t a l stockholders' e q u i t y 

183 
(221) 

89 
2,430 
(357) 

1,376 

3,500 
(348) 

3,152 

211 
(222) 
88 

2,404 
(384) 

1,357 

3,454 
(347) 

3,107 

T o t a l l i a b i l i t i e s and 
stoc k h o l d e r s ' e q u i t y $8,470 $8,402 

See accompanying notes. 
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CONFAIL INC. 

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATE , STATEMENTS OF CASB FLOWS 

(U/iSUdlted) 

($ In M Xllons) 
Quarters 

March 
ended 
31, 

1997 1996 

Cash flows from operating activities $170 $ 121 

Cash flows froB investing activities 
Property and eguipment acquisitions 
Other 

(41) 
. . i f ' 

(18) 
(16) 

Net cash used i n investing a c t i v i t i e s _(45) (34) 

Cash flows fron financing activities 
Net proceeds from(repayr.ient of) 

short-term borrowings 
Payment of long-teim debt 
Repurchase of common stock 
Dividends paid on common stock 
Dividends paid on preferred stock 
Other 

(34) 
(63) 

(40) 
(3) 

_ 17 

45 
(97) 
(41) 
(3*̂ ) 
(ic; 
5 

Net cash used i n financing a c t i v i t i e s (123) (133) 

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 2 (46) 

Cash and eash equivalents 
Beginning of period 73 

End of period $ 32 
mmmm 

$ 27 

See acconps,nying notes. 
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CONRAIL I N C . 
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

(Unaudited) 

1. The unaudited financial statements contained herein present 
the consolidated financial position of Conrail Inc. (the 
"Conpany") as of March 31, 1997 anr', December 31, 1996, and the 
consolidated results of operations and cash flows for the three-
month periods ended March 31, 1997 and 1996. In the opinion of 
management, these financial statements include a l l adjustments, 
consisting of normal recurring adjustments, necessary to present 
f a i r l y the results for the interim periods included. 

The rules and reculations of the Securities and Exchange 
Commission permit certain information and footnote disclosures, 
ordinarily rec.-uired by generally accepted accounting principles, 
to be condens€;d or omitted from interim financial reports. 
Accordingly, ':he iinancial statements included herein shouid be 
read in conju.action with the audited financial statements and 
notes for the year ended December 31, 1996, presented in the 
Conpany's Annual Report on Form 10-K. 

2. In January 1997, Consolidated Rail Corporation ("CRC") assumed 
$31 million of Equipment Trust Certificates, at an interest rate of 
8.31%, c .-,e 2012, to finance the lease buyout of 20 locomotives from 
Locomotive Management Services, a general partnership of which CRC 
holds a f i f t y percent interest. 

3. Effective April 1, 1997, tl Company's Board of Directors 
authorized the vesting of a l l sto^ options and performance shares 
outstanding in connection with the proposed accjuisition of the 
Company by CSX Corporation and Norfolk Southem Corporation. The 
vesting of the performance shares w i l l result in an $18 million 
charge to operating expenses in April 1997, while the vesting of 
stock options w i l l not have an income statement effect. 

4. Daring February 1997, the Financial Accounting Standards Board 
issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 128, 
"Earnings per Share" (SFAS 128), which establishes new standards 
for computing and presenting eamings per share ("EPS") . 2FAS 128 
replaces the presentation of primary EPS with a presentation of 
basic EPS. I t also requires dual presentation of basic and 
diluted EPS on the face of the income statement for a l l entities 
with a conplex capital structure. This Statement i s effective for 
financial statements issued for periods ending after December 15, 
1997, with e a r l i e r application not permitted. The EPS included in 
the Company's financial statements i s computed in accordance with 
APB Opinion No. 15, "Eamings per Share". However, had the 
Company adopted the provisions of SFAS 128 in the f i r s t quarter of 
1997, basic EPS and diluted EPS would be approximately the same as 
the current computations of primary EPS and fully diluted EPS, 
respectively, included in the Company's financial statements. 

6 -
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5. Information regarding contingent licUoilities and l i t i g a t i o n 
was included i:» Note 13 to Consolidated Financial Stateme.-its and 
Part I , Item. 3 - Legal Proceedings in the Company's Annual, Report 
on Form ID-K for the year ended December 31, 1996. There have 
been no material developments with respect to these matters during 
the f i r s t three months of 1997, except as disclosed in the Annual 
Report on Form 10-K or elsewhere herein. 

- 7 • 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS 

The Stockholders and Board of Directors of 
Conrail Inc 

We have reviewed the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheet of Conrail Inc, and its 
subsidiarit s (the "Company") as of March 31, 1997 and the related condensed consolidated 
5tatements of income and cash flows for the three months ended March 31, 1997 and March 31, 
1996. This financial information is the responsibility of the Company's management. 

We conducted our review in accordance witii standards established by the American Institute of 
Certified Public Accountants A review of interim financial information consists principally of 
applying analyti'-.al procedures to financial data and making inquiries of persons rcs,-̂ onsible for 
financial and accounting matters It is substa.inally less in scope thaii an audit conducted in 
accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, the objective of which is the expression of 
an opinion regarding the financial statements taken â  a whole Accordingly, we do not express 
such an opinion 

Based on our review, we are not aware of any material modifications that should be made to the 
accompanying interim financial information for it to be in conformity with generally accepted 
accounting principles. 

We previously audited in accorddnce with generally accepted auditing standards, the consolidated 
balance sheet as of December 31, 1996. and the related consolidated statements of income, of 
stockholders' equity and of cash flows for the year then ended (not presented herein), and in our 
report dated January 21, 1997. except as to Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, which 
is as of March 7, 1997, we expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial 
statements In our opinion, the information set forth in the accompanying condensed consolidated 
balance sheet as of December 31, 1996, is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the 
consolidated balance sheet fi-om which it has been derive*̂  

PRICE W ATERHOUSE LLP 
Thirty South Seventeenth Street 
Philadelphia, PA 19103 

April 16. 1997 

- 8 -
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CONRAIL INC. 

Item 2. l^nagement^s Discussi^ of Financial 
Condition andResults of Operations. 

^^l-'^^r^f .9?.9Pf ̂ stions 

Overview 

Net income f o r Conrail Inc. ("Conrail" or "the Conpany") f o r the 
f i r s t quarter of 1997 was $61 m i l l i o n ($.74 per share, primary ai.d 
$.70 per share, f u l l y d i l u t e d basis) conpared w i t h net income of 
$31 m i l l i o n ($.36 per share, primary and $.35 per share, f u l l y 
d i l u t e d basis) f o r the f i r s t quarter of 1996. Included i n net 
income f o r the f i r s t quarter of 1997 were merger-related costs of 
$14 m i l l i o n (net of $8 m i l l i o n of tax beuefits) . Without these 
costs, net income weuld have been $75 m i l l i o n ($.91 and $.86 per 
ehare, primary' and f u l l y d i l u t e d , respoctively) . 

•Traffic volume and revenues f o r the f i r s t quarter of 1997 
increased 4.9% and 1.9%, respectively, as conpared w i t h the 
f i r s t quarter of 1996. Operating expenses, excluding merger-
related costs of $22 m i l l i o n , decreased $52 m i l l i o n , c r 6.3%, 
for the f i r s t three months of 1997 as compared w i t h the 
comparable period for 1996. The Company's operating expenses f o r 
the f i r s t quarter of 1996 were unfavoradDly a f f e c t e d by d i f f i c u l t 
operating conditions caused by severe weather experienced over 
most of the Conpany's service area. The increase i n revenues 
and decrease i n operating expenses resulted i n an operating 
r a t i o (operating expenses as a percent of revenues) of 87.2% 
(84.7% excluding merger-related costs) f o r the f i r s t quarter of 
1997 a.-, compared with 92.3% f o r the f i r s t quarter of 1996. 

Proposed Merger 

On Aprxl 8, 199 7, Conrail and CSX Corporation ("CSX") entered 
into the Fourth Amendment (the "Fourth Amendment") t o the Merger 
Agreement (as amended through the Fourth Amendment, the "Merger 
Agreement") which f a c i l i t a t e d CSX and Norfolk Southem 
Corporation ("NSC") entering i n t o an agreement w i t h respect to 
th e i r j o i n t acquisition of the Conpany as conteiplated by the 
Third Amendment to the Merger Aqreement, dated as of I'iarch 7, 
1997. The terms of the CSX-NSC Agreement are embodied i n a 
let t v i r agreement dated as of A p r i l 8, 1997 (the "CSX/NSC Le t t e r 
Agreement"). 

Thfe CSX/NSC Letter Agreement provides,, amona other t h i n g s , ( i ) 
for the termination of the NSC's outstanding o f f e r t o purchase 
Conrail shares and the dismissal of l i t i g a t i o n between CSX and 
NSC, ( i i ) that the Company w i l l , a f t e r the e f f e c t i v e time of i t s 
merger i n t o a wholly-owned subsidiary of CSX, become a d i r e c t or 
ind i r e c t jointly-owned subsidiary of CSX and NSC, ( i i i ) t hat CSX 
and NSC w i l l j o i n t l y acquire, f o r $115 i n cash, a l l Conrail 
shares not already owned by CSX and NSC through a tender o f f e r 

- 9 -
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scheduled to close on May 23, 1997 ani stibsequent merger, and 
(iv) that the Company i s expected to continue to be managed by 
its existing Board of Directors until the requisite approval of 
the Surface Transportation Board is obtained, at which time CSX 
and NSC will be separately allocated certain of the Conpany's 
railroad assets and will jointly operate certain other railroad 
operations of the Company. 

The Fourth Amendment alsc provides that, following April 8, 
1997, the Conpamy's Board of Directors will not declare, and the 
Coopany will not pay, amy dividend on the Conpany's capital 
stock with a record date on or prior to May 30, 1997. 

In light of the pending acquisition of Conrail by CSX amd NSC, 
Standard & Poor's rating agency has do%mgraded Consolidated Rail 
Corporation's ("CRC") long-term unsecured debt to BBB and its 
secured equipment trust certilicates to A, while affirming CRC's 
Al conmercial paper ratincj. Moody's Investors Service has rated 
CRC's long-term unsecure- debt as Baa2, i t s secured equipment 
trust certificates as Al amd i t s commercial paper as P-2. 

F:.rst Quarter_ 1997 conpared with Firs 

Net income for the f i r s t quarter of 1997 was $61 million as 
conpared with net income for the first quarter of 1996 of $31 
million. 

Operating revenues (primarily freight and 3ine-haul revenues, 
but also including switching, demurrage and incidental revenues) 
increased $17 million, or 1.9%, from $889 million in the first 
quarter of 1996 to $906 million in the fi r s t quarter of 1997. A 
4.9% increa. e in traffic volume in units (freight cars amd 
intermodal trailers and containers) resulted in a $41 million 
increase in revenues. However, a decline in average revenue per 
unit decieased revenues by $22 million for the quarter, due to 
decreases in average rates, $14 million, and an xmfavvjrable 
traffic mix, $8 million. 
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Operating expenses decreased $30 m i l l i o n , or 3.7%, from $620 
m i l l i o n i n the f i r s t quarter of 1996 to $790 m i l l i o n i n the 
f i r s t quarter of 1997. The following table sets f o r t h the 
operating expenses f o r the two periods: 

F i r s t Quarter 
Increase 

($ In Mi l l i o n s ) 1997 1996 (Decrf;as 

Compensation and benefits $313 $•'44 $ (31) 
Fuel 57 50 7 
Material and supplies 49 60 (11) 
Equipment rents 92 96 (6) 
Depreciation and amortization 73 71 2 
Casualties and insurance 39 46 (9) 
Other 167 _149 18 

$790 $820 $ (30) 

Compensation and benefits decreased $31 m i l l i o n , or 9.0%, 
pr i m a r i l y as a re s u l t of reductions i n employment lev e l s and 
other employee-related costs, as well as lower accruals f o r wage 
increases and less weather-related overtime costs occurring 
durr.ng the f i r s t quarter of 1997 as compared w i t h the same 
period of 1596. Compensation and benefits as a percent of 
revenues was 34.6% i n the f i r s t quarter of 1997 as compared with 
38.7% i n the f i r s t quarter of 1996. 

Fuel costs increased $7 mill.ron, or 14.0%, as a r e s u l t of higher 
average fuel prices during th-; f i r s t quarter of 1997 as comoared 
w i t h the same quarter of 1996. Fuel prices are expected to 
decline during the remainder of 1997. 

The decline i n material and supplies costs of $11 m i l l i o n , or 
18.3%, was mostly a t t r i b u t a b l e to a higher l e v e l of expenditures 
f o r repairs and maintenance of locomotives and f r e i g h t cars i n 
the f i r s t quarter of 1996 due to adverse weather conditions and 
an increase i n the a l l o c a t i o n of material ufsad i n c a p i t a l vs. 
maintenance projects i n the f i r s t quarter of 1997. 

Casualties and insurance costs decreased $9 m i l l i o n , or 18.8%, 
p r i m a r i l y due t o reductions i n employee i n j u r i e s and loss and 
damage claims. 

Other expenses increased $18 m i l l i o n , or 12.1%, p r i m a r i l y as a 
re s u l t of merger-related costs of $22 m i l l i o n incurred i n 
connection with the proposed acquisition of the Company by CSX 
and NSC. 

The Company's operating r a t i o was 87.2% f o r the f i r s t quarter of 
1997 compared w i t h 92.3% f o r the f i r s t quarter of 1996. 
Excluding the merger-related costs, the operating r a t i o f o r the 
f i r s t quarter cf 1997 would have been 84.7%. 
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Liguidity _ and_ Capital _ Resoi: rces 

The Conpany's cash and cash equivalents increased $2 millior. in 
the f i r s t quarter of 1997, from $30 million at December 31, 1996 
to $32 million at March 31, 1997. Cash generated from 
operations, primarily from its wholly-owned subsidiary, CRC, and 
borrowings have been the Company's principal sources of 
liquidity and are used primarily for capital expenditures, debt 
service and dividends. In the fi r s t quarter of 1997, operating 
activities provided cash of $170 million. 

The principal uses of cash during the quarter were for: property 
and equipment acquisitions, $41 million; payment of long-term 
debt, $63 million; and cash dividends on common amd preferred 
stock, $43 million. 

Working capital (current assets less current lieibilities)of $84 
million existed at March 31, 1997 as conpared with $25 million 
at December 31, 1996. 

During the first quarter of 1997, CRC issued $45 million of 
comrrtercial paper and repaid $79 million. At March 31, 1997, $165 
million of commercial paper remained outstanding, of which $100 
million is classified as long-term debt since i t i s expected to 
be refinanced through subsequent issuances of commercial paper 
and is ̂ supported by a long-term credit facility. 

In January 1997, CRC assumed $31 million Equipment Trust 
Certificates, at an interest rate of 8.31%, due 2012, tc finance 
the lease buyout of 20 locomotives from Locomotive Mamagement 
Services, a general partnership of which CRC holds a fifty percent 
interest. 

Other Matters 

Except for the historical information contained herein, the matters 
discussed in this report are forward-looking statements that 
involve risks and uncertainties that may cause actual results to 
differ, including but not limited to the effect of economic 
conditions, competition, regulation and weather on Conrail's 
operations, customers, service and prices, and other factors 
discussed elsewhere in this report and, from time to time, in other 
reports filed with the Securities amd Exchange Commission. 

12 -
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PART I I . OTEBR INFORMATION 

CONRAIL INC. 

Item 6. E x h i b i t s amdRepor^ 

(a) E x h i b i t s 

11 Statenent of eamings per share 
conputations. 

12 Conputations of the r a t i o of eamings to 
fixed charges. 

15 Letter re unaudited interim financial 
information from Price Waterhouse LLP. 

27 Financial deta schedule. 

(b) Reports on Form 8-K 

None 

- 13 -
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SIGNATURES 

Pursuamt to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on 
its bel^ialf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized. 

CONRAIu INC. 
Regiscrant 

Timothy T. O'Toole 
Senior Vice President - Law 

hn A. McKelvey 
nior Vice Presfdent - Finance 

Principal Financial Officer) 

Date: May 9, 1997 
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EXHIBIT INDEX 

Exhibit 
No. 

11 Statement of eamings per share 
conputations. 

12 Conputations of the ratio of 
eamings to fixed charges. 

15 Letter re unaudited interim 
financial information from Price 
Waterho'-,*e LLP. 

27 Financial data schedule. 
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Exhibit 11 

CONRAIL INC. 

EARNINGS PER SHARE COMPUTATIONS 

($ In Millions Except Per Share) 

Net income 
Primary 
Net income 

Dividends declared on Series A 
ESOP convertible junior preferred 
stock (ESOP Stock), net of 
tax benefits 

Quarters ended 
March 31, 

1997 

$61 

(2) 

$59 

1996 

$31 

(3) 

$28 

Fully diluted 
Net income 
Nondiscretionary adjustment (1) 

61 

$61 

31 
_{1) 
$30 

Weighted average nximber of shares (2) 

Primary 
Weighted average number of 
common shares outstanding 

Effect of shares issuable under 
enployee stock compensation plans 

Fully diluted 
Weighted average number of 
common shares outstanding 

ESOP Stock 
Effect of shares issuable under 
enployee stock conpensation plams 

7S,586,743 77,286,233 

80,024,501 78,002,446 

79,586,743 77,286,233 
6,782,269 9,756,470 

473,088 716,213 

86,842,100 87,758,916 

Net income per common share 
Primary 
F u l l y d i lu ted 

$.74 
.70 

$.36 
.35 

Page 1 of 2 

791 



Exhibit 11 

CONRAIL INC. 
EARNINGS PER SHARE C(»!PUTATIONS 

Notes: :. Represents the increase, net of income tax benefits, 
in ESOP-related expenses assuming conversion of a l l 
BSOP St>ck to cormon stock. 

2. Shares held by the Enployee Benefits Trust (the 
"Trust") are not considered outstanding for eamings 
per share comrjutations xmtil issued by the Tmst. 

Page 2 of 2 
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Exhibit 12 

CONRAIL INC. 

99̂ VT̂ T???i'f .9?'.T̂  RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CH.'*RGES 

($ In Millions) 

Earnings 
Pre-tauc income 
Add: 

Interest expense 
Rental expense interest factor 

Less equity in vmdistributed eamings 
of 20-50% oirjed ccopamies 

Eamings available for fixed charges 

Fixed charges 
Interest expense 
Rental expense interest factor 

Fixed charges 

Ratio of eamings to fixed charges 

Quarters ended 
March 31, 

1997 1996 

$ 98 $ 50 

45 
16 

47 
14 

___(5) _ _ (4) 

$154 $107 
mmmm 

45 
__16 

47 
__14 

$^61 $ 61 
mmmm 

2.52X 1.75X 

For purposee of conputing the ratio of eamings to fixed 
charges, eamings represent income before income taxes plus 
fixed charges, less equity in tmdistributed eamings of 20% to 
£0% owned conpanies. Fixed charges represent interest expense 
together with interest capitalized and a portion of rent imder 
long-term operating leases represer.tative of an interest fector. 
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Thirty Soul" Seventwr-r St'eei Telepftont 2i5 575 5000 
Pniiaoeipriia, PA 19103-4094 

Price Ifaterhouse LLP 

Exhibit 15 

May 9, 1997 

Securities and Exchange Commission 
450 Fifth Street, NW 
Washington, DC 20549 

Dear Sirs 

We are aware that Conrail Inc has incorporated by reference our report dated April 16, 
1997 (issuec* pursuant to the previsions of Statement on Auditing Standards No, 71) in 
the follov mg documents: 

• F.egistration Statement on Form S-8 No, 33-19155 

• Registration Statement on Form S-8 No 33-44140 

• Registration Statemtnt on Form S-8 No, 33-57717 

• Registration Statement on Form S-8 No 33-60445 

• Registration Statement on Form S-8 No, 333-6513 

• Prospectus constituting part of Registration Statement on Form S-3 No, 33-
64670 

• Prospectus constituting part of Registration Statement on Form S-3 No 33-
62929 

We are alsc aware of our responsibilities under the Securities Act of 193'' and that 
pursuant to Rule 436(c) our report dated April 16, 1997 shall not be considered, part of 
a registration statement prepared or cenified by us or a report prepared or certified by 
us within the meaning of Sections 7 and 11 of the Securities Aa of 1933, 

Yours ver>' truly, 

PRICE WATERHOUSE LLP 
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E x h i b i t 27 

CONRAIL INC^ 
FINANCIAL DATA SCHEDULE 

($ I n M i l l i o n s E x c e p t P e r S h a r e ) 

THIS SCHEDULE CONTAINS SUMMARY INFORMATION EXTRACTED y-HOM FORM 10-Q 
AND I S QUALIFIED IN I T S ENTIRETY BY REFERENCE TO SUCH FORM 10-Q. 

<MULTIPLIER> 1,000,000 

cFISCAL- YEAR-END> DEC- 31-1997 
<PERIOD-START> JAN-01-1997 
<:PERIOD-END> MAR- 31-1997 
CPERI0D-TYPE> 3-MOS 
<CASH> 32 
<SECURITIES> 0 
<RECEIVABLES> 662 
<ALLOWANCES> 0 
<INVENTORY> 141 
< CURRENT - AS S ETS > 1,162 
<PPiE> 6,599 
<DEPRECIATI0N> 0 
<T0TAL-ASSETS> 8,470 
CCURRENT-LIABILITIES> 1,078 
<BONDS> 1,889 
< PRE FERRED - MANDATORY> 0 
<PREFERRED> 183 
<COMMON> 89 
<0THER-SE> 2, 880 
<TOTAL-LIABILITY -AND-EQUITY> 8,470 
<SALES> 0 
<TOTAL - REVENUES > 906 
<CGS> 0 
<TOTAL-COSTS> 790 
<OTHER-EXPENSES> 0 
<LOSS-PROVISION> 0 
< INTEREST - ilXPENSE > 45 
<INCOME-PRETAX> 98 
<INCOME-TAX> 37 
<INCOME - CONTINUING> 61 
<DISCONTINUED> 0 
<EXTRAORDINARY> 0 
<CHA»:JES-» 0 
<N':r- INCOME > 61 
<£PS-PRIMARY> .74 
<EPS-DILU1'ED> .70 
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